**The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry 42** *Series Editors:* Damià Barceló · Andrey G. Kostianoy

Antoni Munné Antoni Ginebreda Narcís Prat *Editors* 

# Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring

The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I)



## The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry

Founded by Otto Hutzinger

Editors-in-Chief: Damià Barceló • Andrey G. Kostianoy

Volume 42

Advisory Board: Jacob de Boer, Philippe Garrigues, Ji-Dong Gu, Kevin C. Jones, Thomas P. Knepper, Alice Newton, Donald L. Sparks More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/698

## Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring

The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I)

Volume Editors: Antoni Munné · Antoni Ginebreda · Narcís Prat

With contributions by

C. Alcaraz · J. Armengol · M.-J. Bae · C. Barata · D. Barceló · M. Bardina · A. Bartolomé · L. Benejam · D. Boix · N. Caiola · J. Caixach · M. Cañedo-Argüelles · J. Capela · F. Casals · S. Fennessy · E. García-Berthou · E. Garcia-Burgos · S. Gascón · A. Ginebreda · C. Ibàñez · N. Kirchner · M. Kuzmanovic · R. Marcé · A. Munné · E. Navarro · A. Nebra · M. Ordeix · S. Pérez · B. Piña · C. Porte · N. Prat · X.D. Quintana · M. Real · M. Rieradevall · D. Rivas · B. Rodríguez-Labajos · L. Rovira · S. Sabater · J. Sala · N. Sánchez-Millaruelo · C. Solà · A. de Sostoa · E. Tornés · R. Trobajo



*Editors* Antoni Munné Department of Water Quality and Monitoring Catalan Water Agency (ACA) Barcelona Spain

Antoni Ginebreda Department of Environmental Chemistry IDAEA-CSIC Barcelona Spain

Narcís Prat Department of Ecology University of Barcelona (UB) Barcelona Spain

ISSN 1867-979X ISSN 1616-864X (electronic) The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry ISBN 978-3-319-23894-4 ISBN 978-3-319-23895-1 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-23895-1

Library of Congress Control Number: 2015959952

Springer Cham Heidelberg New York Dordrecht London

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made.

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer International Publishing AG Switzerland is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

## **Editors-in-Chief**

Prof. Dr. Damià Barceló

Department of Environmental Chemistry IDAEA-CSIC C/Jordi Girona 18–26 08034 Barcelona, Spain and Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA) H20 Building Scientific and Technological Park of the University of Girona Emili Grahit, 101 17003 Girona, Spain dbcgam@cid.csic.es Prof. Dr. Andrey G. Kostianoy

P.P. Shirshov Institute of Oceanology Russian Academy of Sciences 36, Nakhimovsky Pr. 117997 Moscow, Russia *kostianoy@gmail.com* 

## **Advisory Board**

Prof. Dr. Jacob de Boer IVM, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, The Netherlands Prof. Dr. Philippe Garrigues

University of Bordeaux, France

Prof. Dr. Ji-Dong Gu The University of Hong Kong, China

Prof. Dr. Kevin C. Jones University of Lancaster, United Kingdom

Prof. Dr. Thomas P. Knepper University of Applied Science, Fresenius, Idstein, Germany

Prof. Dr. Alice Newton

University of Algarve, Faro, Portugal

Prof. Dr. Donald L. Sparks Plant and Soil Sciences, University of Delaware, USA

## The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry Also Available Electronically

The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry is included in Springer's eBook package Earth and Environmental Science. If a library does not opt for the whole package, the book series may be bought on a subscription basis.

For all customers who have a standing order to the print version of *The Handbook* of *Environmental Chemistry*, we offer free access to the electronic volumes of the Series published in the current year via SpringerLink. If you do not have access, you can still view the table of contents of each volume and the abstract of each article on SpringerLink (www.springerlink.com/content/110354/).

You will find information about the

- Editorial Board
- Aims and Scope
- Instructions for Authors
- Sample Contribution

at springer.com (www.springer.com/series/698).

All figures submitted in color are published in full color in the electronic version on SpringerLink.

## Aims and Scope

Since 1980, *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* has provided sound and solid knowledge about environmental topics from a chemical perspective. Presenting a wide spectrum of viewpoints and approaches, the series now covers topics such as local and global changes of natural environment and climate; anthropogenic impact on the environment; water, air and soil pollution; remediation and waste characterization; environmental contaminants; biogeochemistry; geoecology; chemical reactions and processes; chemical and biological transformations as well as physical transport of chemicals in the environment; or environmental modeling. A particular focus of the series lies on methodological advances in environmental analytical chemistry.

## **Series Preface**

With remarkable vision, Prof. Otto Hutzinger initiated *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* in 1980 and became the founding Editor-in-Chief. At that time, environmental chemistry was an emerging field, aiming at a complete description of the Earth's environment, encompassing the physical, chemical, biological, and geological transformations of chemical substances occurring on a local as well as a global scale. Environmental chemistry was intended to provide an account of the impact of man's activities on the natural environment by describing observed changes.

While a considerable amount of knowledge has been accumulated over the last three decades, as reflected in the more than 70 volumes of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, there are still many scientific and policy challenges ahead due to the complexity and interdisciplinary nature of the field. The series will therefore continue to provide compilations of current knowledge. Contributions are written by leading experts with practical experience in their fields. *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* grows with the increases in our scientific understanding, and provides a valuable source not only for scientists but also for environmental managers and decision-makers. Today, the series covers a broad range of environmental topics from a chemical perspective, including methodological advances in environmental analytical chemistry.

In recent years, there has been a growing tendency to include subject matter of societal relevance in the broad view of environmental chemistry. Topics include life cycle analysis, environmental management, sustainable development, and socio-economic, legal and even political problems, among others. While these topics are of great importance for the development and acceptance of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, the publisher and Editors-in-Chief have decided to keep the handbook essentially a source of information on "hard sciences" with a particular emphasis on chemistry, but also covering biology, geology, hydrology and engineering as applied to environmental sciences.

The volumes of the series are written at an advanced level, addressing the needs of both researchers and graduate students, as well as of people outside the field of "pure" chemistry, including those in industry, business, government, research establishments, and public interest groups. It would be very satisfying to see these volumes used as a basis for graduate courses in environmental chemistry. With its high standards of scientific quality and clarity, *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* provides a solid basis from which scientists can share their knowledge on the different aspects of environmental problems, presenting a wide spectrum of viewpoints and approaches.

The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry is available both in print and online via www.springerlink.com/content/110354/. Articles are published online as soon as they have been approved for publication. Authors, Volume Editors and Editors-in-Chief are rewarded by the broad acceptance of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* by the scientific community, from whom suggestions for new topics to the Editors-in-Chief are always very welcome.

Damià Barceló Andrey G. Kostianoy Editors-in-Chief

## Foreword

Environmental quality is going to be a crucial issue for the people in charge of public affairs in the next years. To manage an environment where air, water, and soil should be in good conditions is not only an objective but a compulsory requirement in terms of well-being and of public health.

From older times water management has been a very important issue, but recently, water managers have had to cope with new challenges arising from social demands mainly focused on ecological improvement. Flowing water in rivers, lakes, estuaries, coastal waters, or reservoirs is not only regarded as resource but as a key element for sustaining aquatic ecosystems and services they provide. Good ecological status meets services and goods sustaining human well-being as well as suitable freshwater quality for safety human uses. To take into account aquatic ecosystems, preservation requires building stronger linkages between ecological, economic, and social demands with the purpose of improving water management. This framework offers the most promising way forward for the field of conservation together with a suitable human development.

Nevertheless, this challenge requires changes. Thus, in the legal side, new laws, directives, etc., are needed and institutional changes and new administrative models (development of new agencies, water authorities) are necessary. On the other side, developing new monitoring programs in order to provide suitable and enough information on water status under an ecological integrative perspective is required. Also, water management plans should be developed which encompass a comprehensive water management combining sustainable human use together with good ecological status, economic sustainability (cost recovery strategies), and social participation. Moreover, climate change should be also considered which demonstrates the scope and complexity of this challenge.

The above mentioned target makes necessary the development of new monitoring tools for water quality assessment adapted to water ecosystem types and new quality elements must be measured. Therefore, there has been a rapid increase in the development and application of ecological indicators for water quality assessment and management in developed countries. For instance, the United States, Canada, Europe, and Australia have been developing new water monitoring programs based on biological and ecological indicators for water management purposes and planning. In the European Union (EU), the Water Framework Directive (WFD) (2000/60/EC) launched in 2000 a new framework for the protection of groundwater and inland and coastal waters. The WFD represents an opportunity for a new water resource management in Europe based on ecological and economical sustainability, with the requirement of a wide social involvement. The WFD was an important conceptual change of the way that EU Member States (MS) should consider water management by putting ecosystem integrity at the base of management decisions. Since then, all MS expended considerable time and resources to collect appropriate biological, environmental, and human pressure data to develop operative tools aiming at elaborating new monitoring programs and innovative river basin management plans. As the magnitude and difficulties of this large-scale endeavor became evident, both the European community and individual MS have funded a large number of research projects, particularly in the areas of ecological assessment for water management, to develop and improve the expert knowledge. The WFD was relevant for its innovativeness and the shift towards measuring the status of all surface and coastal waters using a range of biological communities rather than the more limited aspects applied so far.

In Catalonia, the government has been deeply involved on all this process and has been implementing the WFD soon after it was adopted. Hence the administrative institution especially devoted to water management, the Catalan Water Agency (ACA), was created in 2000. ACA is in charge of planning and carrying out water management strategies in Catalonia, taking into account both water demands and environmental protection. The ACA is nowadays in charge of building and maintaining urban wastewater treatment plans, water supply management, flooding protection plans, etc. Moreover, it has been monitoring all aquatic ecosystems, including inland and coastal waters and groundwater relationship, and has been developing new tools to ensure ecological and chemical status measurements in surface waters and chemical and quantitative status in groundwater, in accordance with the WFD requirements. Additionally, some research institutes have also been promoted mainly focused on water management. An example of this is the Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), that focuses its research lines in the integral water cycle, hydraulic resources, water quality (in the broadest sense of the term: chemical, microbiological, ecological, etc.), and treatment and evaluation technologies. The research carried out at the ICRA has to do with all the aspects related with water, particularly those associated with its rational use and the effects of human activity on hydraulic resources.

Over the last decades, it has been necessary to monitor and to assess the ecological status of water bodies following the WFD guidelines. Accordingly, the ACA started a close science to policy relationship with research institutions, which have been closely involved in such development. From this collaboration novel methodologies have been proposed, and a huge amount of data has been gathered over more than a decade. Overall, this cooperation has proved to be a stimulating and fertile ground for research of the interface between science and management. Accordingly, the Catalan Water Agency (ACA) established a new monitoring

program in order to provide a proper water status diagnosis just before the water management plan's updating in the Catalan River Basin District. The ACA has now a global picture of the ecological and chemical status of all water bodies in Catalonia. The experience gained by the Agency over the last 15 years has been incorporated in these two different book volumes that I have the privilege to introduce in this preface: *Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring:* The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I) and Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water *Ouality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the* Catalan River Basin District (Part II). Both books summarize all the findings on water monitoring for WFD purposes, and they discuss further perspectives according to the new knowledge obtained. They are devoted to such effort which has resulted in a series of protocols adapted to the aquatic ecosystem monitoring in Catalonia. Both books encompass several specific chapters focused on different aquatic systems (rivers, lakes, wetlands, reservoirs, estuaries, bays, coastal waters, and groundwater) and are written by several researchers in close collaboration with ACA's technicians. They provide good examples and suitable monitoring tools for aquatic ecosystem monitoring in Catalonia that can also be easily extrapolated to other Mediterranean river basin districts. Data analyzed and information obtained are not only useful in understanding the current quality status but also gathering the necessary knowledge to design the best tools for aquatic ecosystem management and restoration and/or conservation measures adapted to each aquatic ecosystem type, paving special attention to Mediterranean conditions which deeply affect water management in southern Europe. At that time, just to end I can say that we are proud of the work done by our community of experts in water management working in public administrations, in research centers, and in private companies. I hope that the materials and experiences enclosed in the two volumes reflect a step forward of a better management of water and stimulate new developments for the future.

> Josep Enric Llebot Secretary of Environment and Sustainability Government of Catalonia (Generalitat de Catalunya) Barcelona, Spain

## **Volume Preface**

Freshwater systems in Europe are threatened by a variety of stressors (chemical pollution, geomorphological alterations, changes in land uses, climate variability and change, water abstraction, invasive species, and pathogens). Chemical aquatic pollution today comprises a wide range of emerging chemical substances, such as pharmaceuticals, personal care products, or pesticides, among others. Stressors are of diverse nature but cause adverse effects on biological communities and ecosystems. It is well known that the relationship between multiple stressors might determine changes in the chemical and ecological status, which are the key objectives of the European Union Water Framework Directive (WFD). This important piece of legislation has pushed the EU River Basin Authorities to carry out advanced monitoring programs in collaboration with universities and research centers.

These two volumes of The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry we introduce here (Volume I: Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I) and Volume II: Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II)) correspond to an excellent collaborative example between the River Basin Authority from the Catalan River Basin District (NE Spain), the so-called Catalan Water Agency (ACA), with the Catalan Universities and Research Centers. These books cover the main research outcomes achieved during the last 10 years following WFD implementation. It contains a total of 26 chapters and over 75 authors who explain how, from the interaction between the ACA and several academic centers, the different quality elements included in the WFD have been adapted to Mediterranean aquatic ecosystems. We want to remark the importance of this interaction between the members of the ACA and the members of academia or experts in a collaborative effort that probably is unique in the WFD implementation in Europe.

Why ACA has developed such collaborative effort? First of all because for most of the biological elements, no or few experience in how to use such elements existed in Spain Water authorities. ACA had more experience in the analysis of chemical parameters, i.e., priority substances. Second, the methods to be used by WFD guidelines should be inter-calibrated; therefore ACA was aware that a set of methodologies with a robust scientific background was needed, so their results could be compared to other European countries. Third, most of the streams in Catalonia are in a Mediterranean climate area, and for this reason, taxa present in aquatic ecosystems and their environmental constraints are different from those of more temperate ecosystems from Europe. Scientifically robust methodologies should be adopted by ACA to explain why our aquatic ecosystems are different and how these differences affect the way in which the water quality is measured.

The ACA has easily found the way to build up from the scientific knowledge the tools needed by the administration to measure the status of the water. Catalonia has a long tradition on water quality studies which is grounded in the shoulders of several Masters and Commanders of Science. We think that at least two of them should be quoted: the former professors of the University of Barcelona Ramón Margalef and Enric Casassas. Margalef was a well-known ecologist and the first professor of Ecology in Spain, and Cassassas was the introductor of modern analytical techniques in Spain. In a postwar situation, after Spanish civil war (1936–1939) and the second world war (1939–1945), scientific research in Spain was very poor and many times under scientifically unreliable people. The late professors Ramon and Enric were extremely clever and open-minded people, and despite many obstacles, they found a way to put the roots of what now is one of the best schools of aquatic studies in Europe. Both were excellent professors and researchers and generous people with new ideas and solutions. Certainly they were an example of scientists with a global vision but with a local action, with a real compromise with their homeland, Catalonia. This school has produced an array of young scientists (not so young anymore) that have studied in-depth many aspects of ecology or chemistry in freshwater systems with a deep vision on the Mediterranean water bodies. At the same time, most of these students formed many other students and these to other, so the first grand-grand-children are at this moment at the front line of water quality research studies. Other masters exist also in Catalonia in hydrogeology, microbiology, or fish ecology, that several of the authors of this book have taken advantage.

Thanks to the effort of Margalef, Cassasas, and others and his students; when ACA started to think what to do for the implementation of the WFD, most of the fundamentals for such work were there. But in many cases the scientific research is not applied for the administration because the two worlds are hardly in contact. The merit to understand that such relationship is necessary should be given to some of the directors of the ACA and some of the ministers of the environment of the regional government of Catalonia who recognized the importance of such collaboration. It was of help too that some of the disciples who did their Ph.D. with students of the two masters already mentioned took a position in ACA. These people are now coeditors, with Prof. Prat, of these two books: Antoni Munné and Antoni Ginebreda. Both are Ph.D. from Catalan universities and understand that without the collaboration of scientist and managers, it is almost impossible to produce

enough robust tools to be compared with other well-known tools developed elsewhere. We, the scientists, should be very aware of the role of these two people because without their effort these two books could never be produced.

We hope that this book will be of much interest for many international readers too. We think that it will be a useful guide for other European river basins, as well as in other parts of the world, as a good example of the added value of collaborative research on aquatic sciences. Indeed the books contain a comprehensive list of monitoring programs of importance for WFD implementation to the Mediterranean climate aquatic ecosystems. The literature references of the different chapters contain great amount of work produced by these numerous groups of academics and managers working and publishing together in the most relevant journals of ecology, fishes, microbiology, analytical chemistry, etc. We thank all of them for their time spent writing all the different chapters and making these books unique in this series.

We, as the most senior authors and former students of Margalef and Cassasas, are very proud of this work. We thank very much the ACA and the government of Catalonia for continuously supporting such work. We encourage as well, even under the present economic difficulties, to maintain such effort. It is obvious that new methodologies and tools will need to be incorporated to monitor programs in the future. We believe that the best way to do it is by establishing bridges of collaboration between scientist and managers.

Barcelona, Spain

Narcís Prat and Damià Barceló

## Contents

Water Status Assessment in the Catalan River Basin District: Experience Gathered After 15 Years with the Water Framework Directive (WFD) Antoni Munné, Antoni Ginebreda, and Narcís Prat	. 1
A First Biopollution Index Approach and Its Relationship on Biological Quality in Catalan Rivers	37
Beatriz Rodríguez-Labajos, Carolina Solà, and Antoni Munné	
The Use of Diatoms to Assess the Ecological Status in Catalan Rivers: Application of the WFD and Lessons Learned from the European Intercalibration Exercise Elisabet Tornés and Sergi Sabater	65
Biological Indices Based on Macrophytes: An Overview of Methods Used in Catalonia and the USA to Determine the Status of Rivers and Wetlands Siobhan Fennessy, Carles Ibañez, Antoni Munné, Nuño Caiola, Nicole Kirchner, and Carolina Sola	81
Fish as Ecological Indicators in Mediterranean Streams: The Catalan Experience Lluís Benejam, Marc Ordeix, Frederic Casals, Nuno Caiola, Adolf de Sostoa, Carolina Solà, and Antoni Munné	101
Fish-Based Indices in Catalan Rivers: Intercalibration and Comparison of Approaches Emili García-Berthou, Mi-Jung Bae, Lluís Benejam, Carles Alcaraz,	125

Frederic Casals, Adolf de Sostoa, Carolina Solà, and Antoni Munné

<b>Biological Indicators to Assess the Ecological Status of River-Dominated</b> <b>Estuaries: The Case of Benthic Indicators in the Ebro River Estuary</b> Carles Ibáñez, Nuno Caiola, Rosa Trobajo, Alfonso Nebra, and Laia Rovira	149
New Tools to Analyse the Ecological Status of Mediterranean Wetlands and Shallow Lakes Xavier D. Quintana, Miguel Cañedo-Argüelles, Alfonso Nebra,	171
Stéphanie Gascón, Maria Rieradevall, Nuno Caiola, Jordi Sala, Carles Ibàñez, Núria Sánchez-Millaruelo, and Dani Boix	,
Assessing Ecological Integrity in Large Reservoirs According to the Water Framework Directive	201
Rafael Marcé, Joan Armengol, and Enrique Navarro	
Hydromorphological Methodologies to Assess Ecological Status in Mediterranean Rivers: Applied Approach to the Catalan River Basin District Evelyn Garcia-Burgos, Mònica Bardina, Carolina Solà, Montserrat Real, Joana Capela, and Antoni Munné	221
Reviewing Biological Indices and Biomarkers Suitability to Analyze Human Impacts. Emergent Tools to Analyze Biological Status in Rivers Carlos Barata, Cinta Porte, and Benjamín Piña	249
Analysis of EU Legislated Compounds for Assessing Chemical Status: Main Challenges and Inconsistencies Josep Caixach and Arancha Bartolomé	269
Pollutants of Emerging Concern in Rivers of Catalonia: Occurrence, Fate, and Risk	283
Antoni Ginebreda, Sandra Pérez, Daniel Rivas, Maja Kuzmanovic, and Damià Barceló	
Index	321

## Water Status Assessment in the Catalan River Basin District: Experience Gathered After 15 Years with the Water Framework Directive (WFD)

#### Antoni Munné, Antoni Ginebreda, and Narcís Prat

**Abstract** The Catalan Water Agency (ACA) established a WFD Monitoring Programme for a period of 6 years (from 2007 to 2012) in order to provide a proper water status diagnosis just before the water management plan's updating in the Catalan River Basin District (NE Spain). Most of applied monitoring tools were developed over the last decade in close cooperation with research centres and universities in order to assure they are WFD compliant. Thus, novel methods arose and have been published in research papers over the last decade providing new tools for water quality monitoring and bioassessment in Mediterranean WB.

Using all this experience, a comprehensive monitoring network has been established by the ACA to provide a coherent overview of both ecological and chemical status for surface waters and chemical and quantitative status for ground-water. Therefore, chemical and ecological status were assessed in rivers (248 WB), lakes and wetlands (27 WB), reservoirs (13 WB), transitional waters (26 WB), coastal waters (33 WB), and groundwater (37 WB). A total of 137 out of 384 WB were classified as good status (36%), whereas 221 (58%) were classified as bad. However, some uncertainties were found when applying the monitoring program which raised some concerns in the way of quality assessment and ecological status classification. A total of 59 (15%) WB classified as good and 107 (28%) WB

#### N. Prat Department of Ecology, University of Barcelona, Av. Diagonal, 654, 08028 Barcelona, Spain

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 42: 1–36, DOI 10.1007/698\_2015\_420, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 11 August 2015

A. Munné (🖂)

Catalan Water Agency, c/Provença, 204-208, 08036 Barcelona, Spain e-mail: anmunne@gencat.cat

A. Ginebreda

Department of Environmental Chemistry, IDÆA-CSIC, c/Jordi Girona, 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

classified as bad showed uncertainties when classifying between good and bad quality status, and quality status could not be finally assessed in 25 (6%) WB (temporary WB) due to difficulties found applying current protocols. Uncertainties have been highlighted in order to be solved near future.

**Keywords** Catalan River Basin District, Chemical status, Ecological status, Mediterranean basins, Monitoring program, Water Framework Directive

#### Contents

Intro	duction	3
The	Water Quality Assessment in the Catalan WB	6
2.1	General Remarks	6
2.2	Monitoring Networks	7
2.3	Sampling Protocols and Selected Metrics	12
Qual	ity Status in Catalan WB	15
3.1	Rivers	15
3.2	Reservoirs	17
3.3	Lakes and Transitional Waters	18
3.4	Coastal Waters	19
3.5	Groundwater	20
Issue	es to Be Improved on Ecological Status Assessment	21
4.1	Hydromorphological Conditions and Ecological Status Relationship	21
4.2	The Ecological Status of Temporary Ecosystems	22
4.3	Chemical and Ecological Status Relationship	24
Disc	ussion and Conclusions	26
erenc	es	29
	Intro The 2.1 2.2 2.3 Qual 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 Issue 4.1 4.2 4.3 Disc erence	Introduction         The Water Quality Assessment in the Catalan WB         2.1 General Remarks         2.2 Monitoring Networks         2.3 Sampling Protocols and Selected Metrics         Quality Status in Catalan WB         3.1 Rivers         3.2 Reservoirs         3.3 Lakes and Transitional Waters         3.4 Coastal Waters         3.5 Groundwater         Issues to Be Improved on Ecological Status Assessment         4.1 Hydromorphological Conditions and Ecological Status Relationship         4.2 The Ecological Status of Temporary Ecosystems         4.3 Chemical and Ecological Status Relationship         biscussion and Conclusions

#### Acronyms

ACA	Catalan Water Agency (in Catalan)
BQEs	Biological quality elements
CIS	Common Implementation Strategy
CRBD	Catalan River Basin District
EQR	Ecological quality ratio
EU	European Union
GWD	Groundwater Directive (2006/118/EC)
NBLs	Natural background levels
QS	Quality standard
TVs	Threshold values (to set water quality classes)
WB	Water bodies
WFD	Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC)

#### 1 Introduction

The publication of the Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC) (WFD) by the European Parliament and the Commission at the end of 2000 [1] and the subsequent adopted daughter Directives (Groundwater Directive 2006/118/EC and Directives 2008/105/EC and 2013/39/EU on priority substances) published between 2006 and 2013 [2-4] have promoted the integrated water quality assessment of aquatic ecosystems across Europe [5–7]. Water managers have had to cope with the new challenges arising from the Water Framework Directive requirements [8]. Flowing water in rivers or water from lakes, estuaries, coastal waters or reservoirs should not only be regarded as resource but as a key element for sustaining the aquatic ecosystem life and services they provide. Good ecological status is required to meet services and goods for human well-being, as well as suitable freshwater quality for human uses. Therefore, biological communities which should naturally inhabit those ecosystems emerged as key elements (biological quality elements -BQEs) together with chemical and habitat status in order to enhance ecosystem's health diagnosis and the accomplishment of the WFD objectives. Therefore, new approaches are required to meet this target, which implies the development of suitable biomonitoring protocols and specific monitoring networks for each European Basin District. EU member states were bound to apply such monitoring since 2007 according to the WFD. Accordingly, water quality measurements using biological quality elements (fish, macrophytes, fitobenthos, macroinvertebrates, etc.) and hydromorphological conditions must be incorporated to monitoring programmes together with physicochemical parameters already used in most European countries so far. Thus, we can finally establish the status of all WB (rivers, lakes, reservoirs, wetlands, estuaries, coastal lagoons, coastal waters, etc.) by combining all quality elements. Additionally, groundwater must also be considered as a part of water cycle and thus monitored [9, 10]. Many surface ecosystems are closely related to groundwater, and water quality and quantity of subterranean waters must be taken into account when ecological status is measured.

These new challenges made necessary the development of new monitoring tools adapted to each river basin district and ecosystem types [8, 11, 12]. Additionally, climate constraints must also be taken into account, especially in Mediterranean areas where water flow is often scarce and irregular along time. Several studies have focused on the biological communities that live in this kind of aquatic systems (reviewed in Lake [13]). However, often those singularities have not been fully integrated into water policy because most water managers tend to apply perennial river management principles to temporary ones, when new tools are required to be adopted in this kind of aquatic ecosystems [14, 15]. This is the case of the Catalan basins (NE Spain), in which the implementation of the WFD has required a collaborative work between research centres, water authorities, and many stakeholders in order to achieve such targets. This manuscript is devoted to such effort, which results in a series of protocols adapted to a Mediterranean River Basin District (the Catalan basins, NE Spain).

The WFD implementation in Spain has been led through the Spanish Government, but the necessary works for this implementation have been carried out by the water authorities in charge of water management at basin scale (River Basin Authorities). In Spain, the territory managed by the River Basin Authorities is not often coincident with political divisions (autonomous regions), which has led to a relative complex system of water management. Most of the largest basins in Spain have to be governed by a Committee of Water Authorities with representatives of the autonomous regions with all or part of its territory in the basin (intercommunity basins). However, when the River Basin District is totally located within a single political territory unit or region (intracommunity basins) water management is undertaken by the autonomous government of that region. This is the case of the Catalan River Basin District (CRBD), an intracommunity basin with a total area of 16,438 km<sup>2</sup> made up by several small- to medium-sized basins totally located within the Catalan region (Fig. 1), which is managed by the Catalan Water Agency



Fig. 1 The Catalan River Basin District (CRBD) (NE Spain), which occupies half part of the whole Catalan territory, is shown in grey. The other half part of Catalonia is part of the Ebro river basin district

political limits of Catalonia (NE Spain). Catalonia has a total area of 32,114 km<sup>2</sup>. The other half part of Catalonia is occupied by a small part of a much larger watershed, the Ebro basin (15,676 km<sup>2</sup> out of 85,660 km<sup>2</sup> of total Ebro basin area), an intercommunity basin. However environment policy, fishing management, and urban and agricultural planning are in hands of Catalan autonomous government in all Catalonia, even in the Catalan part of the Ebro basin. Additionally, the Catalan Water Agency also manages water supply and urban waste water treatment plants in the whole Catalan region. Applying WFD to Catalan territories became, due to this dichotomy, more complicated. Therefore, while the Catalan Water Agency (ACA) applies monitoring programs and planning decisions in the Catalan River Basin District, in the Catalan part of the Ebro watershed, ACA offers support and monitoring data, but water planning decisions are in the hands of the Ebro River Basin Authority (Confederación Hidrográfica del Ebro).

Under this framework, and regardless of those two different water policy situations in Catalonia, the Autonomous Government of Catalonia has been implementing the WFD in the whole Catalan region. Hence, the Catalan Government created the ACA in 2000 which is charge of the planning and maintenance of urban wastewater treatment plans, drinking water supply management, monitoring and water status surveillance, flood protection, etc. The ACA has been monitoring all aquatic ecosystems around Catalonia (including coastal waters) since the year 2000 and has been developing a system to ensure that ecological and chemical status measurements in the whole Catalan WB are in accordance with the WFD requirements. All quality elements required by the WFD have been studied and detailed sampling protocols developed. Monitoring and data acquisition and treatment have been implemented over the last decades following the WFD requirements. Several research institutions have been closely involved in such development and, in many cases, novel methods have been raised and published. A huge amount of data has been gathered over more than a decade through the development of several research projects specially supported by ACA. Most relevant and recent information gathered from hundreds of research papers and reports produced by many institutions may be found in Table 1. Therefore, the ACA has now a global picture of the ecological and chemical status of Catalan WB. In this chapter we synthesized such knowledge and analysed the data not only to understand the current situation or quality status of Catalan aquatic ecosystems but also gather the necessary knowledge to design the best restoration and/or conservation measures adapted to each river type present in its territory. The experience gained over the last 15 years has been incorporated in two different books: "Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring. The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I)" and "Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water Quality Monitoring. The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II)". In this chapter we summarize all the findings and we discuss further perspectives according to the new knowledge obtained.

	Research topic relevant to WFD	Related
Water category	implementation	references
Rivers	Diatoms	[16–18]
	Macroinvertebrates	[19–21]
	Macrophytes	[22, 23]
	Fish and river connectivity	[24–27]
	Reference conditions	[28]
Reservoirs	Typology	[29]
	Fish	[30]
Lakes and wetland	Invertebrates	[31]
	Ecohydrology	[32]
Transitional waters and coastal	Invertebrates	[33–35]
lagoons	Diatoms	[36, 37]
Transitional waters – Ebro Delta Bays	Cymodocea nodosa	[38]
Coastal waters	Phytoplankton	[39, 40]
	Macroalgae	[41-44]
	Posidonia oceanica	[45-49]
	Macroinvertebrates	[50-52]
Groundwater	Polar pesticide analysis	[53, 54]
	Pharmaceuticals and nitrate source tracking	[55, 56]
	Hydrogeochemical tools	[57]

 Table 1
 Most relevant papers published in the last decade, with the support of the Catalan Water

 Agency, developing or testing new tools for water quality monitoring according to the WFD

#### 2 The Water Quality Assessment in the Catalan WB

#### 2.1 General Remarks

Although there was a long tradition of chemical and biological monitoring in Catalan rivers, lakes, reservoirs, coastal lagoons, coastal waters, and groundwater (see some examples in [58–63]), protocols and biological quality indices WFD compliant were not completely available when the WFD was adopted. The ACA launched a programme of science to policy relationship with several research centres and universities in order to provide suitable knowledge on all the biological, hydromorphological, and chemical elements necessary to meet the WFD targets for ecological status assessment. Most of such research works (i.e. [64–66]) were used to enhance monitoring protocols and the ecological status assessment methods. Indices need to be properly tested and correlated with a stressor gradient for major human pressures in order to provide a useful and coherent tool for water quality diagnosis comparable among watersheds and regions [8]. For this reason ACA has taken part in the Mediterranean Geographical Intercalibration Group (Med-GIG) since 2006 in order to harmonize and intercalibrate the information obtained [8, 67–70]. The intercalibration exercise ended in formal decisions published by the

European Commission in 2008 and 2013 [69, 71]. Groundwater quality elements were also analysed according to the guidelines provided by the CIS working group [9, 10]. Regarding chemical status, it has been also established by the compliance with the environmental quality standards (EQS). A total of 97 priority substances and group of substances (isomers, metabolites, etc.) are currently analysed by the Catalan Water Agency using standard procedures [72].

Therefore, ACA has developed a monitoring program to assess quality status for all Catalan WB according to the EU-WFD requirements and following the intercalibration process in close cooperation with research centres. Such monitoring program and its main features are available in the Catalan Water Agency WEB page (www.gencat.cat/aca).

#### 2.2 Monitoring Networks

The ACA established the first WFD Monitoring Programme for a period of 6 years (from 2007 to 2012). The entire monitoring program is completed after 6 years according to the WFD. Several reports on water quality status were produced over this period (www.gencat.cat/aca). A reviewed second Monitoring Programme was launched in 2013, for an additional 6 years (from 2013 to 2018) which is currently in progress. Details of both monitoring programmes are available in the Catalan Water Agency web page (www.gencat.cat/aca). Both monitoring programmes have been providing enough data to establish the ecological status diagnosis according to the WFD requirements.

Monitoring networks were designed to provide a comprehensive spatial overview of both ecological and chemical status for surface waters and chemical and quantitative status for groundwater. Monitoring networks were established for each quality element taken into account intensity of human pressures in the territory (Tables 2, 3, and 4). Different sampling frequencies were applied for each sampling site considering each quality elements and the intensity of human pressures (Table 5). For example, fish are scheduled to be sampled once over a period of 6 years in all river water bodies, whereas macroinvertebrates have been sampled every year in WB affected by intense human pressures but twice for a 6 years period in pristine or slightly altered WB. General chemical parameters (e.g. nutrients, ions, salinity, pH, etc.) have been sampled monthly in river WB at risk but every 3 months when the human pressures are slight or null, etc. (Table 5).

Regarding Groundwater Monitoring Program, it comprises 1,035 sampling sites in 39 ground WB. The density fluctuates from 1.14 sampling sites per 10 km<sup>2</sup> to 0.25 sampling sites per 10 km<sup>2</sup> depending on the high or low intensity of human pressures, respectively, and the well availability. A total of 577 sites are used for chemical surveillance monitoring, from which 279 are also used for nitrate operational monitoring, 84 for pesticide operational monitoring, 183 for salinity in coastal areas, 239 for industrial risk operational monitoring, 476 for nitrate vulnerable protected areas, and 138 sampling sites to follow the quality of water

Table 2 Numl	ber of samplii	ng sites for each	water body cate	gory and monito	ring networks in the Cat	talan River Ba	sin District (	[16,438 km <sup>2</sup> ]	
								Protected areas	
	Surveillance	e monitoring	Operational mo	nitoring				monitoring	
									Areas
			Areas with	Areas with	Shore areas with high	Areas	Areas	Vulnerable	for
			high risk to	high risk to be	risk to be affected by	affected by	affected	zones by	drinking
Water body	Chemical	Quantitative	be affected	affected by	salinity (marine	industrial	by mine	nitrate 91/676/	water
category	status	status	by nitrate	pesticides	intrusion)	activities	activities	EC Directive	supply
Groundwater	577	207	279	84	183	239	11	476	138
Monitoring net	works are grc	uped by surveil	lance or operatic	onal or for protec	ted areas.				

- <sup>2</sup>
9
81
ñ
4
16
$\sim$
ct
Ξ.
-12.
Д
.Е
.st
ñ
÷
ve
5
H
ar
al
at
$\circ$
Je
tł
н.
ŝ
Ł
NO
ţ,
ne
60
Ē.
.E
Ĕ.
Ы
ĕ
ŭ
5
Ê
8
ē
Cal
~
ç
ß
H
te
va
2
ch
ea
Ē.
fo
SS
ite
S
gu
li
dt
лı
S;
of
Ĥ
þ
Ы
Iu
$\mathbf{Z}$
0
e.
pie
a

	Surveillance	e monitoring	Operationa	l monitoring		Protected are:	as monitorir	lg			
			WB	WB affected					Bathing		
			highly	by priority		Vulnerable	Areas	Sensitive	water		92/43/
			affected	substances	Areas	zones by	for	areas	areas	Fish life	EEC and
			by	(water	affected	nitrate	drinking	91/271/	2006/7/	2006/44/	2009/147/
Water body	Chemical	Ecological	human	+ sediment	by mine	91/676/EC	water	EC	EC	EC	EC
category	status	status	pressures	+ biota)	activity	Directive	supply	Directive	Directive	Directive	Directives
Rivers	211	248	111	39 + 24 + 26	15	187	37	83	4	19	136
Reservoirs	13	13	5	5+2+2	I	13	5	6	5	I	8
Lakes	27	29	22	15 + 0 + 0	I	15	1	2	2	I	18
Transitional	25	28	22	22 + 0 + 0	I	12	I	7	I	I	23
waters											
(coastal											
lagoons)											
Monitoring net	tworks are gro	ouped by surve	cillance or of	perational or fo	r protected	areas.					

Table 3 Number of sampling sites for each water body category and monitoring networks in the Catalan River Basin District (16,438 km<sup>2</sup>)

Table 4 1	Number of	sampling sit	es for each water body ca	ategory and n	nonitoring	networks in t	he Catalan Riv	/er Basin D	istrict (16,4)	38 km²)	
	Surveilla	nnce monitor	ing	Operational	monitorin	60	Protected area	ts monitori	ng		
	Chemica	il status			WB affec	cted by				Bathing	
	(organic		Ecological status	WB	priority s	ubstances	Vulnerable	Areas	Sensitive	water	92/43/
	compour	nds + heavy	(phytoplankton	highly	(organic	compounds	zones by	for	areas	areas	EEC and
Water	metals)		+ macroalgae	affected	+ heavy r	netals)	nitrate	drinking	91/271/	2006/7/	2009/147/
body	In	In	+ phanerogams	by human	In	In	91/676/EC	water	EC	EC	EC
category	water	sediments	+ macroinvertebrates)	pressures	water	sediments	Directive	supply	Directive	Directive	Directives
Coastal	32 + 29	94+47	87 + 36 + 29 + 37	23	16 + 16	52 + 30	51	2	1	231	29
waters											
Monitoring	g networks	s are grouped	by surveillance or opera	tional or for J	protected a	areas.					

1
Ω.
<del>(</del>
1
16
$\sim$
ct
·Ξ
Ð
· =
Ц
ц
SI.
ä
р
H
é
÷
2
п
la
[a]
at
0
a)
ř,
1
н.
Ś
÷
ō
Ň
÷
цć
ä
·Ξ
ō
Ħ.
E
a
F
q
E
~
$\Sigma$
Ö
50
ιtέ
53
~
÷
ŏ
р
H
tέ
/a
5
Ч
S
ĕ
÷
9
-
ĕ
it
50
ŝ
E.
þ
E
aı
ŝ
of
ž
ē
þ
Ξ
ľ
$\mathbf{Z}$
_
4
e
q
B

	DIOLOGICAL CICILICIUS						u pirysicociiciii	ICAL CICILICIUS		conditions
		Fitobenthos					Priority	Priority	Priority	Hydrology –
Water body		(diatoms or	Macrophytes			General	substances	substances	substances	connectivity -
category	Macroinvertebrate	macroalgae)	or phanerogams	Fish	Phytoplankton	pollutants	on water	on sediment	on biota	morphology
Rivers	HPWB: 6	HPWB: 6	HPWB: 1	HPWB: 1	1	HPWB: 72	HPWB: 24	HPWB: 6	HPWB: 6	HPWB: 1
	WPWB: 2	WPWB: 2	WPWB: 1	WPWB: 1	1	WPWB: 24	WPWB: 2	WPWB: 0	WPWB: 0	WPWB: 1
	RWB: 2	RWB: 2	RWB: 1	RWB: 1	1	RWB: 24	RWB: 22	RWB: 0	RWB: 0	RWB: 1
Reservoirs	I	I	1	HPWB: 1	HPWB: 6	HPWB: 6	HPWB: 3	HPWB: 1	HPWB: 1	I
				WPWB: 1	WPWB: 3	WPWB: 3	WPWB: 2	WPWB: 1	WPWB: 1	I
				RWB: 1	RWB: 3	RWB: 3	RWB: 1	RWB: 0	RWB: 0	I
Lakes and	HPWB: 2	1	HPWB: 2	1	NAY	HPWB: 3	HPWB: 3	HPWB: 1	1	HPWB: 2
wetlands	WPWB: 2		WPWB: 2			WPWB: 2	WPWB: 2	WPWB: 1		WPWB: 2
	RWB: 2		RWB: 2			RWB: 2	RWB: 2	RWB: 0		RWB: 2
Transitional	HPWB: 2	I	HPWB: 2	I	NAY	HPWB: 3	HPWB: 3	HPWB: 1	I	HPWB: 2
waters	WPWB: 2		WPWB: 2			WPWB: 2	WPWB: 2	WPWB: 1		WPWB: 2
	RWB: 2		RWB: 2			RWB: 2	RWB: 2	RWB: 0		RWB: 2
Coastal	HPWB: 2	HPWB: 3	HPWB: 3	I	HPWB: 48	HPWB: 48	HPWB: 12	HPWB: 6	I	NAY
waters	WPWB: 2	WPWB: 3	WPWB: 3		WPWB: 24	WPWB: 24	WPWB: 6	WPWB: 1		
	<b>Biological elements</b>					Chemical ele	ements			Water quantity
Water body category	Macroinvertebrate	Fitobenthos (diatoms or macroalgae)	Macrophytes or phanerogams	Fish	Phytoplankton	General pollutants	Salinity	Nitrate	Pesticides	Piezometric level
Groundwater	1	1	1	1	1	HPWB: 6	HPWB: 6	HPWB: 6	HPWB: 6	HPWB: 72
						WPWB: 3	WPWB: 0	WPWB: 0	WPWB: 0	WPWB: 72

(2013-2018) carried out in the Catalan River Basin District neriod in the ACA Monitoring Pro 022 ner a 6 mulee Table 5 Number of c

Water Status Assessment in the Catalan River Basin District: Experience...

11

withdrawals for drinking human supply (Tables 2, 3, and 4). Additionally, 11 sampling sites are solely monitored for salt mine activity surveillance), and 207 sites are exclusively used for water-level surveillance.

A total of 248 sampling sites are set for river surveillance purposes (one per each water body), using different sampling frequencies depending of the element to be measured (see Tables 2, 3, 4, and 5). Additional sampling sites have been established from protected areas (i.e. quality control for drinking protected areas or bathing zones) or for particular purposes. For example, 26 sampling sites were included to measure reference conditions of different river types, or 4 sampling sites are exclusively used for bathing monitoring. Regarding reservoirs, a total of 13 sites have been established in 13 reservoirs. Moreover, five additional sites are set to exclusively provide water supply quality data for urban uses, and an additional five sampling sites were set to monitor bathing areas (protected areas) (see Tables 2, 3, and 4). Wetlands and karstic lakes (lakes) and coastal lagoons (transitional waters) have also been analysed with a total of 57 sites, one sampling site per each water body. The same sites are used to obtain different information (Table 5). Finally, coastal waters, like groundwater, are monitored using several sampling sites per each water body with a total of 87 sampling sites for physicochemical parameters and phytoplankton (chlorophyll-a) in 33 coastal WB, 54 near coastline, and 33 offshore. Moreover, additional 36 sampling sites are used to evaluate macroalgae, 29 for Posidonia oceanica, and 37 sites to assess benthic macroinvertebrates quality indices (Tables 2, 3, and 4). So a total of 574 sites are set in 33 WB, but unlike inland waters, not all parameters are collected from the same sampling site.

#### 2.3 Sampling Protocols and Selected Metrics

Detailed protocols for sampling and metrics used for biological and hydromorphological quality assessment can be found in the Catalan Water Agency web page (https://aca-web.gencat.cat). A summary is provided in Table 6. As previously said, most of biological quality elements applied in rivers and coastal waters of the Catalan Water District were intercalibrated through the European Commission process carried out from 2006 to 2013 [71].

Chemical status in surface waters is assessed through a total of 97 priority and hazardous chemicals analysed using standard procedures [72], like atomic fluorescence spectroscopy for mercury, inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry for metals, headspace extraction procedure for solvent substances (UNE-EN ISO 1030 1997), solvent extraction with simultaneous derivatization for pentachlorophenol [74], and solid-phase stirred bar extraction [75] for the rest of organic compounds. All chemicals were also analysed or confirmed using GC–MS according to the 2009/90/EC Directive. From these 97 substances and group of substances, 42 are included in the Annex I of the 105/2008/EC Directive [72]. Only substances and thresholds provided by the 105/2008 and 2013/39/UE Directives were applied for

(rivers, reservoirs, lakes, trai	nsitional waters, and	coastal waters					
	Biological quality	Biological	Organization level	Type of			Information
Water category	element	index	based <sup>a</sup>	index <sup>b</sup>	Index sensitivity <sup>c</sup>	Intercalibrated <sup>d</sup>	source <sup>e</sup>
Rivers	Diatoms	SdI	Community	Unimetric	Nutrients – general degradation	Yes. DOCE 2008	Chap. 3 (Part I)
	Macroinvertebrates	IBMWP	Community	Unimetric	General degradation	Yes. DOCE 2008	[73]
		IMMi-T	Community	Multi- metric	Nutrients – general degradation	Yes. DOCE 2013	[19]
	Macrophytes	IBMR	Community	Unimetric	Nutrients – general degradation	Yes. DOCE 2013	Chap. 4 (Part I)
		IMF	Community	Unimetric	Nutrients – general degradation	No	[23]
	Fish	IBIMED/ IBICAT	Community	Multi- metric	Nutrients – general degradation	Yes. DOCE 2013	Chap. 5 (Part I)
		IBICAT2b	Community	Multi- metric	Nutrients – general degradation	No	Chap. 6 (Part I)
Reservoirs	Phytoplankton	IGA	Community	Unimetric	Nutrients – general degradation	Yes. DOCE 2008.	Chap. 9 (Part I)
		Chl-a	Population biomass	Unimetric	Nutrients – general degradation	Yes. DOCE 2008	Chap. 9 (Part I)
		%CIANO	Popul. biovolume	Unimetric	Nutrients – anoxia	Yes. DOCE 2008	Chap. 9 (Part I)
Lakes - inland wetlands	Phytoplankton	InGA	Community	Unimetric	Nutrients	No	
	Macrophytes	InMac	Community	Unimetric	Nutrients – general degradation	No	
	Invertebrates	InMacro	Community	Unimetric	Nutrients – general degradation	No	
		QAELS	Community	Multi- metric	Nutrients – general degradation	No	Chap. 8 (Part I)
Transitional waters – coastal lagoons	Invertebrates	QAELS	Community	Multi- metric	Nutrients – general degradation	No	Chap. 8 (Part I)
		EQAT	Community	Unimetric	Nutrients – general degradation	No	Chap. 8 (Part I)
							(continued)

Table 6 Biological quality indices currently used by the Catalan Water Agency in order to establish the ecological status in the Catalan River Basin District

13

	P. 1 . 1		- -	E			
	Biological quality	Biological	Urganization level	I ype of			Information
Water category	element	index	based <sup>a</sup>	index <sup>b</sup>	Index sensitivity <sup>c</sup>	Intercalibrated <sup>d</sup>	source <sup>e</sup>
Transitional waters – Ebro	Phytoplankton	Chl-a	Population	Unimetric	Nutrients – general	No	Chap. 6
Delta Bays			DIOMASS		degradation		(Part II)
	Marine						
	phanerogams:						
	Cymodocea nodosa	CYMOX	Population and	Multi-	General degradation	No	Chap. 10
			biomarkers	metric			(Part II)
	Macroinvertebrates	MEDOCC	Community	Multi-	Organic matter – general	No	Chap. 9
				metric	degradation		(Part II)
Coastal waters	Phytoplankton	Chl-a	Population	Unimetric	Nutrients – general	Yes. DOCE	Chap. 6
			biomass		degradation	2008	(Part II)
	Macroalgae	CARLIT	Community	Multi-	Nutrients – general	Yes. DOCE	Chap. 8
				metric	degradation	2008	(Part II)
	Marine						
	phanerogams:						
	Posidonia oceanica	POMI	Population and	Multi-	Nutrients – general	YES. DOCE	[48, 49]
			biomarkers	metric	degradation	2013	
	Macroinvertebrates	MEDOCC	Community	Multi-	Organic matter – general	Yes. DOCE	Chap. 10
				metric	degradation	2008	(Part II)
<sup>a</sup> Level of biological organiz	ation upon which bioi	ndicator is bas	ed. The effects of hu	man pressure	s involve a series of biologic	cal responses mea	isured through

<sup>al</sup> Level of biological organization upon which bioindicator is based. The effects of human pressures involve a series of biological responses measured through several organization levels in aquatic ecosystems: ranking from population and community (e.g. biological indices) up to lower levels as biomolecular/ biochamical location of the destination of the destination and community (e.g. biological indices) up to lower levels as biomolecular/ biochemical levels (e.g. biomarkers)

"Sources where additional information can be found for each quality element or index applied in the CRBD. Both references or chapters of the the present book titled: "Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring. The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I <sup>d</sup>Was the biological index intercalibrated by the EU exercise as a Spanish national index through the Mediterranean GIG? <sup>9</sup>Index calculation structure and composition: unimetric/multi-metric indices or multivariant index, predictable model, etc. <sup>c</sup>Main detected pressure(s). Specification of pressure-impact relationship upon which quality index was developed or Part II)" are provided to find additional information

Table 6 (continued)

chemical status assessment. Values of heavy metals (lead, cadmium, mercury, and nickel), chlorinated solvents, pesticides (chlorine, phosphorus, triazine), polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, and endocrine disruptors (nonylphenols, octylphenols, and brominated diphenyl ether compounds) were analysed and compared with the EQS provided by the directives. All other chemical elements are used to analyse their evolution along time and detect possible hot spots [76].

Regarding groundwater, chemical quality standards and threshold values (TVs) were established in accordance with the procedure set out in Annex I and II of the Directive 2006/118/EC for groundwater [9, 10]. Natural background levels (NBLs) were set by calculating the 90 percentile of the historical dataset of major ions and natural chemical compounds in order to establish TVs for quality classes (between good and bad). TVs and quality classes used for ground WB can be found in the Catalan River Basin Management Plan (https://aca-web.gencat.cat). The groundwater quantitative status is measured by protocols produced by ACA and available at the same web page.

#### **3** Quality Status in Catalan WB

Applying sampling protocols and metrics previously mentioned (Table 6), the ecological and chemical status have been assessed in all surface Catalan water body categories (rivers, reservoirs, lakes, wetlands, and transitional and coastal waters) (Fig. 2). Moreover, chemical and water level have been analysed for groundwater (Fig. 3). Water body diagnostics have been carried out together with scientific support to ensure the ecological interpretation for management purposes.

#### 3.1 Rivers

Rivers have been analysed according to both ecological and chemical status. Biological quality has been assessed using fish, macroinvertebrate, and diatom quality elements (see Table 5). Macrophytes are not used yet as biological quality metric in rivers due to scarce data available so far. A total of 39% of river WB (97 out of 248) show high or good biological quality in the Catalan River Basin District. On the other hand, 38% of river WB show values below good quality (94 out of 248) mainly located close to urban and industrial areas. For a total of 17 WB (7%), it was not possible to assess the biological quality because of lack of data mainly due to scarce or null flow (temporary rivers) (Fig. 2). Results reveal that fish index is the most stringent biological quality element in rivers. Whereas macroinvertebrate and diatom indices (IBMWP and IPS, respectively) show quite similar percentages of high and good quality classes, around 57% and 54%, the percentage falls down up to 39% when the fish index is joined. Fish quality indices are sensitive to additional alterations like flow regime disturbances, lack of river


Fig. 2 Outcomes of ecological and chemical status assessed in the Catalan River Basin District. Quality elements are shown for rivers, reservoirs, lakes and wetlands, coastal lagoons (transitional waters), and coastal waters

continuity, or habitat loss [25] in which other biological quality elements are not sensitive enough.

The percentage of streams and rivers classified in good and high quality classes decrease from 39 to 38% when biological quality values are combined together with physicochemical quality values in order to define ecological status. Physicochemical quality shows a 52% of river WB in good quality (128 out of 248), quite similar to 55% which are classified in high and good quality by using macroinvertebrate and diatom biological indices. However, surprisingly a relevant percentage of rivers are not coincident. Some rivers show good biological data but bad physicochemical conditions and vice versa. A total of 14 river WB are classified as high or good



biological conditions but bad physicochemical quality mainly due to high nutrient concentration. Conversely, a total of 24 river WB show moderate to bad biological quality when physicochemical parameters are classified as good. Most of them are affected by hydromorphological alterations, scarce flow regime, or habitat alterations mainly detected through poor fish quality values (low fish density and high alien species). Hydromorphological quality outputs to later set up the final ecological status. Hydro conditions cannot decrease biological quality below good according to the WFD requirements [77]. However, Catalan rivers show a total of 34 rivers with good ecological status (good biological and physicochemical data) but bad hydro conditions mainly due to scarce riparian forest quality and river bed alterations.

Finally, the water body status is established combining ecological and chemical status. We measure chemical status by using quality standards (QS) provided by the Directive 2008/105/EC and 2013/39/EC on priority substances. A total of 141 out of 248 river WB (57%) are classified in good chemical quality. However, combining ecological and chemical status, the number of river WB classified in good status decreases from 95 to 85 (from 38 to 34%). A total of ten rivers with high or good ecological status show bad chemical status mainly located upstream close to non-populated areas. The bad chemical status is mainly due to pesticides (e.g. endosulphan) or heavy metals found in biota (e.g. mercury) at concentrations slightly over the quality standards provided by EU directives.

### 3.2 Reservoirs

Reservoirs are considered heavily modified WB, and their quality status is classified as ecological potential by using metrics shown in Table 6, together with chemical

status. Major reservoirs, a total of 9 out of 13 (69%) located in the Catalan River Basin District, are considered in optimum or good biological quality (Fig. 2). Those reservoirs show low concentration of "chlorophyll-a", low percentage of "cyanophytes" in the epilimnion, scarce nutrient concentration, and moderate to high oxygen levels in the hypolimnion. Around a half of reservoirs (7 out of 13) show good physicochemical quality. Finally, two reservoirs are classified as bad chemical status (mainly by heavy metals and pesticides found over the quality standards). Those reservoirs are also classified as bad ecological potential. Reservoirs classified as optimum and good ecological potential are mainly located upstream near natural and non-populated areas.

### 3.3 Lakes and Transitional Waters

Inland wetlands and coastal lagoons (transitional waters) show quite similar percentage of quality classes. A total of 26 shallow lakes (wetlands) have been defined in the Catalan River Basin District as WB, plus an additional karstic lake (Banyoles lake). Major wetlands and lakes are classified as moderate to bad quality mainly due to flow regime alteration, desiccation, morphological impacts, and chemical contamination from agricultural activities. Only 26% (7 out of 27) of lakes and inland wetlands show god or high ecological status. Physicochemical parameters (nutrients and conductivity) are not used in Catalan wetlands in order to set ecological status because of its high variability over time and to the high values of both in natural conditions [31]. On the other hand, hydromorphological conditions become highly important to diagnose quality status in wetlands and shallow lakes, especially in Mediterranean areas where water is scarce and intensively used by human activities [32], where only 5 out of 14 wetland WB classified as moderate or bad biological quality show good hydromorphological conditions. On the other hand, 3 WB classified as high and good biological quality show poor hydromorphological quality by using ECELS index. Those wetlands are classified as moderate ecological status since morphological alterations heavily affect the aquatic ecosystem but biological indices are not sensitive enough. Chemical status has not been analysed yet due to scarce available data.

Coastal lagoons (transitional waters) show quite similar conditions as inland wetlands. A total of 25 coastal lagoons have been sampled and most of them are highly threatened because they are located close to coastal shoreline where extensive urban areas exist. Most coastal lagoons have been drained and its surface reduced, and only environmental protected areas have been preserved. Thus, only 25% of coastal lagoons show a high or good ecological status (6 out of 25). Chemical status has not been analysed yet due to scarce available data.

### 3.4 Coastal Waters

A total of 33 coastal WB have been sampled, with several sites for each water body, depending of the natural characteristics of each water body (e.g. type of substratum), which determines the number and the frequency of samples. Moreover, coastal waters are not evaluated by using all biological quality elements in each sampling site or in the same water body. Biological elements are measured only when their potential presence is determined by natural factors. Four biological quality elements are used to define biological quality in the Catalan coastal waters: phytoplankton, macroalgae, seagrass (Posidonia sp.), and macroinvertebrates. Biological quality class is obtained by the worst of them. Phytoplankton is measured in 33 WB, whereas macroalgae is measured in sites with a significant proportion of rocky substrate (16 WB), Posidonia in 16 WB, and macroinvertebrates in places with sandy substrate (27 WB). Moreover, chemical status is assessed only on water bodies at risk (i.e. in front of urban areas, near large harbours, or around industrial underwater outfalls). Regarding hydromorphological conditions, the methodology has been not developed yet for coastal waters, so they have not been used to define ecological status in coastal waters

Major coastal waters are classified as high or good ecological status (17 out of 33 coastal WB) (Fig. 2). A total of 19 out of 33 coastal waters are classified as high or good biological quality (58%), and 24 out of 33 are classified as good physicochemical quality (73%). Ecological status is good in almost all northern coastal WB in Catalonia. Main pressures are found in the central coast and south close to large urban areas like Barcelona and Tarragona where the high urban activity affects marine ecosystems. The worst quality occurs close to the metropolitan area of Barcelona and, in front of Tarragona Bay highly influenced by industrial activity, large concentration of population and the presence of river discharges.

The macroinvertebrate quality index (MEDOCC) meets high and good quality values in all WB, whereas phytoplankton shows moderate to bad quality values near urban areas in the north close to Rosas and Figueres cities, in the central coast around the Barcelona area, and in the south near Tarragona city. Macroalgae and seagrass are specially impacted in central and southern Catalan coast, close to Barcelona and Tarragona cities.

Chemical status is evaluated based on priority substances according to the 2008/ 105/EC and 2013/39/UE Directives. Only WB at risk (in front of the main rivers and major urban and industrial areas) are analysed. Priority substances dissolved in water (measured both coastline and open sea) are very low and thus difficult to detect. However, they are more easily measurable in marine sediments where pollution has been historically accumulated over time. These compounds may come from rivers or urban sewerage systems or industrial sewerage systems. According to the WFD the chemical status of all coastal waters is good.

# 3.5 Groundwater

Groundwater body status is assessed by combining both chemical and quantitative status using the one-out all-out criteria. Regarding chemical status, monitoring data from surveillance and operational networks are aggregated and compared to TVs and to groundwater OS previously defined according to the Article 3 of GWD. So, bad chemical status is considered: (1) if the area associated with monitoring stations that exceed a relevant chemical parameter is larger than the 20% of the total groundwater body area (using Thiessen polygons to extrapolate values from sites), (2) if the temporal evolution of some relevant parameter significantly increases near TVs, and (3) if local pressures from industrial or agricultural activities show relevant impacts that should be pointed out (i.e. organic compounds or other chemicals as pesticides). Therefore, a total of 15 groundwater bodies out of 37 (41%) were classified as good chemical status, whereas 22 were considered as bad (59%) (Fig. 3). Major impacts were observed for nitrate (NO<sup>3-</sup>) and chloride (Cl<sup>-</sup>) which kept 46% and 28% of groundwater bodies below good quality. A total of 17 WB out of 37 show values of nitrate above 50 mg/L, mainly due to intensive farming and fertilization. Those WB are mainly located near agricultural areas or near urban areas. On the other hand, chloride mainly increases in groundwater intensively affected by water abstractions located near shoreline. Thus, water withdrawal causes saline intrusion from seawater and affects water quality in a total of 6 out of 37 groundwater bodies (22%) in the CRBD. Additionally, four non-coastal WB show high chloride values because of industrial activities and mining. Moreover, high values of sulphate (SO<sup>4-</sup>), ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>), perchloroethylene (PCE), and trichloroethylene (TCE) are, respectively, found in 7, 3, 5, and 3 groundwater bodies.

Four elements were taken into account as a criteria for determining the groundwater quantitative status assessment: (1) that the total abstraction from the groundwater body should not exceed the recharge, also considering an allowance for dependent aquatic ecosystems; (2) that groundwater abstraction should not cause a reversal in groundwater flow direction which results in the significant intrusion of saline or other poor quality water into the groundwater body; (3) that groundwater body-related pressures should not diminish groundwater flows supporting terrestrial ecosystems in way such that these ecosystems may suffer "significant damage" in relation to conservation objectives; and (4) that groundwater level monitoring data show an stable tendency over time. Therefore, most groundwater bodies (30 out of 37) show good quantitative status and only 7 bad quantitative status. Most of WB classified as bad quantitative status (6) are also coincident with bad chemical status.

Finally, combining chemical and quantitative status, 13 groundwater bodies were classified as good (35%), whereas 24 were classified as bad (65%) (Fig. 3).

#### 4 Issues to Be Improved on Ecological Status Assessment

Experiences gathered and shared between the Catalan Water Agency (ACA) and several research centres and universities closely involved in the development of the monitoring programme of the Catalan aquatic ecosystems have pointed out some difficulties and inconsistencies to meet certain WFD requirements. Uncertainties in ecological and chemical status assessment may have many sources [60, 78, 79]; we have selected here the most relevant we found applying aquatic ecosystem monitoring in the Catalan basins.

# 4.1 Hydromorphological Conditions and Ecological Status Relationship

Physicochemical quality of aquatic ecosystems has been enhanced in Catalonia for the last decades due to a large investment on water treatment facilities both for urban and industrial effluents, but pressures on hydrology, ecosystem continuity, and habitat loss have not been appropriately considered. A total of 152 river WB out of 248 (61%) have been classified with poor or bad hydromorphological conditions in the Catalan River Basin District, whereas 112 (45%) have been classified as bad physicochemical quality. Nevertheless, hydromorphological measurements are not required by the WFD to achieve good ecological status, and it is only used to classify WB between high and good ecological status [77]. Thus, ecological status can be set as good while hydromorphological conditions could be poor or bad. Obviously, biological indices are required to be sensitive enough to hydrological pressures, but most biological assessment methods developed so far are to a large extent insensitive to hydrological alterations [25]. In the Catalan River Basin District, some WB have been classified as good ecological quality while hydromorphological quality is poor. In rivers, a total of 34 out of 248 WB (14%) show poor or bad hydromorphological quality but ecological status is classified as good. In wetlands, a total of 4 out of 27 WB (15%) show high or good biological quality but poor hydromorphological conditions, and 3 out of 25 coastal lagoons (12%) also show high or good biological quality but poor hydromorphological conditions. So, hydromorphological quality might be carefully considered when assessing ecological status of a water body subject to an important hydrological alteration, especially when evidence of severe hydrological alterations is not detected through the current biological quality elements.

Benefits of wastewater treatment have been thoroughly documented over the last decades in the Catalan River Basin District [80]. In contrast, the response to hydromorphological restoration has shown to be more complex and less predictable [81]. Thus, we need to better understand and predict the benefits of future river hydromorphological restoration projects and its effects on biological communities in order to improve biological indices which are required to give an integrated

quality status assessment [82, 83]. There is an urgent need to gather scientific evidence illustrating how geomorphology supports biota and to improve the understanding of the links between morphology, habitats, riparian forest, and the communities living in the aquatic ecosystems [84]. Many of the existing tools only give a description of condition rather than an understanding of functioning. There is a crucial need to understand the hydromorphological and biological responses to new modifications of water environment and future environmental changes [79, 85].

#### 4.2 The Ecological Status of Temporary Ecosystems

Mediterranean rivers are characterized by frequent natural hydrological disturbances, including floods and droughts. The hydrological regime has become a key element that determines biological community composition and its response to the interannual and seasonal hydrological variability [86]. Numerous studies have revealed the peculiarities of biological communities in Mediterranean and temporary streams (see [13, 87, 88], where annual and interannual changes in the composition of the invertebrate community are found related to flow regime that may fluctuate from perennial to intermittency (presence of permanent pools during the dry periods) until the moment that the channel is totally dry [89]. Thus, biological quality and reference conditions could naturally change between seasons and between years, which made complex the biological quality assessment on such Mediterranean water ecosystems.

Differences between spring (from April to May) and summer (from July to August) samples and dry and wet periods were studied in several Catalan rivers using the macroinvertebrate community assemblages at family level [20]. Four biological quality metrics commonly used in the Catalan basins were compared: IBMWP (Iberian Biological Monitoring Working Party), IASPT (Iberian Average Score Per Taxon), taxon richness at family level, and the number of Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, and Trichoptera (EPT) at family level (Fig. 4). Differences were large in some of these indexes between dry and wet years than in spring and summer in reference sites. The analysis shown that macroinvertebrate communities and biological indices may significantly change according to hydrological conditions (Fig. 4), clustering the rivers in three different groups: (1) rivers with a continuous flow regime located in siliceous zones, (2) rivers with a continuous flow regime located in calcareous zones, and (3) temporary rivers regardless from the geology. These results agree with other similar works carried out in Mediterranean areas (e.g. [90]) or in other European basins [91]. Temporary rivers appear in all these studies as a heterogeneous group, without a unique typological aggregation but displaying notable dispersion between sites and samples. This phenomenon leads difficult to establish a unified biological quality monitoring and the threshold values for the different metrics between quality classes.

Therefore, biological quality metrics need to be previously analysed in Mediterranean water ecosystems in order to know their temporal or spatial behaviour and



**Fig. 4** Results of IBMWP biological quality index and number of taxa of macroinvertebrate (at family level) applied in different river types (1a, 2a, 1b, 3a, and 3b) in the Catalan River Basin District. All values were taken from reference sites (without human pressures and near natural conditions). *Dark box* shows data collected in wet years, whereas *white boxes* show data collected in dry years. Results and more information can be found in Munné and Prat [20]

to select the most suitable biological quality assessment method and reference conditions. For Mediterranean areas, and especially for temporary water ecosystems, the IASPT metric, or some multi-metric indices that use this metric in their formulation, such as the ICM-Star [67], the IMMi-L, and the IMMi-L indices [19], seems to be more appropriate than other ones to establish the biological condition of temporary rivers (Fig. 4). On the other hand, water abstraction and human activity may affect flow disturbances and can change a perennial stream to an intermittent one or increasing the duration and magnitude of droughts and limiting the stream's ability to support aquatic biota [89]. So, what extent the flow regime has been altered through water abstraction or whether scarce or null flow regime is due to natural conditions or human pressures becomes as a key issue to properly assess the ecological status in Mediterranean WB.

Recent approaches to this topic propose to adopt a toolbox including several protocols designed to be used in a sequential manner to allow the establishment of the ecological status of temporary streams and to relate these findings to the hydrological conditions [14, 92]. This toolbox is intended to serve the following purposes: (1) the determination of the hydrological regime of the stream, (2) the design of adequate schedules for biological and chemical sampling according to the aquatic state of the stream, (3) the fulfilment of criteria for designing reference condition stations, (4) the analysis of hydrological modifications of the stream regime (with the definition of the hydrological status), and (5) the development of new methods to measure the ecological status (including structural and functional methods) and chemical status when the stream's hydrological conditions are far from those in permanent streams. The definition of six aquatic states (hyperrheic (floods), eurheic (continuous flow with riffles), oligorheic (connected pools), arheic (alluvium not saturated)) by [92] summarized the set of aquatic mesohabitats which

occurs on a given stream reach at a particular moment depending on the hydrological conditions and the biological communities to be used to establish the biological quality. Further developments of such approach may be useful to solve the problems found by water managers to establish the ecological status of temporary rivers.

# 4.3 Chemical and Ecological Status Relationship

Achieving the WB' "good status" as required by the WFD involves fulfilling both the ecological and the chemical good status as well. It seems thus reasonable rising the question of until what extent both quality "dimensions" are interrelated, since the respective results are not always consistent (Table 7). This is a topic of research to which many efforts within the EU-funded research (FP6, FP7, and H2020) as well as studies promoted by member states have been addressed.

In addition to specific topics such as analytical methods development for the different pollutants and matrices at their environmental levels (typically ng/L for many compounds) that is a topic highly correlated with the progress achieved by analytical chemistry [93], here we briefly examine some other key aspects related to more basic issues which remain still open and require further scientific research.

#### 4.3.1 Selection of New Emerging Compounds to Be Included in the Priority List: The Prioritization Process

Good chemical status as defined in the WFD is basically linked to the accomplishment with the "environmental quality standards" (EQS) published for the so-called priority substances. Up to now compounds included in this list are 45 substances. This is in sharp contrast with the fact that more than 100,000 substances are currently in daily use by industry and household, of which ca. 30,000 are of concern and subjected to registration under the new REACH regulation [94]. These highly unbalanced figures simply evidence the limitation of knowledge of the real effects of such substances and the mixtures of them. Even though the WFD foresees

	Good chemical status and bad ecological status	Good ecological status and bad chemical status		
Rivers	69 (28%)	13 (5%)		
Reservoirs	3 (23%)	1 (8%)		
Lakes and wetlands	-	-		
Transitional waters – coastal lagoons	-	-		
Coastal waters	10 (28%)	1 (3%)		

 Table 7
 Number of sampling sites for each water body category classified as good chemical status but bad (moderate, poor, or bad) ecological status, and vice versa

periodical updates of the list every 6 years, the question is far from being satisfactory solved.

Progress on environmental analytical chemistry has shown the occurrence in the water environment of many not yet regulated substances, globally known as "emerging contaminants": pharmaceuticals, personal care products, illegal drugs, perfluoroalkyl compounds, halogenated flame retardants, endocrine disruptors, pesticides, as well as many industrial compounds have been identified in the environment (together with their transformation products) at non-negligible levels [95]. Furthermore many of them are designed to be bioactive and their long-term exposure effects are largely unknown. Identifying more candidate compounds to be included in the priority list, and what is more important, speeding up the process of inclusion seems thus of key relevance.

#### 4.3.2 Bridging the Gap Between Chemical and Ecological Status: The Ecotoxicity Approach

Ecotoxicity appears as an "in-between" discipline capable to translate chemical exposure into biological effects. Occurrence levels of chemicals can be expressed in terms of risk by comparison to their toxic levels. The toxic unit (TU) or hazard quotient (HQ) (respectively, MEC/EC50 or MEC/PNEC; MEC = measured environmental concentration; PNEC = predicted no effect concentration) approach is commonly used and provides a simple way to quantify the environmental risk associated to a single chemical. In order to be ecologically representative, both TU and HQ should be calculated for different trophic levels (typically, daphnids, algae, and fish) [96]. While the end points considered in ecotoxicological test are not able to encompass the entire ecosystem, it is widely accepted as that ecotoxicology is a reasonable approach to explain until some extent the ecological status, but this approach is not clearly included in the regulations of the WFD.

A further complication arises from the fact that pollutants seldom occur alone; rather they are present in the environment as complex mixtures. Estimation of toxicity of mixtures is currently an issue of active research. Typically two approaches are applied essentially differing on the underlying assumptions as regards the mode of action of the individual constituents composing the mixture. In the so-called concentration addition (CA) [97], substances are supposed to act under a common mechanism, so that their concentrations can be added after weighting them by their respective toxic contribution. Conversely, under the independent action (IA) [98] approach, substances are supposed to act through specific mechanisms. In practice, since mechanisms of action are rarely known for many substances, it is not easy to decide what the best option is, and both approaches should be interpreted as extreme cases defining a "window" in which reality is framed. A further limitation of both approaches is the lack of ability on predicting synergistic or antagonistic effects among the mixture constituents. Owing to the fact that CA model yields higher values (precautionary principle) together with its simplicity of calculation, CA by simple aggregation (i.e. TU or HQ sum of all compounds on a sample) is commonly used as a first-tier approach [99]. Toxic mixture effects are recognized as a key aspect on the interpretation of pollution effects and have been explicitly considered in the last WFD application guidelines [100].

#### 4.3.3 Effects of Hydrology on the Levels of Emerging and Priority Contaminants

Environmental levels of contaminants are typically obtained through monitoring campaigns carried out by the responsible authorities. However, owing to obvious cost of such campaigns in terms of human and analytical effort, they are often limited and the data obtained are generally scarce and unable to cope with their environmental variability caused by both human and natural factors. Among the latter, hydrological factors, such as flow discharge variation, are of key importance and can have a huge influence in the levels and fate of contaminants actually found in the WB. Dilution/concentration effects, increase/decrease of the residence time, resuspension from polluted sediments, effects of turbidity on photolysis, biodegradation, and overflow from WWTPs are just some of the processes that strongly depend on the hydrological conditions. All these effects (and their consequences on the ecosystem) cannot be disregarded particularly in the Mediterranean area, where severe droughts and flash floods can take place within short time intervals. Furthermore, such trend will be accentuated in the future according with the IPCC climate projections [101]. Since, as mentioned above, monitoring cannot be extended unlimitedly in space and time, attention is focused on modelling as an alternative and less costly possibility. While modelling has been extensively developed and applied to hydrology, conservative contaminants, or nutrients, very few attempts have been devoted to emerging microcontaminants. Some promising approaches have been however recently published [102–104].

More generally, the combined effects of different stressors (hydrological, chemical, and related to global change) on the aquatic ecosystems [105] should be explicitly mentioned as key issue deserving further investigation efforts.

### 5 Discussion and Conclusions

The WFD was welcomed by many for its innovativeness and providing changes towards measuring all surface water status using a range of biological communities rather than only the physicochemical quality or targeted quality for water uses. After several years of scientific work provided from research centres and universities as well as important technical and financial contributions from European member estates and water authorities, a fruitful intercalibration exercise for biological methods was achieved across Europe [69–71], greatly improving homogeneity in the assessment of ecological status even in Mediterranean basins (i.e. [21]).

Likewise, the Catalan Water Agency has introduced new approaches and trend analysis through a close cooperation with research (see Table 1), in order to propose new tools for water body monitoring and water status assessment. Chapters published in both Springer books, "Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring. The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I)" and "Experiences from Groundwater and Coastal Water Quality Monitoring. The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II)", show most of this work. The WFD has been implemented over the last 15 years through continuous work in this area, and clear protocols have been produced for the ecological status assessment. However, the experience gathered so far has make evident some uncertainties on water status classification that should be worth mentioned to be addressed.

One of the main uncertainties detected in the Catalan water ecosystems is focused on intermittent flow regime and droughts. Temporary ecosystems comprise an important water body network in the world, especially in Mediterranean areas, and this proportion is predicted to increase due to global change [106]. The recurrent cessation of water flow influences composition and densities of biotic communities as well as biological quality indices even in reference sites [20, 90]. Several studies focused on the highly adapted biological communities that live in these streams (see [13, 91]). However, they have not been fully integrated into water monitoring so far because most water managers mainly apply perennial river quality assessment principles when making decisions related to temporary ones [14, 15, 92]. The presence of temporary streams in the hydrographical network of drainage basins is a characteristic shared by numerous basins across Europe, not only in Mediterranean areas [91]. Besides, flow regime can be altered due to human pressures, therefore characterizing hydrological conditions prior to the assessment of quality status, and become a key issue to understand and better classify ecological status. Human or natural source of hydrological alterations should previously be assessed. The Catalan Water Agency is currently involved in the LIFE Trivers project especially focused on monitoring and ecological status assessment in temporary rivers (http://www.lifetrivers.eu/en/ home). LIFE Trivers studies the hydrology and ecology of temporary rivers and aims at creating new tools to improve their management according to the objectives of the EU Water Framework Directive (WFD), and using the MIRAGE tool box [14], up to 25 WB out of 346 surface waters (7%) have not been analysed in the Catalan River Basin District due to lack of water in the streams when the sites are treated as permanent ones (Table 8). The use of biological quality indices developed over the last 15 years (e.g. IMMi-T quality index [19]) and the new tools designed for hydrological evaluation of intermittent streams should reduce our inability to establish the ecological status of intermittent streams.

Another source of uncertainties arises when chemical and ecological status are combined to assess the water body status or combining all biological quality elements to finally set the ecological status. Elements from the biological calculation are required to be combined considering the CIS guidance documents [77], and therefore the worst quality value from the quality elements used should be adopted

	Good	Good with uncertainties	Bad with uncertainties	Bad	Without enough data
Rivers	41 (17%)	44 (18%)	81 (33%)	85 (26%)	17 (7%)
Reservoirs	7 (54%)	3 (23%)	1 (8%)	2 (15%)	0 (0%)
Lakes	1 (4%)	7 (26%)	8 (30%)	8 (30%)	3 (11%)
Transitional waters (coastal lagoons)	0 (0%)	5 (20%)	8 (32%)	9 (36%)	3 (12%)
Coastal waters	16 (49%)	0 (0%)	9 (27%)	6 (18%)	2 (6%)
Groundwater	13 (35%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	24 (65%)	0 (0%)
All WB	78 (20%)	59 (16%)	107 (28%)	114 (30%)	25 (6%)

**Table 8** Water status, using the four classes defined in this paper, in the Catalan River Basin District for each water body category (data collected from 2007 to 2012)

by using the one-out all-out criteria. However, all biological quality values might not have the same weight and the one-out all-out principle can be questioned when biological indices or chemicals provide disparate information from similar pressures. Some WB are classified as bad ecological status when all biological and physicochemical elements are bad, whereas in other cases, WB are also classified as bad status only when one physicochemical parameter is bad, or only few biological values show poor quality. Actually, physicochemical quality of many samples was identified as bad in the Catalan River Basin District, while biological quality is good, and vice versa. On the other hand, also some sites were classified as good ecological status when hydromorphological conditions are poor or bad. It becomes clear that the overall ecological quality assignments are more influenced by physicochemical quality elements than by the hydromorphological elements in the current biological indices. In our opinion, assessment with ecological quality classes computed using the one-out all-out rule when aggregating all the biological quality elements and physicochemical quality (i.e. we picked the worst result as the final ecological status) can provide misleading results and uncertainties. So, a smart analysis is necessary combining quality elements and uncertainties must be solved when classifying water status. For this reason, the ACA is proposing to classify water body status in four categories: "good", "good with uncertainties", "bad with uncertainties", and "bad" (Table 8). "Good status" is set when all quality elements are high or good. Nevertheless, when hydromorphological quality is bad or poor, or when almost all quality elements are high or good, but some chemical or biological elements show some values with poor or bad, then "good with uncertainties" quality class is set. Thus, WB with a clear good status are differentiated from those with unclear or antagonistic results. On the other hand, when all quality elements show bad conditions, water body is classified as "bad". However, in some cases, not all biological elements are bad, or bad conditions have been classified due to some few chemicals or physicochemical results or although the final chemical average shows that bad quality values are improving over time. Then in these cases we propose to use as a category "bad with uncertainties".

Uncertainties or contradictions may lead to some repairs in the way as the ecological status is calculated according to the WFD. The suggested procedure by the CIS in the way of using one-out all-out rules to compute the ecological status (ES) is particularly prone to misclassification when a large number of quality elements are combined in the assessment. Therefore, we have to focus on the ecological meaningfulness of the combined quality elements included in the analysis. In our opinion, the weakest point of the one-out all-out rule when combining all biological and physicochemical quality elements to assess the ecological status is the lack of representativeness and the level of redundancy among them. We acknowledge that assuming the one-out all-out rule may in its turn imply an overly pessimistic and unrealistic result and introduce a bias in the design of program of measures. Therefore, following the uncertainties summarized in this chapter, the establishment of two new quality class categories ("good with uncertainties" and "bad with uncertainties") may be a reasonable solution (Table 8). Results show that a total of 166 WB (43%) have contradictions or uncertainties when the ecological status is adopted in the Catalan River Basin District. A total of 59 of them are finally classified as good (but close to bad) and 107 as bad status (but close to good). The use of such four categories may give a more realistic situation of the status of freshwater ecosystems and produce better fundaments for the establishment of appropriate program of measures.

Acknowledgments We really appreciate all collaborative contributions from research centres and universities which have been closely involved to improve monitoring procedures and quality status assessment in the Catalan basins (see all chapters published in this volume and volume II). Special thanks to Catalan Water Agency's technicians (Carolina Solà, Lluís Tirapu, Mònica Bardina, Evelyn Garcia, Mònica Flo, Mercè Figueras, Anna Terrats, Xavier Fusté, Carme Serena, Josep Fraile, Teresa Garrido, Xavier Carreras, Núria Micola, Javier Torrijos, Mariona Torres, Marta Manzanera, Maria J. Cardell, Maria J. Corrales, Josep Vilagrasa, Elisenda Gonzalez, Fidel Picó, Marta Endrino), who have been deeply involved carrying out the monitoring program in Catalan basins. Also thanks to people who works in the Catalan Water Agency's laboratory and GIS technicians and IT operators who assure databases and producing maps on water status.

#### References

- European Commission (2000) Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for Community action in the field of water policy. Off J Eur L 327:1–72
- European Commission (2006) Directive 2006/118/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 December 2006 on the protection of groundwater against pollution and deterioration. Off J Eur L 372:19–31
- European Commission (2008) Directive 2008/105/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 2008 on environmental quality standards in the field of water policy, amending and subsequently repealing Council Directives 82/176/EEC, 83/513/EEC, 84/156/ EEC, 84/491/EEC, 86/280/EEC and amending Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council. Off J Eur L 348:84–97

- 4. European Commission (2013) Directive 2013/39/EU OF of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 August 2013 amending Directives 2000/60/EC and 2008/105/EC as regards priority substances in the field of water policy. Off J Eur L 226:1–17
- Bloch H (1999) European water policy facing the new millennium: the Water Framework Directive. Assessing the ecological Integrity of Running Waters, Vienna, Austria, pp 9–11
- Allan IJ, Vranaa B, Greenwooda R, Millsb GA, Knutssonc J, Holmbergd A, Guiguese N, Fouillace AM, Laschif S (2005) Strategic monitoring for the European Water Framework Directive. Trends Anal Chem 25(7):704–715
- Coquery M, Morin A, Bécue A, Lepot B (2005) Priority substances of the European Water Framework Directive: analytical challenges in monitoring water quality. Trends Anal Chem 24(2):117–127
- Heiskanen AS, Van de Bund W, Cardoso AC, Noges P (2004) Towards good of ecological status of surface waters in Europe – interpretation and harmonisation of the concept. Water Sci Technol 49:169–177
- 9. European Commission (2009) Guidance on groundwater status and trend assessment. Guidance document No 18, 84p
- Müller D, Blum A, Hart A, Hookey J, Kunkel R, Scheidleder A, Tomlin F, Wendland F (2006) Final proposal for a methodology to set up groundwater threshold values in Europe. Specific targeted EU-research project BRIDGE report D 18
- 11. Hering D, Borja A, Carstensen J, Carvalho L, Elliott M, Feld CK et al (2013) The European Water Framework Directive at the age of 10: a critical review of the achievements with recommendations for the future. Sci Total Environ 408:4007–4019
- 12. Hering D, Borja A, Carvalho L, Feld CK (2013) Assessment and recovery of European WB: key messages from the WISER project. Hydrobiologia 704:1–9
- 13. Lake PS (2011) Drought and aquatic ecosystems: effects and responses. Wiley-Blackwell, Chichester
- 14. Prat N, Gallart F, Von Schiller D, Polesello S, García-Roger EM, Latron J et al (2014) The mirage toolbox: an integrated assessment tool for temporary streams. River Res Appl 30:1318–1334
- Acuña V, Datry T, Marshall J, Barceló D, Dahm CN, Ginebreda A, McGregor G, Sabater S, Tockner K, Palmer MA (2014) Why should we care about temporary waterways? Science 343:1080–1081
- Gomà J, Ortiz R, Cambra J, Ector L (2014) Water quality evaluation in Catalonian Mediterranean rivers using epilithic diatoms as bioindicators. Vie Milieu 54(2–3):81–90
- 17. Tornés E, Leira M, Sabater S (2012) Is the biological classification of benthic diatom communities concordant with ecotypes? Hydrobiologia 695:43–55
- Almeida SF, Elias C, Ferreira J, Tornés E, Puccinelli C, Delmas F, Dörflinger G, Urbanič G, Marcheggiani S, Rosebery J, Mancini L, Sabater S (2014) Water quality assessment of rivers using diatom metrics across Mediterranean Europe: a methods intercalibration exercise. Sci Total Environ 476:768–776
- Munné A, Prat N (2009) Use of macroinvertebrate-based multimetric indices for water quality evaluation in Spanish Mediterranean rivers: an intercalibration approach with the IBMWP index. Hydrobiologia 628:203–225
- Munné A, Prat N (2011) Effects of Mediterranean climate annual variability on stream biological quality assessment using macroinvertebrate communities. Ecol Indic 11:651–662
- 21. Feio MJ, Ferreira J, Ferreira MT, Buffagni A, Erba S, Dörflinger G, Ferréol M, Munné A, Prat N, Tziortzis I, Urbanič G (2014) Comparability of ecological quality boundaries in the Mediterranean basin using freshwater benthic invertebrates. Statistical options and implications. Sci Total Environ 476–477:777–784
- 22. Aguiar FC, Segurado P, Urbanič G, Cambra J, Chauvin C, Ciadamidaro S, Dörflinger G, Ferreira J, Germ M, Manolaki P, Minciardi MR, Munné A, Papastergiadou E, Ferreira MT (2014) Comparability of river quality assessment using macrophytes: a multi-step procedure to overcome biogeographical differences. Sci Total Environ 476–477:757–767

- 23. Flor-Arnau N, Real M, González G, Cambra Sánchez J, Moreno JL, Solà C, Munné A (2015) Índice de Macrófitos Fluviales (IMF), una nueva herramienta para evaluar el estado ecológico de los ríos mediterráneos. Limnetica 34(1):95–114
- Benejam L, Aparicio E, Vargas MJ, Vila-Gispert A, García-Berthou E (2008) Assessing fish metrics and biotic indices in a Mediterranean stream: effects of uncertain native status of fish. Hydrobiologia 603:197–210
- 25. Benejam L, Saura-Mas S, Bardina M, Solà C, Munné A, García-Berthou E (2014) Ecological impacts of small hydropower plants on headwater stream fish: from individual to community effects. Ecol Freshw Fish. doi:10.1111/eff.12210
- 26. Ordeix M, Pou-Rovira Q, Sellarès N, Bardina M, Casamitjana A, Solà C, Munné A (2011) Fish pass assessment in the Rivers of Catalonia (NE Iberian Peninsula). A case study of weirs associated with hydropower plants and gauging stations. Limnetica 30(2):405–426
- 27. Solà C, Ordeix M, Pou-Rovira Q, Sellarès N, Queralt A, Bardina M, Casamitjana A, Munné A (2011) The longitudinal connectivity in hydromorphological quality assessments of Rivers. The ICF index: a river connectivity index and its application to Catalan rivers. Limnetica 30 (2):273–292
- 28. Feio M, Aguiar F, Almeida S, Ferreira J, Ferreira M, Elias C, Serra S, Buffagni A, Cambra J, Chauvin C, Delmas F, Dörflinger G, Erba S, Flor N, Ferréol M, Germ M, Mancini L, Manolaki P, Marcheggiani S, Minciardi MR, Munné A, Papastergiadou E, Prat N, Puccinelli C, Rosebery J, Sabater S, Ciadamidaro S, Tornés E, Tziortzis I, Urbanič G, Vieira C (2014) Least disturbed condition for European Mediterranean rivers. Sci Total Environ 476:745–756
- Navarro E, Caputo L, Marcé R, Carol J, Benejam L, García-Berthou E, Armengol J (2009) Ecological classification of a set of Mediterranean reservoirs applying the EU Water Framework Directive: a reasonable compromise between science and management. Lake Reserv Manag 25:364–376
- Benejam L, Benito J, Ordóñez J, Armengol J, García-Berthou E (2008) Short-term effects of a partial drawdown on fish condition in a eutrophic reservoir. Water Air Soil Pollut 190:3–10
- 31. Boix D, Gascón S, Sala J, Martinoy M, Gifre J, Quintana XD (2005) A new index of water quality assessment in Mediterranean wetlands based on crustacean and insect assemblages: the case of Catalunya (NE Iberian peninsula). Aquat Conserv 15(6):635–651
- 32. Sala J, Gascón S, Boix D, Gesti J, Quintana XD (2004) Proposal of a rapid methodology to assess the conservation status of Mediterranean wetlands and its application in Catalunya (NE Iberian Peninsula). Arch Sci 57(2–3):141–151
- 33. Cañedo-Argüelles M, Boix D, Sanchez-Millaruelo N, Sala J, Caiola N, Nebra A, Rieradevall M (2012) A rapid bioassessment tool for the evaluation of the water quality of transitional waters. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 111:129–138
- 34. Nebra A, Caiola N, Ibáñez C (2011) Community structure of benthic macroinvertebrates inhabiting a highly stratified Mediterranean estuary. Sci Mar 75:577–584
- 35. Nebra A, Caiola N, Muñoz-Camarillo G, Rodríguez-Climent S, Ibáñez C (2014) Towards a suitable ecological status assessment of highly stratified Mediterranean estuaries: a comparison of benthic invertebrate fauna indices. Ecol Indic 46:177–187
- Rovira L, Trobajo R, Ibáñez C (2009) Periphytic diatom community in a Mediterranean salt wedge estuary: the Ebro Estuary (NE Iberian Peninsula). Acta Bot Croat 68:285–300
- 37. Rovira L, Trobajo R, Ibáñez C (2012) The use of diatom assemblages as ecological indicators in highly stratified estuaries and evaluation of existing diatom indices. Mar Pollut Bull 64(3):500–511
- 38. Oliva S, Mascaró O, Llagostera I, Pérez M, Romero J (2012) Selection of metrics based on the seagrass Cymodocea nodosa and development of a biotic índex (CYMOX) for assessing ecological status of coastal and transitional waters. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 114:7–17
- 39. Flo E, Garcés E, Manzanera M, Camp J (2011) Coastal inshore waters in the NW Mediterranean: physicochemical and biological characterization and management implications. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 93:279–289

- 40. Garcés E, Camp J (2012) Habitat changes in the Mediterranean Sea and the consequences for harmful algal blooms formation. In: Stambler N (ed) Life in the Mediterranean sea: a look at habitat changes (chapter 19). Nova, New York, pp 519–541
- 41. Arévalo R, Pinedo S, Ballesteros E (2007) Changes in the composition and structure of Mediterranean rocky-shore communities following a gradient of nutrient enrichment: descriptive study and test of proposed methods to assess water quality regarding macroalgae. Mar Pollut Bull 55:104–113
- 42. Ballesteros E, Torras X, Pinedo S, García M, Mangialajo L, de Torres M (2007) A new methodology based on littoral community cartography dominated by macroalgae for the implementation of the European Water Framework Directive. Mar Pollut Bull 55:172–180
- 43. Pinedo S, García M, Satta MP, de Torres M, Ballesteros E (2007) Rocky-shore communities as indicators of water quality: a case study in the Northwestern Mediterranean. Mar Pollut Bull 55:126–135
- 44. Pinedo S, Zabala M, Ballesteros E (2013) Long-term changes in sublittoral macroalgal assemblages related to water quality improvement. Bot Mar 56(5–6):461–469
- 45. Bennett S, Roca G, Romero J, Alcoverro T (2011) Ecological status of seagrass ecosystems: an uncertainty analysis of the meadow classification based on the Posidonia oceanica multivariate index (POMI). Mar Pollut Bull 62:1616–1621
- Martínez-Crego B, Vergés A, Alcoverro T, Romero J (2008) Selection of multiple seagrass indicators for environmental biomonitoring. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 361:93–109
- 47. Martínez-Crego B, Alcoverro T, Romero J (2010) Biotic indices for assessing the status of coastal waters: a review of strengths and weaknesses. J Environ Monit 12:1013–1028
- Mascaró O, Bennet S, Marbà N, Nikolic V, Romero J, Duarte CM, Alcoverro T (2012) Uncertainty analysis along the ecological quality status of WB: the response of the Posidonia oceanica multivariate index (POMI) in three Mediterranean regions. Mar Pollut Bull 64:926–931
- 49. Romero J, Martínez-Crego B, Alcoverro T, Pérez M (2007) A multivariate index based on the seagrass Posidonia oceanica (POMI) to assess ecological status of coastal waters under the water framework directive (WFD). Mar Pollut Bull 55:196–204
- Pinedo S, Jordana E, Salas F, Subida MD, García Adiego E, Torres J (2012) Testing MEDOCC and BOPA indices in shallow soft-bottom communities in the Spanish Mediterranean coastal waters. Ecol Indic 19:98–105
- 51. Pinedo S, Jordana E, Ballesteros E (2014) A critical analysis on the response of macroinvertebrate communities along disturbance gradients: description of MEDOCC (MEDiterranean OCCidental) index. Mar Ecol 1–14
- 52. Subida MD, Drake P, Jordana E, Mavric B, Pinedo S, Simboura N, Torres J, Salas F (2012) Response of different biotic indices to gradients of organic enrichment in Mediterranean coastal waters: implications of non-monotonic responses of diversity measures. Ecol Indic 19:106–117
- 53. Köck-Schulmeyer M, Ginebreda A, Postigo C, Garrido T, Fraile J, López de Alda M, Barceló D (2014) Four-year advanced monitoring program of polar pesticides in groundwater of Catalonia (NE-Spain). Sci Total Environ 470–471:1087–1098
- 54. Postigo C, López de Alda MJ, Barceló D, Ginebreda A, Garrido T, Fraile J (2010) Analysis and occurrence of selected medium to highly polar pesticides in groundwater of Catalonia (NE Spain): an approach based on on-line solid phase extraction-liquid chromatographyelectrospray-tandem mass spectrometry detection. J Hydrol 383:83–92
- 55. García-Galán MJ, Garrido T, Fraile J, Ginebreda A, Díaz-Cruz MS, Barceló D (2011) Application of fully automated online solid phase extraction-liquid chromatographyelectrospray-tandem mass spectrometry for the determination of sulfonamides and their acetylated metabolites in groundwater. Anal Bioanal Chem 399:795–806
- 56. García-Galán MJ, Garrido T, Fraile J, Ginebreda A, Díaz-Cruz MS, Barceló D (2010) Simultaneous occurrence of nitrates and sulfonamide antibiotics in two ground WB of Catalonia (Spain). J Hydrol 383:93–101

- Velasco V, Tubau I, Vázquez-Suñè E, Gogu R, Gaitanaru D, Alcaraz M, Serrano-Juan A, Fernàndez-Garcia D, Garrido T, Fraile J, Sanchez-Vila X (2014) GIS-based hydrogeochemical analysis tools (QUIMET). Comput Geosci 70:164–180
- Margalef R (1969) El concepto de polución y sus indicadores biológicos. Documentos de investigación Hidrológica Supl Agua 7:105–133 (in Spanish)
- Prat N, Rieradevall M (2006) 25-years of biomonitoring in two mediterranean streams (Llobregat and Besòs basins, NE Spain). Limnetica 25:541–550
- 60. Prat N, Munné A (2014) Biomonitoreo de la calidad del agua en los ríos ibéricos: lecciones aprendidas. Limnetica 33(1):47–64 (in Spanish)
- Catalan J, Ballesteros E, Camarero L, Felip M, García E (1993) Limnology in the pyrenean lakes. Limnetica 8:27–38
- Sabater F, Armengol J, Sabater S (1989) Measuring discontinuities in the Ter River (Spain). Regul Rivers Res Manag 3:133–142
- Trobajo R, Quintana XD, Moreno-Amich R (2002) Model of alternative predominance of phytoplankton-periphyton-macrophytes in lentic waters of Mediterranean coastal wetlands. Arch Hydrobiol 154(1):19–40
- 64. Prat N (1991) Present trends in river studies. Oecolo Aquat 10:1-12
- Muñoz I, Prat N (1994) A comparación between different biological water quality indexes in the Llobregat Basin (NE Spain). Ver Internal Verein Limnol 25:1945–1949
- 66. Sabater S, Guasch H, Picon A, Romaní A, Muñoz I (1996) Using diatom communities to monitor water quality in a river after the implementation of a sanitation plan (river Ter, Spain). In: Whiton BA, Rott E (eds) Use of algae for monitoring rives II. Institut für Botanik, Universität Innsbruck, Insbruck, pp 97–103
- 67. Buffagni A, Erba S, Cazzola M, Murria-Bligh J, Soszka H, Genomi P (2006) The star common metrics approach to the WFD intercalibration process: full application for small, lowland rivers in three European countries. Hydrobiologia 566:379–399
- Buffagni A, Furse MT (2006) Intercalibration and comparison major results and conclusions from the STAR project. Hydrobiologia 566:357–364
- 69. van de Bund W (ed) (2009) Water Framework Directive intercalibration technical report. Part 1: Rivers. European Commission, Joint Research Centre, Ispra
- European Comission (2011) Technical report-2011-045. Guidance document on the intercalibration process 2008–2011. Guidance Document n° 14. Common Implementation Strategy for the Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC)
- 71. European Commission (2013) Commission Decision of 20 September 2013 establishing, pursuant to Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council, the values of the Member State monitoring system classifications as a result of the intercalibration exercise and repealing Decision 2008/915/EC (notified under document C(2013) 5915) (Text with EEA relevance) (2013/480/EU). Off J Eur L 266:1–47
- 72. Munné A, Tirapu L, Solà C, Olivella L, Vilanova M, Ginebreda A, Prat N (2012) Comparing chemical and ecological status in Catalan rivers. Analysis of river quality status following the Water Framework Directive. In: Guasch H et al (eds) Emerging and priority pollutants in rivers: bringing science into river management plans, vol 19, The handbook of environmental chemistry. Springer, Berlin, pp 243–266
- 73. Alba-Tercedor J, Jáimez-Cuéllar P, Álvarez M, Avilés J, Bonada N, Casas J, Mellado A, Ortega M, Pardo I, Prat N, Rieradevall M, Robles S, Sáinz-Cantero CE, Sánchez-Ortega A, Suárez ML, Toro M, Vidal-Albarca MR, Vivas S, Zamora-Muñoz C (2004) Caracterización del estado ecológico de los ríos mediterráneos ibéricos mediante el índice IBMWP (antes BMWP'). Limnetica 21(3–4):175–185 (in Spanish)
- 74. Lee H, Weng L, Chau AS (1984) Chemical derivatization analysis of pesticides residues. VIII. Analysis of 15 chlorophenols in natural water by in situ acetylation. J Assoc Off Anal Chem 67(4):789–794
- 75. León VM, Llorca-Pórcel J, Álvarez B, Cobollo MA, Muñoz S, Valor I (2006) Analysis of 35 semivolatile compounds in water by stir bar sorptive extraction-thermal desorption-gas

chromatography-mass spectrometry. Part II: method validation. Anal Chim Acta 558:261-266

- 76. European Commission (2013) Commission Decision (EU) 2015/495 of 20 March 2015 establishing a watch list of substances for Union-wide monitoring in the field of water policy pursuant to Directive 2008/105/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council. Off J Eur L 78:40–42
- 77. European Commission (2005) Common implementation strategy for the Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC). Guidance document n° 13: overall approach to the classification of ecological status and ecological potential, 53p
- 78. Hering D, Borja A, Carstensen J, Carvalho L, Elliott M, Feld CK, Heiskanen AS, Johnson RK, Moe J, Pont D, Solheim AL, Van De Bund W (2010) The European Water Framework Directive at the age of 10: a critical review of the achievements with recommendations for the future. Sci Total Environ 408(19):4007–4019
- 79. Reyjol Y, Argillier C, Bonne W, Borja A, Buijse AD, Cardoso AC, Daufresne M, Kernanf M, Ferreira MT, Poikane S, Prat N, Solheim AL, Stroffek S, Usseglio-Polatera P, Villeneuve B, van de Bund W (2014) Assessing the ecological status in the context of the European Water Framework Directive: where do we go now? Sci Total Environ 497–498:332–344
- 80. Munné A, Solà C, Tirapu L, Barata C, Rieradevall M, Prat N (2012) Human pressure and its effects on water quality and biota in the Llobregat river. In: Sabater S et al (eds) The Llobregat: the story of a polluted Mediterranean river, vol 21, The handbook of environmental chemistry. Springer, Berlin, pp 297–326
- 81. Vaughan IP, Diamond M, Gurnell AM, Hall KA, Jenkins A, Milner NJ et al (2009) Integrating ecology with hydromorphology: a priority for river science and management. Aquat Conserv Mar Freshw Ecosyst 19:113–125
- 82. Honey-Rosés J, Acuña V, Bardina M, Brozović N, Marcé R, Munné A, Sabater S, Termes M, Valero F, Vega A, Schneider DW (2013) Examining the demand for ecosystem services: the value of stream restoration for drinking water treatment managers in the Llobregat river, Spain. Ecol Econ 90:196–205
- Buijse AD, Klijn F, Leuven RSEW, Middelkoop H, Schiemer F, Thorp JH et al (2005) Rehabilitation of large rivers: references, achievements and integration into river management. Arch Hydrobiol Suppl 155:715–738
- Lake PS, Bond N, Reich P (2007) Linking ecological theory with stream restoration. Freshw Biol 52:597–615
- 85. Verdonschot PFM, Spears BM, Feld CK, Brucet S, Keizer-Vlek H, Borja A et al (2013) A comparative review of recovery processes in rivers, lakes, estuarine and coastal waters. Hydrobiologia 704:453–474
- 86. Bonada N, Dolédec S, Statzner B (2007) Taxonomic and biological trait differences of stream macroinvertebrate communities between mediterranean and temperate regions: implications for future climatic scenarios. Glob Chang Biol 13:1658–1671
- Williams DD (2006) The biology of temporary waters. Oxford University Press, New York, p 337
- Boulton AJ, Lake PS (2008) Effects of drought on stream insects and its ecological consequences. In: Lancaster J, Briers RA (eds) Aquatic insects: challenges to populations. CAB International, Wallingford, pp 81–102
- Boix D, García-Berthou E, Gascón S, Benejam L, Tornés E, Sala J, Benito J, Munné A, Solà C, Sabater S (2010) Response of community structure to sustained drought in Mediterranean rivers. J Hydrol 383:135–146
- 90. Sánchez-Montoya MM, Gómez R, Suárez ML, Vidal-Abarca MR (2011) Ecological assessment of Mediterranean streams and the special case of temporary streams. In: Hannah SE, Lucas EM (eds) River ecosystems: dynamics, management and conservation. Nova, Hauppauge
- 91. Datry T, Larned ST, Tockner K (2014) Intermittent rivers: a challenge for freshwater ecology. Bioscience 64:229–235

- 92. Gallart F, Prat N, García-Roger EM, Latron J, Rieradevall M, Llorens P, Barberá GG, Brito D, De Girolamo AM, Lo Porto A, Neves R, Nikolaidis NP, Perrin JL, Querner EP, Quiñonero JM, Tournoud MG, Tzoraki O, Froebrich J (2012) A novel approach to analysing the regimes of temporary streams in relation to their controls on the composition and structure of aquatic biota. Hydrol Earth Syst Sci 16:3165–3182
- Barceló D, Petrovic M (2007) Challenges and achievements of LC-MS in environmental analysis: 25 years on. TrAC. Trends Anal Chem 26:2–11
- 94. Guillén D, Ginebreda A, Farré M, Darbra RM, Petrovic M, Gros M, Barceló D (2012) Prioritization of chemicals in the aquatic environment based on risk assessment: analytical, modeling and regulatory perspective. Sci Total Environ 440:236–252
- 95. Schwarzenbach RP, Escher BI, Fenner K, Hofstetter TB, Johnson CA, Von Gunten U, Wehrli B (2006) The challenge of micropollutants in aquatic systems. Science 313:1072–1077
- 96. Sprague JB (1970) Measurement of pollutant toxicity to fish, II: Utilizing and applying bioassay results. Water Res 4(1):3–32
- 97. Loewe S, Muischnek H (1926) Über Kombinationswirkungen. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's. Arch Exp Pathol Pharmakol 114(5):313–326
- 98. Bliss C (1939) The toxicity of poisssons applied jointly. Ann J Appl Biol 26:585-615
- 99. Backhaus T, Faust M (2012) Predictive environmental risk assessment of chemical mixtures: a conceptual framework. Environ Sci Technol 46:2564–2573
- 100. European Commission (2011) Guidance document no. 27 technical guidance for deriving environmental quality standards. Common implementation strategy for the Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC)
- 101. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (2007) In: Solomon S et al (eds) Climate change 2007: the physical science basis. Contribution of working group I to the fourth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, New York
- 102. Pistocchi A, Sarigiannis DA, Vizcaino P (2010) Spatially explicit multimedia fate models for pollutants in Europe: state of the art and perspectives. Sci Total Environ 408:3817–3830
- 103. Osorio V, Marcé R, Pérez S, Ginebreda A, Cortina JL, Barceló D (2012) Occurrence and modeling of pharmaceuticals on a sewage-impacted Mediterranean river and their dynamics under different hydrological conditions. Sci Total Environ 440:3–13
- 104. Pistocchi A, Marinov D, Pontes S, Gawlik BM (2012) Continental scale inverse modeling of common organic water contaminants in European rivers. Environ Pollut 162:159–167
- 105. Petrovic M, Ginebreda A, Acuña V, Batalla RJ, Elosegi A, Guasch H, de Alda ML, Marcé R, Muñoz I, Navarro-Ortega A, Navarro E, Vericat D, Sabater S, Barceló D (2011) Combined scenarios of chemical and ecological quality under water scarcity in Mediterranean rivers. Trends Anal Chem 30:1269–1278
- 106. Carlisle DM, Wolock DM, Meador MR (2010) Alteration of streamflow magnitudes and potential ecological consequences: a multiregional assessment. Front Ecol Environ 28:1369–1377

# A First Biopollution Index Approach and Its Relationship on Biological Quality in Catalan Rivers

Beatriz Rodríguez-Labajos, Carolina Solà, and Antoni Munné

**Abstract** The purpose of this chapter is to present results of the applicability of the most well-known biopollution (BP) and biocontamination (BC) indices available in the literature by using information from the standard monitoring programme for fish carried out in Catalonia. As a part of this exercise, the pertinence of the results is evaluated by answering two questions: (1) are the BP&BC indices actually indicators for quality status, i.e. do their results respond to indicators of pressures on water bodies? And if so, (2) are the indices redundant with the existing indices of quality status for a given biological element? This discussion will be done in relation to the use of information on alien species (AS) for the purpose of future management and the ensuing role of uncertainty in the ecological assessment on water bodies according to the Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC).

**Keywords** Alien species, Biocontamination, Biological indices, Biopollution, Catalan basins, Water Framework Directive

#### Contents

1	Fran	ning the Discussion: Alien Species and the Water Framework Directive	38
2	App	licability of Biopollution and Biocontamination Indices in Catalan Rivers, a Test	
	Usin	g Fish Species	40
	2.1	Site-Specific Biological Contamination Index (SBC), a Reasonable Quick	
		Assessment of State	41
	2.2	Integrated Biopollution Risk (IBPR) Index, a Quick Risk Assessment	43

B. Rodríguez-Labajos (⊠)

C. Solà and A. Munné Catalan Water Agency, c/ Provença, 204-208, 08036 Barcelona, Spain

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 42: 37–64, DOI 10.1007/698\_2015\_440, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 6 November 2015

Institute of Environmental Science and Technology (ICTA), Autonomous University of Barcelona, Edifici Z, 08193 Bellaterra (Cerdanyola del Vallès), Spain e-mail: Beatriz.Rodriguez@uab.cat

	2.3 Biopollution Level Index (BPL), the (Too?) Perfect Assessment of State	47
	2.4 Comparison of Methods and Use of Results	48
3	Are the BP&BC Indices Good 'State' Indicators?	50
4	Are the Results of BP&BC Redundant with the Indicators of Biological Quality?	53
5	Concluding Remarks	56
An	nexes	58
Ret	ferences	61

### Abbreviations

- AS Alien species
- BC Biocontamination
- BP Biopollution
- BPL Biopollution level index
- IBPR Integrated biopollution risk index
- SBC Site-specific biological contamination
- WFD Water Framework Directive

# **1** Framing the Discussion: Alien Species and the Water Framework Directive

Same than in other regions of its European context, in the Catalan River Basin District, the recognition of alien species (AS) as a pressure to good ecological status has led authorities in charge of implementing the Water Framework Directive (WFD) to develop ad hoc programmes of measures. However, one of the challenges of integrating AS in the management of the ecological status of water bodies is that AS are at the same time a pressure to ecological status and a component of a the biological elements assessed to evaluate ecological status [1]. An enquiry to review how EU Member States deal with AS in their national status assessments unveiled a wide range of practices [2, 3]. This issue was a matter of concern of the WFD Ecological Status Working Group (ECOSTAT) that organised two different technical workshops in 2008 and 2009-with the participation of the lead author-to discuss this topic. In search of a harmonised European approach, ECOSTAT pondered whether AS should be taken into account in the WFD assessment. The starting point was that the Annex V of the WFD states that "water bodies should be 'totally or near totally undisturbed'" in the reference condition. An interpretation of this, for instance, is that WFD precludes the presence of AS at high-quality status. From there, it follows a deliberation about how the impacts of AS are captured in the assessment tools for ecological status classification. The use of supplementary biopollution and biocontamination (BP&BC) indices is one among several options that seem to be favoured by the national authorities in charge of implementing the WFD [2].

Index	General description	Data requirements
SBC – site-specific biological contami- nation index [11]	Based on AS richness and abundance	AS richness and relative abun- dance per assessment unit
IBPR – integrated biopollution risk	Risk-based approach with reference to the proportion of AS with	AS richness and relative abun- dance per assessment unit
index [8]	potential to spread, establish and cause impact	Evidence of AI impact (either on native biodiversity, ecosystem functions, trophic production, human access to natural resources, human, domestic animal and plant health, recreational and aesthetic activities, infrastructure or control costs)
BPL – biopollution level index [10]	Based on the abundance and distri- bution of the species and their	AS relative abundance and distri- bution within each assessment unit
	impact on communities, habitats and ecosystem functions	Evidence of AS's impact on native species of communities, on habi- tats and on ecosystem functioning per assessment unit

 Table 1 Biopollution and biocontamination indices from the literature

The use of the term biopollution to discuss the issue of AS is relatively recent, and it has been basically applied to the aquatic environments [4, 5]. Biological pollution is related to the adverse impacts of invasive alien species due to effects on one or more levels of biological organisation: individual (such as internal biological pollution by parasites or pathogens), population (by genetic change, e.g., hybridisation), community (by a structural shift), habitat (by modification of physical-chemical conditions) or/and ecosystem (by alteration of energy and organic material flow) [6]. It conveys the idea that AS disrupt the ecosystem's health and thus impair the ecological quality of the environment [6, 7]. The adverse effects of biopollution may encompass social and economic costs. The most wellknown methodologies to assess biopollution are the integrated biopollution risk index (IBPR) [8, 9] and biopollution level index (BPL) [10]. Another related term, also useful for guiding the management response to AS, is biological contamination or biocontamination (BC) that avoids any reference to potential impacts of the species and therefore is not considered equivalent to biopollution (BP). Biocontamination can be estimated through the site-specific biological contamination (SBC) index [11]. It is worth saying that the normal status classification usually relies on the match between the quality classes and differentiated effects of stressors, which would be a good property to maintain in the integration of AS to the assessment [1, 3]. In the final recommendations of the workshops organised by ECOSTAT, the critical importance of methods for identifying risk and the need to test biopollution indices across all types of surface waters is pointed out, including their application to the procedures of the WFD [12].

Given the relevance of this discussion, the purpose of this chapter is to present results of the applicability of the most well-known BP&BC indices available in the literature (Table 1) using information from the standard monitoring programme in Catalonia (NE Spain). As a part of this exercise, the pertinence of the results is evaluated by answering two questions: (1) Are the BP&BC indices actually indicators of quality status, i.e. do their results respond to indicators of pressures on water bodies? And if so, (2) are the indices redundant with the existing indicators of state for a given biological element? Note that this discussion will be done in relation to the possible use of information on AS for future management and the ensuing role of uncertainty in the assessment on water bodies according to the Water Framework Directive.

# 2 Applicability of Biopollution and Biocontamination Indices in Catalan Rivers, a Test Using Fish Species

The study area for the test includes 23 watersheds bounded by the administrative limits of Catalonia, with a total area around 32,000 km<sup>2</sup> (NE Spain). As the region features Mediterranean climate, half of the watersheds comprise ephemeral streams. The dataset includes information from sampling sites along the different river typologies present in the study area, occasionally some of the water bodies containing more than one site (Table 2). Environmental and fish community data were available from sites sampled in 2002–2003 ( $n_{s2003} = 333$ ) and 2007–2008  $(n_{s2008} = 311)$  as a part of the routine monitoring programme run by the watershed authority, the Catalan Water Agency [13, 14]. In the case of fish, the BIORI protocol secures obtaining the parameters needed for the estimation of the indices SBC and IBPR, namely, AS richness and relative abundance per assessment unit. In particular, abundance is registered both in terms of density (individuals/ha) and in terms of biomass (kg/ha) [13]. It is worth noting that there is absence of fish in 19.5% (in 2002-2003) and 24% (in 2007-2008) of the monitored sites due to diverse circumstances. Examining the data for the period 2002–2003, whereas 2% were sites with a dry river bed – i.e. ephemeral streams without fish according to historical data – or offered bad conditions for fishing (2%), there is a remarkable 15% of sites were the absence of catches indicates adverse conditions for the survival of the fish fauna, clearly in relation to ecological quality issues.

Focussing on the sites with available information about the fish community, and once contrasted the datasets of both monitoring periods, this section analyses BP&BC indices in water bodies in 2002–2003 ( $n_{WB2003} = 182$ ) and 2007–2008 ( $n_{WB2008} = 235$ ). Comparisons are done intersecting available information in coincident water bodies. The assessment of biopollution requires the characterisation of the species according to their native or alien status. This information was obtained from ACA [13] and Sostoa et al. [14] and adapted through expert assessment for the case of *Salmo trutta*, *Anguilla anguilla* and *Phoxinus phoxinus*.

Number of items	2002–2003	2007-2008
Total sites $(n_{\rm S})$	333	311
Sites without catches (i.e. no fish, dry river bed or bad	65	76
Sites with fish catches	268	235
Water bodies with fish catches $(n_{\rm WB})$	182	235

 Table 2
 Number of sampling sites across different conditions for the two different analysed periods (2002–2003 and 2007–2008)

# 2.1 Site-Specific Biological Contamination Index (SBC), a Reasonable Quick Assessment of State

The site-specific biological contamination index (SBC) enables the comparison of different aquatic ecosystems according to their level of pollution from new taxa, taking into consideration their relative abundance in the ecosystem [11]. Accounting for the proportion of alien taxonomic orders in the community and the relative abundance of alien individuals, the biocontamination can be classified in five levels from 'no' biocontamination (SBC = 0) to 'severe' biocontamination (SBC = 5) and can be inversely interpreted as a contribution from the 'very good' status to the 'very bad' status of the aquatic ecosystem. The levels are determined through different thresholds in the proportion of species richness and/or the alien species abundance (see Fig. 1).

The initial testing done by the developers of this methodology for rivers of Central Europe used macroinvertebrate data compiled from different sources. After that, the SBC index was applied for the case of the Isle of Man, for macroinvertebrate data [15]. In this case, the data consistently relied on the UK Environment Agency guidelines for monitoring sampling, similar to a well-known assessment system for ecological quality of rivers using macroinvertebrates. A similar exercise was undertaken by Šidagyte et al. [16] for the case of invertebrates in Lithuanian lakes. The two latter studies have the explicit objective of analysing the biocontamination results in relation to metrics of ecological status and/or to environmental stressors parameters. While in the first one there was a significant negative relationship between biological quality indices and the SBC indices, in the second case SBC indices were unrelated either to biological quality indices or to stressor variables.

The SBC is not a risk index, since it does not point to possible negative outcomes but to actual adverse ecological consequences that percolate from the presence and abundance of AS. Once the data for the selected taxa is available, the calculation for a given assessment unit is relatively straightforward, though laborious. In Catalonia, the routine monitoring programme for fish offers the possibility of determining the SBC index using indicators of abundance both in terms of the density (number of individuals per hectare) and in terms of biomass (kilograms of alien fish per river hectare).



**Fig. 1** Procedure for the determination of the site-specific biocontamination (SBC) level. *Source*: Own elaboration based on [11]

The results of the calculation (plotted in Annex I) for the two assessment periods and the two possible metrics of abundance do not differ markedly depending on the metric used (density or biomass). Accordingly there is moderate and more than moderate biocontamination (suggesting less than good ecological status) in one third of the monitored sites (34% in 2002–2003; 35% in 2007–2008) and around a half of the sites with fish communities (47% in both campaigns). In both assessment periods, the results show a negligible worsening (involving up to six sites) when biomass indicators are used, with minor decreases in moderate and high biocontamination and ensuing increases in high and severe biocontamination.

An issue in relation to the use of this indicator is getting polarised results. Most of the resulting biocontamination levels are concentrated at the extremes, as shown in Table 3. Moreover, the presumption of alien species effects simply derived from the alien to native species ratios can be arguable as not all alien species are damaging. In any case, the SBC is an easy-to-estimate indicator based on the existing monitoring routines. It can be used for a quick assessment of the state of biocontamination, provided that there is available data on relative AS abundance at the site level.

SBC index value	Biocontamination	Number of water bodies (N.)
0	No	125
1	Low	0
2	Moderate	2
3	High	40
4	Severe	68
n.a	Without fish	76

Table 3 Percentage of assessment units per SBC level (2007–2008, abundance as kg/ha)

Source: Estimated based on data provided by ACA

# 2.2 Integrated Biopollution Risk (IBPR) Index, a Quick Risk Assessment

Relying on the assumption that risk-based assessments are useful to support costeffective decisions consistent with the precautionary principle, Panov et al. [8, 9] developed an approach based on the general appraisal of invasiveness according to three elements of risk. Such elements are dispersal, establishment in new environments and generation of ecological and/or socioeconomic impacts, combined as shown in Fig. 2.

The authors also provide some practical guidelines for the evaluation of each one of the descriptors of risk (also indicated in Fig. 2), which involves information about richness and relative abundance of AS in each one of the assessment units. Eventually the IBPR index, scoring from 0 to 4, is estimated with reference to the proportion of species present in specific locations that are included in one or more of three lists (black, grey or white), classified according to a formal listing procedure.

The assessment does not require proof of actual impact in the assessment unit but is entirely based on the existing information about the species' impacts according to the literature or other reliable source of knowledge. Of course, there are different methods to establish generic impact of species. Nentwig et al. [17] propose a scoring system (0-5) using subcategories of environmental and economic impacts multiplying the total rating by the percentage of occupied area and test it for alien mammals in Europe. Magee et al. [18] estimate the magnitude of the stress caused by in situ alien species using an index that summarises the frequency of occurrence and the potential ecological impact, demonstrating the use in the case of streamside vegetation of a river basin. Sandvik et al. [19] classify species based on two axes (invasion potential and local ecological effect), using a list of specific criteria, such as mean expansion rate and interactions with keystone species. They test the proposed system for several AIS still absent from Norway, their geographic area of interest. In the case of the IBPR assessment process, the evaluation is rather simple and only requires one positive response to a list of question about possible types of ecological and socioeconomic impacts (see Fig. 2).

The idea of using standardised procedures to classify AS into grey, white and black lists in order to provide a common framework for management is not new



Fig. 2 Procedure for the determination of the integrated biopollution risk (IBPR) index. *Source*: Own elaboration based on [8]

[20, 21]. The IBPR index builds on this background to propose a listing system involving the following categories:

- (a) Black list, for species with high potential to cause impact, together with species that are with high potential to spread and establish; their presence should be prevented or deemed as an element of necessary control.
- (b) White list, for species with high potential to spread and/or high potential for establishment but low potential to cause impact; their presence can be deemed as acceptable.
- (c) Grey list, for species with unknown potential to spread, establish and cause impact; for precautionary reasons, the set of 'no' responses is not interpreted as low-risk potential for all risk elements, but as a need of permanent monitoring to expand knowledge about the species.

Using the information about the number of sites with the presence of the species, their relative abundance and known impacts from the literature, a classification of alien fish detected in Catalonia through the standard monitoring system is presented in Table 4. Note that, in the listing scheme presented in Table 2, 'yes' means that

	HRD	HRD HRE (2003)		HRD HRE (2007)		List (2003) List (2007)			2007)		
Species	(2003)	Ind/ha	Kg/ha	(2007)	Ind/ha	Kg/ha	HRI	Ind/ha	Kg/ha	Ind/ha	Kg/ha
Alburnus alburnus	22	10	3	28	11	6	YES	Black	Black	Black	Black
Ameiurus melas	1	1	1	3	0	0	YES	Black	Black	White	White
Barbatula barbatula	5	2	0	9	4	0	NO	White	White	White	White
Barbus graellsii	26	13	13	25	5	9	NO	White	White	White	White
Carassius auratus	5	2	2	6	3	2	YES	Black	Black	Black	Black
Cyprinus carpio	62	21	39	57	13	32	YES	Black	Black	Black	Black
Esox lucius	1	1	1	1	0	0	YES	Black	Black	Black	Black
Gambusia holbrooki	11	9	1	16	11	2	YES	Black	White	Black	Black
Gobio lozanoi	5	1	0	11	5	1	NO	White	White	White	White
Lepomis gibbosus	18	5	1	23	10	5	YES	Black	White	White	White
Micropterus salmoides	5	1	0	6	0	0	YES	White	White	White	White
Misgurnus anguillicaudatus	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	1	0	0	YES	N.A.	N.A.	Black	Black
Oncorhynchus mykiss	6	1	4	6	2	4	YES	White	Black	Black	Black
Parachondrostoma miegii	4	4	3	5	3	3	NO	White	White	White	White
Perca fluviatilis	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	1	0	0	YES	N.A.	N.A.	Black	Black
Phoxinus sp.	18	13	2	31	23	13	NO	White	White	White	White
Pseudorasbora parva	1	0	0	7	0	0	YES	Black	Black	White	White
Rutilus rutilus	2	1	1	14	4	4	YES	White	White	Black	Black
Salmo trutta	9	4	6	3	1	1	YES	Black	Black	White	White
Sander lucioperca	2	0	0	2	0	0	YES	White	White	White	White
Scardinius erythrophthalmus	17	3	2	8	1	1	YES	Black	Black	White	White
Silurus glanis	5	0	1	6	1	4	YES	White	White	White	Black

 Table 4 Results of listing species according to the IBPR methodology

Gray shade means high risk. HRD high risk of dispersal, based on number of sites with presence of the species (>1), HRE high risk of establishment, based on the number of sites with relative abundance (>20%), HRI high risk of adverse ecological and/or socioeconomic impacts

Source: Own elaboration based on data provided by ACA

information on potential invasiveness of the species is available, while 'no' means information is not available or 'unknown'.

Some comments stemming from the results on listing species are the following ones:

- All the species are classified either in the black or the white lists, and none within the grey one. According to the information on richness and abundance of the listed fish in Catalonia, the only species that could have been considered for the grey list are *Ameiurus melas*, *Esox lucius*, *Misgurnus anguillicaudatus*, *Perca fluviatilis* and *Pseudorasbora parva*. In all cases, available information about impacts of these species has put them automatically in the black list.
- In 12 cases (55% of the assessed species), the classification is consistent across periods and metrics of abundance, either in the black list (*Alburnus alburnus*, *Carassius auratus*, *Cyprinus carpio*, *Esox lucius*) or in the white list (*Barbatula barbatula*, *Barbus graellsii*, *Gobio lozanoi*, *Micropterus salmoides*, *Parachon-drostoma miegii*, *Phoxinus* sp., *Sander lucioperca*).

It is worth noticing that the white-list species are either species native to the Ebro basin and other Iberian watersheds translocated into the IBC – with meagre information about impacts – or high-impact AS which are not very abundant in the water bodies where they are present, which suggests low risk of

establishment. Improved knowledge about the impact of the species or future increase in their abundance would result in a change of the classification from white to black.

• In the other cases, the categorisation changes between or within periods. In five cases (23% of the species), the classification changes between periods, for different reasons. Among the several casuistries, it is remarkable the case of *Rutilus rutilus* that increases dramatically in distribution and relative abundance over time, thus becoming a black-list species. In three cases (13.6% of the species), results for the same period vary according to the metric used for assessing the risk of establishment. This is related with species of high-impact potential that may be locally abundant in numbers but which individuals are smaller in size compared with other caught fish of the community (*Gambusia holbrooki*, *Lepomis gibbosus*) or species which size is bigger than other individuals of the community, although may not be as frequently caught (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*, *Silurus glanis*).

Based on these results about the species, and using the classification criteria mentioned in Fig. 2, the IBPR index for each one of the assessed water bodies can be calculated. The results for the two assessment periods (plotted in Annex II) are more distributed among classes than the ones of the BSC index. Yet they are still polarised results, as it is shown in Table 5.

Results differ slightly depending on the metric used (density or biomass). Using biomass indicators of abundance (kg/ha) tends to bring sites graded from the 2 (moderate) and 3 (high) biopollution risk levels to the 1 (low) and 4 (severe) levels, as nearly symmetrical changes in the number of sites can be observed in relation to the assessment done with density indicators of abundance (individuals/ha). This is probably due to the high abundance of small-sized white-list species. In general, the effect is to obtain slightly worse general results when using indicators of abundance based on fish density. Accordingly, there is an indication of moderate and more than moderate biopollution risk (suggesting less than good ecological status) in one third of the monitored water bodies (29–33%) and around 40% of the water bodies with fish communities.

In summary, the IBPR methodology offers a feasible process to assess potential biopollution in different water bodies in Catalonia, based on certain operative assumptions on the impacts of the species. As a risk index, IBPR method is helpful

IBRP index value	Biopollution risk	Number of water bodies (N.)
0	No	125
1	Low	12
2	Moderate	16
3	High	27
4	Severe	55
N.A.	Without fish	76

 Table 5
 Percentage of assessment units per IBPR level (2007–2008, abundance as kg/ha)

Source: Estimated based on data provided by ACA

to frame the need for management with an account of possible impacts of AS. The method does not require proof of actual impacts and therefore does not distinguish properly the different effects that the same species may have in different hosting ecosystems. Besides the results for the different assessment units, the process provides with a (non-stable) classification of alien species according to their potential invasiveness, also a useful management tool.

# 2.3 Biopollution Level Index (BPL), the (Too?) Perfect Assessment of State

If the purpose of assessing biopollution is to understand changes in ecological quality associated with bioinvasions, a precise recognition of the real effects of AS may be more advisable than the appraisal of their possible impacts. In this respect, Olenin et al. [10] proposed a method able to make an explicit account of AS abundance and distribution ranges, together with the actual impact of the AS on native species or communities, habitats or ecosystem functioning, based on scientific evidence. The evaluation procedure, shown in Fig. 3, provides with a classification of water bodies along five levels from 'no' biopollution (BPL = 0) to 'massive' biopollution (SBC = 5), which can be inversely associated with levels of biological quality according to the classification scheme of the WFD.

Later on, the method was also refined for its implementation to marine waters [6, 7]. A system to facilitate the BPL calculation and information-sharing based on an online platform was designed by Narščius et al. [22]. This method has been applied in several cases, mostly associated with estuarine or coastal areas in the Baltic using macroinvertebrates of phytoplankton [23–25]. A test of the biopollution levels of coastal areas of Catalonia was also undertaken by Ballesteros et al. [26]. The researchers using this method admit that requires substantial research effort, although praise its usefulness for interregional comparisons and the evaluation of effects of individual AS [23].

A priori, the BPL index has excellent properties to grasp the condition of the water bodies regarding biopollution. However, there are difficulties to implement BPL for the case of fish in rivers of Catalonia so far, for the following reasons:

- Lack of detailed information about the species abundance, ranges of distribution and effects of the species within each one of the water bodies. In particular, in the case of fish, the distribution and mobility within the water bodies is poorly studied.
- There is scientific reluctance to assert impact of fish species in situ, due to the high complexity of the aquatic ecosystems and the number of different stressors involved besides the presence of AS themselves.
- From the management point of view, the large amount of effort and resources needed to improve knowledge about local distribution and actual impacts of



Fig. 3 Procedure for the determination of biopollution level (BPL). *Source*: Own elaboration based on [7].

high-risk AS may be better allocated in preventing the degradation of the state that in confirming *ex post* such degradation.

In sum, in Catalonia BPL could be applied to certain water bodies with the presence of specific AS where research can provide reliable information. That is the case, for instance, of the assessment of biopollution in coastal areas, where the team of researchers in charge have accumulated primary data for decades. In general, that is not the case of fish in river ecosystems, and data requirements for this method largely exceed the current state of data availability. If, in the future, knowledge improves, the BPL is a good candidate indicator for a precise evaluation of the state in relation to biopollution.

### 2.4 Comparison of Methods and Use of Results

To conclude the test of applicability of these methodologies for the assessment of BC&BC, this section elaborates on the use of results and compares the results of the

two indices that have been calculated, using the date for 2007–2008, estimated with biomass as indicator of abundance.

There is 82% coincidence in the results between SBC and IBPR. Discrepancies are related to water bodies where there is low abundance of black-list species (with results tending less favourable using IBPR) or areas with high richness of white-list species (with more favourable results using IBPR). In ca. 5.1% of the water bodies, this discrepancy leads to a totally different signal in terms of the assessment, and compliance (in terms of achievement of good status) is dependent on the evaluation method chosen (Table 6).

In relation to the possible use of results, BP&BC can be helpful in several ways. Figure 4, plotting the results of IBPR, will be used as an illustration. First, the

Type or results	SBC values	IBPR values	Number of water bodies	% of water bodies
Same result	0	0	125	53.2
	3	3	18	7.7
	4	4	49	20.9
Different result, same	2	3	1	0.4
signal	3	2	5	2.1
	3	4	6	2.6
	4	2	11	4.7
	4	3	8	3.4
Different signal	2	1	1	0.4
	3	1	11	4.7

**Table 6**Comparison of results SBC and IBPR levels (2007–2008 sampling period) (abundance asbiomass). A total of 235 water bodies were analysed



**Fig. 4** Results of biopollution risk assessment by using the IBPR index in Catalonia, data gathered in 2007. *Note*: Colours after the corresponding IBPR levels, except for two types of *grey areas*: **①** water bodies different than rivers; **②** rivers without fish

identification of areas with low levels of biocontamination or risk of biopollution supports the development of preventive measures, at it is clear that these areas must remain as priority zones for conservation of native species (for instance, the area 'a' in the map). Second, the allocation of available resources can be guided by a costeffectiveness principle, employing them in areas where the biopollution risk is still moderate or low, instead of where it is severe, and therefore the intervention may result in a future situation of compliance (e.g. the choice between areas 'b' in the map). Third, BP&BC assessment can support programmes of measures with effects in the biotic communities. Thus, for example, the improvement of river connectivity or the implementation of ecological flows, put in place in order to recover the hydromorphological quality of the river, may have also adverse effects in relation to alien species, facilitating their spread to area where they were previously absent. The planning of such measures may take into account likely effects in BP&BC as one of the criteria for intervention.

# 3 Are the BP&BC Indices Good 'State' Indicators?

As indicated at the beginning of this chapter, a clear association between stressors and the indicator used for quality status is considered a necessary property for the identification of suitable candidates to be state indicators. Then, a pertinent question would be whether the BC&BP levels are correlated with the gradient of pressure in the water bodies.

Anthropogenic activities or actions that may have an impact on ecosystem health are considered to be pressures [27]. In order to characterise the pressures in the sampling sites, the values of a stressor gradient assessment proposed by Munné and Prat [28] for the intercalibration process were obtained. This stressor gradient synthesises the combined effect of different pressures, such as land use types and several types of contamination sources, together with the dilution capacity of the river ecosystem. A general stressor gradient value (that combines quality chemical elements and land use parameters) was available for the year 2003 for water bodies matching 246 sites in with available data on BP&BC in 2003 and 235 sites in 2007.

The scatter plotting of the BP&BC levels and the stressor indicator (Fig. 5) pointed to a certain association of the variables: the higher the stressor value, the highest the BC&BP levels. Some visible outliers were confirmed not to be errors, and therefore they were not excluded from the dataset. Then using a simple bivariate correlation analysis, which indicates how variables or rank orders are related, weak positive linear associations were found between BP&BC and the pressures in the water body. Similar results were found computing the correlations – based on the consideration of BP&BC indicators as ordinal variables – using two nonparametric correlation measures: Spearman's rho and Kendall's tau-b, run with Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (IBM SPSS version 21.0) (Table 7). There is a statistically significant correlation between both SBC and IBPR and the pressure indicators both in 2003 and 2007, with coefficients ranging from 0.215–0.315 (2003) to 0.208–0.313 (2007). For both periods, the IBPR levels were



Fig. 5 Scatter plot of stressor gradient across SBC and IBPR levels

Test			RI_AP (BP&BC 2003)	RI_AP (BP&BC 2007)
Kendall's tau-b	SBCindha	Correlation coefficient	0.215**	0.219**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000
		N	246	235
	SBCkgha	Correlation coefficient	0.240**	0.208**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000
		N	246	235
	IBPRindha	Correlation coefficient	0.243**	0.224**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000
		N	246	235
	IBPRkgha	Correlation coefficient	0.240**	0.239**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000
		N	246	235
	RIAP	Correlation coefficient	1.000	1.000
		Sig. (2-tailed)	-	-
		N	295	311
Spearman's rho	SBCindha	Correlation coefficient	0.274**	0.282**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000
		N	246	235
	SBCkgha	Correlation coefficient	0.305**	0.271**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000
		N	246	235
	IBPRindha	Correlation coefficient	0.315**	0.296**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000
		N	246	235
	IBPRkgha	Correlation coefficient	0.310**	0.313**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000
		N	246	235
	RIAP	Correlation coefficient	1.000	1.000
		Sig. (2-tailed)	-	-
		N	295	311

Table 7 BP&BC levels and pressures, results of the correlation analysis

*Note*: \*\*Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

Source: Own elaboration. Full results in Annex III
slightly more correlated with the pressure indicator RI\_AP than the SBC levels, regardless the indicator of fish abundance used (density or biomass).

The use of the Pearson correlation coefficient was also tested, and it pointed out the same result, although the results are not included in the dissertation as this coefficient is admittedly more appropriate for scale variables.

These results suggest that biopollution and biocontamination are indeed associated with the gradient of pressures to the water bodies, although the current data availability does not point to a very strong association. The knowledge on pressures is expected to improve over time. In case a more precise or sensitive indicator of pressures pointed out to similar or more intense association, the result herein presented would be confirmed.

# 4 Are the Results of BP&BC Redundant with the Indicators of Biological Quality?

After the WFD, the biological quality of rivers is assessed according to different biological quality elements (BQE): aquatic flora, invertebrates and fish. In relation to the other BQE, fish tend to signal larger spatial and temporal scale processes. As fish are often at the top of the trophic chain, they are sensitive to influences in the rest of aquatic communities. Moreover, fish have relatively higher social visibility and economic relevance than other BQE [13]. Being a part of popular culture and traditional ecological knowledge [29], changes in fish communities can be traced through historical and ethnographic research.

All the above reasons make fish a good base for assessing biological quality. Among the different methodologies developed in this respect, the indices of biotic integrity based on Karr [30, 31] have become widely accepted. This conceptual approach assesses the composition and diversity of species, their abundance and the conditions of the fish. In Catalonia, the index based on this approach, first developed in 2003 [32] and further refined in 2010 [14], is called IBICAT. It was commissioned by the watershed authority that uses it for guiding water quality assessment in rivers, together with indicators for the other BQE [13]. The index allows generating different quality levels based on the score for the different metrics included.

The process to refine IBICAT took particular care of the issue of alien species during the stage of selecting candidate metrics to be part of the assessment. Then, it is a pertinent question whether the results of this index in relation to the issue of AS made it redundant the calculation of an ad hoc BP&PC indicator as the ones that have been tested in this section.

In order to compare both types of information, data on the scores (from 1 to 5) for two different versions of the index (IBICAT<sub>2010</sub> [ $n_{WB} = 234$ ], IBICAT<sub>2b</sub> [ $n_{WB} = 235$ ]) was obtained, with permission of the watershed authority, for rivers in Catalonia. The data corresponds to the fish monitoring in the period 2007–2008, that is, the same raw data that they used for the calculation of the BP&BC indices of

that period. Levels 1 and 2 correspond to very good and good quality level and, therefore, would point at water bodies in compliance with the WDF; levels 3, 4 and 5 correspond to moderate, deficient and bad quality levels and would indicate incompliance with the WFD.

The results of the different quality levels for the both versions of the IBICAT index, compared with the corresponding level of BP&BC, are shown in Table 8. The cells highlighted in light brown indicate the water bodies in which the assessment of biological integrity and BP&BC provide the same signal (either compliance or incompliance). Meanwhile, white cells indicate divergent results between these two kinds of assessment.

Based on this table of frequencies, it is possible to calculate the probability of coincident results and non-coincident result, shown in Table 9. Looking at the different combinations of indices, it is clear that the probability of coincident results (ranging between 79% and 88%) is always higher than the probability of non-coincident results (12–21%). Being the probability of coincident results remarkably in both versions of the biological quality index, IBICAT<sub>2b</sub> seems to capture better the issue of BP&BC than IBICAT<sub>2010</sub> for each one of the indices and metrics used for the assessment of BP&BC.

Focussing on the non-coincident results, two situations are possible: that BP&BC indices indicate compliance, while the biological quality index indicates incompliance, or the other way around. The first situation may be explained by the fact that the fish community suffers from a pressure unrelated to the issue of alien species. The second situation is more problematic from the point of view of the topic addressed in this dissertation. If the biological quality index indicates compliance, there would not be any signal for the water managers to engage in policy measures of ecological improvement, as the state of the water body would be

BC& BP lev	പ		IBICA	T <sub>2010</sub>	Scor	e		IBIC	AT <sub>2b</sub>	Score	
beabi iev		1	2	3	4	5	1	2	3	4	5
	0	30	60	17	13	5	29	77	18	1	0
SBC(ind/ha)	2	0	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	2	0
	3	1	9	21	8	0	2	4	22	11	0
	4	0	1	13	34	19	1	2	11	40	14
	0	30	60	17	13	5	29	77	18	1	0
SPC(Va/ba)	2	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	0
SBC(Kg/na)	3	1	8	23	8	0	3	4	22	11	0
	4	0	2	12	34	19	0	2	11	41	14
	0	30	60	17	13	5	29	77	18	1	0
	1	0	3	4	0	0	1	2	4	0	0
IBPR(ind/ha)	2	0	3	5	11	0	2	2	8	6	2
	3	1	4	16	9	3	0	2	16	15	0
	4	0	1	10	23	16	0	1	5	32	12
	0	30	60	17	13	5	29	77	18	1	0
	1	0	5	6	1	0	3	2	5	2	0
IBPR(kg/ha)	2	0	2	3	10	0	0	2	7	5	2
	3	1	3	13	9	1	0	1	13	13	0
	4	0	1	13	23	18	0	2	8	33	12

**Table 8** Crosstabs of BC&BP levels and scores of the biological quality assessment for fish, frequencies,  $n_{WB} = 234, 235$ , sampling period 2007–2008

BC&BP level		IBICAT	2010 Score	IBICA	IBICAT2b Score			
DCQDF leve		1 2	3 4 5	1 2	3 4 5			
	0	K	7					
SBC(ind/ha)	2	×						
SDC(IIId/IId)	3	20 %	80 %	12 %	88 %			
	4							
	0							
SBC(Ka/ba)	2							
SDC(Rg/IIa)	3	20 %	80 %	12 %	88 %			
	4							
	0							
	1							
IBPR(ind/ha)	2							
	3	21 %	79 %	13%	87%			
	4							
	0							
	1							
IBPR(kg/ha)	2							
	3	21%	79%	13%	87%			
	4							

 Table 9
 Coincidence of results between BC&BP levels and biological quality scores. Probability of coincident/non-coincident results

*Note*: Compliance (C) means levels 0,1 for BC&BP and scores 1,2 for biotic integrity indicators; noncompliance (NC) means levels 2,3,4 for BC&BP and scores 3,4,5 for biotic integrity indicators

considered as good or very good from the point of view of the fish communities. However, the BP&BC indices would be pointing out at the existence of a problem of bioinvasions in that particular water body.

With this in mind, the conditional probability of these two situations was estimated for the different indicators involved (Table 10). In conditional probabilities, they are calculated according to the formula  $P(A|B) = P(A \cap B)/P(B)$  when P(B) > 0, where the event of interest A is either the biological quality indicator (BQI)'s noncompliance (NC) or compliance (C) and the restricted sample space B is the opposite result in BC&BP level. The results shown in the table indicate that the probability of BC&BP compliance and biotic integrity incompliance (highlighted in orange) ranges between 15% and 30%, and it is always higher than probability of BC&BP incompliance and biotic integrity compliance (highlighted in purple), ranging between 4% and 12%.

This later result is relevant, because it demonstrates that the standard quality assessment fails to completely pinpoint the issue of alien species. While the probability that this happens is relatively low, the failure is systematic regardless the indicator used. Of course, the considerations on uncertainty about the BP&BC indices presented along this section should be taken into account when interpreting this result.

In any case, based on the results presented in this section, it can be argued that the biological quality index used for fish in Catalonia and the BP&BC indices are not redundant. While there is an undeniably high level of coincidence between their

		IBICAT <sub>20</sub>	IBICAT <sub>2010</sub> score		<sub>b</sub> score
BC&BP level		С	NC	С	NC
SBC (ind/ha)	C		28%		15%
	NC	12%		9%	
SBC (kg/ha)	C		28%		15%
	NC	12%		9%	
IBPR (ind/ha)	C		30%		17%
	NC	9%		6%	
IBPR (kg/ha)	С		30%		19%
	NC	7%		4%	

 Table 10
 Coincidence of results between BC&BP levels and biological quality scores. Conditional probability of non-coincident results

*Note*: Compliance (C) means levels 0,1 for BC&BP and scores 1,2 for biotic integrity indicators; noncompliance (NC) means levels 2,3,4 for BC&BP and scores 3,4,5 for biotic integrity indicators

results, they do not reflect the same thing, and there is a small probability of systematic failure of the BQI to provide the required policy signals.

#### 5 Concluding Remarks

The consideration of AS in the assessment of biological quality is necessary whenever there is evidence that AS constitute a pressure to or have an impact on the aquatic ecosystem. Some voices even claim that the high ecological status is unsuited for water bodies where AS are present. Yet taking up AS until the last consequences in ecological status assessment may be problematical for water managers. In Catalonia there are practically no water bodies without alien species. The eradication of most of them is environmentally or economically unfeasible. Should a strict AS-based quality assessment be adopted, the water policies would be locked in the predicament of recognising a problem of generalised poor ecological status without being able to effectively redress this situation. In this context, the existence of supplementary BP&BC indices is helpful to guide policies in support of increased biological quality. In the case of Catalonia, and using fish as biological element, two of the methodologies present in the literature can be estimated with the existing monitoring data and would not require further sampling effort beyond the routine monitoring.

The BP&BC indices thus estimated undoubtedly provide useful information for the management of AS in aquatic ecosystems. The classification of water bodies or, as a part of the calculation of IBPR, a classification of the AS themselves helps to prioritise efforts, targeting those management units or species whose control will have the most benefit for the available resources. In the case of the species, such a classification could be easily linked to regulatory frames. For instance, it could be helpful to communicate to the general public why the possession, sale or any other kind of management is restricted for 'black species'. In fact, impacts of the species are explicitly taken into account in two of the methodologies introduced, although in one case the impact is presumed based on the information from the literature and in the other requires actual evaluation in situ. A consideration regarding species' impacts is the extent to which the criteria for classification are discussed with stakeholders. Although the assessment itself must be guided by a systematic organisation of knowledge and, therefore, can be considered as a scientific endeavour, an agreement with stakeholders on the reasons why a particular species is considered as a hazard will benefit both the comprehensiveness of the analysis and the use of its results in policymaking.

In general, the indices fall short of portraying species whose impacts are not completely understood. Additionally, an element that is absent from the different BP&BC indicators, and that it would be likely to emerge as a result of an open discussion about AS impacts and biopollution, is the recognition of the ambivalence of the species. From the ecological point of view, the potential benefits of alien species include providing habitat or food resources to rare species, serving as functional substitutes for extinct *taxa* and providing desirable ecosystem functions [33]. Moreover, many of the AS, as some of those present in Catalonia, are economically important. Despite this, there is such a scant research done on the potential conservation benefits of alien species that make it think that the topic is a scientific taboo. With increase knowledge about these potential benefits, a new challenge would rise on the best way to integrate it in BP&BC assessment: can benefits be an offset for negative effects of the species?

This chapter closes with some final recommendations informed by the testing and analyses done. A major point here is that water bodies are not necessarily homogeneous in terms of the represented habitats, overall all in relation to flora species. A relative abundant species may cause diverse impact depending on the type of habitats along the water body. As a result, the attribution of the impact on habitats may differ. Therefore, a more precise assessment of biopollution, based on actual information about AS impacts, would benefit from changes in the monitoring protocols that involved data gathering about local distribution and effects on local ecosystems and biodiversity, even if it is under qualitative basis.

Another point is referred to the taxonomic groups to be included in the analysis. Due to data availability reasons, the assessment in this section has relied on fish species. As indicated above, most of the tests of biopollution and biocontamination have been done using macroinvertebrates. Potentially, the methodology can be used with any *taxa*. Then a question would be whether other types or organisms with very likely negative effects in ecological status (e.g. zoonotic organisms like parasites) should not be explicitly addressed outside the classical BQE including in the assessment of ecological state.

Acknowledgements The first author benefited from her participation in the formal discussions on alien species and water body classification within for the WFD Ecological Status Working Group (ECOSTAT) in Bordeux (2008) and Ispra (2009), both coordinated by Professor Phil Boon (SNH, UK) and Dr Ana Cristina Cardoso (JRC, Italy). The author gratefully acknowledges the coordinators and all the participants for the fruitful discussions, in particular to Jochen Vandekerkhove (JRC, Italy), for the management of the ECOSTAT questionnaire to national experts 'Alien species and the Water Framework Directive' issued in January 2009.

#### Annexes

### Annex I





Results of the determination of the site-specific contamination level, using fish, for the water bodies in Catalonia (2002–2003 and 2007–2008), for different indicators of AS abundance (density [ind/ha] and biomass [kg/ha]). (a) Results for all assessment units. (b) Results for assessment units with fish fauna

# Annex II





Results of the determination of biopollution risk index, using fish, for the water bodies in Catalonia (2002–2003 and 2007–2008), for different indicators of AS abundance (Ind/ha and kg/ha). (a) Results for all assessment units. (b) Results for assessment units with fish fauna

# Annex III

			SBCindha	SBCkgha	IBPRindha	IBPRkgha	RIAP
Data on BP& B	C in 2003						
Kendall's tau-b	SBCindha	Correlation coefficient	1.000	0.924**	0.891**	0.836**	0.215**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	-	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
		N	246	246	246	246	246
	SBCkgha	Correlation coefficient	0.924**	1.000	0.899**	0.902**	0.240**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	-	0.000	0.000	0.000
		Ν	246	246	246	246	246
	IBPRindha	Correlation coefficient	0.891**	0.899**	1.000	0.907**	0.243**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000	-	0.000	0.000
		N	246	246	246	246	246
	IBPRkgha	Correlation coefficient	0.836**	0.902**	0.907**	1.000	0.240**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000	0.000	-	0.000
		N	246	246	246	246	246
	RIAP	Correlation coefficient	0.215**	0.240**	0.243**	0.240**	1.000
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-
		N	246	246	246	246	295
Spearman's rho	SBCindha	Correlation coefficient	1.000	0.965**	0.954**	0.927**	0.274**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	-	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
		N	246	246	246	246	246
	SBCkgha	Correlation coefficient	0.965**	1.000	0.957**	0.959**	0.305**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	-	0.000	0.000	0.000
		Ν	246	246	246	246	246
	IBPRindha	Correlation coefficient	0.954**	0.957**	1.000	0.964**	0.315**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000	-	0.000	0.000
		N	246	246	246	246	246
	IBPRkgha	Correlation coefficient	0.927**	0.959**	0.964**	1.000	0.310**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000	0.000	-	0.000
		N	246	246	246	246	246
	RIAP	Correlation coefficient	0.274**	0.305**	0.315**	0.310**	1.000
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-
		N	246	246	246	246	295

# BC&BP levels and pressures, results of the correlation analysis

(continued)

Data on BP& B	C in 2007						
Kendall's tau-b	SBCindha	Correlation coefficient	1.000	0.967**	0.886**	0.877**	0.219**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	-	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
		N	235	235	235	235	235
	SBCkgha	Correlation coefficient	0.967**	1.000	0.894**	0.900**	0.208**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	-	0.000	0.000	0.000
		N	235	235	235	235	235
	IBPRindha	Correlation coefficient	0.886**	0.894**	1.000	0.959**	0.224**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000	-	0.000	0.000
		N	235	235	235	235	235
	IBPRkgha	Correlation coefficient	0.877**	0.900**	0.959**	1.000	0.239**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000	0.000	-	0.000
		Ν	235	235	235	235	235
	RIAP	Correlation coefficient	0.219**	0.208**	0.224**	0.239**	1.000
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-
		N	235	235	235	235	311
Spearman's rho	SBCindha	Correlation coefficient	1.000	0.983**	0.949**	0.944**	0.282**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	-	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
		N	235	235	235	235	235
	SBCkgha	Correlation coefficient	0.983**	1.000	0.953**	0.956**	0.271**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	-	0.000	0.000	0.000
		N	235	235	235	235	235
	IBPRindha	Correlation coefficient	0.949**	0.953**	1.000	0.985**	0.296**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000	-	0.000	0.000
		N	235	235	235	235	235
	IBPRkgha	Correlation coefficient	0.944**	0.956**	0.985**	1.000	0.313**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000	0.000	-	0.000
		N	235	235	235	235	235
	RIAP	Correlation coefficient	0.282**	0.271**	0.296**	0.313**	1.000
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-
		N	235	235	235	235	311

\*\*Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

# References

- 1. Cardoso AC, Free G (2008) Incorporating invasive alien species into ecological assessment in the context of the Water Framework Directive. Aquat Invasions 3:361–366
- Vandekerkhove J, Cardoso AC (2010) Alien species and the Water Framework Directive. Questionnaire results. European Commission - JRC scientific and technical reports, Ispra, Italy

- Vandekerkhove J, Cardoso AC, Boon PJ (2013) Is there a need for a more explicit accounting of invasive alien species under the Water Framework Directive? Manage Biol Invasions 4:25–36. doi:10.3391/mbi.2013.4.1.04
- 4. Boudouresque CF, Verlaque M (2002) Biological pollution in the Mediterranean Sea: invasive versus introduced macrophytes. Mar Pollut Bull 44:32–38
- Elliott M (2003) Biological pollutants and biological pollution--an increasing cause for concern. Mar Pollut Bull 46:275–280
- 6. Olenin S, Elliott M, Bysveen I et al (2011) Recommendations on methods for the detection and control of biological pollution in marine coastal waters. Mar Pollut Bull 62:2598–2604
- Olenin S, Alemany F, Cardoso AC et al (2010) Marine Strategy Framework Directive Task Group 2 report. Non-indigenous species. doi: 10.2788/87092
- Panov VE, Alexandrov B, Arbaciauskas K et al (2009) Assessing the risks of aquatic species invasions via European inland waterways: from concepts to environmental indicators. Integr Environ Assess Manag 5:110–126
- Panov V, Dgebuadze Y, Shiganova T et al (2007) A risk assessment of biological invasions in the inland waterways of Europe: the Northern Invasion Corridor case study. In: Biological invaders in inland waters: profiles, distribution, and threats. Springer, The Netherlands, pp 639–656
- Olenin S, Minchin D, Daunys D (2007) Assessment of biopollution in aquatic ecosystems. Mar Pollut Bull 55:379–394
- Arbačiauskas K, Semenchenko V, Grabowski M et al (2008) Assessment of biocontamination of benthic macroinvertebrate communities in European inland waterways. Aquat Invasions 3:211–230
- 12. Lee A (2009) ECOSTAT workshop on alien species and the EC Water Framework Directive. Final report. Ispra, Italy
- Agència Catalana de l'Aigua (ACA) (2006) BIORI. Protocol d'avaluació de la qualitat biològica dels rius. Departament de Medi Ambient i Habitatge, Generalitat de Catalunya, Barcelona
- 14. Sostoa de A, Caiola NM, Casals F et al (2010) Ajust de l'índex d'Integritat Biòtica (IBICAT) basat en l'ús dels peixos com a indicadors de la qualitat ambiental als rius de Catalunya. Agència Catalana de l'Aigua, Departament de Medi Ambient i Habitatge, Generalitat de Catalunya, Barcelona
- 15. MacNeil C, Briffa M, Leuven RSEW et al (2010) An appraisal of a biocontamination assessment method for freshwater macroinvertebrate assemblages; a practical way to measure a significant biological pressure? Hydrobiologia 638:151–159
- 16. Šidagyte E, Višinskiene G, Arbačiauskas K (2013) Macroinvertebrate metrics and their integration for assessing the ecological status and biocontamination of Lithuanian lakes. Limnologica 43:308–318
- 17. Nentwig W, Kühnel E, Bacher S (2010) A generic impact-scoring system applied to alien mammals in Europe. Conserv Biol 24:302–311. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1739.2009.01289.x
- Magee TK, Ringold PL, Bollman MA, Ernst TL (2010) Index of alien impact: a method for evaluating potential ecological impact of alien plant species. Environ Manage 45:759–778. doi:10.1007/s00267-010-9426-1
- 19. Sandvik H, Sæther B-E, Holmern T et al (2013) Generic ecological impact assessments of alien species in Norway: a semi-quantitative set of criteria. Biodivers Conserv 22:37–62
- 20. Genovesi P, Shine C (2004) European strategy on invasive alien species. Council of Europe Press, Strasbourg
- Nehring S, Klingenstein F (2008) Aquatic alien species in Germany listing system and options for action. In: Rabitsch W, Essl F, Klingenstein F (eds) Biological invasions – from ecology to conservation. NEOBIOTA 7. pp 19–33
- 22. Narščius A, Olenin S, Zaiko A, Minchin D (2012) Biological invasion impact assessment system: from idea to implementation. Ecol Inform 7:46–51

- 23. Zaiko A, Lehtiniemi M, Narščius A, Olenin S (2011) Assessment of bioinvasion impacts on a regional scale: a comparative approach. Biol Invasions 13:1–27
- 24. Olenina I, Wasmund N, Hajdu S et al (2010) Assessing impacts of invasive phytoplankton: the Baltic Sea case. Mar Pollut Bull 60:1691–1700
- 25. Wittfoth AKJ, Zettler ML (2013) The application of a biopollution index in German Baltic estuarine and lagoon waters. Manage Biol Invasions 4:43–50
- 26. Ballesteros E, Garcia M, Torras X et al (2010) Informe del Programa de vigilància de la qualitat de les aigües litorals de Catalunya en funció de les comunitats de macroalgues, segons la Directiva Marc de l'Aigua i de la prevenció de la implantació d'espècies invasores. Informe final 2010. Blanes
- 27. Conrad M (1979) Ecosystem stability and bifurcation in the light of adaptability theory. In: Gurel O, Rössler O (eds) Bifurcation theory and its application to scientific disciplines. New York Academy of Sciences, New York, pp 465–482
- Munné A, Prat N (2009) Use of macroinvertebrate-based multimetric indices for water quality evaluation in Spanish Mediterranean rivers: an intercalibration approach with the IBMWP index. Hydrobiologia 628:203–225
- 29. Boquera Margalef M, Quiroga Raimundez V (2001) De la saboga al silur. Perscadors fluvials de l'Ebre a Tivenys. Generalitat de Catalunya - Centre de Promocio de la Cultura Popular i Tradicional Catalana, Barcelona
- 30. Karr JR (1981) Assessment of biotic integrity using fish communities. Fisheries 6:21–27. doi:10.1577/1548-8446(1981)006<0021:AOBIUF>2.0.CO;2
- Karr JR (1987) Biological monitoring and environmental assessment: a conceptual framework. Environ Manage 11:249–256. doi:10.1007/BF01867203
- 32. Sostoa de A, Caiola NM, Vinyoles D et al (2003) Desenvolupament d'un índex d'integritat biòtica (IBICAT) basat en l'ús dels peixos com a indicadors de la qualitat ambiental dels rius de Catalunya. Aplicació de la Directiva marc en política d'aigües de la Unió Europea (2000/60/CE). Informe final del Dep. Departament de Medi Ambient, Generalitat de Catalunya., Barcelona
- Schlaepfer MA, Sax DF, Olden JD (2011) The potential conservation value of non-native species. Conserv Biol 25:428–437. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1739.2010.01646.x

# The Use of Diatoms to Assess the Ecological Status in Catalan Rivers: Application of the WFD and Lessons Learned from the European Intercalibration Exercise

#### Elisabet Tornés and Sergi Sabater

Abstract The biological communities have been widely applied in the assessment of the ecological status of water bodies. In particular, diatom communities integrate the environmental effects of water chemistry, along with the physical and geomorphological characteristics of rivers and lakes. The European Water Framework Directive (WFD) included for the first time in Europe the concept of ecological status of aquatic ecosystems in water quality evaluation, based on the use of biological quality elements (BQE) in a type-specific context. During the implementation of the WFD in Catalan rivers using diatoms, 152 stream and river sites were sampled, and the applicability of existing diatom indices to monitor water quality in Catalan rivers was tested. The correspondence between the already proposed typological classifications of rivers and the biological classification was also examined. Since the bioassessment methods using diatoms needed to be comparable amongst different fluvial ecosystems in Europe, several intercalibration (IC) exercises were done throughout Mediterranean areas in Europe. The Mediterranean IC exercise faced the inconsistency between the river types and the biotic classification, the lack of real pristine sites and the existence of taxonomic discrepancies. In spite of these constraints, the Intercalibration Common Metric (ICM) consistently related with the local-used indices (IPS) in all the countries tested. However, during this process, the need of revising the river typology as well as of revisiting the fine-tuning of taxonomic identifications was clear. Putting effort in these aspects would improve the water quality assessment at the national level and would also improve the subsequent comparability amongst countries.

E. Tornés (🖂) and S. Sabater

Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), Carrer Emili Grahit 101, Girona 17003, Spain

Faculty of Sciences, Institute of Aquatic Ecology, University of Girona, Campus Montilivi, Girona 17071, Spain

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 42: 65–80, DOI 10.1007/698\_2015\_344, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 2 April 2015

e-mail: etornes@icra.cat

Keywords Bioassessment, Catalan rivers, Diatoms, Indices, Intercalibration, Mediterranean

#### Contents

1	The Use of Diatoms as Indicators of the Riverine Ecological Status	66
2	Implementation of the Use of Diatoms as a BQE in the Catalan Rivers	67
	2.1 Selection of Sites According to the Type of Pressures	67
	2.2 Application and Suitability of Diatom Indices in Catalan Rivers	69
	2.3 Reference Conditions and Indicator Taxa	70
3	Some Lessons from the Mediterranean Intercalibration Exercise	74
	3.1 The Intercalibration Process and Derivation of the Intercalibration Common Metric	74
	3.2 Application and Constraints of the ICM to Catalan Rivers	76
4	Conclusions	77
Re	erences	78

# 1 The Use of Diatoms as Indicators of the Riverine Ecological Status

Chemical water quality is useful to define the relevance of pollutants in freshwaters but – unless linked to long-term analyses – does not detect changes over a long time scale and does not necessarily reflect the ecological state of the system. Biological elements integrate the environmental factors defining the physical and chemical environment. Bioassessment is therefore an appropriate alternative to purely chemical analyses in rivers and lakes [1]. In the particular case of the microorganisms, their short generation time makes them appropriate early warning indicators of changes occurring in aquatic habitats [2]. Diatoms are part of these microorganisms, and because of their function as primary producers and their dominance in river systems with respect to others [3], they are able to quickly react to environmental changes [4, 5]. Their structural elements in the siliceous cell wall allow reliable taxonomic determination at specific and subspecific level (Fig. 1).

Moreover, diatom sampling requires minimal effort and causes no impact to the sampling site. In addition to easy sampling, diatoms are easily preserved and maintained in permanent microscope slides. After their examination by skilled personnel, diatoms can be used as reliable indicators of pH, salinity, nutrients and even pollutant toxicity. Diatom communities have been proved to be effective biological indicators of aquatic systems in several studies in Europe, and their use and application as indicators of the ecological state of the river is well protocolised (e.g. [6, 7]). Standardised protocols have been elaborated by the European Committee for Standardisation (CEN) for the routine sampling and pretreatment of diatom samples [8] as well as for their identification and counting [9], as a first step to make data amongst different studies and countries being comparable.



Fig. 1 Diatom species at the light microscopy  $(1000\times)$  after digestion of the organic matter surrounding the siliceous cell wall. (a) *Encyonema silesiacum*, (b) *Achnanthidium minutissimum*, (c) *Cyclotella meneghiniana*, (d) *Nitzschia fonticola*, (e) *Rhoicosphenia abbreviata*, (f) *Gomphonema clavatum*, (g) *Navicula cryptotenella*. Scale bar = 10 µm

# 2 Implementation of the Use of Diatoms as a BQE in the Catalan Rivers

#### 2.1 Selection of Sites According to the Type of Pressures

The European Water Framework Directive (WFD) [10] included the concept of ecological status of aquatic ecosystems in water quality evaluation for the first time in Europe. This assessment is largely based on the use of biological quality elements (BQE), which includes from algae to macroinvertebrate and fish. Phytobenthos is one of these biological quality elements used in the definition of ecological status, and the taxonomic composition of benthic diatoms has been widely applied as reliable proxies for phytobenthos in Mediterranean freshwaters [11].

Several studies were launched by the Catalan Water Agency (ACA) in order to apply the WFD for the different BQE in the inner Catalan catchments. In the case of

diatoms, 152 stream and river sites were sampled during summer (July-August) 2002 and spring (May-June) 2003. Whilst most of these sites (106) coincided with those of the control network of the ACA, other 46 sites were selected to complement the network, mainly in the unexplored headwaters of large catchments (Fig. 2). The selected sites covered a wide range of fluvial typologies, ranging from siliceous high-mountain fluvial systems to coastal streams, and included both calcareous and siliceous Mediterranean fluvial systems, as well as different levels of human disturbance. The smaller rivers (e.g. the Francolí, the Gaià) have their headwaters in middle mountains and flow for a few kilometres to the sea. The larger systems, the Ter and the Llobregat, have their headwaters in the Pyrenees and therefore the upper courses are partially subjected to a snow-fed regime. The Catalan tributaries of the Ebre catchment also have their headwaters in the Pyrenees and experience minimum water temperatures, annual rainfall of above 1,000 mm and heavy snowfall in winter. The middle and lower parts of the Ebre, the Llobregat and the Ter are subjected to a Mediterranean climate, implying high hydrological variability in these sections.



Fig. 2 Map of the area and location of the sampling sites. New sites are indicated with a N

## 2.2 Application and Suitability of Diatom Indices in Catalan Rivers

Diatom indices are designed to summarise the information provided by the autoecological preferences of the diatom community [2]. Several indices have been created and tested mainly in central and northern European rivers, and their applicability to monitor water quality was assessed in the selected sites. The diatom indices tested were the IPS (Indice de Polluosensibilité Spécifique [12]), the IBD (Indice Biologique Diatomées [13]) and the CEE [14]. They were selected for their wide application (IPS and IBD) and for their interest to approach a standard for most European situations (CEE). The indices take into consideration the structure of the community and therefore consider not only the taxa presence but also their proportion in the community. These indices were created by adapting the formula designed by Zelinka and Marvan [15], which consider the sum of the different species abundance influenced by their *sensitivity* to the described disturbance and by their *indicator* value (the latter being opposite to the unspecificity for any situation):

$$I = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_j s_j v_j}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_j s_j}$$

being *a* the relative abundance, *s* the sensitivity value, *v* the indicator value and *n* the number of species observed in the diatom community. Thus, these indices combine the abundances of all the taxa present in a site and their individual ecological preferences to obtain a single score of water quality for a particular site. Diatom indices are calculated through OMNIDIA software [16], and scaled in a range from 1, the worst quality, to 20, the best; and they are divided in 5 water quality classes, from bad to high water quality (Table 1).

As a general trend, the highest values of the three diatom indices were in the headwaters of the different catchments and particularly in those of the Pyrenees (Fig. 3a). The lowest values were found in lowland sites, especially in those receiving high inputs of organic matter and industrial discharges. Diatom index values improved in spring, when higher water discharge conferred a higher water quality to most of the sites (Fig. 3b). The catchment with the worst water quality was the Llobregat, affected by important industrial and urban activities. The Ebre catchment had the best water quality, especially in the headwaters of Segre, Noguera Pallaresa and Noguera Ribagorçana, where some of the sites reached the value of 20 for the IBD. The three diatom indices reliably assessed the water quality of the sites and also reflected the differences between the two periods. The indices significantly correlated with the environmental variables, including the ones related with pollution and physical impact (e.g. ammonium, nitrate, phosphate, total organic carbon (TOC), general morphology, general hydrology) and those related with physiography (e.g. altitude, water velocity, water temperature) (Table 2).

Table 1       Water quality class         classification of diatom       indices	Index value (1–20)	Water quality		
	Index $\geq 17$	High		
	$17 > index \ge 13$	Good		
	$13 > index \ge 9$	Moderate		
	$9 > index \ge 5$	Poor		
	Index $< 5$	Bad		

It is important to stress that IPS, IBD and CEE were originally developed to assess overall water quality, not only eutrophication effects. Then, they do not completely correlate with nutrients, as other factors affecting water quality like organic matter, pH, ionic composition or salinity are influencing the indices. However, higher correlations were observed with the IPS than with the CEE or IBD. Comparing the percentages of sites in each water quality class for the three indices, it was observed that IBD tended to attenuate the extreme values (Fig. 4). Although IPS and CEE had a similar pattern, only a few sites in the high-quality class exceed the value of 18 in the case of the CEE. Thus, CEE and IBD were observed to underestimate or overestimate particular situations in the studied Mediterranean streams. Moreover, the IPS covered the whole range of values, from the lowest (1.1) to the highest (20) value. The IPS was therefore selected as the most appropriate index to assess the water quality at the studied sites.

#### 2.3 Reference Conditions and Indicator Taxa

The reference condition approach implemented by the WFD represents a new paradigm in the biological evaluation. A basic aspect of the WFD is to base the ecological assessment of a given site on type-specific classification. A fundamental part of this approach is the determination of baseline data (i.e. reference conditions) by which to compare various disturbances and land uses for each typological group. Ecological quality ratios (EQRs) derive from this concept. EQRs are calculated as ratios of observed to expected value of the assessment method for each typology. An EQR of 1 represents reference conditions, whilst an EQR close to 0 represents a biological community that largely deviates from the community considered of reference. In each water body type, the reference conditions are represented by different sites that include the variability of the biological communities in these sites, thus including the variability in the expression of the good status. Overall, the reference condition sites represent the whole range of optimal natural conditions occurring within that water body type [17].

Following WFD requirements, the Catalan rivers were classified into *river types* and *subtypes*, and up to ten categories were defined [18]. Reference sites for each of them were established based on biological, hydromorphological and physicochemical data [19]. The classification of reference conditions should then respond to both the environmental and the biological variability. The



Fig. 3 Water quality classification of the sampling sites using IPS in (a) summer 2002 and (b) spring 2003

	n	IBD	IPS	CEE
General morphology	234	-0.351*	-0.379*	-0.418*
General hydrology	234	-0.253*	-0.245*	-0.276*
Riparian vegetation	234	-0.302*	-0.325*	-0.336*
Land use	234	-0.302*	-0.325*	-0.336*
Urbanisation	234	-0.229*	-0.268*	-0.294*
Agriculture	234	-0.215*	-0.210*	-0.211*
рН	264	0.226*	0.210*	0.201*
Conductivity (µS/cm)	265	-0.692*	-0.685*	-0.615*
Water temperature (°C)	261	-0.488*	-0.517*	-0.470*
Dissolved oxygen (mg/L)	162	0.406*	0.377*	0.377*
Oxygen saturation (%)	166	0.393*	0.394*	0.404*
NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> -N (mg/L)	216	-0.427*	-0.481*	-0.439*
$NH_4^+$ -N (mg/L)	165	-0.439*	-0.540*	-0.552*
$PO_4^{3-}-P(\mu g/L)$	216	-0.572*	-0.607*	-0.617*
$SO_4^{2-}$ (mg/L)	213	-0.590*	-0.602*	-0.533*
Cl <sup>-</sup> (mg/L)	208	-0.748*	-0.762*	-0.743*
HCO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> (mg/L)	199	-0.474*	-0.540*	-0.450*
K <sup>+</sup> (mg/L)	197	-0.754*	-0.761*	-0.742*
$Ca^{2+}$ (mg/L)	200	-0.501*	-0.535*	-0.440*
$Mg^{2+}$ (mg/L)	200	-0.495*	-0.502*	-0.382*
Na <sup>+</sup> (mg/L)	200	-0.737*	-0.766*	-0.751*
TOC (mg C/L)	210	-0.562*	-0.630*	-0.646*
Width (m)	246	0.017	-0.012	-0.045
Depth (cm)	214	0.003	-0.016	-0.049
Current velocity	268	0.334*	0.285*	0.232*
Canopy cover	257	0.005	0.049	0.068
Water transparency	264	0.432*	0.399*	0.412*
Altitude (m a.s.l.)	281	0.636*	0.659*	0.651*

 Table 2
 Spearman's correlation coefficients (Spearman's rho) between diatom indices and environmental variables

*n* number of cases

\*Significant correlations at p < 0.01

correspondence between these a priori classifications and a classification based only on diatom data (a posteriori) was tested using 31 reference sites [20]. Diatom data was obtained for 31 reference sites using the information provided by the implementation of the WFD in Catalonia (Sect. 2.1). These 31 reference sites included three types and six subtypes of the Munné and Prat [18] classification.

The biological classification of reference sites based on diatoms comprised four cluster groups, and indicator species could be identified in all of them (IndVal [21]). There was a group that contained calcareous high- and mid-mountain streams and it was characterised by *Encyonopsis microcephala*, *Denticula tenuis* and *Cymbella excisa*. A second group of sites consisted of calcareous mid-altitude mountain streams and lowland rivers, and the most important species in this group were



*Cocconeis pediculus, Amphora pediculus, Navicula gregaria* and *Nitzschia inconspicua.* The third group was composed of Pyrenean siliceous and calcareous streams, and the indicator species were *Achnanthidium pyrenaicum* and *Diatoma ehrenbergii*. Sites of the fourth group were small siliceous high-mountain streams. Many of the best indicators for this group were common taxa at low water temperatures and poorly mineralised waters (e.g. *Diatoma mesodon, Fragilaria arcus, Achanthidium subatomus, Planothidium lanceolatum* and *Reimeria sinuata*).

The correspondence between the a posteriori biological and the a priori typological classifications was good, since the classification based on diatom communities was highly coincident with the catchment geology and altitude, like the typological classifications did. However, the classification strength of types and subtypes was weaker than the classification strength of the diatom classification [20], probably because the typological classification is mainly discriminated by large-scale geomorphological and hydrological characteristics of streams, and subtypes reflect more local in-stream features. Therefore, a combination of regional classification partially based on more local environmental characteristics was proposed by Tornés et al. [20] in order to improve the classification strength of reference conditions in Catalonia.

## **3** Some Lessons from the Mediterranean Intercalibration Exercise

# 3.1 The Intercalibration Process and Derivation of the Intercalibration Common Metric

Different intercalibration (IC) exercises between similar geographical European areas were performed in order to ensure that ecological status concepts and bioassessment methods of water quality were comparable amongst different fluvial ecosystems in Europe. The application of the EQRs against the reference conditions expresses the class boundaries between high and good ecological status and between good and moderate ecological status. Moreover, as the WFD dictates that ecological assessment has to be based on type-specific classification, member states (MS) were divided into groups sharing ecological water body types, the Geographical Intercalibration Groups (GIG). Thus, Cyprus, France, Italy, Portugal, Slovenia and Spain were the countries participating in the Phytobenthos Mediterranean Intercalibration process for rivers, using diatoms as proxies for phytobenthos.

The IC process can be influenced by sample collection and processing, taxonomic inconsistencies, choice of metrics for ecological status evaluation and criteria for reference sites selection, which can be different between the MS. In the case of diatoms, sampling collection and processing are consistently performed across Europe, following the European standards [6–9], and this removed potentially important source of ecological noise that could affect the IC process [22]. Still, as found by Kahlert et al. [23], the identification of diatoms at species or subspecies level together with constant nomenclatural changes made necessary to perform taxa harmonisation in order to assure high similarity between identifications, which consisted of a screening of inconsistencies and merging synonyms. Another aspect influencing the outcome of the IC is the different criteria for reference sites selection in the respective countries. Feio et al. [24] developed a three-step procedure for screening reference conditions in order to obtain a common dataset for reference sites for all BQE in the Mediterranean GIG. This become necessary after the results in the Central/Baltic GIG, where possible inadequate screening of data was the cause of a nutrient-related gradient within the reference samples [25]. However, rigour in the selection of reference sites did not guarantee the existence of pristine conditions in several river types, and consequently nitrate was related with diatom data in the least disturbed sites [11]. Even though four IC river types were defined for the Mediterranean [26] based on catchment area, geology and hydrological regime (Table 3), the application of the least disturbed conditions procedure showed no major differences between IC types 1, 2 and 3. Thus, data from these three types were treated together as a single type and maintained separate from type 4 (temporary rivers).

The biological classification did not correspond to the abiotic classification in the Mediterranean GIG [24]. The inconsistency between river types and biotic classification was also observed in the Central/Baltic GIG [27] and in other studies outside the context of the IC process [28, 29]. It is worth stressing that MS merged more than one national type in each abiotic IC type and in some cases one national type was split in more than one IC type, defining the wide nature of the IC types. As found in the classification of reference conditions for Catalonia [20], Feio et al. [24] suggested that other relevant variables for phytobenthos which reflect local conditions such as current velocity, substrata type, alkalinity, water hardness or light availability should be considered in order to improve the strength of the abiotic classification.

Countries participating in the Phytobenthos Mediterranean GIG used different assessment methods [11], although all of them addressed nutrient and organic contamination as main stressors. In order to compare the status class boundaries defined in each country, EQRs of the national metrics were placed on a common scale, the Intercalibration Common Metric (ICM [25]). The ICM results from the combination of the IPS [12] and the Rott's Trophic Index (TI [30]):

$$ICM = \frac{EQR_{IPS} + EQR_{TI}}{2}$$

being EQR<sub>IPS</sub> = observed value/reference value and EQR<sub>TI</sub> = (4 - observed value)/(4 - reference value), where 4 is the maximum value for TI. Reference values for IPS and TI were calculated as the median value of reference sites for a national dataset.

River type	River description	Catchment area (km <sup>2</sup> )	Geology	Flow regime
Type 1	Small	<100	Siliceous	Highly seasonal
Type 2	Medium	100-1,000	Siliceous	Highly seasonal
Type 3	Small and medium	<1,000	Non-siliceous	Highly seasonal
Type 4	Small and medium	<1,000		Temporary

Table 3 Description of the common intercalibration river types in the Mediterranean GIG

IPS assesses general water quality, and low IPS values corresponded to low EQR values. The TI accounts for the nutrient load impact, and it needed to be adjusted so high values represented high EQR values. Once transformed into the ICM, the national boundaries should not deviate more than a quarter of class equivalents (calculated using the high maximum EQR value for each country) from the global mean boundary value (calculated from all countries) [31]. All national boundaries in Phytobenthos Mediterranean GIG fell within the ICM boundary range, except the G/M boundary for four types (one type from Portugal and three types from Spain), which did not comply this and needed to be adjusted. Overall, it was concluded that national metrics intercalibrated were comparable [11].

#### 3.2 Application and Constraints of the ICM to Catalan Rivers

The ICM reliably reflected the water quality for Catalan rivers (Fig. 5). Most of the sites lie between the 95% confidence bands, with the exception of a few cases. As a general trend, the Muga catchment showed the highest difference between the two indices (Fig. 5a), which corresponded also to the river typologies *Mediterranean* rivers of variable flow and calcareous Mediterranean mountain rivers (Fig. 5b). Differences between ICM and the national method (IPS) could reflect different value calculation for IPS in reference conditions. Reference value in the ICM was calculated as the median IPS value of all those reference sites considered in the IC and including all IC river types. Reference values for IPS were calculated at the national level (not only taking into account those reference sites used in the IC), and considering river typologies separately, this could cause the national methodology to be more precise. Then, contrasted methodologies for reference value calculation could be more striking in particular situations in the Catalan river system, as Mediterranean rivers of variable flow and calcareous Mediterranean mountain rivers, which could not be properly reflected when river typologies were not considered separately.



Fig. 5 Linear regression between IPS (expressed in EQR values) and the Intercalibration Common Metric (ICM), represented by (a) catchments and (b) national river typologies. *Blue lines* represent the 95% prediction bands, and *red lines* represent the 95% confidence bands

#### 4 Conclusions

Since the European Water Framework Directive was published in 2000 [10], different diatom indices have been applied to the Catalan rivers, for their wide application (IPS and IBD) and for their interest to approach a standard for most European situations (CEE). Amongst these, the IPS was selected as the most appropriate index to assess the water quality at the studied sites. In general, the water quality for Catalan rivers is high in the headwaters of the different catchments, particularly in the Pyrenees, whilst it reaches the worst values in lowland sites of the Llobregat catchment, receiving high inputs of organic matter and industrial discharges.

The reference sites in Catalonia are mostly located in the headwaters, since it is difficult to be defined in the middle and lower river stretches. This is a general problem elsewhere in the Mediterranean region, as large rivers (catchment area  $>1,000 \text{ km}^2$ ) showed a small number of reference sites [11] and could not be included in the IC process. This should not be a surprising situation, since

Mediterranean rivers have a long history of human disturbances and are highly endangered ecosystems [24].

The ecological assessment is based on type-specific classification, and the classification of reference conditions should respond to both the environmental and the biological variability. In the context of the Catalan rivers, there was a correspondence between both classifications, although abiotic classifications were weaker than classification based on diatom data [20]. However, in the context of the Mediterranean IC, a disagreement between abiotic river types and types defined by biological data was found for all BQE due to the broad nature of the river types [24]. There is a debate on the degree to which local processes and geographical patterns are affecting the diatom community structure. These abiotic classifications are mainly based on large-scale geomorphological and hydrological features, and other relevant variables for phytobenthos which reflect more local conditions, such as current velocity, substrata type, alkalinity, water hardness or light availability, should be considered in order to improve the strength of the abiotic classification.

A final perspective indicates that ICM consistently related with the local-used indices (IPS), but it was also clear the need of revising the river typology as well as of revisiting the fine-tuning of taxonomic identifications. Putting effort in these aspects would improve water quality assessment at the national level and would also improve the subsequent comparability amongst countries.

#### References

- Stevenson RJ, Pan Y (1999) Assessing environmental conditions in rivers and streams using diatoms. In: Stoermer EF, Smol JP (eds) The diatoms: application for the environmental and earth sciences. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 11–40
- Sabater S, Admiraal W (2005) Biofilms as biological indicators in managed aquatic ecosystems. In: Azim ME, Verdegem MCJ, van Dam AA, Beveridge MCM (eds) Periphyton: ecology, exploitation and management. CAB International, Wallingford, pp 159–177
- Pan YD, Stevenson RJ, Hill BH, Kaufmann PR, Herlihy AT (1999) Spatial patterns and ecological determinants of benthic algal assemblages in Mid-Atlantic streams, USA. J Phycol 35:460–468
- Sabater S, Sabater F, Armengol J (1988) Relationships between diatom assemblages and physico-chemical variables in the river Ter (NE Spain). Int Rev Gesamten Hydrobiol 73:171–179
- 5. Rott E (1991) Methodological aspects and perspectives in the use of periphyton for monitoring and protecting rivers. In: Whitton BA, Rott E, Friedrich G (eds) Use of algae for monitoring rivers. Universität Innsbruck, Institut für Botanik, Innsbruck, pp 9–16
- 6. Kelly MG, Cazaubon A, Coring E, Dell'Uomo A, Ector L, Goldsmith B, Guasch H, Hurlimann J, Jarlman A, Kawecka B, Kwandrans J, Laugaste R, Lindstrom EA, Leitao M, Marvan P, Padisak J, Pipp E, Prygiel J, Rott E, Sabater S, van Dam H, Vizinet J (1998) Recommendations for the routine sampling of diatoms for water quality assessments in Europe. J Appl Phycol 10:215–224
- 7. Prygiel J, Carpentier P, Almeida S, Coste M, Druart JC, Ector L, Guillard D, Honore MA, Iserentant R, Ledeganck P, Lalanne Cassou C, Lesniak C, Mercier I, Moncaut P, Nazart M, Nouchet N, Peres F, Peeters V, Rimet F, Rumeau A, Sabater S, Straub F, Torrisi M, Tudesque L, van de Vijver B, Vidal H, Vizinet J, Zydek N (2002) Determination of the

biological diatom index (IBD NF T 90-354): results of an intercomparison exercise. J Appl Phycol 14:27-39

- 8. European Committee for Standardization (2003) European Standard EN 13946. Water quality—guidance standard for the routine sampling and pretreatment of benthic diatoms from rivers for water quality assessment. CEN, Brussels
- 9. European Committee for Standardization (2004) European Standard EN 14407. Water quality—guidance standard for the identification, enumeration and interpretation of benthic diatom samples from running waters. CEN, Brussels
- European Commission (2000) Directive 2000/60/EC of The European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for community action in the field of water policy. Off J Eur Communities L327:1–73
- 11. Almeida SF, Elias C, Ferreira J, Tornés E, Puccinelli C, Delmas F, Dörflinger G, Urbanič G, Marcheggiani S, Rosebery J, Mancini L, Sabater S (2014) Water quality assessment of rivers using diatom metrics across Mediterranean Europe: a methods intercalibration exercise. Sci Total Environ 476:768–776
- 12. Cemagref (1982) Étude des méthodes biologiques d'appréciation quantitative de la qualité des eaux. Rapport Division Qualité des Eaux Cemagref Lyon. Agence de l'Eau Rhône-Méditerranée-Corse, Lyon
- Coste M, Boutry S, Tison-Rosebery J, Delmas F (2009) Improvements of the Biological Diatom Index (BDI): description and efficiency of the new version (BDI-2006). Ecol Indic 9:621–650
- Descy JP, Coste M (1990) Utilisation des diatomées benthiques pour l'évaluation de la qualité des eaux courantes. Rapport final. Université de Namur, Cemagref Bordeaux
- Zelinka M, Marvan P (1961) Zur Präzisierung der biologischen Klassifikation der Reinheit fliessender Gewässer. Arch Hydrobiol 57:389–407
- Lecointe C, Coste M, Prygiel J (1993) OMNIDIA: software for taxonomy, calculation of diatom indices and inventories management. Hydrobiologia 269:509–513
- 17. Nijboer RC, Johnson RK, Verdonschot PFM, Sommerhäuser M, Buffagni A (2004) Establishing reference conditions for European streams. Hydrobiologia 516:91–105
- Munné A, Prat N (2004) Defining river types in a Mediterranean area: a methodology for the implementation of the EU water framework directive. Environ Manag 34:711–729
- 19. ACA (2005) Caracterització de masses d'aigua i anàlisi del risc d'imcompliment dels objectius de la Directiva Marc de l'Aigua (2000/60/CE) a Catalunya (conques intra i intercomunitàries). Report of the Catalan Water Agency, Barcelona. Available from http://aca-web.gencat.cat/aca/ appmanager/aca/aca?\_nfpb = true&\_pageLabel = P1206154461208200586461
- 20. Tornés E, Leira M, Sabater S (2012) Is the biological classification of benthic diatom communities concordant with ecotypes? Hydrobiologia 695:43–55
- 21. Dufrêne M, Legendre P (1997) Species assemblages and indicator species: the need for a flexible asymmetrical approach. Ecol Monogr 67:345–366
- Cao Y, Hawkins CP (2011) The comparability of bioassessments: a review of conceptual and methodological issues. J N Am Benthol Soc 30:680–701
- 23. Kahlert M, Albert R-L, Anttila E-L, Bengtsson R, Bigler C, Eskola T, Gälman V, Gottschalk S, Herlitz E, Jarlman A, Kasperoviciene J, Kokociński M, Luup H, Miettinen J, Paunksnyte I, Piirso K, Quintana I, Raunio J, Sandell B, Simola H, Sundberg I, Vilbaste S, Weekström J (2009) Harmonization is more important than experience—results of the first Nordic-Baltic diatom intercalibration exercise 2007 (stream monitoring). J Appl Phycol 21:471–482
- 24. Feio M, Aguiar F, Almeida S, Ferreira J, Ferreira M, Elias C, Serra S, Buffagni A, Cambra J, Chauvin C, Delmas F, Dörflinger G, Erba S, Flor N, Ferréol M, Germ M, Mancini L, Manolaki P, Marcheggiani S, Minciardi MR, Munné A, Papastergiadou E, Prat N, Puccinelli C, Rosebery J, Sabater S, Ciadamidaro S, Tornés E, Tziortzis I, Urbanič G, Vieira C (2014) Least disturbed condition for European Mediterranean rivers. Sci Total Environ 476:745–756

- 25. Kelly M, Bennett C, Coste M, Delgado C, Delmas F, Denys L, Ector L, Fauville C, Ferréol M, Golub M, Jarlman A, Kahlert M, Lucey J, Ní Chatháin B, Pardo I, Pfister P, Picinska-Faltynowicz J, Rosebery J, Schranz C, Schaumburg J, van Dam H, Vilbaste S (2009) A comparison of national approaches to setting ecological status boundaries in phytobenthos assessment for the European water framework directive: results of an intercalibration exercise. Hydrobiologia 621:169–182
- 26. ECOSTAT (Working Group 2.A Ecological Status) (2004) Overview of common intercalibration types. Final version 5.1
- 27. van de Bund W (ed) (2009) Water Framework Directive Intercalibration technical report. Part 1: rivers. European Commission, Joint Research Centre, Ispra
- Hawkins CP, Vinson MR (2000) Weak correspondence between landscape classifications and stream invertebrate assemblages: implications for bioassessment. J N Am Benthol Soc 19:501–517
- Sánchez-Montoya MM, Puntí T, Suárez ML, Vidal-Abarca MR, Rieradevall M, Poquet JM, Zamora-Muñoz C, Robles S, Álvarez M, Alba-Tercedor J, Toro M, Pujante AM, Munné A, Prat N (2007) Concordance between ecotypes and macroinvertebrate assemblages in Mediterranean streams. Freshw Biol 52:2240–2255
- 30. Rott E, Binder N, van Dam H, Ortler K, Pall K, Pfister P, Pipp E (1999) Indikationslisten für Aufwuchsalgen. Teil 2: Trophieindikation, geochemische Reaktion, toxikologische und taxonomische Anmerkungen. Publ. Wasserwirtschaftskataster, BMfLF:1–248
- 31. European Comission (2011) Technical report-2011–045. Guidance document on the intercalibration process 2008–2011. Guidance Document n° 14. Common Implementation Strategy for the Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC)

# **Biological Indices Based on Macrophytes:** An Overview of Methods Used in Catalonia and the USA to Determine the Status of Rivers and Wetlands

Siobhan Fennessy, Carles Ibañez, Antoni Munné, Nuño Caiola, Nicole Kirchner, and Carolina Sola

Abstract Aquatic macrophytes are commonly used as the basis for assessing the ecological condition of wetlands and rivers and are considered the basis for some of the best indicators of these ecosystems within their landscape. We review key approaches that utilize plant traits as the basis for water resource assessment, including the floristic quality assessment index (FOAI), the Qualitat del Bosc de Ribera (riparian forest quality index or QBR), indicator species analysis (IndVal), and multimetric indexes of ecological integrity (MMIs). The FOAI quantifies how "conservative" a plant species is by evaluating the degree to which it is adapted to a specific set of environmental conditions and then uses that information to assess plant community response by examining the aggregate degree of "conservatism" for all species in a community. The index codifies expert opinion a priori on the ecological nature and tolerance of macrophyte species and has been shown to be sensitive to human activities. Plant traits can also form the basis for assessment using indicator species analysis (IndVal), which allows the environmental preferences of target species to be identified and related to habitat type, site characteristics, environmental change, or gradients of human disturbance. We applied this technique to identify indicator species for river ecosystems in Catalonia. Finally, assessment approaches based on multiple plant-based metrics are illustrated. Species traits used in multimetric indexes (MMIs) are based on testable hypotheses

S. Fennessy (🖂) and N. Kirchner

Department of Biology, Kenyon College, Gambier, OH 43050, USA e-mail: fennessym@kenyon.edu

C. Ibañez and N. Caiola IRTA – Sant Carles de la Ràpita, Carretera Poble Nou, Apartat de correus 200, 43540 Catalunya, Spain

A. Munné and C. Sola Catalan Water Agency, c/Provenca, 204-208, E-08036 Barcelona, Spain

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 42: 81–100, DOI 10.1007/698\_2015\_347, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 11 June 2015 about how plant communities change along human disturbance gradients. These approaches and their application to Catalan and US wetlands and rivers are explored.

Keywords Catalonia, Macrophytes, Rivers, USA, Wetlands, WFD comparison

#### Contents

1	Introduction	82			
2	Defining the Reference Condition	83			
3	The Floristic Quality Assessment Index (FQAI)	84			
4	The Riparian Quality Index (QBR)	89			
5	Indicator Species Analysis	90			
6	Multimetric Indexes	94			
7	Selecting an Assessment Approach	94			
Re	References				

## **1** Introduction

There is a strong ecological basis for using macrophytes for the assessment of aquatic ecosystems such as rivers and wetlands. Macrophytes are universal components of these systems and are key drivers of many ecosystem processes such as primary production, biogeochemical cycling, and sediment trapping [1]. Because individual species are differentially sensitive to environmental stressors, the composition of plant communities reflects the degree of stress experienced by a site and, thus, its ecological condition. Biological assessment methods are based on field data collected to allow assessment of the biotic integrity of a site by evaluating the extent to which it supports natural levels of diversity, stability (both resilience and resistance to perturbation), and the functional organization characteristic of an unstressed system of its type [2]. In contrast, ecological condition describes the extent to which a site departs from full ecological integrity; the condition is expected to decrease as anthropogenic disturbance increases [3].

Change in species diversity that results from anthropogenic disturbance is a community-level response that integrates the effects of a wide variety of environmental stressors including hydrologic alterations, excessive siltation, and nutrient enrichment. The advantages of using macrophytes as indicators for biotic assessment are many, including:

- 1. They are relatively large, obvious components of river corridors and wetlands.
- 2. They have a well-studied taxonomy with regionally specific taxonomic information for most areas.
- 3. Species diversity is high, allowing for the development of numerous metrics that can serve as the basis of method development.

4. Vegetation sampling methods are well developed, "low tech," and cost effective [4].

Macrophytes are also sensitive indicators due to their links to other trophic levels that ultimately affect the delivery of ecosystem goods and services [5]. For example, plants influence water quality through the uptake and accumulation of nutrients and metals in their tissues. They also act as nutrient pumps, moving compounds from the sediment to the water column. Likewise they influence the hydrologic and sediment regime through processes such as sediment and shoreline stabilization, modification of currents, and desynchronization of flood peaks [6]. Thus, shifts in plant communities correspond to shifts in the functions of a site.

The focus of this chapter is on the use of macrophytes in the assessment of biotic integrity in aquatic ecosystems, both in the USA (with emphasis on the northcentral USA) and Catalonia (NE Spain). Both regions have water quality programs with well-developed biological assessment approaches and programs, including those based on macrophytes. In the USA, methods have been developed in order to implement the Clean Water Act (CWA), while in Catalonia, they were developed as part of the implementation of the Water Framework Directive (WFD). A comparison of approaches will provide useful information on the commonalities and differences in macrophyte-based assessments and illustrate their potential application in both regions. Here, we compare key approaches used to characterize plant traits as the basis for water quality assessment, including the floristic quality assessment index (FQAI), indicator species analysis (IndVal), the Qualitat del Bosc de Ribera (QBR; [7]), and multimetric indexes (MMIs, also known as indexes of biotic integrity, or IBIs).

#### **2** Defining the Reference Condition

A key component of biological assessment is the need for an appropriate standard against which to measure ecological condition. This requires that the sites to be assessed are classified (to reduce variability within classes) and that a gradient of anthropogenic disturbance is identified. Rivers and wetlands include a wide diversity of habitats resulting in differences in the functions or ecosystem services they provide. Creating classes of similar sites within or across regions reduces variability due to the natural differences in hydrology, water chemistry, or soils. This reduces variability, making it easier to detect both the effects of human disturbance and the response of indicators.

A critical step in the development of metrics that make up assessment methods is to establish the expectations for reference condition. This is based on the reference approach presented by Brinson [8], which requires that sites be identified along a gradient of anthropogenic disturbance. Reference standard refers to the condition at the least, or minimally, impacted sites and provides the basis for quantifying the best available physical, chemical, and biological properties [9, 10] (Fig. 1). The reference condition provides the conceptual framework for relating ecological



condition and human disturbance by identifying both the high and low ends of the condition/disturbance gradient, defining the relationship between disturbance and condition, and identifying management benchmarks, for example, the condition classes that must be delineated under the WFD [11, 12]. Important distinctions include defining sites that are minimally disturbed (i.e., the ecological condition in the absence of significant anthropogenic disturbance, a difficult bar to reach in many parts of the USA or the EU), least disturbed (defined as the highest condition supported given the constraints of the landscape), and best attainable (the condition of least disturbed sites where best management practices have been implemented; [13]).

#### **3** The Floristic Quality Assessment Index (FQAI)

The floristic quality assessment index (FQAI) is a macrophyte-based assessment method that has become a well-established means to evaluate ecological integrity in wetlands, riparian zones, and floodplains in the USA [1, 14–16]. It was originally developed by Wilhelm and Ladd [14] for the Chicago region in order to evaluate the conservation value of different sites through an assessment of the "conservatism" of the plant community. The index assesses the ecological condition or "intactness" of an area by examining the aggregate degree of ecological conservatism (or tolerance) of all species present at a site, irrespective of community type (i.e., herbaceous, forested, marsh, fen, reed swamp). FQAI scores are based on *coefficients of conservatism* (C-values), which are numerical ranks assigned to each species that indicate species' tolerance to varying environmental conditions. The

Coefficient of	
conservatism (C) values	Description
0	Nonnative or opportunistic native taxa that have become invasive
1–3	Taxa that are widespread and not indicative of a particular com- munity type/high tolerance to environmental stress
4–6	Taxa that are common of an advanced successional phase/less tolerant to environmental stress
7–8	Taxa that reflect a stable community/relatively intolerant to envi- ronmental stress or human disturbance
9–10	Taxa that can successfully exist only under a narrow range of ecological conditions (intolerant to environmental stress and human disturbance)

 Table 1 Descriptions of the coefficients of conservatism (C-values) used to calculate the FQAI [15]

interpretation of "conservatism" has evolved since the index was developed. Some interpret "conservatism" as the affinity of a species for habitats that represent natural, remnant areas (i.e., those with high conservation value), a view that is consistent with Wilhelm and Ladd's [14] original description [17]. However, a more common view is that conservatism represents the degree of affinity a species has for a set of specific ecological characteristics; higher degrees of conservatism result in the assignment of higher C-values [18].

C-values are based on the fact that the response of a given species to disturbance is a function of its autecological tolerance to a range of environmental conditions. Species with a narrow range of tolerance or specialized requirements have high C-values (>7) and tend to be eliminated from sites as disturbance increases. Species that can tolerate a wide range of habitat conditions or disturbance are assigned low C-values (<3). Use of the index requires that a local flora be available with coefficients of conservatism assigned to each species. In total, C-values range from 0 to 10 (Table 1) and are determined a priori based on both the ecological nature and relative tolerance of each species [16, 17]. FQAI scores are calculated based on the species present at a site irrespective of the proportional representation (evenness) of any species or its dominance, growth form, showiness, or other factors. The index is calculated using a complete species inventory as follows:

$$FQAI = \frac{\sum CC}{\sqrt{N}}$$
(1)

where

 $\sum$  CC = the sum of the C-value for all species identified in the area surveyed and N = the number of native species.

Using the square root of N dampens the effects of diversity extremes, allowing naturally lower diversity, specialized, and often small areas of high ecological





quality to score favorably in relation to larger sites that are often more diverse but may be of lower mean quality. The index has been shown to be effective in comparing sites regardless of plant community type and is sensitive to anthropogenic disturbance [16, 19]. For example, in an early study of riparian forests testing the responsiveness of the FQAI, sites were selected along a gradient of anthropogenic impacts and assigned a disturbance score based on:

- The land use surrounding the site
- Its land use history (e.g., had it been farmed)
- The degree of observed hydrological modification to the riparian zone and stream channel [20]

A strong correlation was found between relative disturbance and FQAI scores ( $r^2 = 0.92$ ; p < 0.01; Fig. 2a). In this case, the key stressor at the sites was hydrologic modification due to a high proportion of agricultural and urban land use in the



watershed, leading to increased runoff and flashy hydroperiods. The FQAI was shown to be sensitive to this with a clear link between FQAI scores and the extent of water level fluctuations ( $r^2 = 0.64$ ; p = 0.03; Fig. 2b). In fact, the FQAI has been shown repeatedly to be responsive to changes in the land use surrounding a site, as well as soil nutrient levels (e.g., total organic carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorous) [16].

The FQAI has also been shown to relate to ecosystem processes, increasing its value as an indicator. For example, Keddy et al. [21] suggested that rates of primary productivity could serve as an indicator of ecological integrity, particularly in response to stressors such as nutrient enrichment. In this case, eutrophication may cause a site to be dominated by disturbance-tolerant species with monoclonal growth patterns and high productivity such as *Typha* or *Phragmites* species, resulting in low FQAI scores. As predicted, Fennessy et al. [20] found a negative correlation between FQAI scores and biomass production (itself a simple measure that integrates many processes within the ecosystem) in a study of Ohio wetlands (Fig. 3), supporting that increased primary productivity can be a sign of stress.

In a study of how changing land use affects indicators of ecological condition, Ward [22] investigated the relationships between the FQAI, other macrophytebased indicators, and land use within a 1-km distance of each site (Table 2). Land use was quantified as the proportion of area in different land use categories (e.g., forested, agricultural, urban) as well as by an integrated land use metric, the landscape development index, or LDI [23]. The LDI was correlated with aboveground biomass production, FQAI scores, native species richness, and the percent of disturbance-tolerant species at a site (defined as those with C-values of 3 or less). The extent of urban/suburban area showed strong links with most indicators, including FQAI scores (r = -0.64, p = 0.07), percent disturbance-tolerant species

84\*\*\* 0.79\*\*

-0.74\*\*

0.64\*

ns

1 km of each site						
	Row crop	Forest	Urban/suburban			
Indicator	(%)	(%)	(%)	LDI		
Biomass production	0.75**	-0.81**	ns	0.84		
FQAI	ns	0.82***	-0.64*	-0.7		
Native species (%)	ns	ns	-0.58*	ns		

ns

ns

ns

**Table 2** Correlation coefficients (r) for possible indicators and land use variables for areas within1 km of each site

Asterisks indicate level of significance: \*p < 0.10, \*\*p < 0.05, \*\*\*p < 0.01; *ns* not significant. N = 9 for all tests, except those of biomass production where N = 8 [22]

0.81\*\*\*

ns

ns

ns 0.69\*\*

0.68\*\*

(C-values <3; r = 0.69, p = 0.04), the relative cover of *Typha* species (r = 0.68, p = 0.04), and the percent native species (r = -0.58, p = 0.10). This suggests that by integrating information on the number of species at a site and their autecology, the FQAI and associated metrics provide a measure of the stress that a site is experiencing due to landscape change [22].

An alternate use of the C-values is to calculate the mean C-value for a site and use this value either as a stand-alone index or as a metric in a multimetric index:

$$\overline{\mathbf{C}} = \left(\sum \mathrm{cc}_{ij}\right) / N_j \tag{2}$$

An advantage of the mean C is that it controls for variations in species richness more fully than do FQAI scores, and so it may be less influenced by differences in sampling area or effort. It has been shown to be correlated with anthropogenic disturbance, including functional attributes such as sediment and carbon accretion rates in headwater streams [24]. In this study, soil accretion rates ranged from 0.02 to 0.5 cm/year with the highest rates observed in floodplain depressions with a high proportion of developed land surrounding the site and lower mean C-values.

Because the FQAI has been demonstrated repeatedly to be a robust index in the assessment of ecological condition, several states in the USA now use it as part of their wetland water quality monitoring programs to make decisions about issuing permits that allow wetland impacts and to set performance standards for wetlands that must be restored or created to mitigate for those impacts [25]. More recently, the US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) adopted it and its associated metrics, such as the proportion of tolerant species, as core metrics in the US National Wetland Condition Assessment (NWCA) [26]. The NWCA is the first study designed to determine the ecological condition of wetlands at the national scale. The first round of sampling, which occurred in 2011, involved intensive surveys of over 1,300 sites across the lower 48 states and was carried out using a probabilistic sampling approach, which allows estimates of the ecological condition of different wetland classes with known statistical confidence.

(%)

Native species richness

Tolerant species (C-values 0-3)

Relative cover of Typha spp.

One challenge in using the FQAI is that C-values vary regionally as a function of local conditions and the geographic range of each species. Adopting the FQAI for use at such a large scale required compilation of all C-values that have been produced for the floras of the different states and regions in the USA [26]. It also required that the coverage of C-values be expanded into regions for which no lists have been developed by considering ecoregional similarities and species distributions. The FQAI and a sensitive species metric are key metrics in a nationally applicable MMI. The survey is slated to be repeated every 5 years in order to monitor any spatial and temporal changes and to assess the efficacy of management and restoration efforts.

#### 4 The Riparian Quality Index (QBR)

The riparian quality index, or the "Qualitat del Bosc de Ribera" (QBR), was developed in Catalonia (NE Spain) to serve as a relatively rapid assessment method for use in determining the ecological condition of riparian habitats along rivers and streams [7]. Riparian zones are critical to river functioning; therefore, their condition directly affects in-stream diversity and function [27]. Likewise, the WFD requires the use of hydrological and riparian quality elements in order to set a comprehensive ecological status for surface water bodies [11]. The OBR focuses on this aspect of river and stream ecosystems, which are often ignored in river assessment approaches. It encompasses the inherent high spatial heterogeneity in riparian communities to identify sites that are of high ecological status. As opposed to many methods that are based on in-stream biological surveys, the QBR is based on characteristics of the riparian habitat (defined as a maximum width of 50–100 m, depending on stream order). It is compiled based on scores related to (1) total vegetation cover, (2) the degree of structural (vertical) complexity of the riparian zone, (3) geomorphology (with an emphasis on features that increase plant diversity), and (4) an evaluation of river channel alterations. The overall score is used to place sites into one of five quality classes, and tests of repeatability for the QBR indicate it is robust and repeatable, in part due to its relatively straightforward structure and calculations [7].

Like many rapid assessment approaches, the QBR provides a quick, relatively inexpensive, semiquantitative measures of overall riparian zone health that complements the more quantitative and intensive methods (such as FQAI or MMIs) for assessing particular aspects of condition or stress. It has benefits such as requiring less time in the field and less taxonomic expertise than the more quantitative methods, leading to cost savings and potential for monitoring a much larger sample of sites. For these reasons, rapid methods like the QBR have a key role in the implementation of wetland monitoring and assessment programs and the effective management of the resource [3, 28].

The robust ecological rationale for the index has made it easily transferable for use in other geographic areas. For instance, while it has been tested extensively in
Catalonia where it was developed, it has also been used in southern Spain [29], in subtropical Andean streams [30, 31], in the Mediterranean regions of Australia and South Africa, and in the state of Ohio [32]. In the latter study, the QBR was adapted for use in Ohio riparian forests in order to prioritize conservation of high-quality stream reaches. Only minor adjustments were made to the index for use in this region, primarily due to the expectations for higher species richness in Ohio forests (i.e., to reflect differences in native tree and shrub diversity as well as to address the issue of widespread invasive shrubs such as *Lonicera maackii* in the eastern USA). In this study, the QBR indicated that many sites were of high quality, but for impacted sites, a common cause of degradation was a lack of connectivity with the adjacent woodlands. Fragmentation was limiting the habitat potential of these sites. This provided information for strategic management decisions to improve the habitat types on the landscape, both in terms of species and ecosystem functions, the QBR filled a critical gap in the available assessment approaches.

## **5** Indicator Species Analysis

In order to implement the provisions of the European Water Framework Directive that require development of biological indicators for aquatic systems that are responsive to human-caused stressors, a diverse set of biological indices have been developed and applied in Catalan rivers [7, 33]. Because the sensitivities of different taxonomic assemblages vary, assessment methods have been developed (as described in Munné et al. [33]) based on benthic macroinvertebrates [34], diatoms (e.g., [35]), macrophytes (e.g., [36]), and fish communities (e.g., [37]). To test an additional approach using data on macrophyte communities in riverine systems, we used indicator species analysis (IndVal) to identify species that are associated with previously identified gradients of human disturbance. Disturbance was quantified using measures of water quality as well as the results of the biotic indexes used in water monitoring programs. Our goal was, in part, to examine the possibility that a small number of indicator species could characterize the ecological condition of a site as an alternative to the more holistic and intensive biological surveys [38].

IndVal analysis is a means to determine species preferences for specific environmental conditions or habitat characteristics and their potential response to changes in those conditions. Species are identified based on the breadth of their ecological niche by determining their fidelity and specificity to a series of predefined sites that are selected a priori based on their environmental characteristics [39]. These are known as vectors and can include measures of water or sediment quality (e.g., nutrients, metals, toxins), biological assessment scores, or measures of the physical habitat (e.g., temperature, particle size distribution). Data on the relative abundance (as a measure of specificity) and relative frequency (as a measure of fidelity) of species are used to determine an indicator value that describes the strength of species' association with sites that share similar characteristics [40].

Species that are associated with alterations in the structure and function of ecosystems, which show sensitivity to particular environmental characteristics, or represent a particular guild, are sound choices as indicators [38]. The IndVal approach has been applied successfully to projects with many different goals, including efforts to identify and conserve intact (low disturbance) sites, identify species that are early indicators of restoration success [41], characterize the ecological condition of a site, and monitor changes in condition and biodiversity over time [38, 42].

We tested the IndVal method to identify plant species associated with the low and high range of anthropogenic disturbance gradients in Catalan rivers as measured by vectors representing those gradients. Vectors were selected based on the availability of data and the strength of relationship of the vector to anthropogenic disturbance (all data supplied by the Catalan Water Agency). Water chemistry measures used included ammonium, phosphate, conductivity, and total organic carbon. Several rapid and multimetric index scores utilized in Catalonia for river and stream monitoring were used to indicate the level of disturbance a site had experienced. Specifically, the following biotic index scores were used as measures of anthropogenic disturbance:

- IBMWP: the Iberian Biological Monitoring Working Program [43], which measures ecological condition based on the composition of macroinvertebrate communities
- IHF: the Index de Habitat Fluvial (river habitat index) [44], based on the physical habitat of rivers and streams
- IPS: the index of specific pollution sensitivity [45], based on the composition of diatom communities to assess ecological quality

The 25th and 75th percentile vector breaks were used to designate what are considered low and high levels of human impacts (see Table 3 for a description of all vectors). Then indicator species that are associated with the high and low range of each vector were identified. Table 4 shows the indicator taxa that were identified for multiple vectors, i.e., they were common across the vector groups. Vectors based on the indexes of ecological condition, IBMWP and IPS, had the greatest number of species in common for both the low and high groups.

Species associated with minimal amounts of human disturbance (i.e., low vector range) include sensitive bryophyte species such as *Cinclidotus fontinaloides*, *Cratoneuron filicinum*, and *Pellia endiviifolia*. These species have relatively specialized habitat requirements, for example, *C. fontinaloides* prefers rocky or woody substrates in light-rich environments with limited periods of flooding. *P. endiviifolia* grows preferentially where water quality is high, often forming large patches in or near the water. In the Mediterranean region, where identifying macrophyte reference communities can be a challenge due to the relatively low diversity of aquatic species that are naturally present, the inclusion of bryophytes has been advocated to more fully represent the reference conditions [46]. The fact

	Range of values		Number of	Number of
	for 0–25th	Range of values for	species in	species in
	percentile (low	75–100th percentile	Group 1 (low	Group 3 (high
Vector	range)	(high range)	range)	range)
Ammonium	0-0.1	0.2-6.7	3	8
(mg/L)				
Phosphate	0-0.10	0.35-2.58	6	6
(mg/L)				
Conductivity	0-375	1,130–7,640	7	2
(µS/cm)				
TOC (mg/L)	0-1.8	3.6-16.4	6	0
IBMWP	0-89	179–223	5	6
index				
IHF index	0-64	77–90	3	1
IPS index	0-13	17–20	7	3

 Table 3
 Values of the vectors that define the 25th and 75th percentiles used in the indicator species analysis (data supplied by Agència Catalana de l'Aigua)

that this indicator species analysis identified bryophytes as indicators of reference conditions supports this approach. In fact, bryophytes are used as the basis for metrics in several European macrophyte-based assessment methods used to implement the WFD [46].

In contrast, the indicator species associated with highly disturbed habitats tolerate a wide variety of conditions. Most have widespread distributions extending throughout Europe and North America. For example, Arundo donax (giant cane) thrives in highly impacted sites, where, for example, soils can be contaminated with heavy metals or are enriched with nutrients [47]. It tolerates high levels of human disturbance and has been included as an indicator of disturbance in an MMI developed to evaluate Iberian rivers [48]. Many of the indicator species of highly disturbed sites are floating leaved species with widespread distributions that spread rapidly, forming dense stands in eutrophic conditions. Azolla filiculoides, a floating aquatic fern, is particularly problematic due to its high growth rates and dense colony formation, rapidly spreading to completely cover water surfaces. It grows symbiotically with cyanobacteria that can fix nitrogen, giving it a competitive advantage particularly when phosphorus levels are high [49]. It has become a serious nuisance in Doñana National Park (SW Spain) after becoming established in 2001. Since then its population growth has been explosive [50]. Finally, both Myriophyllum spicatum and Potamogeton pectinatus (now Stuckenia pectinata) are aggressive invaders in the EU and the USA.

	2
	ē
	2
	<b>=</b>
	a
	Ξ
	5
	a l
,	Ë
7	9
	<i>_</i>
د	Ħ
	0
	S
	Ś
	<u>-</u>
	g
	Ξ.
	ຊ
	=
•	=
	D.
	õ
	ä
	~
	ũ,
	2
	5
	9
	~
	ē
5	8
	Ξ.
	5
	n.
	ക്
	Ē
	e .
	Ξ.
-	5
	<u> </u>
	q
-	d
	Ē,
	g
	e.
	<u>ວ</u> ມ
	H
	Ξ.
	>
	5
-	≤
	e)
5	5
	-
,	4
	-
	ō
	Ā
	Ξ
	E
	2
	5
	Ľ
	а
,	H
	Ĕ
5	ī
	ŝ
	Ξ
	2
	ă
	S
	H
	3
	g
	2
-	g
÷	5
1	-
•	
	d b
	le
2	able
-	able

Ammonium (low	Phosphate (low	Conductivity (low		IBMWP index (high	IHF index (high	IPS index (high
group)	group)	group)	TOC (low group)	group)	group)	group)
	Cinclidotus		Cinclidotus	Cinclidotus	None	Cinclidotus
	fontinaloides		fontinaloides	fontinaloides		fontinaloides
			Cratoneuron			Cratoneuron
			filicinum			filicinum
Eupatorium	Eupatorium		Eupatorium	Eupatorium		
cannabinum	cannabinum		cannabinum	cannabinum		
		Pellia endiviifolia		Pellia endiviifolia		
	Rhynchostegium	Rhynchostegium				
	riparioides	riparioides				
			Rivularia sp.	Rivularia sp.		
Ammonium (high	Phosphate (high	<b>Conductivity (high</b>	TOC (high	<b>IBMWP</b> index (low	IHF index (low	IPS index (low
group)	group)	group)	group)	group)	group)	group)
Arundo donax			None	Arundo donax		
	Azolla filiculoides					Azolla filiculoides
Cyperus eragrostis	Cyperus eragrostis					Cyperus eracrostis
	Lemna gibba			Lemna gibba	Lenna gibba	Lenna gibba
	Myriophyllum			Myriophyllum		Myriophyllum
	spicatum			spicatum		spicatum
Paspalum	Paspalum distichum				Paspalum	Paspalum
distichum					distichum	distichum
		Potamogeton		Potamogeton		
		pectinatus		pectinatus		
Indicator species are s groups (data supplied	hown that occur in asso by the Agència Catalana	ociation with two or mc a de l'Aigua)	re vectors for the low	/ (relatively undisturbed	) and high (relativel	y disturbed) species

## 6 Multimetric Indexes

Macrophyte-based multimetric indexes (MMIs) have become common tools for use in the assessment of a range of aquatic ecosystems with specific MMIs developed for fresh- and saltwater marshes, coastal marshes associated with inland lakes, forested wetlands, and riparian zones [48, 51]. They are made up of a series of metrics describing different components or functional traits of the vegetation that together reflect overall wetland condition. MMIs have been widely used for (1) establishing baseline ecological condition, (2) assessing trends in condition over time, (3) diagnosing the stressors that lead to a decline in ecological status, and (4) providing early warning signs of a change in status. The selection of metrics that make up an MMI involves testing the responsiveness of potential metrics to human disturbance [26]. A great number of metrics have been developed, corresponding to the large number of MMIs in use. Metrics can be organized into a variety of major metric types, reflecting diversity, sensitivity to disturbance, structural characteristics, and other plant traits. A key question becomes which characteristics or attributes of the vegetation should be selected as metrics in an MMI for any specific application.

In a review of the structure of the most well-established MMIs, metrics were grouped into one of ten categories in order evaluate which have the most wide-spread applicability (judged by how frequently they appeared in the MMIs reviewed). Categories were similar to those described above, including abundance of invasive species (nonnative), sensitive species, annual/perennial/biennial, total taxa, tolerant species, floristic quality index metrics, native graminoid, hydrophyte, aquatic guild, and invasive graminoid metrics [51]. Table 5 lists the types of metrics according to how often they have been used, reflecting their robustness and sensitivity in a wide variety of locations and habitats. These metrics are among the most universal, supporting the underlying principle of macrophyte-based assessment that, while riparian and wetland habitats may differ in terms of the species that they support, the response of these plant-based metrics to anthropogenic disturbance is similar [4, 51, 52].

#### 7 Selecting an Assessment Approach

The choice of an assessment approach depends on how the data will be applied. Fully reaching the goals of the WFD or the CWA depends on the evaluation of the ecological status of aquatic sites. Here, we have discussed four approaches, and we conclude by providing a brief overview of the pros and cons of each for the purposes of ecological assessment.

FQAI – The use of the FQAI and its associated metrics (mean C) is complicated by the need for a regional flora with the coefficients of conservatism (C-values) for all species. This is not a small investment, requiring time and the expertise of

Rank	Metric category (number of times metric used/20 methods evaluated)	Comments
1	Invasive or nonnative species metrics (20/20)	• Used in all MMIs evaluated
2 and 3	Sensitive species metrics (18/20)	
	Annual/perennial/biennial metrics (18/20)	
4	Total taxa metrics (17/20)	• Include metrics related to total richness by plant zone
5 and 6	Tolerant species metrics (16/20)	• Include nutrient- and turbidity-tolerant
	Floristic quality assessment index (FQAI) metrics (16/20)	metrics • Include FQAI score, cover weighted FQAI, and mean C
7	Native graminoid metrics (13/20)	
8	Hydrophyte metrics (12/20)	• Include "wetness metric" (%similarity of wet value weighted for abundance)
9 and 10	Aquatic guild metrics (11/20)	• Aquatic guilds used in MMIs designed for
	Invasive graminoid metrics (11/20)	lakes and deeper water communities

**Table 5** Categories of plant metrics ranked according to how often they were used in a survey of 20 different assessment methods (the number of times each metric type was used is indicted)

Note that a higher rank does not necessarily indicate a more responsive metric [51]

botanists to compile and agree on the assignments. Once C-values have been determined however, the FQAI is relatively easy to use (provided the user has the appropriate botanical expertise), and it can be completed relatively quickly. Most importantly, it has been repeatedly shown to be highly sensitive to anthropogenic disturbance, which makes it an excellent candidate for assessment programs (although its ability to diagnose specific stressors is limited). It has been adopted by several states in the USA as a means to implement water quality standards under the CWA, either on its own or as part of an MMI, and several government agencies in the USA now use it for monitoring ecological condition, as does the federal USEPA. Unfortunately, C-values have not yet been developed for Catalonia or other areas of the Mediterranean basin; this is an investment that will have to be made in order to use this powerful index.

QBR – As a rapid assessment approach, the QBR has many advantages such as requiring less time in the field and less taxonomic expertise than more quantitative methods, which can lead to cost savings and potentially larger sample sizes. It is based on the assumption that the condition of stream corridors increases as their physical and biological structural complexity increases. Thus, the QBR is robust, as witnessed by the ease with which it has been transferred to other regions for use in assessment programs. As it is currently constructed, however, its use is limited to

riparian zones along streams and rivers and is not designed to assess wetlands, although modifications to the method might make this possible.

Indicator species analysis (IndVal) – Identifying indicator species is a powerful approach in assessing the response of plant species to specific stressor gradients. However, the analysis requires a large amount of data up front, both on the species composition of a relatively large number of sites and on the quantitative measures of potential stressors at each site (soil chemistry, water quality, etc.). The resources needed to perform these surveys can be prohibitive. However, once identified, indicator species are valuable for their ability to diagnose stressors that are the cause of decreased ecological status. In addition, IndVal results, along with threshold analysis, can be used to determine the minimum level at which human activities alter the ecosystems. Overall, the indicator species approach has not been fully tested in monitoring programs nor has it been adopted for use in the implementation of the WFD or CWA.

Multimetric indexes – MMIs are the most widely adopted approach in the ecological assessment of streams and rivers, wetlands, and lakes. Plant-based MMIs are perhaps less common than those developed for other biological assemblages (e.g., invertebrates, fish, diatoms), but there are a wealth of plant MMIs in use and a large number of metrics that have been developed and tested. These provide the foundation for the development of MMIs for new regions. The strength of this approach is that a range of plant traits can be assessed by different metrics, providing an integrated response of the community to human activities. An associated weakness is that while some combinations of metrics perform better than others, the underlying ecological explanation for this is not well understood. Ultimately this is a common and successful approach that has been widely adopted in the USA, with great promise for use in Catalonia. In the USA, scoring thresholds are typically developed for good, fair, and poor ecological status (to meet the requirements of the CWA); five ecological quality classes could easily be defined as per the WFD.

In sum, ecologically sound assessment methods are a critical component of ecological protection programs. The choice of assessment method depends on the region in which it will be used, the resources available, and the application of the data. The well-developed science behind macrophyte-based assessment will aid in reaching the goals of restoring and maintaining fully functional aquatic sites on our landscapes.

#### References

- 1. Cronk JK, Fennessy MS (2001) Wetland plants: biology and ecology. Lewis, Boca Raton
- 2. Karr JR (1991) Biological integrity: a long-neglected aspect of water resource management. Ecol Appl 1:66–84
- 3. Fennessy MS, Jacobs AD, Kentula ME (2007) An evaluation of rapid methods for assessing the ecological condition of wetlands. Wetlands 27:543–560

- Fennessy MS, Gernes M, Mack JJ, Wardrop DH (2002) Methods for evaluating wetland condition: using vegetation to assess environmental conditions in wetlands. EPA-822-R-02-020 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington, DC
- 5. Kattge J, Diaz J, Lavorel S et al (2011) TRY a global database of plant traits. Glob Chang Biol 17:2905–2935
- 6. Mitsch WJ, Gosselink J (2007) Wetlands, 4th edn. Wiley, Hoboken
- Munné A, Prat N, Sola C, Bonada N, Rieradevall M (2003) A simple field method for assessing the ecological quality of riparian habitat in rivers and streams: QBR index. Aquat Conserv 13:147–163
- Brinson MM (1993) A hydrogeomorphic classification for wetlands. Technical Report WRPDE4, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MS
- 9. Rheinhardt R, Brinson MM, Brooks R, McKenney-Easterling M et al (2007) Development of a reference-based method for identifying and scoring indicators of condition for coastal plain riparian reaches. Ecol Indic 7:339–361
- Wardrop DH, Kentula ME, Brooks R, Fennessy MS, Chamberlain S, Havens K, Hershner C (2013) Monitoring and assessment of wetlands: concepts, case-studies, and lessons learned. In: Brooks R, Wardrop DH (eds) Mid-Atlantic freshwater wetlands: advances in wetlands science, management, policy, and practice. Springer, New York, pp 381–420
- 11. European Commission (2003) Overall approach to the classification of the ecological status and ecological potential. Water framework directive guideline. common implementation strategy, Working Group 2A, Ecological Status (ECOSTAT), 27 November 2003, p 47
- Dallas HF (2013) Ecological status assessment in Mediterranean rivers: complexities and challenges in developing tools for assessing ecological status and defining reference conditions. Hydrobiologia 719:483–507
- Stoddard JL, Larsen DP, Hawkins CP, Johnson RK, Norris R (2006) Setting expectations for the ecological condition of streams: the concept of reference condition. Ecol Appl 16:1267–1276
- Wilhelm G, Ladd D (1988) Natural area assessment in the Chicago region. In: Transactions of the 53rd North American Wildlife & Natural Resources Conference, pp 361–375
- Andreas BK, Lichvar RW (1995) Floristic index for establishing assessment standards: a case study for northern Ohio. Technical Report WRP-DE-8, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MI
- Lopez R, Fennessy MS (2002) Testing the floristic quality assessment index as an indicator of wetland condition along gradients of human influence. Ecol Appl 12:487–497
- Medley L, Scozzafava M (2009) Moving toward a national floristic quality assessment: considerations for the EPA National Wetland Condition Assessment. Natl Wetlands Newslett 31:6–10
- Andreas BK, Mack JJ, McCormac JS (2004) Floristic quality assessment index (FQAI) for vascular plants and mosses for the state of Ohio. Ohio Environmental Protection Agency, Columbus
- 19. Miller SJ, Wardrop DH (2006) Adapting the floristic quality assessment index to indicate anthropogenic disturbance in central Pennsylvania wetlands. Ecol Indic 6:313–326
- 20. Fennessy MS, Elifritz B, Lopez R (1998) Testing the floristic quality assessment index as an indicator of riparian wetland disturbance. Ohio Environmental Protection Agency, Division of Surface Water, Wetlands Ecology Unit, Columbus, p 133
- 21. Keddy PA, Lee HT, Wisheu IC (1993) Choosing indicators of ecosystem integrity: wetlands as a model system. In: Ecological integrity and the management of ecosystems. Canadian Parks Service and the Heritage Resources Centre, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, pp 61–79
- 22. Ward E (2003) Evaluating indicators of ecological integrity in wetlands. Honors Thesis, Biology Department, Kenyon College, Gambier, p 45
- Brown MT, Vivas MB (2007) A landscape development intensity index. Environ Monit Assess 101:289–309

- 24. Wardrop DH, Fennessy MS, Moon JB, Britson AB (2013) Forecasting critical ecosystem services from measures of wetland condition at the watershed scale in freshwater wetlands of Pennsylvania and Ohio. Report to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, EPA-Star Grant R-834262-01
- 25. Mack JJ (2007) Integrated wetland assessment program. Part 9: field manual for the vegetation index of biotic integrity for wetlands. Ohio EPA Technical Report WET/2007-6. Ohio Environmental Protection Agency, Wetland Ecology Group, Division of Surface Water, Columbus
- 26. US Environmental Protection Agency. National wetland condition assessment 2011. Technical Report. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington, DC
- 27. Ward JV (1989) The four dimensional nature of lotic ecosystems. J North Am Benthol Soc 8:2–8
- Fennessy MS, Jacobs AD, Kentula ME (2004) Review of rapid methods for assessing wetland condition. EPA/620/R-04/009/ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC
- 29. Suárez ML, Vidal-Abarca MR, Sánchez-Montoya MM, Aalba-Tercedor J et al (2002) Las riberas de los ríos mediterráneos y su calidad: el uso del índice QBR. Limnetica 21:135–148
- 30. Acosta R, Ríos B, Rieradevall M, Prat M (2009) Propuesta de un protocolo de evaluación de la calidad ecológica de ríos andinos (CERA) y su aplicación a dos cuencas en Ecuador y Perú. Limnetica 28:35–64
- 31. Sirombra MG, Mesa LM (2012) A method for assessing the ecological quality of riparian forests in subtropical Andean streams: QBR index. Ecol Indic 20:324–331
- 32. Colwell SR, Hix D (2008) Adaptation of the QBR index for use in riparian forests of central Ohio. In: Proceedings of the 16th central hardwood forest conference. USDA Forest Service. GTR NRS-P-24, pp 331–340
- 33. Munné AL, Triapu C, Sola L, Oivella M et al (2012) Comparing chemical and ecological status in Catalan Rivers: analysis of river quality status following the water framework directive. In: Guasch H et al (eds) Emerging and priority pollutants in rivers: bringing science into river management plans, vol 19, The handbook of environmental chemistry. Springer-Verlag, Berlin/Heidelberg, pp 243–266
- 34. Bonada N, Prat N, Resh VH, Statzner B (2006) Developments in aquatic insect biomonitoring: a comparative analysis of recent approaches. Annu Rev Entomol 51:495–523
- 35. Kelly MG, Cazaubon A, Coring E, Dell'Uomo A et al (1998) Recommendations for the routine sampling of diatoms for water quality assessments in Europe. J Appl Phycol 10:215–224
- 36. Szoszkiewicz K, Ferreira T, Korte T, Baattrup-Pedersen A et al (2006) European river plant communities: the importance of organic pollution and the usefulness of existing macrophyte metrics. Hydrobiologia 566:211–234
- 37. Pont D, Hugueny B, Rogers C (2007) Development of a fish-based index for the assessment of river health in Europe: the European Fish Index. Fish Manag Ecol 14:427–439
- Urban N, Swihart R, Malloy M, Dunning J Jr (2012) Improving selection of indicator species when detection is imperfect. Ecol Indic 15:188–197
- 39. Dufrêne M, Legendre P (1997) Species assemblages and indicator species: the need for a flexible asymmetrical approach. Ecol Monogr 67:345–366
- De Cáceres M, Legendre P (2009) Associations between species and groups of sites: indices and statistical inference. Ecology 90:3566–3574
- 41. González E, Boudreau L, Hugron S, Poulin M (2013) Can indicator species predict restoration outcomes early in the monitoring process? A case study with peatlands. Ecol Indic 32:232–238
- 42. Anas M, Scott K, Wissel B (2013) Suitability of presence vs. absence indicator species to characterize stress gradients: lessons from zooplankton species of boreal lakes. Ecol Indic 30:90–99
- 43. Alba-Tercedor J, Jáimez-Cuéllar P, Álvarez M, Avilés J et al (2004) Caracterización del estado ecológico de los ríos mediterráneos ibéricos mediante el índice IBMWP (antes BMWP). Limnetica 21:175–185

- 44. Pardo I, Álvarez M, Casas J, Moreno JL et al (2004) El hábitat de los ríos mediterráneos. Diseño de un índice de diversidad de hábitat. Limnetica 21:115–133
- 45. CEMAGREF (1982) Étude des méthodes biologiques d'appréciation quantitative de la qualité des eaux. Rapport Division Qualité des Eaux Cemagref Lyon. Agence de l'Eau Rhône-Méditerranée-Corse, Lyon
- 46. Vieira C, Agular FC, Ferreira MT (2014) The relevance of bryophytes in the macrophytebased reference conditions in Portuguese rivers. Hydrobiologica 737:245–264
- 47. Guo ZH, Miao XF (2010) Growth changes and tissues anatomical characteristics of giant reed (Arundo donax L.) in soil contaminated with arsenic, cadmium and lead. J Central South Univ Technol 17:770–777
- Ferreira MT, Rodriguez-Gonzalez PM, Aguiar F, Albequerque A (2005) Assessing biotic integrity in Iberian rivers: development of a multimetric plant index. Ecol Indic 5:137–149
- 49. Hussner A (2010) NOBANIS invasive alien species fact sheet Azolla filiculoides. Online Database of the European Network on Invasive Alien Species – NOBANIS
- Garcia-Murill P, Fernandez-Zamudio R, Cirujano S, Sousa A, Espinar J (2007) The invasion of Doñana National Park by the mosquito fern Azolla filiculoides Lam. Limnetica 26:243–250
- Mack JJ, Kentula ME (2010) Metric similarity in vegetation-based wetland assessment methods. EPA-600-R-10-140. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, NHEERL Corvallis
- 52. Karr JR, Chu EW (1999) Restoring life in running waters: better biological monitoring. Island, Washington, DC

# Fish as Ecological Indicators in Mediterranean Streams: The Catalan Experience

Lluís Benejam, Marc Ordeix, Frederic Casals, Nuno Caiola, Adolf de Sostoa, Carolina Solà, and Antoni Munné

**Abstract** The Water Framework Directive includes fish fauna as one of the biological elements, jointly with aquatic flora and benthic invertebrates, to assess and monitor water and habitat quality. Successful implementation of the Directive depends in part on the development of reliable, science-based tools to directly assess biological conditions. Although fish have been used as ecological indicators for more than 30 years around the world, mainly in North America and more recently in Europe, few studies have been done in Mediterranean streams. Fish assemblages of the Mediterranean basin, similarly to other Mediterranean areas such as California, have particular characteristics that hamper IBI's development: few native species, poor knowledge of their ecological requirements, high number

L. Benejam (🖂)

e-mail: lluis.benejam@uvic.cat

M. Ordeix

Center for the Study of Mediterranean Rivers – Ter River Museum, Passeig del Ter, 2., 08560 Manlleu, Spain

F. Casals Department of Animal Production, University of Lleida, Avda. Rovira Roure 177, 25198 Lleida, Spain

N. Caiola IRTA Aquatic Ecosystems, Carretera Poble Nou Km 5.5, Sant Carles de la Ràpita, 43540 Catalonia, Spain

A. de Sostoa Department of Animal Biology (Vertebrates), University of Barcelona, Avda. Diagonal 645, 08028 Barcelona, Spain

C. Solà and A. Munné Catalan Water Agency (ACA), Provença 204-208, 08036 Barcelona, Spain

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 42: 101–124, DOI 10.1007/698\_2015\_345, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 11 June 2015

BETA Technology Centre, Aquatic Ecology Group, University of Vic – Central University of Catalonia, Vic, Spain

of endemisms with a wide range of tolerance to environmental variations and many exotic species. This chapter summarizes our experience in developing fish-based tools in Catalonia. We discuss the challenges and difficulties to develop these approaches in Mediterranean streams. We show the IBICAT2010 as a fish-based assessment method suitable for the evaluation of the ecological status of Catalan rivers. Moreover, we assess size-related variables as a bioassessment tool because population size structure can provide insights into species-specific applications and management. Finally, we analyse the longitudinal connectivity throughout Catalan rivers and fish passes by using the index of river connectivity (ICF) specially designed to Catalan rivers.

**Keywords** Biological indices, Ecological status, Freshwater fish, Human pressure, Monitoring program, River connectivity, Water Framework Directive

#### Contents

2 Challenges and Difficulties in Mediterranean Streams	103
3 Features of Fish in Catalonia	108
4 IBICAT 2010	111
5 Size-Related Variables as a Bioassessment Tool	112
6 Assessing Longitudinal Connectivity and Fish Passes	113
References	118

# 1 Fish as Ecological Indicators

Fish have some particular features and advantages as indicators of the health of freshwater ecosystems [1]. Fish continually inhabit the receiving water and integrate the chemical, physical and biological histories of the waters. Most fish species have long lifespans (about 2–10 years) and can both reflect long-term and current water quality. The sampling frequency needed for trend assessment is less than for short-lived organisms, and the taxonomy of fishes is well established, enabling professional biologists the ability to reduce laboratory time by identifying most specimens in the field. Fish have large ranges and are less affected by natural microhabitat differences than smaller organisms, making them extremely useful for assessing regional and macrohabitat differences. Moreover, fish are highly visible and valuable components of the aquatic community to the public, making communication easier.

It is widely known that exposure to environmental stressors (e.g. pollution or low oxygen) causes detrimental effects on important fish features such as metabolism, growth, resistance to diseases, reproductive potential and, ultimately, the health, condition and survival of fish [2–4]. Depending on the intensity and duration of stress exposure and species-specific features these negative effects may be

transferred from the individual to population or community levels [5]. The knowledge, for each species, of their functional attributes, range of tolerance and responses in front of different kinds of stress will permit to use freshwater fish as ecological indicators. The biological indicators complement the traditional physicochemical indicators, facilitating a better assessment and management of freshwater ecosystems.

Although the study of fish as ecological indicators started at the beginning of the twentieth century [1], it is not until the year 1981 that James Karr proposed [6] the first biological index based on fish, namely the Index of Biotic Integrity (IBI). James Karr defined biological integrity as "the ability to support and maintain a balanced, integrated, and adaptive community of organisms having a species composition, diversity and functional organization comparable to those of natural habitats within a region" [7]. Different factors (both biotic and abiotic) may affect this biotic integrity: chemical variables, flow regime, biotic factors, energy source and habitat structure (Fig. 1). The original IBI consists of 12 fish-assemblage attributes (called metrics) that reflect predominant anthropogenic effects on streams. Each metric describes a particular taxonomic, trophic, reproductive or tolerance feature of the assemblage. An IBI score represents comparisons between metric values at a sampling site and those expected under conditions least affected by anthropogenic disturbance.

The utilization of the fish as bioindicators has spread all over the planet, and the original version of the IBI has been modified in numerous ways for application in many different regions and habitat around the world [8–11]. These new versions maintain a multimetric structure but they incorporate different typologies, number of metrics and values. A European project (FAME: Fish-based Assessment Method for the Ecological Status of European Rivers) developed the European Fish Index (EFI), the first standardized fish-based assessment method applicable across a wide range of European streams [12, 13]. Because of several limitations observed in the performance of the index, a new version (EFI+) was developed [14]. Although many IBIs have been adapted for different European streams because they present a number of potential difficulties.

#### 2 Challenges and Difficulties in Mediterranean Streams

The fish assemblages of the Mediterranean basin, similarly to other Mediterranean areas such as California, have particular characteristics that hamper IBI's development: few native species, poor knowledge of their ecological requirements, high number of endemisms with a wide range of tolerance to environmental variations and many exotic species [17, 18]. The Index of Biotic Integrity mainly has been developed in areas with complex fish communities: many native species with different trophic levels. The IBIs characterize by having many metrics (normally around 12), independent among them (metrics with redundant information should



Fig. 1 The five principal factors, with some of their important chemical, physical and biological components that influence and determine the integrity of water resources. From [1]

be avoided) and of different levels of organization (individual, population, community, ecosystem and landscape) [8, 19]. In order to correctly detect different kinds of ecosystem alterations, Karr and Chu [19] emphasized that IBIs should have metrics for each organization level.

Developing enough metrics for IBIs is difficult in Mediterranean rivers due to low fish richness [20]. Miller et al. [8] suggested that although an IBI with less than 12 metrics may work, it may be less responsive to a broad spectrum of degradation. The low fish richness in the Mediterranean basin hinders the use of very common fish metrics such as: diversity of species, trophic specialization and reproductive strategies. This low richness is especially problematic in headwater sites, where often there are only one or two species and sometimes one is an introduced or translocated salmonid [17]. In a project in the Tordera River, in Catalonia, we studied this situation and recommend that this low richness could be compensated assessing metrics based on age or size structure, fish individual state or including other aquatic biota [21]. For instance, there are IBIs that combine fish metrics with benthic invertebrates [22] and both adults and tadpoles of amphibians [17]. With regard to individual health, although DELT anomalies (deformities, eroded fins, lesions and tumors) are incorporated in many IBIs [23], the presence of ectoparasites or fish condition is not included. Both metrics have been shown as a good bioindicator in different studies in Catalonia watersheds in cases with high contamination with heavy metals [24], anoxic situation [25] and alteration of natural flow regime [26]. These fish metrics could help to increase the number of metrics in Mediterranean IBIs, concretely at individual health level [19], because they have responded significantly in front of habitat degradation and poor quality of water.

Hydrological variability of Mediterranean-type regions profoundly determines the life forms and life cycles of aquatic organisms, as well as ecological processes [27, 28]. Fish fauna from these heterogeneous ecosystems must frequently survive under alternating scenarios of too much or too little water with a few intermediate but crucial periods of investment in recruitment and growth [20]. Under these conditions, fishes tend to have short life spans, rapid growth rates, high fecundity and early sexual maturity and spawning, as well as generalist and opportunistic feeding strategies [29, 30]. The native species of Mediterranean streams have a wide range of tolerance to environmental variations and are habitat and feeding generalists, well adapted to survive in changing environments [20, 31]. Many metrics of IBIs describe a particular trophic, reproductive or tolerance guilds of fish species. In Mediterranean streams, sometimes it is difficult to classify the species due to its wide range of tolerance and in many cases relatively little is known about the ecology of many fishes in Mediterranean areas [32, 33]. More basic studies of the ecological requirements of Mediterranean species are needed to fill this information gap. Long-term studies monitoring both fish assemblages and physicochemical parameters could be invaluable in this regard.

The introduced species are a serious environmental problem in Mediterranean freshwater ecosystems and a challenge to develop an IBI [34, 35]. Some authors suggest that exotic species should not be included in the absolute richness metrics of IBIs [36, 37] but could be a reliable indicator of poor river health [38]. Moreover, other authors indicate that although exotic species are a loss of biotic integrity they might provide a great deal of information about water and habitat quality [17]. This represents a conflict between using an IBI to measure diversity and abundance of native organisms and using an IBI to measure water and habitat quality. Exotic species have been incorporated in metrics of different IBIs applied in Mediterranean basins [20, 39, 40]. Although Ferreira et al. [41] included exotic species in the metric of absolute richness, in other works where this metric was present only native species were considered [20, 39]. While Sostoa et al. [39] and Magalhães et al. [40] suggest some metrics exclusively for native species are pooled in metrics of trophic and reproductive functions. Although to take the information about water and habitat quality that exotic species provide this could be a solution in front of the problem of low native species in Mediterranean basin. In our opinion valuing positively the abundance and richness of exotics fish is counterproductive. Nevertheless, in Catalonia that could constitute a problem since the number of native fish species currently sampled (Table 1) is similar to the exotic ones (Table 2). A total of 16 native species were sampled (2007–2008) in front of 16 exotic species.

Species	UICN categories
Petromyzon marinus <sup>a</sup>	VU
Acipenser sturio <sup>a</sup>	CR
Anguilla anguilla	VU
Alosa alosa <sup>a</sup>	VU
Alosa fallax <sup>a</sup>	VU
Atherina boyeri <sup>a</sup>	VU
Platichthys flesus <sup>a</sup>	LC
Syngnathus abaster <sup>a</sup>	LC
Salmo trutta	VU
Cottus hispaniolensis <sup>a</sup>	CR
Gasterosteus aculeatus	EN
Barbatula quignardi	VU
Cobitis calderoni <sup>a</sup>	VU
Cobitis paludica <sup>a</sup>	VU
Achondrostoma arcasii	VU
Barbus haasi	VU
Barbus meridionalis	VU
Gobio lozanoi	LC
Luciobarbus graellsii	NT
Parachondrostoma miegii	NT
Phoxinus bigerri	VU
Squalius laietanus	VU
Tinca tinca <sup>a</sup>	LC
Aphanius iberus <sup>a</sup>	EN
Valencia hispànica <sup>a</sup>	CR
Salaria fluviatilis	VU
Pomatoschistus microps	LC
Chelon labrosus <sup>a</sup>	LC
Liza ramada	LC
Mugil cephalus	LC

<sup>a</sup>Absent in the last sampling period carried out in Catalan rivers, 2007–2008. Taxonomy and status of species are assigned following [32]

Table 1List of native fishspecies in the Catalan riversand their IUCN Red Listcategories

Table 2         List of introduced           fish species in the Catalan	Species	Origin
rivers and their origin	Acipenser baerii <sup>a</sup>	Europe
inters and men origin	Oncorhynchus mykiss	North America
	Salvelinus fontinalis <sup>a</sup>	Europe
	Abramis brama <sup>a</sup>	Europe
	Abramis bjoerkna <sup>a</sup>	Europe
	Alburnus alburnus	Europe
	Carassius auratus	Asia
	Cyprinus carpio	Asia
	Pseudorasbora parva	Asia
	Rutilus rutilus	Europe
	Scardinius erythrophthalmus	Europe
	Misgurnus angillicaudatus	Asia
	Esox lucius	Europe
	Lepomis gibbosus	North America
	Micropterus salmoides	North America
	Perca fluviatilis	Europe
	Sander lucioperca	Europe
	Ameiurus melas	North America
	Ictalurus punctatus <sup>a</sup>	North America
	Silurus glanis	Europe
	Gambusia holbrooki	North America
	a	

<sup>a</sup>Absence in the last sampling period carried out in Catalan rivers, 2007–2008). Taxonomy and status of species are assigned following [32]

Finally, another difficulty to develop metrics and IBIs in the Mediterranean basin is the lack of reference areas to test the metrics. In order to know the ecological status the current condition has to be compared to the natural conditions (structure, composition, function, diversity) in the absence of human disturbance or alteration (reference condition) [42]. Chovarec et al. [43] suggest that "reference condition is the state that has existed before the human interferences, or at least without human influences that have altered significantly their natural characteristics". Owen et al. [44] consider that the "reference condition is when physicalchemical, hydromorphologic and biological values corresponding to the area without human alteration". The concept of reference condition is widely known and used. For example the EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency) in the United States [45], the "National River Health Program" in Australia [46], the "River Health Programme" in South Africa [47] and the "Water Frame Directive" in Europe use the concept of reference condition to assess the ecological status and to develop fish metrics and indices. The problem in many regions of the world, and especially in the Mediterranean basin, is that pristine sites are unavailable due to an intensive human activity during many centuries [48, 49]. Not only are undisturbed sites unlikely to exist but the rate of stream modification has been accelerating in recent decades [33]. While the "least disturbed" or "best available" sites are sometimes used as alternatives to reference sites [50], the WFD requires pristine or near pristine reference sites [51]. However, it is almost impossible to find Mediterranean stream reaches where native fish assemblages have not been altered. Especially in areas as river mouths it can be difficult to know the original biota composition and also the natural flow regime, because reservoirs and water abstraction have profoundly altered them. In these cases biologists have to use different methods to select the reference conditions. One of the methods is the "expert criterion", which is easy but requires an exhaustive validation [44]. In other cases, researchers may use predictable models and paleolimnology information or in some cases must rely on historical data, collected when human activity was low, to define reference condition [19, 52, 53].

One extreme case of the problem in reference conditions is the case of reservoirs. Due to their artificial nature natural reference conditions do not exist for reservoirs. For this reason different authors have adapted the original fish metrics of Karr et al. [36] and suggested to name it the RFAI (Reservoir Fish Assemblage Index) [54, 55]. In Catalonia, the fish assemblages of 14 reservoirs were sampled by boat electrofishing in the littoral and multi-mesh gillnets in the limnetic zone [56]. Most eutrophic reservoirs were dominated by common carp (Cyprinus carpio) whereas oligotrophic reservoirs presented other fish species intolerant to pollution rather native (such as brown trout, Salmo trutta). The absolute and relative abundance of common carp was strongly related to the trophic state of the reservoir and 40% of its variation was explained by total phosphorous concentration. Despite clear changes in species composition, there was no significant effect of water quality on overall fish richness or Shannon's diversity, suggesting that for such low richness assemblages species composition is a better indicator of cultural eutrophication of reservoirs than fish diversity. WFD considers reservoirs as artificial water bodies or heavily modified water body, therefore in these cases the aim is to obtain a good ecological potential before 2015. In the WFD the good ecological potential of one artificial water body is defined as the nearest values to the most similar natural water body.

## **3** Features of Fish in Catalonia

Mediterranean streams have flow patterns strongly seasonal: low flow in the hot summer drought and flash floods during autumn and spring storms [27]. During the summer, some parts of the stream can remain reduced as a series of pools. Interannual variability in precipitation is high while lengthy periods of drought are common [27]. This hydrological variability of Mediterranean-type regions profoundly determines the life forms and life cycles of aquatic organisms, as well as ecological processes [20]. Besides these natural factors, the water resources of

the Mediterranean basin suffer a high human pressure because it is a highly populated area with urban and industrial growths, especially in the last 50 years [57–59]. Apart from the direct pressure on the water resources, Catalan rivers, and other rivers in the Mediterranean basin, also suffer from alterations in natural hydromorphology and riparian vegetation [60, 61]. Although the pollution from industrial and urban waste has in general decreased thanks to entry in operation of many treatment plants [62], there is an increase in the number of contaminants of emerging concern, particularly from pharmaceuticals, personal care products and perfluorinated compounds among others [63].

In Catalonia, with the exception of the Ebro, rivers have a basin area of intermediate dimensions (from 312 km<sup>2</sup> of Foix to 4,948 km<sup>2</sup> of Llobregat) and average streamflows that oscillate between 1.5 m<sup>3</sup>/s of Francolí and 20 m<sup>3</sup>/s of Llobregat. Most rivers are strongly regulated in middle and lower reaches but even in upper parts. In Catalonia there exist more than 20 big dams and nearly 8,000 of big obstacles according to the database of the Catalan Water Agency. Current information of fish populations in Catalonia comes from two periods of sampling programme (2002 and 2007–2008) to develop some fish based IBI during the implementation of the WFD [39, 64]. For the historical data we are based on many published and unpublished records of other authors and ourselves. At present, the icthiofauna of Catalonia is formed by a total of 51 species of which 30 are native (14 of them endemic for the Iberian Peninsula) and 21 are non-native or exotic (Tables 1 and 2). Many of native species are migratory: four anadromous, one catadromous and seven amphidromous. Fourteen of the native species are absent during last sampling period (2007–2008) [64] due to different situations. Sampling was made on riverine water bodies, but not in transitional or coastal waters, which means that the four amphidromous species less tolerant to freshwater were not present. The absence of A. iberus and V. hispanica may be explained by the same reason because both species live in freshwater and brackish littoral lagoons. But the absence of the other eight native species is related to the high number of threatened for freshwater fish commonly found in Mediterranean basins [18].

There is a threat of extinction for most part of the native fish species of the Catalan rivers, and two of them (*A. sturio* and *P. marinus*) are locally extinct. Other species are closer to local extinctions, for example *C. paludica*, and some others have patchy distributions, *G. aculeatus* or *S. fluviatilis*, which present fragmented populations with smaller distribution areas than historical ones. According to the evolution of their distribution, we can compare the number of basins with the presence of native species (Table 3). Just for one species (*B. haasi*) the number of basins with presence shows no changes comparing to their historical range. Many others are present in a smaller number of basins. *G. aculeatus* is of particular concern for their extremely reduced distribution and *S. laietanus* due to their long-term decline. A particular case for native species is the group of species which are increasing the presence on more basins as a consequence to translocate to others basins for sport fishing purpose (*B. barbatula*, *G. lozanoi*, *L. graellsii*, *P. miegii* and *P. bigerri*).

	Number of basins	Number of basins	Number of basins
	(historical)	(2002–2003)	(2007–2008)
Native species			
Anguilla anguilla	14	8	10
Barbatula barbatula	1	2	2
Barbus haasi	7	7	7
Barbus meridionalis	7	6	6
Gasterosteus aculeatus	5	3	2
Gobio lozanoi	1	4	4
Luciobarbus graellsii	1	4	5
Parachondrostoma miegii	2	4	5
Phoxinus bigerri	2	6	6
Salaria fluviatilis	4	2	3
Squalius laietanus	11	9	7
Salmo trutta	3	10	8
Exotic species			
Misgurnus anguillicaudatus	0	0	2
Alburnus alburnus	0	4	6
Ameiurus melas	0	1	2
Carassius auratus	0	3	4
Cyprinus carpio	0	8	10
Esox lucius	0	1	1
Gambusia holbrooki	0	5	5
Lepomis gibbosus	0	6	6
Micropterus salmoides	0	2	2
Oncorhynchus mykiss	0	5	3
Pseudorasbora parva	0	1	2
Rutilus rutilus	0	1	5
Sander lucioperca	0	1	1
Scardinius erythrophthalmus	0	3	4
Silurus glanis	0	1	2

**Table 3** Evolution of fish distribution by basins according to the historical presence, for theperiod 2002–2003 [39] and for the period 2007–2008 [64]

Related to exotic species (Table 2), Catalan rivers are a hot spot and the main origin and introduction route to the Iberian Peninsula [34, 65]. Some of the previously detected species are not established (e.g. *A. baerii* or *I. punctatus*) but there are new additions to the exotic fishes like *M. anguillicaudatus* [66]. More than 50% of the exotic species have increased their distribution with respect to the previous period like *R. rutilus* (present in four more basins) or *A. alburnus* (present in two more basins). Some other species maintain their presence in the previously detected basins (*E. lucius, G. holbrooki, M. salmoides* or *S. lucioperca*). All exotic fishes are more related to lotic conditions present in reservoirs of Catalan rivers

[56]. Most of the species collected in Catalan reservoirs are exotics (11 species), from which *C. carpio* and *R. rutilus* are the most abundant in the lowest altitude reservoirs [56]. Fish introductions are still growing with new species on the list and in expansion for the naturalized exotics. For that reason, many river stretches are far away from the biotic integrity (just about one third of sampled localities) and many others are dry without fish live (another third of the sampled localities) [39, 64]. On the other hand, some improvements, mainly in water quality, imply an increase of native fish density. The recovery of the population of *A. fallax* in the Ebro river during last years could confirm this idea [67].

#### 4 IBICAT 2010

The IBICAT<sub>2010</sub> is a fish-based assessment method suitable for the evaluation of the ecological status of Catalan rivers [64]. It is an improved version of the IBICAT [39]. The IBICAT<sub>2010</sub> is a type-specific method that is based on eight environmental variables (altitude, slope, Strahler river order, mean annual air temperature, mean July air temperature, mean annual rainfall, mean July rainfall, distance to river mouth) that were selected as the best descriptors of a river classification based on the historical fish distribution. A discriminant analysis classification was used for the classification of each site. The overall misclassification rate was 0.16. A total of six river types were defined: type 1 - coastal streams; type 2 - humid mountain; type 3 – main courses; type 4 – Mediterranean lowland; type 5 – high mountain; type 6 – main courses of large rivers. Metrics describing the composition, abundance, functional traits, age structure and health condition of the fish fauna were first screened through a Pearson correlation analysis between each metrics and a synthetic pressure index based on water quality, hydromorphological alteration and habitat quality variables. Non-significant correlations were not allowed. Then, to evaluate the response of the candidate metrics to pressures a graphical analysis (boxplots) supported by statistical tests (ANOVA) was performed. Finally, redundant metrics were removed based on Spearman correlations: metrics pairs with  $\rho \ge 0.9$  were not allowed. The whole screening process was performed for each river type. A total of 17 metrics were selected: density of alien species, density of native marine migratory fish, density of native piscivorous, density of intolerant species with less than 15 cm total length, density of invertivorous, density of omnivorous, density of rheophilics, number of alien tolerant species, number of native intolerant species, number of lithophilic native species, percentage biomass of native benthic, percentage individuals with injuries/deformities/parasites, percentage of intolerant species, percentage of omnivorous species, percentage of introduced invertivorous species, percentage of native lithophilic species and percentage of native tolerant species.

The  $IBICAT_{2010}$  is computed with a specific metric subset per river type using the formula:

$$IBICAT_{2010} = -\sum \left(Mt \times R\right) + K,$$

where Mt is the value of the metric, R is the correlation coefficient between the metric and the global pressure and K is the constant of the river type that allows a minimum IBICAT<sub>2010</sub> value that is not negative but near zero.

Finally the  $IBICAT_{2010}$  value is categorized into five quality classes, as defined in the EU WFD. The scoring criteria used to define the classes followed the procedure proposed by the European working group REFCOND [68].

## 5 Size-Related Variables as a Bioassessment Tool

As we discussed in second section of this chapter, the difficulties to develop enough fish metrics in IBIs on Mediterranean streams could be compensated by assessing metrics based on age or size structure. In particular, body size is a key property of organisms and arguably the most important trait affecting the ecological performance of individuals [69]. The implications of body size on growth, mortality and trophic interactions highlight the importance of size structure for population and community functioning [70–72]. Population and community size structure is considered a good health indicator because it has the potential to inform on whether disturbance is affecting the population and, moreover, it can help to identify the complex effects of biotic and abiotic influences [36, 73]. At least two studies have been developed in Catalonia focusing on size structure as a bioassessment tool in Mediterranean streams [26, 74].

Murphy et al. [74] focused their assessments of population size structure responses to anthropogenic perturbation on chub (*Squalius laietanus*), one of the most widespread native stream fish in Mediterranean basin. They studied the anthropogenic perturbation on 311 sites across Catalonia, including local data on stream condition and landscape indicators of degradation, via principal component analysis. Anthropogenic perturbation in streams was collinear with altitudinal gradients and highlights the importance of appropriate statistical techniques. Of the population size structure metrics explored, average length was the most sensitive to anthropogenic perturbation and generally increased along the disturbance gradient. Changes in variance, kurtosis and skewness were weak. The unexpected increases of mean *S. laietanus* body size with anthropogenic perturbation, strong effects of river basin, collinearity with spatial gradients and the species-specific nature of responses preclude the direct application of size structure in freshwater bioassessments.

Also significant results on size structure were found in a study of ecological impacts of small hydropower plants on headwater stream fish [26]. They studied the effects of water diversion of 16 small hydropower plants on fish assemblages and habitat features in the upper Ter river basin, which has headwater reaches with good water quality and no large dams but many of such plants. In the control reaches they

detected higher average fork length and total weight, higher fish abundance and better fish condition than in impacted reaches, although the results were species-specific. Accordingly, species composition was also affected, with lower relative abundance of brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) and Pyrenean minnow (*Phoxinus bigerri*) in the impacted reaches and higher presence of stone loach (*Barbatula quignardi*) and Mediterranean barbel (*Barbus meridionalis*). Brown trout was the only fish species that has its size-related variables changed significantly.

Although the application of size-related variables in fish-based freshwater bioassessments appears difficult, population size structure can provide insights into species-specific applications and management.

## 6 Assessing Longitudinal Connectivity and Fish Passes

Currently, most fish can no longer migrate to complete their life cycle in Catalonia, Europe and most of the world because their natural habitats were modified by human activity. River obstacles cause direct effects on population biology, such as local extinctions due to a lack of dispersion and recolonization, genetic isolation, non-accessibility to spawning or feeding areas, refuges from predators and shelter areas or sites for harmful environmental conditions – i.e. pollution, big floods, drougths or other human disturbances and natural disasters [75]. Migrating fish upstream of reservoirs and large rivers are also an important contribution of food for other species, such as otter [76]. Existence of rivers with poor connectivity is considered one of the major causes of declines in many continental fish species in Iberian Peninsula [32, 77], Europe [78–80] and worldwide [81].

Transverse obstacles in river beds cause serious ecological consequences because they block the natural flow of water, sediments and biota. In Mediterranean regions, water abstraction may change a perennial stream to an intermittent one, increasing the duration and magnitude of droughts and limiting the stream's ability to support aquatic biota.

Restoration of fish migration should pay proper attention to dam and weir removal, which is the most environmental positive solution at medium and long term [81]; a total restoration of river longitudinal connectivity is only possible by demolishing obstacles [82]. If the obstacle cultural value or its current use (hydropower, irrigation, etc.) does not allow their removal, the promotion of close-to-nature fish passes, such as lateral channels and fish ramps, which provide optimum conditions for a wider range of species, individuals and flows [83], should be carried out. Rehabilitation measures should ensure the re-establishment of at least a good ecological status of rivers according to the European Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC). This rehabilitation should include effective fish passages, but also habitat recovery and connection with well-preserved source areas [82]. Similarly, implementation of environmental flow regimes is urgently needed because without this, other measures could be useless.

Reestablishment of river connectivity became a legal requirement under the Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC) and the European Plan for Eel Recovery (Regulation 1100/2007). It also is extremely important for the conservation of endangered freshwater species included in the Habitats Directive (92/43/CEE). However, the capacity of native fish fauna to use fish passes and their natural patterns of movement are still poorly understood [83]. Moreover, fish pass assessments could provide important knowledge regarding fish movement patterns [75, 84].

The presence of 886 big obstacles (according to the Catalan Water Agency database), mostly small weirs and some dams, seriously affects migratory fish species into the Catalan rivers. Migration routes of fish, some of which Iberian endemisms, were damaged. Large migratory fish, as European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*), are not present upstream of the dams in Catalonia. Twaite shad (*Alosa fallax*), European sturgeon (*Acipenser sturio*) –which is locally extinct – and sea lamprey (*Petromizon marinus*) populations are similarly affected [32, 39], while other non-diadromous fish have also had their migration routes negatively impacted and are consequently now endangered. Moreover, transforming rivers into a series of ponds especially benefits foreign fish [85].

During the period 2006–2010, a study of fish pass facilities in Catalonia was carried out through direct inspection of 93 detected fish ways present in 10.6% of the total obstacles [86] (Fig. 2). Especially retro-fitted solutions using broad-spectrum technical structures, mainly pool fishway or pool pass facilities, were located. Most of them were mainly in the Pyrenees to improve trout fisheries.

The existing solutions in Catalonia to improve fish migration have been in some cases insufficient, and where they do exist, fish passes can be poorly maintained, or insufficient, for all of the native fish fauna from each water body. Less than one-half (36% of total) of fish passes are currently reliable for all native fish in Catalan rivers. With some exceptions, fish passage rates were quite low; only those species with great ability to overcome obstacles – such as salmonid – or larger individuals of other fish groups were able to migrate [86]. Currently, there are few examples in Catalonia of weir removal and close-to-nature fish passes (Table 4).

This situation was quite equivalent, for example, in Australia in 1985, when it only had 44 fish passage devices for the thousand obstacles present throughout the country, most of which were poorly maintained and generalized unable to practice all native fish species [89]. The same happened in other European countries, such as France [90], the UK [91] and the Netherlands [92] until the 1990s.

To compare the stream flow and the fish assemblage in different basins, a team of Girona University [93] selected gauging stations in middle reach, downstream of reservoirs; they also estimated the "naturalized flow" (i.e. the flow expected if there was no direct human influence on the watercourse, e.g. from water abstraction) using the Sacramento Soil Moisture Accounting (SAC-SMA) model, a flexible, well-known model initially developed by Burnash et al. [96] and widely used by the US National Weather Service and also the Catalan Water Agency. The SAC-SMA model is a concept-based rainfall-runoff model, with areal precipitation and potential evapotranspiration as inputs. The assessment of hydrological alterations,



Fig. 2 Fish passes from Catalonia in 2010 [86] and results of the index of river connectivity (ICF index) [87] of each

following the Kappa index, among others, also has been done by members of the Lleida University [94].

Fish pass effectiveness was almost assessed in Catalonia following useful previous criteria for Mediterranean rivers [77, 86, 88]: (1) general data collection, using rapid assessment techniques, including the calculation of the ICF index (River Connectivity Index) [87], to evaluate the theoretical degree of impediment for fish passage; (2) indirect estimation techniques, using trapping fishing systems and/or electric fishing systems (CEN standard norm *UNE-EN 14011:2003*) to compare fish population structure between river sections [79, 84, 95]; mark-recapture methods and individual mark-recapture methods, using Passive Induction Transmitters (PIT tags) at many sites; and (3) direct estimation techniques, installing fish traps at the water intake of the fish pass to compare fish population structure and fish crossing rates with potentially migrating downstream fish

Solutions		Number
Restoration solutions	Total obstacle removal	1
	Partial obstacle removal	15
Close-to-nature solutions	Fish ramps	7
Broad-spectrum technical solutions	Pool fish passes	34
	Pool fish passes without drops	3
	Slot passes or vertical slot fishways	9
	Deflectors	8
	Denil or baffle fish passes	2
Mechanical or specific technical solutions	Eel ladders	6
	Siphons and fish pumps	2
Other solutions not considered effective	Smooth ramps	6

**Table 4** Existing connectivity solutions and typologies of fish passes in the rivers of Cataloniain 2010

Adapted from [88]

population, obtained using electric fishing systems, complemented by daily collection of hydrological and environmental data, mainly using fish crossing rates and deviations of size frequencies [75, 84]. In some places, despite being limited by water turbidity and the presence of a large number of migrating fish, visual counts [83, 95] have been done as well.

The index of river connectivity (ICF, from the Catalan name *Index de Connectivitat Fluvial*) [87], designed and improved by members of the Catalan Water Agency in collaboration with the Center for the Study of Mediterranean Rivers – Ter River Museum (CERM), evaluates the theoretical degree of impediment for fish passage and is based on comparison between physical characteristics of the obstacle, the fish pass (if any) and the swimming and/or jumping skills to overcome the obstacle of the potentially native fish fauna present in an evaluated river section. The ICF is divided into three blocks that encompass assessment of the obstacle and the fish pass as well as the estimation of certain modulators. Finally, the ICF classifies connectivity into five levels from very good to bad depending on the degree of permeability for different fish groups, discriminating among infrastructures based on the chance they can be crossed by all species, only by some species, or by no species.

The ICF was tested for 101 transverse obstacles in rivers of Catalonia, obtaining representation of the five expected quality levels (from very good to bad, Table 5), and it is considered coherent with the real permeability of the obstacles. Its ease of application compared to in situ measurements of fish movements and the detailed information recorded by the index make it a very useful tool for the diagnosis of the longitudinal connectivity of rivers and for guiding measures for hydromorphological quality improvement. In addition, due to the variety of species and hydrological regimes addressed and solutions used to date, it is essential to complement this quick assessment technique with the determination of the in situ fish pass effectiveness of any new solution implemented.

	With pass solution (%)	Without pass solution (%)	Total (%)
Very good	17 (21)	0 (0)	17 (17)
Good	12 (15)	6 (29)	18 (18)
Moderate	15 (19)	0 (0)	15 (15)
Poor	11 (14)	7 (33)	18 (18)
Bad	25 (31)	8 (38)	33 (32)
Total	80	21	101

 Table 5
 Quality classification of connectivity for obstacles with and without fish pass solutions adapted from [87]

Advancing the understanding of fish movement patterns will require regularly the monitoring of the efficiency of the principal fish migration solutions. For fish ways situated in key locations, for example, in the lower parts of rivers, because of their importance for amphidromous, anadromous and catadromous fish species, it would be appropriate to adapt fish pass structures to enable the installation of large permanent fish traps, as has been performed in many European countries, especially those that have important salmon or eel fisheries, or automatic fish counting devices (e.g. based on electric resistivity, infrared light and/or video camera system).

In many Catalan rivers, four fish metrics (catch per unit effort, number of benthic species, number of intolerant species and proportion of intolerant individuals) distinguished between sites impacted and unimpacted by water abstraction [93]. These four significant fish metrics, and probably others (number of insectivore species, number of native species, number of families), may be used to assess rivers suspected to have problems with abstraction. Some of these fish metrics are already used in existing European IBIs. In particular, low collective values of these fish metrics may warn of substantial hydrologic alteration [93].

Otherwise, the concordance between indexes of hydrological alteration and the IBICAT2010 index [64] which assess the ichthyofauna analysing the obtained results using the Kappa index in the rivers of Catalonia [94] is low. The indexes of hydrological alteration do not serve to assess hydrological impacts on fish community as they apply a much longer time scale and may not reflect specific changes in specific months or years. However, there is a slight relationship between these two indexes for dry years: dry years have major hydrologic alteration of the water bodies and a greater relationship with the number of present fish [94].

Regarding the existent fish passes in Catalonia until 2010 [86], all of them being broad-spectrum technical structures, their assessment indicates that brown trout (*Salmo trutta*), which exhibit a high capacity to overcome obstacles by swimming and/or jumping [90, 91], seem to be able to migrate upstream using the different types of fish passes present. However, these results show that if fish pass waterfalls are higher than 0.2 m and/or fish pass water velocity is higher than 2 m/s, only the largest individuals of species with a moderate capacity to overcome obstacles, including Mediterranean mullets (*Liza ramada, Mugil cephalus* and *Chelon labrosus*) and some cyprinid species, such as Ebro barbel (*Luciobarbus graellsii*; FL >55 mm), Western Mediterranean barbel (*Barbus meridionalis*; FL >0.13 m),

Iberian redfin barbel (*Barbus haasi*) and Ebro chub (*Squalius laietanus*), are able to cross upstream. Moreover, if a fish pass waterfall is a maximum height of 0.1 m and/or a water velocity of less than 0.5 m/s, the results show that most species and individuals can use the fish pass, including small species with a low capacity to overcome obstacles, such as Pyrenean gudgeon (*Gobio lozanoi*), Pyrenean minnow (*Phoxinus bigerri*), European eel (*A. anguilla*) and youngs-of-the-year of other species including brown trout (*S. trutta*), Ebro barbel (*L. graellsii*) and Western Mediterranean barbel (*B. meridionalis*; FL<0.09 m). Finally, important movements of fish are mostly associated with particular spawning periods and/or periods just after high or moderate peak flows, as has been indicated in many other studies [75, 83, 90]. This finding also supports the idea that fish pass evaluation should be performed, at least, at times of maximum activity of different fish species, i.e. early spring for mullet species, spring for cyprinids and autumn for salmonids.

Close-to-nature fish passage assessment is almost pendent in Catalan rivers. However, information is already available, and positive, from two fish ramps. The fish ramp of the Teula's weir of the Ter River at Manlleu was evaluated in May 2012 and May 2014. With an ICF index [87] of 85 and the fish species size frequencies downstream and upstream being similar, it supposes a small barrier effect and a good fish pass effectiveness. The associated fish ramp at the gauging station of the Fluvià River at Olot (EA013) has been assessed between spring and autumn 2013. With a score of 95 of the ICF index, it allows the passage of all native fish species from this river. However, complementary actions at entire watershed scale are required to improve river connectivity in both cases, especially to recover European eel (*A. anguilla*) from sea to source, as happens in most Catalan river basins.

Acknowledgements We gratefully thank everybody who helped in the fieldwork. These studies were funded by the Catalan Water Agency. Additional financial support was provided by the Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness (projects CGL2009-12877-C02-01, CSD2009-00065), the Sant Celoni town council ("Observatori de la Tordera" project, led by Dr. M. Boada), the Obra social of UNNIM savings bank (2012) and the funds for conservation of the Spanish Fundación Biodiversidad ("Riberes del Ter" project, 2013).

# References

- 1. Simon TP (1999) Assessing the sustainability and biological integrity of water resources using fish communities. CRC, Boca Raton, 672 pp
- 2. Rice CD (2001) Fish immunotoxicology. In: Schlenk D, Benson W (eds) Target organ toxicity in marine and freshwater teleosts. CRC, Oxford, UK, 382 pp
- Barton BA, Morgan JD, Vijayan MM (2002) Physiological condition-related indicators of environmental stress in fish. In: Adams SM (ed) Biological indicators of aquatic ecosystem stress. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, 656 pp
- Toft G, Baatrup E, Guillette LJ (2004) Altered social behavior and sexual characteristics in mosquito fish (*Gambusia holbrooki*) living downstream of a paper mill. Aquat Toxicol 70 (3):213–222

- Adams SM, Greeley MS (2000) Ecotoxicological indicators of water quality: using multiresponse indicators to assess the health of aquatic ecosystems. Water Air Soil Pollut 123 (1):103–115
- 6. Karr JR (1981) Assessment of biotic integrity using fish communities. Fisheries 6:21-27
- 7. Karr JR, Dudley DR (1981) Ecological perspective on water-quality goals. Environ Manag 5:55–68
- Miller DL, Leonard PM, Hughes RM, Karr JR, Moyle PB, Schrader LH, Thompson BA, Daniels RA, Fausch KD, FitzHugh GA, Gammon JR, Halliwell DB, Angermeier PL, Orth DJ (1988) Regional applications of an index of biotic integrity for use in water resource management. Fisheries 13:12–20
- Angermeier PL, Smogor RA, Stauffer JR (2000) Regional frameworks and candidate metrics for assessing biotic integrity in mid-Atlantic highland streams. Trans Am Fish Soc 129:962–981
- Bozzetti M, Schulz U (2004) An index of biotic integrity based on fish assemblages for subtropical streams in southern Brazil. Hydrobiologia 529:133–144
- 11. Pei X, Niu C, Gao X, Xu C (2010) The ecological health assessment of Liao River Basin, China, based on biotic integrity index of fish. Acta Ecol Sin 30(21):5736–5746
- Pont D, Hugueny B, Beier U, Goffaux D, Melcher A, Noble R, Rogers C, Roset N, Schmutz S (2006) Assessing river biotic condition at a continental scale: a European approach using functional metrics and fish assemblages. J Appl Ecol 43:70–80
- Pont D, Hugueny B, Rogers C (2007) Development of a fish-based index for the assessment of river health in Europe: the European Fish Index. Fish Manag Ecol 14:427–439
- 14. EFI+ CONSORTIUM (2009) Manual for the application of the new European Fish Index EFI+. A fish-based method to assess the ecological status of European running waters in support of the Water Framework Directive. June 2009
- Oberdorff T, Pont D, Hugueny B, Porcher JP (2002) Development and validation of a fishbased index for the assessment of 'river health' in France. Freshw Biol 47:1720–1734
- Hermoso V, Clavero M, Blanco-Garrido F, Prenda J (2010) Assessing the ecological status in species poor systems: a fish based index for Mediterranean Rivers (Guadiana River, SW Spain). Ecol Indic 10:1152–1161
- 17. Moyle PB, Marchetti MP (1999) Applications of indices of biotic integrity to California streams and watersheds. In: Simon TP (ed) Assessing the sustainability and biological integrity of water resources using fish communities. CRC, Boca Raton, 672 pp
- Smith KG, Darwall WRT (2006) The status and distribution of freshwater fish endemic to the Mediterranean Basin. Gland, The World Conservation Union (IUCN), Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, UK, 44 pp
- 19. Karr JR, Chu EW (1999) Restoring life in running waters: better biological monitoring. Island Press, Washington DC, 220 pp
- 20. Ferreira T, Oliveira J, Caiola N, de Sostoa A, Casals F, Cortes R, Economou A, Zogaris S, Garcia-Jalon D, Ilheu M, Martinez-Capel F, Pont D, Rogers C, Prenda J (2007) Ecological traits of fish assemblages from Mediterranean Europe and their responses to human disturbance. Fish Manag Ecol 14:473–481
- Benejam L, Aparicio E, Vargas MJ, Vila-Gispert A, García-Berthou E (2008) Assessing fish metrics and biotic indices in a Mediterranean stream: effects of uncertain native status of fish. Hydrobiologia 603:197–210
- Kerans BL, Karr JR (1994) A benthic index of biotic integrity (IBI) for rivers of the Tennessee valley. Ecol Appl 4:768–785
- 23. Sanders RE, Miltner RJ, Yoder CO, Rankin ET (1999) The use of external deformities, erosion, lesions, and tumors (DELT anomalies) in fish assemblages for characterizing aquatic resources: a case study of seven Ohio streams. In: Simon TP (ed) Assessing the sustainability and biological integrity of water resources using fish communities. CRC, Boca Raton, 672 pp
- 24. Benejam L, Benito J, García-Berthou E (2010) Decrease of condition and fecundity of freshwater fish in a highly polluted reservoir. Water Air Soil Pollut 210:231–242

- Benejam L, Benito J, Ordóñez J, Armengol J, García-Berthou E (2008) Short-term effects of a partial drawdown on fish condition in a eutrophic reservoir. Water Air Soil Pollut 190:3–10
- 26. Benejam L, Saura-Mas S, Bardina M, Solà C, Munné A, García-Berthou E (2014) Ecological impacts of small hydropower plants on headwater stream fish: from individual to community effects. Ecol Freshw Fish. doi:10.1111/eff.12210
- 27. Gasith A, Resh VH (1999) Streams in Mediterranean climate regions: abiotic influences and biotic responses to predictable seasonal events. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 30:51–81
- Boix D, García-Berthou E, Gascón S, Benejam L, Tornés E, Sala J, Benito J, Munné A, Solà C, Sabater S (2010) Response of community structure to sustained drought in Mediterranean rivers. J Hydrol 383:135–146
- 29. Granado-Lorencio C (1996) Ecología de Peces. Secretariado de Publicaciones de la Universidad de Sevilla, Sevilla, 294 pp
- 30. Vila-Gispert A, Moreno-Amich R (2002) Life-history patterns of 25 species from European freshwater fish communities. Enviorn Biol Fishes 65:387–400
- Magalhães MF, Batalha DC, Collares-Pereira MJ (2002) Gradients in stream fish assemblages across a Mediterranean landscape: contributions of environmental factors and spatial structure. Freshw Biol 47:1015–1031
- Doadrio I (ed) (2001) Atlas y libro rojo de los peces continentales de España. Ministerio de Medio Ambiente, Madrid, 364 pp
- 33. Aparicio E, Carmona-Catot G, Moyle PB, García-Berthou E (2011) Development and evaluation of a fish-based index to assess biological integrity of Mediterranean streams. Aquat Conserv Mar Freshwat Ecosyst 21:324–337
- 34. Clavero M, Garcia-Berthou E (2006) Homogenization dynamics and introduction routes of invasive freshwater fish in the Iberian Peninsula. Ecol Appl 16:2313–2324
- 35. García-Berthou E (2007) The characteristics of invasive fishes: what has been learned so far? J Fish Biol 71:33–55
- 36. Karr JR, Fausch KD, Angermeier PL, Yant PR, Schlosser IJ (1986) Assessing biological integrity in running waters: a method and its rationale. Champaign, Illinois Natural History Survey, Champaigne, IL, Special Publication 5, 28 pp. http://www.limnoreferences.missouristate.edu/ assets/limnoreferences/Karr\_et\_al.\_1986.pdf
- 37. Scott MC, Helfman GS (2001) Native invasions, homogenization, and the mismeasure of integrity of fish assemblages. Fisheries 26:6–15
- Kennard MJ, Arthington AH, Pusey BJ, Harch BD (2005) Are alien fish a reliable indicator of river health? Freshw Biol 50:174–193
- 39. de Sostoa A, Caiola N, Vinyoles D, Sánchez S, Franch C, Casals F, Godé L, Munné A (2003) Development of a biotic integrity index (IBICAT) based on the use of fish as indicators of the environmental quality of the rivers of Catalonia. Agència Catalana de l'Aigua. Departament de Medi Ambient i Habitatge de la Generalitat de Catalunya, Barcelona, 207 pp
- 40. Magalhaes MF, Ramalho CE, Collares-Pereira MJ (2008) Assessing biotic integrity in a Mediterranean watershed: development and evaluation of a fish-based index. Fish Manag Ecol 15:273–289
- 41. Ferreira T, Oliveira J, Caiola N, de Sostoa A, Casals F, Cortes R, Economou A, Zogaris S, Garcia-Jalon D, Ilheu M, Martinez-Capel F, Pont D, Rogers C, Prenda J (2007) Ecological traits of fish assemblages from Mediterranean Europe and their responses to human disturbance. Fish Manag Ecol 14:473–481
- 42. Stoddard JL, Larsen DP, Hawkins CP, Johnson RK, Norris RH (2006) Setting expectations for the ecological condition of streams: the concept of reference condition. Ecol Appl 16:1267–1276
- 43. Chovarec A, Jager P, Jungwirth M, Koller-Kreimel O, Moog O, Muhar S (2000) The Austrian way of assessing ecological integrity of running waters: a contribution to the EU Water Framework Directive. Hydrobiologia 422:445–452
- 44. Owen R, Duncan W, Polard P (2001) Definition and establishment of reference conditions. Resumen reunión REFCOND, Ispra

- 45. Davis WS, Simon TP (1995) Introduction. In: Davis WS, Simon TP (eds) Biological assessment and criteria. Tools for water resource planning and decision making. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, 432 pp
- 46. Parsons M, Norris RH (1996) The effect of habitat-specific sampling on biological assessment of water quality using a predictive model. Freshw Biol 36:419–434
- 47. Eekhout SE, Brown CA, King JM (1996) National biomonitoring programme for riverine ecosystems: technical considerations and protocol for the selection of reference and monitoring sites. NBP Report Series No. 3. Institute for Water Quality Studies. Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, Pretoria
- 48. Prat N (1993) El futuro de los ríos españoles: secos o contaminados. Quercus 84:22-24
- 49. Bonada N, Prat N, Munne A, Rieradevall M, Alba-Tercedor J, Álvarez M, Avilés J, Casas J, Jaimez-Cuéllar P, Mellado A, Moyá G, Pardo I, Robles S, Ramón G, Suárez ML, Toro M, Vidal-Abarca MR, Vivas S, Zamora-Muñoz C (2002) Criterios para la selección de condiciones de referencia en los ríos mediterráneos. Limnetica 21:99–114
- 50. Whittier TR, Stoddard JL, Hughes RM, Lomnicky GA (2006) Associations among catchment and site scale disturbance indicators and biological assemblages at least and most disturbed stream and river sites in the western United States. Am Fish Soc Symp 48:641–664
- 51. Schmutz S, Melcher A, Frangez C, Haidvogl G, Beier U, Böhmer J, Breine J, Simoens I, Caiola N, de Sostoa A (2007) Spatially based methods to assess the ecological status of riverine fish assemblages in European ecoregions. Fish Manag Ecol 14:441–452
- 52. Reynoldson TB, Norris RH, Resh VH, Day KE, Rosenberg DM (1997) The reference condition: a comparison of multimetric and multivariate approaches to assess water-quality impairment using benthic macroinvertebrates. J N Am Benthol Soc 16:833–852
- Bennion H, Fluin J, Simpson GL (2004) Assessing eutrophication and reference conditions for Scottish freshwater lochs using subfossil diatoms. J Appl Ecol 41:124–138
- Jennings MJ, Fore LS, Karr JR (1995) Biological monitoring of fish assemblages in Tennessee Valley reservoirs. Regul Rivers Res Manag 11:263–274
- 55. McDonough TA, Hickman GD (1999) Reservoir Fish Assemblage Index development: a tool for assessing ecological health in Tennessee Valley Authority impoundments. In: Simon T (ed) Assessing the sustainability and biological integrity of water resources using fish communities. CRC, Boca Raton, pp 523–540
- 56. Carol J, Benejam L, Alcaraz C, Vila-Gispert A, Zamora L, Navarro E, Armengol J, García-Berthou E (2006) The effects of limnological features on fish assemblages of 14 Spanish reservoirs. Ecol Freshw Fish 15:66–77
- 57. Sala M, Bar M (1992) Some hydrologic effects of urbanization in Catalan rivers. Catena 19:363–378
- 58. Aparicio E, Vargas MJ, Ruiz-Olmo J, de Sostoa A (2000) Decline of native freshwater fishes in a Mediterranean watershed on the Iberian Peninsula. Environ Biol Fish 59:11–19
- 59. Araus JL (2004) The problems of sustainable water use in the Mediterranean and research requirements agriculture. Ann Appl Biol 144:259–272
- Mas-Pla J, Montaner R, Sola J (1999) Groundwater resources and quality variations caused by gravel mining in coastal streams. J Hydrol 216:197–213
- 61. Munné A, Prat N, Sola C, Bonada N, Rieradevall M (2003) A simple field method for assessing the ecological quality of riparian habitat in rivers and streams: QBR index. Aquat Conserv Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 13:147–163
- 62. Prat N, Rieradevall M (2006) 25-Years of biomonitoring in two Mediterranean streams (Llobregat and Besòs basins, NE Spain). Limnetica 25:541–550
- 63. Céspedes R, Lacorte S, Raldúa D, Ginebreda A, Barceló D, Piña B (2005) Distribution of endocrine disruptors in the Llobregat River basin (Catalonia, NE Spain). Chemosphere 61:1710–1719
- 64. de Sostoa A, Caiola N, Casals, F, García-Berthou E, Alcaraz C, Benejam L, Maceda A, Solà C, Munné A (2010) Ajust de l'índex d'integritat biòtica (IBICAT) basat en l'ús dels peixos com a indicadors de la qualitat ambiental als rius de Catalunya. Agència Catalana de l'Aigua,

Departament de Medi Ambient i Habitatge, Generalitat de Catalunya. Barcelona, Catalonia, 187 pp

- 65. Alcaraz C, Vila-Gispert A, Garcia-Berthou E (2005) Profiling Invasive fish species: the importance of phylogeny and human use. Divers Distrib 11:289–298
- 66. Franch N, Clavero M, Garrido M, Gaya N, López V, Pou-Rovira Q, Queral JM (2008) On the establishment and range expansion of oriental weatherfish (*Misgurnus anguillicaudatus*) in NE Iberian Peninsula. Biol Invasions 10:1327–1331
- 67. López MA, Gázquez N, Olmo-Vidal JM, Aprahamian MW, Gisbert E (2007) The presence of anadromous twaite shad (*Alosa fallax*) in the Ebro River (western Mediterranean, Spain): an indicator of the population's recovery? J Appl Ichthyol 23:163–66
- 68. European Communities (2003) Common implementation strategy for Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC): rivers and lakes – typology, reference conditions and classification systems. Office for official publications in the European communities, Luxembourg
- 69. Persson L, de Roos A (2007) Interplay between individual growth and population feedbacks shapes body-size distributions. In: Hildrew A, Raffaelli D, Edmonds-Brown R (eds) Body size: the structure and function of aquatic ecosystems. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 356 pp
- 70. de Roos A, Persson L, McCauley E (2003) The influence of size-dependent life history traits on the structure and dynamics of populations and communities. Ecol Lett 6:473–487
- 71. Savage VM, Gillooly JF, Brown JH, West GB, Charnov EL (2004) Effects of body size and temperature on population growth. Am Nat 776:429–441
- 72. Brown J, Allen A, Gillooly J (2007) The metabolic theory of ecology and the role of body size in marine and freshwater ecosystems. In: Hildrew A, Raffaelli D, Edmonds-Brown R (eds) Body size: the structure and function of aquatic ecosystems. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 356 pp
- 73. Brucet S, Pédron S, Mehner T, Lauridsen TL, Argillier C, Winfield IJ, Volta P, Emmrich M, Hesthagen T, Holmgren K, Benejam L, Kelly F, Krause T, Palm A, Rask M, Jeppesen E (2013) Fish diversity in European lakes: geographical predictors dominate over anthropogenic pressures. Freshw Biol 58:1779–1793
- Murphy CA, Casals F, Solà C, Caiola N, de Sostoa A, García-Berthou E (2013) Efficacy of population size structure as a bioassessment tool in freshwaters. Ecol Indic 34:571–579
- 75. Lucas MC, Baras E (2001) Migration of freshwater fishes. Blackwell, Oxford, 420 pp
- 76. Ruiz-Olmo J, Olmo-Vidal JM, Mañas S, Batet A (2002) The influence of resource seasonality on the breeding patterns of the Eurasian otter (Lutra lutra) in Mediterranean habitats. Can J Zool 80:2178–2189
- 77. Santos JM, Ferreira MT, Pinheiro AN, Bochechas J (2006) Effects of small hydropower plants on fish assemblages in medium sized streams in central and northern Portugal. Aquat Conserv Mar Freshwat Ecosyst 16:373–388
- Bruslé J, Quignard JP (2001) Biologie des poissons d'eau douce européens. Editions Tec&Doc, Paris, 625 pp
- 79. Larinier M (2002) Location of fishways. Bull Fr Pêche Piscic 346(Suppl):39-53
- Kottelat M, Freyhoff J (2007) Handbook of European freshwater fishes. Kottelat, Cornol and Freyhof, Berlin, 646 pp
- 81. Gough P, Philipsen P, Schollema PP, Wanningen H (2012) From sea to source; international guidance for the restoration of fish migration highways. Veendam, Regional Water Authority Hunze en Aa's Postbus 195, 9640 AD Veendam The Netherlands, 300 pp, www.fromseatosource. com/download/download.php?file=from\_sea\_to\_source.pdf
- 82. Zitek A, Schmuth S, Jungwirth M (2008) Assessing the efficiency of connectivity measures with regard to the EU-Water Framework Directive in a Danube-tributary system. Hydrobiologia 609:139–161
- 83. Marmulla G, Welcomme R (eds) (2002) Fish passes. Design, dimensions and monitoring. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) & Deutscher Verband für Wasserwirtschaft und Kulturvau (DVWK), Rome, 118 pp

- Roni P (ed) (2005) Monitoring stream and watershed restoration. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, 350 pp
- 85. Vinyoles D, Robalo JL, de Sostoa A, Almodóvar A, Elvira B, Nicola GG, Fernández-Deñgado C, Santos CS, Doadrio I, Sardà-Palomera F, Almada VC (2007) Spread of the alien bleak *Alburnus alburnus* (Linnaeus, 1758) (Actinopterygii, Cyprinidae) in the Iberian Peninsula: the role of reservoirs. Graellsia 63:101–110
- 86. Ordeix M, Pou-Rovira Q, Sellarès N, Bardina M, Casamitjana A, Solà C, Munné A (2011) Fish pass assessment in the Rivers of Catalonia (NE Iberian Peninsula). A case study of weirs associated with hydropower plants and gauging stations. Limnetica 30(2):405–426
- 87. Solà C, Ordeix M, Pou-Rovira Q, Sellarès N, Queralt A, Bardina M, Casamitjana A, Munné A (2011) The longitudinal connectivity in hydromorphological quality assessments of Rivers. The ICF index: a River connectivity index and its application to Catalan Rivers. Limnetica 30 (2):273–292
- 88. Ordeix M, Solà C, Bardina M, Casamitjana A, Munné A (eds) (2014) Els peixos dels rius i les zones humides de Catalunya. Qualitat biològica i connectivitat fluvial. Agència Catalana de l'Aigua Museu del Ter EUMO editorial, Vic, Catalonia. 172 pp. http://aca-web.gencat.cat/aca/documents/ca/planificacio/cabals/peixos\_connectivitat\_2014.pdf
- Thorncraft G, Harris JH (2000) Fish passage and fishways in New South Wales: a status report. Centre for FreshWater Ecology, Australia, 32 pp
- 90. Larinier M (2001) Environmental issues, dams and fish migration. In: Marmulla G (ed) Dams, fish and fisheries. Opportunities, challenges and conflict resolution. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome, pp 45–89
- 91. Amstrong GS, Aphrahamian MW, Fewings GA, Gough PJ, Reader NA, Varallo PV (2004) Environment Agency Fish Pass Manual: Guidance Notes on the Legislation, Selection and Approval of Fish Passes in England and Wales. Environment Agency, Wales, 313 pp
- 92. Kroes MJ, Gough P, Wanningen H, Schollema PP, Ordeix M, Vésely D (2006) From sea to source. Practical guidance for the restoration of fish migration in European Rivers. Interreg IIIC Project "Community Rivers", Hunze en Aa's Water Board, Gröningen, 119 pp
- Benejam L, Angermeier PL, Munné A, García-Berthou E (2010) Assessing effects of water abstraction on fish assemblages in Mediterranean streams. Freshw Biol 55:628–642
- 94. Gallardo C (2013) Estudi dels Índexs d'Alteració Hidrològica (IAH) i la seva relació amb la ictiofauna als rius de Catalunya. Projecte Final de Carrera, Escola Tècnica Superior d'Enginyeria Agrària, Universitat de Lleida, Lleida, Catalonia, 138 pp
- Travade F, Larinier M (2002) Monitoring techniques for fishways. Bull Fr Peche Piscic 346 (Suppl):166–180
- 96. Burnash RJC, Ferral RL, Guire RA (1973) A generalized streamflow simulation system conceptual modeling for digital computers. National Weather Service and California Department of Water Resources, Sacramento

# Fish-Based Indices in Catalan Rivers: Intercalibration and Comparison of Approaches

Emili García-Berthou, Mi-Jung Bae, Lluís Benejam, Carles Alcaraz, Frederic Casals, Adolf de Sostoa, Carolina Solà, and Antoni Munné

**Abstract** Freshwater ecosystems are among the most affected by anthropogenic disturbances, and fish have several advantages for monitoring them, such as the response at larger temporal and spatial scales and its visibility to the society. This chapter summarizes our experience in developing fish-based indices in Catalonia. We describe some differences observed among crews in electrofishing captures and habitat assessments. We also analyzed the suitability of a single pass for conventional monitoring in the region and differences in capturability among sites and species by comparison with multiple passes and block nets. Furthermore, we summarize the results of two contrasting approaches, a site- and a type-specific one (IBICAT2a and IBICAT 2b) applied to Catalan rivers. The site-specific was not successful and further data are needed for its improvement. A protocol for the

E. García-Berthou (🖂) and M.-J. Bae

Institute of Aquatic Ecology, University of Girona, 17071 Girona, Spain e-mail: emili.garcia@udg.edu

L. Benejam

BETA Technology Centre, Aquatic Ecology Group, University of Vic - Central University of Catalonia, 08500 Vic, Spain

C. Alcaraz IRTA Aquatic Ecosystems, Carretera Poble Nou Km 5.5, 43540 Sant Carles de la Ràpita, Catalonia, Spain

F. Casals Department of Animal Production, University of Lleida, Avda. Rovira Roure 177, 25198 Lleida, Spain

A. de Sostoa Department of Animal Biology (Vertebrates), University of Barcelona, Avda. Diagonal 645, 08028 Barcelona, Spain

C. Solà and A. Munné Catalan Water Agency (ACA), Provença 204-208, 08036 Barcelona, Spain

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 42: 125–148, DOI 10.1007/698\_2015\_342, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 26 May 2015 computation of a type-specific, multimetric index (IBICAT2b) is given. The IBICAT2b fish index uses 4–8 metrics depending on river type and has been validated with environmental pressures both throughout Catalonia and the whole Ebro River basin. An Excel file is also given as an online supplementary material for the computation of this fish index.

**Keywords** Biotic integrity, Catalonia, Ecosystem health, Fish biotic index, Rivers, Spain, Water Framework Directive

#### Contents

1	Introduction	126
2	Comparison of Electrofishing Crews	127
3	Comparison of Habitat Assessments Among Sampling Teams	128
4	Development and Comparison of Fish Indices: Type- vs. Site-Specific Approaches	132
5	IBICAT2b: Development of a Type-Specific Fish Index for Catalonia and the Ebro River	
	Basin	136
6	Protocol for the IBICAT2b Multimetric Fish Index	140
7	Concluding Remarks	143
Ref	ferences	144

## **1** Introduction

Freshwater ecosystems are severely threatened from human-generated pressures, including water abstraction, pollution, construction of reservoirs, and invasive species. The continuous deleterious effects of human pressures have promoted the need for biological monitoring as well as the development of biological indices [1–3]. Fish are among the taxonomic groups with more longevity in aquatic environments and are excellent ecological indicators for a number of reasons [4]. Fish assemblages have been shown in a number of regions to respond to anthropogenic disturbances including flow regulation (e.g., [5]), habitat fragmentation [6], water pollution [7], land-use change [8], hydrological alteration (e.g., [9]), and acidification [10].

One disadvantage of using fish as ecological indicators is that their population densities are more difficult to estimate accurately and their catchability depends on a number of factors including electrofishing equipment, the characteristics of the river reach [11–13], and species-specific features such as morphology or behavior [14, 15]. The estimation of catchability and intercalibration of data are important to combine data from different fishing teams and to develop protocols for future work or monitoring [12]. Habitat quality is often assessed during fish sampling [16, 17] and inconsistency of habitat assessment among researchers has been also reported by several researchers (e.g., [18–22]).

This chapter summarizes our experience in developing fish-based indices in Catalan Rivers [23, 24] and synthesizes our studies: (1) to estimate the effects of fishing crew and other factors on fish catchability and the resulting fish metrics and on habitat assessments and (2) to attempt to develop type-specific- (i.e., IBICAT2b) and site-specific-based indices (spatially-explicit approach) (i.e., IBICAT2a). We also aim to give a protocol and an Excel for an index (IBICAT2b) that has been validated throughout Catalonia and recently throughout the whole Ebro River basin (Bae et al. unpublished data).

## 2 Comparison of Electrofishing Crews

Understanding the differences of catchability is particularly important for intercalibration of fish data from various research groups as well as computing fish indices. Several studies have been conducted to balance the compromise between representativeness of fish assemblage in the sampling area and sampling cost (e.g., time, staff, and expenditure), including the comparison of single- vs. multiple-pass electrofishing over various habitats (e.g., [25–30]), and the analysis of electrofishing equipment type (e.g., [31]) and suitable sampling length [30, 32–37]. However, little attention has been paid to assess the differences of catchability among electrofishing crews and equipment and the effects of sampling frequentation in Mediterranean regions.

We compared capture efficiencies based on standard fish descriptors (abundance, observed fish richness and species composition) obtained from four different fishing crews in Mediterranean streams [12]. In eight sites at headwater and middle reaches of a Mediterranean river, we sampled fish in two adjacent stations which had the similar habitat condition at each site using two different methods (singlepass electrofishing without block nets vs. four-pass electrofishing with block nets). During the first fishing day, two different methods were applied, but during the rest of the days only the single pass was applied in order to compare the effects of the consecutive sampling on fish abundance and assemblage structure. We applied a Williams' crossover design, which is based on a Latin square design and is characterized by that (1) all crews are assigned only once to each sampling site during the four consecutive sampling days; (2) all crews are equally distributed; (3) it allows to test for potential carryover effects. We analyzed the differences in species richness, abundance, and proportional abundances due to the different catchability by the four research teams using generalized linear models (GLMs) with Poisson errors and log link functions (species richness and abundance) or binomial errors and logit link functions (proportional abundance). We also applied the software EstimateS (http://viceroy.eeb.uconn.edu/EstimateS) to estimate richness based on the removal estimates (i.e., four-pass electrofishing) using the second-order jackknife richness estimator (Jack 2; [38]), which is one of the most widely recommended estimators. Furthermore, we estimated population sizes and capture probability for the most abundant species in the four-pass electrofishing
using program MARK using four different multinomial models (i.e., a model with constant catchability between different electrofishing passes (P), a model with constant catchability between electrofishing passes (P1), a model with nonconstant catchability between electrofishing passes (P1L), and a model with nonconstant catchability between passes and a quadratic function of fish length (P1L2)). These models were compared using Akaike's information criterion [39].

Our results indicated that single-pass electrofishing was effective in the study area. It captured a large percentage of abundance (40–60%) as well as species richness (50–100%). Unsurprisingly, electrofishing was more efficient upstream than downstream and all species were generally captured in sampling sites with few species (i.e., headwaters). Furthermore, even though it is more difficult to detect all species in mid-river sections with higher species diversity, single electrofishing showed also high catchability there. Although observed species richness was not significantly influenced by the use of block nets, average CPUE was significantly influenced by the research team, fishing day, or carryover effects. However, total CPUE depended on fishing day, crew, carryover effects, and site. Catchability varied depending on species, size, and removal passes.

In summary, single-pass electrofishing can be adequate to estimate abundance, species composition, and richness in headwaters and middle courses of this Mediterranean region. However, various methodological factors (e.g., reach length, number of passes, fish size, and species) influence electrofishing capture efficiency. Our results also show that the effectiveness of electrofishing depends on fishing crews because of different personal skills and practice. Therefore, electrofishing sampling protocols (e.g., sampling time and effort and equipment type) should be standardized as much as possible to get comparable data [24].

## **3** Comparison of Habitat Assessments Among Sampling Teams

The assessment of habitat quality is essential in fish studies because each fish species often has specific habitat requirements [40] and altered habitats are considered a major disturbance in aquatic ecosystems [41]. Therefore, habitat assessment has been developed as an integral part of stream biological monitoring [42–45]. However, because habitat assessments are often based mostly on visual observations or a minimal amount of measurement [45], the variability of assessments frequently occurs among researchers (even experienced ones). We compared the differences in scoring the habitat characteristics among four research teams. Each research team conducted the habitat monitoring with the same protocol at each site after finishing the electrofishing described in the previous section. Each team surveyed hydromorphological descriptors, riparian vegetation, aquatic vegetation, refuge type, observed visual impacts, land use, and habitat based on a

		Type III sum of			Partial
Categories	Variables	squares	F	P	$\eta^2$
Hydromorphology (mesohabitat)	% Riffle	756	7.61	0.01	0.63
Hydromorphology (mesohabitat)	% Glide	687	2.84	0.11	0.39
Hydromorphology (mesohabitat)	% Pool	170	1.57	0.26	0.26
Hydromorphology (substrate)	% Bedrock	37	3.65	0.07	0.45
Hydromorphology (substrate)	% Boulder	148	0.62	0.56	0.12
Hydromorphology (substrate)	% Cobble	682	6.37	0.02	0.59
Hydromorphology (substrate)	% Gravel	827	6.57	0.02	0.59
Hydromorphology (substrate)	% Sand	28.5	0.61	0.56	0.12
Hydromorphology (substrate)	% Silt and clay	1.95	0.15	0.86	0.03
Hydromorphology (hydrology)	Average width	0.08	0.43	0.66	0.09
Hydromorphology (hydrology)	Full bank height	0.84	1.43	0.29	0.24
Riparian vegetation	% Marginal riparian cover	309	0.8	0.48	0.15
Riparian vegetation	% Areal cover	78	0.16	0.85	0.03
Riparian vegetation	% Trees	1,315	4.42	0.05	0.5
Riparian vegetation	% Shrubs	1,596	6.33	0.02	0.58
Riparian vegetation	% Grass	3,600	13.5	0.00	0.75
Aquatic vegetation	% Macrophyte cover	160	0.76	0.49	0.15
Aquatic vegetation	% Helophytes	233	1.59	0.26	0.26
Aquatic vegetation	% Hydrophytes	73.6	1.46	0.28	0.24
Aquatic vegetation	% Floating leaves	30.6	1.6	0.25	0.26
Aquatic vegetation	% Floating plants	892	1.95	0.20	0.3
Aquatic vegetation	% Algae	4,988	1.72	0.23	0.28
Refuge type	% Total refuge	5,526	6.78	0.02	0.6
Refuge type	% Structural shelter	67.6	0.1	0.91	0.02
Refuge type	% Caves	523	1.11	0.37	0.2
Refuge type	% Aquatic vegetation	168	2.42	0.14	0.35
Refuge type	% Submerged riparian vegetation	474	3.52	0.07	0.44
Refuge type	% Trunk and branches	45.1	1.08	0.38	0.19
Observed impacts	Muddy water	1.22	4.95	0.04	0.52
Observed impacts	Stones with black bottom	0.06	0.64	0.55	0.13

Table 1 Comparison of descriptors of habitat assessment among assessors. Degrees of freedom  $= 2 \mbox{ and } 9$ 

(continued)

		Type III sum of			Partial
Categories	Variables	squares	F	P	$\eta^2$
Observed impacts	Channelization	0.25	1.5	0.27	0.25
Observed impacts	Erosion	1.06	4.28	0.05	0.49
Observed impacts	Highways, roads, etc.	0.56	1.43	0.29	0.24
Land use	Forest use	0.31	1.6	0.25	0.26
Land use	Agricultural land use	1.95	8.37	0.01	0.65
Land use	Residential land use	0.56	1.43	0.29	0.24
Habitat	Microhabitat score	0.31	0.3	0.75	0.06
Habitat	Habitat diversity (macrohabitat)	0.56	0.2	0.82	0.04
Habitat	Channelization	2.78	1.47	0.28	0.25
Habitat	Channel morphology	0.31	0.07	0.93	0.02
Habitat	Flow	0.62	2.65	0.12	0.37
Habitat	Degree of clogging	6.72	8.01	0.01	0.64
Habitat	Margin erosion, R	10.6	8.36	0.01	0.65
Habitat	Margin erosion, L	12.3	5.62	0.03	0.56
Habitat	Aquatic veg. (macrophytes)	0.06	0.02	0.98	0.01
Habitat	Riparian veg. (R margin)	2.78	0.39	0.69	0.08
Habitat	Riparian veg. (R margin)	9.81	2.9	0.11	0.39
Habitat	Width of riparian veg. (R margin)	15	3.28	0.09	0.42
Habitat	Width of riparian veg. (R margin)	25.5	8.61	0.01	0.66

Table	1 (	continued)	)

veg vegetation

modified version of the US Rapid Bioassessment Protocol (RBI) [46] for Mediterranean rivers (Table 1), which was used during the sampling of the project to implement the Water Framework Directive (WFD) in Catalonia [23, 24, 47]. Table 1 shows the list of habitat assessment descriptors as well as the significance of the differences among four assessors and a measure of effect size (partial  $\eta^2$ ). Of 49 habitat assessment descriptors, 12 were significantly different among the four research teams that assessed them independently (P < 0.05). Percentage of grass in the riparian vegetation showed the highest difference among research groups (Table 1, Fig. 1), and four variables (i.e., degree of clogging, erosion of margins (right and left), and width of riparian vegetation (left margin)) from the Rapid Bioassessment Protocol, which provides a detailed protocol to score these features, were also different among the four assessors were not significant (MANOVA Wilks'  $\lambda$ ,  $F_{2, 18.5} = 5.482$ , P = 0.165), probably due to low power, they were



**Fig. 1** Box plots of the scoring of % grass and % riffle among four research groups (see Table 1 for statistical analysis). Each box corresponds to 25th and 75th percentiles; the *dark line* inside each box represents the median; error bars show the minima and maxima except for outliers (*open circles* or *asterisks*, corresponding to values >1.5 box heights from the box)

more important (partial  $\eta^2$  of 0.980 vs. 0.907) than differences among sites, which were significant ( $F_{99, 18.5} = 3.698$ , P = 0.001) and very clear.

Roper and Scarnecchia [19] reported that although consistency of habitat quality evaluation is improved with uniform training, inconsistency increases among researchers, as the habitat types to be classified become more diverse. Hannaford et al. [45] showed that even if the evaluation of habitat assessment becomes similar

among groups after equal training in a certain type of habitats, large differences are still observed in other habitat types. Our results also suggest that the scoring for habitat assessment can be highly inconsistent among different research groups even using the same habitat assessment protocol. Therefore, habitat assessment requires more clear and detailed criteria and more training to make a similar evaluation among groups.

## 4 Development and Comparison of Fish Indices: Type- vs. Site-Specific Approaches

In addition to IBICAT<sub>2010</sub> (see [4] in this book), whose development was led by Nuno Caiola, two other approaches (i.e., a type-specific and site-specific) were attempted in Catalan rivers [23]. Type-specific fish indices are based on a classification of sites in a region on homogenous types based on environmental or faunistic features and use different metrics and scorings in the different areas. On the other hand, site-specific approaches do not use a classification and instead predict the reference fish metrics from the environmental features of the sites [48, 49].

The WFD requests that various biotic assemblage descriptors (e.g., metrics) should be integrated into a single index to assess ecological status [3, 50]. These indices should represent the status of impairment in a research area [51–54]. Community metrics (e.g., number of intolerant species) and trophic guilds (e.g., percentage of piscivores), which group species sharing a common ecological trait into a single variable, have been commonly applied to develop bioassessment metrics based on fish assemblages [52, 55] (Table 2). It is assumed that these traits respond to anthropogenic disturbances consistently across a wide spatial extent [53, 54]. In addition, unlike species composition, which varies strongly across regions and biogeographical areas [56], patterns from functional traits are mainly determined by environmental filtering (e.g., [55, 57–61]).

Most predictive models evaluating ecological status start from comparing the biotic condition at current sampling sites with the expected biota without anthropogenic disturbance or in reference conditions [49, 62, 63]. Thus, changes in biotic condition from anthropogenic disturbance can occur only when the range of variation (or response) in reference (natural) conditions is well known [64, 65].

In this section, we summarize the two approaches (i.e., a site-specific one, IBICAT2a, and a type-specific one, IBICAT2b) based on the same guild classification for the fish fauna of Catalonia (Table 2), which was based on a comprehensive literature review. Fish development was based on a database of 364 sites in Catalonia, visited during 2007–2008, of which 8 sites could not be sampled due to the excessive discharge, 45 sites were dry, 76 sites were sampled but no fish was captured in them, and 235 sites were sampled with fish captured. At the 311 sampled sites, the total number of species (NST) ranged from 0 to 13 (median = 2, mean = 2.3), the number of native species (NSN) was from 0 to 8 (median = 1, mean = 2.3).

Table 2 I Calures	OI UIN II VAIIWAINI IIMII IAUIIA II		Idoraan Int nach		o to tromphilito				
			Feeding			Feeding			
Family	Species	Tolerance	habitat	Habitat	Reproduction	group	Migration	Longevity	Status
Acipenseridae	Acipenser sturio	Ι		RH	LITH	INMO	DNO	LL	A
Anguillidae	Anguilla anguilla	Т	В			PISC	LONG	TT	A
Balitoridae	Barbatula quignardi		В	RH	LITH	BENT		SL	A
Blenniidae	Salaria fluviatilis		В		LITH	INSV		SL	A
Centrarchidae	Lepomis gibbosus	Т	wc	LI		INSV		SL	
Centrarchidae	Micropterus salmoides		wc	LI		PISC		LL	
Clupeidae	Alosa alosa	Ι		RH			LONG	LL	A
Clupeidae	Alosa fallax	I		RH			LONG	TT	A
Cobitidae	Cobitis bilineata							SL	
Cobitidae	Cobitis calderoni	I		RH		INSV		SL	A
Cobitidae	Cobitis paludica	Т		RH		INSV		SL	A
Cobitidae	Misgurnus	Т	В	LI		OMNI		IM	
	anguillicaudatus								
Cottidae	Cottus hispaniolensis	I	В	LI	LITH	INSV		SL	A
Cyprinidae	Alburnus alburnus	T	wc			INMO		SL	Ι
Cyprinidae	Achondrostoma arcasii		wc					SL	A
Cyprinidae	Barbus meridionalis	I	В	RH	LITH	INSV		IM	A
Cyprinidae	Barbus graellsii	Т	В		LITH	OMNI	POTAD	LL	A
Cyprinidae	Barbus haasi	I	В	RH	LITH	INSV		IM	A
Cyprinidae	Carassius auratus	Τ	В		РНҮТ	OMNI		LL	
Cyprinidae	Cyprinus carpio	Т	В		PHYT	INMO		LL	I
Cyprinidae	Gobio lozanoi		В	RH		INSV		SL	A
Cyprinidae	Parachondrostoma miegii	I	В	RH	LITH			IM	A
Cyprinidae	Pseudorasbora parva	Т				OMNI		SL	I
Cyprinidae	Phoxinus bigerri	Ι	WC	RH	LITH	INMO		SL	A
								(con	tinued)

Table 2 Features of the freshwater fish fauna from Catalonia used for development and computation of the indices

			Feeding			Feeding			
Family	Species	Tolerance	habitat	Habitat	Reproduction	group	Migration	Longevity	Status
Cyprinidae	Rutilus rutilus	Τ	wc			OMNI		IM	I
Cyprinidae	Scardinius	Т	wc	LI	РНҮТ	OMNI		LL	I
	erythrophthalmus								
Cyprinidae	Squalius laietanus		wc	RH	LITH	INMO		LL	A
Esocidae	Esox lucius		wc		PHYT	PISC		TL	I
Gasterosteidae	Gasterosteus gymnurus		wc			INSV		SL	A
Gobiidae	Pomatoschistus microps		В			INSV	DNOT	SL	A
Ictaluridae	Ameiurus melas	Т	В		LITH	OMNI		IM	I
Mugilidae	Chelon labrosus	Т					DNOT	TT	A
Mugilidae	Liza ramada	Т					DNOT	LL	A
Mugilidae	Mugil cephalus	Т					DNOT	TT	A
Percidae	Perca fluviatilis	Т	wc			PISC		LL	I
Percidae	Sander lucioperca		wc		РНҮТ	PISC		TT	I
Petromyzontidae	Petromyzon marinus	I		RH	LITH		DNOT	LL	A
Poeciliidae	Gambusia holbrooki	Τ	wc	LI		INSV		SL	I
Salmonidae	Oncorhynchus mykiss			RH	LITH	PISC		IM	I
Salmonidae	Salmo trutta	I		RH	LITH	PISC		IM	A
Siluridae	Silurus glanis	Τ	В		PHYT	PISC		LL	I
T tolerant, I intoler	ant, B benthic, WC water colur	mn, <i>RH</i> rheop	hilic, LI limnoph	ilic, LITH	lithophilic, PHY	T phytophilic, O	MNIV omniv	ore, PISC pis	civore,
INSV invertivore, 1	ONG long migration (diadron	nous species)	, POTAD short m	nigration, 5	L short longevi	ty, IM intermedi	ate longevity	', LL long lon	gevity,
A species native from	om Catalonia, I species introdu	aced in Catalo	mia. Blank means	s species n	ot classified				

134

Table 2 (continued)

mean = 1.4), and the number of introduced species (NSI) was from 0 to  $10 \pmod{0.82}$ .

For selecting candidate metrics, we carefully reviewed the literature including research papers and reports from different countries. In total, for the 311 sites, we computed 199 candidate metrics, which can be classified into four categories as in the original IBI development [51, 66]: species composition and diversity, trophic composition, abundance, and fish condition. All the metrics were in general computed both for native and introduced species separately and for all species together. The native/alien status was considered at the river basin level.

To validate the new indices with gradients of anthropogenic pressure, we used two different anthropogenic disturbance measures. First, we obtained an official statistic of anthropogenic disturbance (the risk of noncompliance measure, RI\_AP) from the Catalan Water Agency (document IMPRESS; [67]). It summarizes many different disturbances such as hydromorphological changes, flow regime alterations, changes in land use and the riparian zone, and point and diffuse sources of pollution [47, 67]. Second, a principal component analysis (PCA) was also used to combine this risk of noncompliance with our local measurement at the sampling sites such as the sum of RBI scores, sum of visual impacts, dissolved oxygen concentration, ammonia concentration, and pH. The first PCA axis summarized well a gradient of anthropogenic disturbance (see [47] for details).

The site-specific approach (IBICAT2a) was developed following leading works in Europe [48, 52, 68]. To define the calibration set (low pressure), we followed the usual method (see, e.g., [69, 70]): only sites where none of the pressures (hydrological regime, river connectivity, morphology, toxic acidification, and nutrient organic inputs) was greater than 2, ranging from 1 (no pressure) to 5 (high pressure) were used. Among 369 sites in Catalonia, 49 sites fulfilled all these criteria (of which 34 sites had fish captures). Then, generalized linear models (GLMs), with appropriate error and link functions depending on the types of metrics, were used in the reference condition sites (calibration set) to develop the expected values of fish metrics given numerous natural environmental variables (climatic and topographic) that are not affected by anthropogenic disturbance. A stepwise procedure based on Akaike's information criterion was used to select parsimonious, adequate GLMs. Then the observed values on the rest of sites are compared to the expected values (see, e.g., [71, 72]) to compute an index that ranges from 0 (worst conditions) to 1 (reference conditions).

From the numerous GLMs, we selected 10 metrics considering their significant correlation with anthropogenic disturbance (pressures), their meaningfulness in ecological terms, their complementarity (e.g., different organization levels), and relatively low collinearity. Although the detailed results and a tentative index (IBICAT2a) are given in Sostoa et al. [23], we considered that this index was not suitable because of a number of reasons: (1) the GLMs could not be cross-validated because of low sample sizes and considerable variability in the reference data and probably also because of the considerable environmental heterogeneity of Catalonia; (2) the metrics based on absolute richness and abundance metrics did not behave well (gave unrealistic expected results) probably due to low numbers of

reference condition sites (which were mostly at higher elevations) and therefore the index only included relative metrics (i.e., percentages); and (3) dry and fishless sites were not well predicted by predictive models, suggesting many local pressures that are not well captured by available indicators. Therefore, although this approach has been successfully applied in France [48, 52] and across Europe [54, 52, 71] and could potentially be developed in Catalonia, the low sample size available of fish data precludes its current application.

# 5 IBICAT2b: Development of a Type-Specific Fish Index for Catalonia and the Ebro River Basin

We also attempted a simpler type-specific approach (IBICAT2b), whose results we consider much more reliable than IBICAT2a and that we have validated (through correlation with environmental pressures) throughout Catalonia [23] and the Ebro River (Bae et al. unpublished data). We recommend IBICAT2b as a regional fish index, until further data become available that allow developing a better index. This index uses the official river types based on environmental data that are also used for macroinvertebrate indices and other purposes in Catalonia (e.g., [67, 73, 74]), the whole Ebro River [75], and Spain in general (http://www.chebro.es/; [76, 77]) (Fig. 2, Table 3).



Fig. 2 Official river types in Catalonia and the Ebro River [74, 75]. See Table 3 for the meaning of code abbreviations and further details

	Catalan	Number of Catalan sites with fish
River type	abbreviation	data used in the study
Siliceous wet mountain rivers	MHS	23
Calcareous wet mountain rivers	MHC	52
Siliceous Mediterranean mountain rivers	MMS	11
Calcareous Mediterranean mountain rivers	MMC	47
High-flow Mediterranean mountain rivers	MMEC	13
Variable-flow Mediterra- nean rivers	RMCV	147
Siliceous Mediterranean lowland rivers	RMS	2
Rivers influenced by karstic areas	ZC	16
Main watercourses	EP	10
Coastal streams	TL	32
Large Mediterranean watercourses	GEM	6
Large rivers with weak mineralization	GRPM	10
	River typeSiliceous wet mountain riversCalcareous wet mountain riversSiliceous Mediterranean mountain riversCalcareous Mediterranean mountain riversCalcareous Mediterranean mountain riversHigh-flow Mediterranean mountain riversVariable-flow Mediterranean nountain riversSiliceous Mediterranean lowland riversRivers influenced by 	River typeCatalan abbreviationSiliceous wet mountain riversMHSCalcareous wet mountain riversMHCSiliceous Mediterranean mountain riversMMSCalcareous Mediterranean mountain riversMMSCalcareous Mediterranean mountain riversMMCSiliceous Mediterranean mountain riversMMCSiliceous Mediterranean mountain riversMMCSiliceous Mediterranean mountain riversMMECVariable-flow Mediterra- nean riversRMCVSiliceous Mediterranean lowland riversRMSSiliceous Mediterranean lowland riversZCRivers influenced by karstic areasZCMain watercoursesEPCoastal streamsTLLarge Mediterranean watercoursesGEMLarge rivers with weak mineralizationGRPM

 Table 3
 River typology and number of sites in each river type

In order to select the metrics that reflected well the gradients of anthropogenic disturbance for each river type, we computed the correlations between PC1 (the anthropogenic disturbance described in the previous section) and all the metrics in each typology separately, which is a classical type-specific approach (see [70]). In this procedure, because the total sampling sites in some of the river types were very low (e.g., EP, GEM, GRPM, MMS, and RMS where the total number of sampling sites were less than 11), we used a coarser statistical criteria (P < 0.1). In RMS type, we could not calculate correlations because only two sampling sites were available (Table 3). To select the final metrics for the index in each typology, we considered its diversity (different organization levels and type of metrics), complementarity (as assessed with a principal component analysis, which showed different groups of metrics based on their correlation), and interpretability of results (a few metrics had relationships with PC1 opposite than expected). The final metrics selected are shown in Table 4.

These different metrics were scored following a number of approaches. The number of native species was scored based on expert criteria and the historical records of fish assemblages in Catalonia. For DELT anomalies, we used the traditional IBI scoring: 0-2%, very good; 2-5%, moderate; and >5%, bad

not in italics)				
River type no.	Catalan abbreviation	Number of sites	Common metrics	Type-specific metrics
27	SHM	23	NSN, PSI, PII, PIT_DELT	PIT_pisciv, PST_pisciv
26	MHC	52	NSN, PSI, PII, PIT_DELT	PIT_pisciv, PST_lithophil, PIT_intol, PST_SL
11	MMS	11	NSN, PSI, PII, PIT_DELT	1
12	MMC	47	NSN, PSI, PII, PIT_DELT	NIN_15cmintol
15	MMEC	13	NSN, PSI, PII, PIT_DELT	PST_SL
6	RMCV	147	NSN, PSI, PII, PIT_DELT	PIT_intol, NIN_15cmintol, PST_lithophil, PIT_rheophil
8	RMS	2	NSN, PSI, PII, PIT_DELT	1
10	ZC	16	NSN, PSI, PII, PIT_DELT	PST_intol
16	EP	10	NSN, PSI, PII, PIT_DELT	1
18	TL	32	NSN, PSI, PII, PIT_DELT	1
17	GEM	6	NSN, PSI, PII, PIT_DELT	1
15	GRPM	10	NSN, PSI, PII, PIT_DELT	
NSN number of ne tumors (DELT) ab	ttive species, <i>PSI</i> % of exemptive species, <i>PSI</i> % of exemptive of the second state	otic species, <i>PII %</i> of for the provided of t	exotic individuals, <i>PIT_DELT</i> als. <i>PST_pisciv %</i> of piscivorol	% of individuals with deformities, eroded fins, lesions, and as species. <i>PST lithophil</i> % of lithophilic species. <i>PJT intol</i>

trics	
r me	
sa fo	
ver	
vice	
(and	
ance	
turb	
c dis	
igeni	
ropc	
ant	
with	
ease	
incr	
s that	
etrics	
nt m	
orese	
ss rel	
italic	
ss in	
letric	
es. M	
type	
riveı	
e 10	
for th	
sted f	
selec	
trics	_
Me	alics)
ole 4	in it:
Tat	not

 $\mathcal{P}$  of intolerant individuals,  $\mathcal{P}ST_SL \mathcal{P}$  of short longevity species,  $\mathcal{N}IN_ISciented$  native abundance of individuals <15 cm of habitat intolerant species,  $\mathcal{P}IT_rheophil \mathcal{P}$  of rheophilic individuals,  $\mathcal{P}ST_intol \mathcal{P}$  of intolerant species. See Tables 2 and 3 for further abbreviations



**Fig. 3** Relationship between % piscivorous individuals (PIT\_pisciv) and anthropogenic pressure (lg\_RI\_AP: log-transformed RI\_AP) in the MHS river type. *Straight line*: linear regression model ( $r^2 = 0.375$ ); *dashed line*: quadratic regression model ( $R^2_{adj} = 0.646$ ). A likelihood ratio test showed that the quadratic model is significantly better than the linear model (P = 0.0003)

[41]. For NIN\_15cmintol, only presence/absence was considered, because densities were very low and often null despite a clear relationship with anthropogenic disturbance. For the calibration of the other metrics (i.e., PSI, PII, PIT, PIT\_pisciv, PST\_pisciv, PST\_lithophil, PIT\_intol, PST\_SL, PTI\_intol, PST\_lithophil, PIT\_rheophil, and PST\_intol) (see abbreviations in Table 4), the same approach as in the site-specific approach (IBICAT2a) was used for the scoring of metrics. Figure 3 shows the relationship between one of these metrics (PIT\_pisciv) and the anthropogenic pressure index in one of the river types (MHS). As shown in this figure, a quadratic model was often significantly better than a linear model. Using these models and the classes defined for the risk of noncompliance measure (RI\_AP < 0.8, no risk; 0.8–1.2, low risk; 1.2–2, average risk; >2 high risk) in the IMPRESS official document for Catalonia [67], we predicted PIT\_pisciv values corresponding to each threshold and thus obtained the scoring of metrics.

For all the other metrics, we applied the same procedure as with PIT\_pisciv to compute the corresponding thresholds based on RI\_AP. Finally, the average of the

score for relevant metrics depending on river type was computed to obtain the index and the ecological status.

For large rivers (types EP, GEM, GRPM, and MMEC), we also give a "bad" status, if the study reach is dry or no fish was captured after an adequate sampling. There is published [78] and unpublished (personal observations) evidence that Catalan streams are sometimes dry artificially (due to human water abstraction). Conservatively, we only apply this "bad" status classification to large rivers that should be expected to never run dry or be fishless in natural conditions. For other river types, if the sites are dry or no fish was captured, no status is given, because this might be due to natural causes.

Although both indices (IBICAT2a and IBICAT2b) are very different in terms of the development procedure of indices, both indices showed a similar response to anthropogenic disturbance (i.e., the correlation coefficients were 0.41 for IBICAT2a and PC1, -0.36 for IBICAT2a and lg\_RI\_AP, 0.40 for IBICAT2b and PC1, and -0.33 for IBICAT2b and lg\_RI\_AP). There was also high correlation between the two indices (r = 0.71), although the relationship was nonlinear because many metrics in IBICAT2a often had values of 0 or 1, indicating that IBICAT2a should be revised with more reference sites to develop further the predictive models and underlying index. Even though IBICAT2a showed relatively high correlation with anthropogenic disturbances, it has several limitations (see section above) and should not be used. A map with the results of IBICAT2b in Catalonia is given in p. 120 of Sostoa et al. [23].

#### 6 Protocol for the IBICAT2b Multimetric Fish Index

An Excel file is given as an online supplementary material to this book chapter (http://invasiber.org/EGarcia/IBICAT2b.html) for the computation of the IBICAT2b index in Catalonia and the Ebro River. The index should not be used in other regions unless it is validated for them (i.e., correlated with environmental pressures) and it should be first adapted for different fish faunas. The following steps should be followed to compute the index. They are automated if the data are imputed in the Excel file.

1. Obtain the river type of your sampling reach.

River types for this index are the general ones official for the WFD across Spain: there are 12 different river types in Catalonia (Table 3) and 8 in the whole Ebro River basin (all of them also present in Catalonia). Note, however, that there is a minor difference between Catalan and Spanish types: type 15 corresponds to two different Catalan types. Furthermore, there are some reaches declared as heavily modified water bodies and without any official type. Find the river type of your sampling reach in Fig. 2.

- 2. If your sampling sites are in EP, GEM, GRPM, or MMEC river types and they were dry or fishless, ecological status is "bad" (IBICAT2b = 1, EQR = 0). If the sites were dry or fishless but belong to other river types, the status cannot be defined with this index. Otherwise, proceed to point 3.
- 3. Score each metric with the fish data from the study site.

All metrics should be independently scored from 1 (bad) to 5 (very good) according to the following tables. Metrics 1–4 are common to all river types. The rest of metrics are for some river types only. If some metrics cannot be computed (e.g., metric 2 has not been measured), they can be omitted from the final average. Metric 1: number of native species (NSN)

River type no.	Catalan abbreviation	Very good	Good	Moderate	Poor	Bad
27	MHS	>1		1		0
26	MHC	>1		1		0
11	MMS	>1		1		0
12	MMC	>1		1		0
15	MMEC	>2	2	1		0
9	RMCV	>1		1		0
8	RMS	>1		1		0
10	ZC	>1		1		0
16	EP	>3	3	2	1	0
18	TL	>1		1		0
17	GEM	>4	4	3	2	<2
15	GRPM	>3	3	2	1	0

Metric 2: percentage of individuals with deformities, eroded fins, lesions and tumors (DELT) abnormality [41]

	Very good	Good	Moderate	Poor	Bad
DELT	0–2%		>2-5%		>5%

Metric 3: percentage of introduced individuals (PII)

	Very good	Good	Moderate	Poor	Bad
PII	0%		0–5%	5-20%	>20%

Metric 4: percentage of introduced species (PSI)

	Very good	Good	Moderate	Poor	Bad
PSI	0%		0–5%	5-20%	>20%

Other metrics: specific metrics for some river types. See Tables 2 and 3 for further abbreviations.

River type no.	Catalan abbreviation	Specific metric	Very good	Good	Moderate	Poor	Bad
27	SHM	PIT_pisciv	100%	99.99–96.67%	96.66-84.80%	84.79-59.84	<59.84%
27	SHM	PST_pisciv	100%	99.99-90.32%	90.31 - 82.85%	82.84-68.92%	<68.92%
26	MHC	PIT_pisciv	100%	99.99-44.91%	44.90–39%	39-29.46%	<29.46%
26	MHC	PST_lithophil	100%	99.99–97.38%	97.37-95.51%	95.50-91.77%	<91.77%
26	MHC	PIT_intol	100%	99.99–89.27%	89.26-80.22%	80.21-63.34%	<63.34%
26	MHC	PST_SL	0%	0-32.58%	32.58-39.58%	39.58-45.92%	>45.92%
12	MMC	NIN_15cmintol (presence)	Yes		No		
15	MMEC	PST_SL	0%0	0-4.14%	4.14 - 19.95%	19.95-35.73%	>35.73%
6	RMCV	PIT_intol	>65.78%	65.78–56.65%	56.65-47.28%	47.28–0%	0
6	RMCV	NIN_15cmintol (presence)	Yes		No		
6	RMCV	PST_lithophil	100%	99.99–71.55%	71.55-62.79%	62.79-54.32%	<54.32%
6	RMCV	PIT_rheophil	100%	99.99-80.09%	80.09-71.08%	71.08-62.54%	<62.54%
10	ZC	PST_intol	100%	99.99-65.91%	65.91-55.59%	55.59-43.34%	<43.34%

Therefore, IBICAT2b includes 4–8 metrics depending on river type. Each metric is scored from 1 to 5 (1 = bad, 2 = poor, 3 = moderate, 4 = good, and 5 = very good).

4. The final index is computed as the average of all available metrics. To obtain the ecological status according to IBICAT2b, the following thresholds are used:

	Very good	Good	Moderate	Poor	Bad
IBICAT2b	≥4.5	3.5-4.5	2.5-3.5	1.5–2.5	<1.5
EQR	≥0.875	0.875-0.625	0.625-0.375	0.375-0.125	< 0.125

#### 7 Concluding Remarks

Another type-specific index (IBICAT<sub>2010</sub>), quite different from IBICAT2b, was also described in Sostoa et al. [23] (see also [4]). An adaptation of this index (IBIMED), so far (February 2015) not available in published papers, Internet reports, or software, was intercalibrated with EFI+ and the Portuguese fish index [79]. The differences between IBIMED and IBICAT<sub>2010</sub> include the addition of some of the rest of Spanish fish species with their guild classification (to allow the computation in other river basins) [79] and apparently different thresholds for the EOR classes. IBIMED has only been successfully validated with qualitative environmental pressures in Mediterranean rivers and the Duero and not the rest of Spanish rivers and was only intercalibrated for Mediterranean rivers (excluding the Duero) [79]. Recent unpublished work throughout the Ebro River (García-Berthou and Bae, unpublished data) shows that IBICAT2b and EFI+ are more related to quantitative environmental pressures than  $IBIMED/IBICAT_{2010}$ , which shows problems mainly in the typology and treatment of fishless or dry sites. However, these three indices are correlated and their values could thus be converted (e.g.,  $IBICAT_{2010} = 0.2099 + 0.1398$ IBICAT2b, IBICAT2b = 1.3849 + 2.941IBICAT<sub>2010</sub>,  $r^2 = 0.411$ , P < 0.0005; EFI+ = 0.2686 + 0.1279 IBICAT2b, IBICAT2b = 1.8573 + 2.2129 EFI+,  $r^2 = 0.283$ , P < 0.0005). Overall, our work suggests that fish indices can be successful in Spain but research is needed to improve them and generalize them. The availability of further fish data, userfriendly software, and extensive validation are essential steps toward the improvement of these fish-based indices.

Acknowledgments We gratefully thank everybody who helped in the fieldwork. This study was funded by the Catalan Water Agency. Additional financial support was provided by the Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness (projects CGL2009-12877-C02-01 and CGL2013-43822-R), the University of Girona (project SING12/09), the Sant Celoni town council ("Observatori de la Tordera" project, led by Dr. M. Boada), and the Government of Catalonia (ref. 2014 SGR 484). MJB benefited from a postdoctoral grant from the European Commission (Erasmus Mundus Partnership "NESSIE", 372353-1-2012-1-FR-ERA MUNDUS-EMA22).

#### References

- 1. Hellawell JM (1986) Biological indicators of freshwater pollution and environmental management. Elsevier Applied Science, London
- Rosenberg DM, Resh VH (1993) Introduction to freshwater biomonitoring and benthic macroinvertebrates. In: Rosenberg DM, Resh VH (eds) Freshwater biomonitoring and benthic macroinvertebrates. Chapman and Hall, New York, pp 1–9
- 3. Hering D, Johnson RK, Kramm S et al (2006) Assessment of European streams with diatoms, macrophytes, macroinvertebrates and fish: a comparative metric-based analysis of organism response to stress. Freshw Biol 51:1757–1785
- 4. Benejam L et al (2015) Fish as ecological indicators in Mediterranean streams: the Catalan experience. In: Munné A, Ginebreda A, Prat N (eds) Experiences from surface water quality monitoring. The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (part I). Springer, Berlin
- 5. Bain MB, Finn JT, Booke HE (1988) Streamflow regulation and fish community structure. Ecology 69:382–392
- Morita K, Yamamoto S (2002) Effects of habitat fragmentation by damming on the persistence of stream-dwelling charr populations. Conserv Biol 16:1318–1323
- 7. Belpaire C, Smolders R, Auweele IV et al (2000) An Index of Biotic Integrity characterizing fish populations and the ecological quality of Flandrian water bodies. Hydrobiologia 434:17–33
- Snyder CD, Young JA, Villella R et al (2003) Influences of upland and riparian land use patterns on stream biotic integrity. Landsc Ecol 18:647–664
- Benejam L, Aparicio E, Vargas MJ et al (2008) Assessing fish metrics and biotic indices in a Mediterranean stream: effects of uncertain native status of fish. Hydrobiologia 603:197–210
- Sandøy S, Langåker RM (2001) Atlantic salmon and acidification in southern Norway: a disaster in the 20th century, but a hope for the future? Water Air Soil Pollut 130:1343–1348
- 11. Peterson JT, Thurow RF, Guzevich JW (2004) An evaluation of multipass electrofishing for estimating abundance of stream-dwelling salmonids. Trans Am Fish Soc 133:462–475
- Rosenberger AE, Dunham JB (2005) Validation of abundance estimates from mark-recapture and removal techniques for rainbow trout captured by electrofishing in small streams. N Am J Fish Manag 25:1395–1410
- Hickey MA, Closs GP (2006) Evaluating the potential of night spotlighting as a method for assessing species composition and brown trout abundance: a comparison with electrofishing in small streams. J Fish Biol 69:1513–1523
- Dolan C, Miranda L (2003) Immobilization thresholds of electrofishing relative to fish size. Trans Am Fish Soc 132:69–976
- Mäntyniemi S, Romakkaniemi A, Arjas E (2005) Bayesian removal estimation of a population size under unequal catchability. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 62:291–300
- Plafkin JL, Barbour MT, Gross SK et al (1989) Rapid bioassessment protocols for use in streams and rivers: benthic macroinvertebrates and fish, EPA 444/4-89-001. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC, 171 pp
- MacDonald LH, Smart AW, Wissmar RC (1991) Monitoring guidelines to evaluate effects of forestry activities on streams in the Pacific northwest and Alaska. EPA 910/9-91-001. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Seattle, 166 pp
- Ralph SC, Cardoso T, Poole CG et al (1992) Status and trends of instream habitat in forested lands of Washington: the Timber, Fish, and Wildlife ambient monitoring project-1989–1991. Biennial progress report, University of Washington, Center for Streamside Studies Report to the Washington Department of Natural Resources, Olympia Washington
- Roper BB, Scarnecchia DL (1995) Observer variability in classifying habitat types in stream surveys. N Am J Fish Manag 15:49–53
- Wang L, Simonson TD, Lyons J (1996) Accuracy and precision of selected stream habitat estimates. N Am J Fish Manag 16:340–347

- 21. Roper BB, Kershner JL, Archer E et al (2002) An evaluation of physical stream habitat attributes used to monitor streams. J Am Water Resour Assoc 38:1637–1646
- 22. Whitacre HW, Roper BB, Kershner JL (2007) A comparison of protocols and observer precision for measuring physical. Stream attributes. J Am Water Resour Assoc 43:923–937
- 23. Sostoa A, Caiola N, Casals F et al (2010) Adjustment of the index of biotic integrity (IBICAT) based on the use of fish as indicators of the environmental quality of the rivers of Catalonia (in Catalan) Agència Catalana de l'Aigua, Departament de Medi Ambient i Habitatge, Generalitat de Catalunya, Barcelona (in Catalan) 187 pp, http://doi.org/10.13140/2.1.1551. 6964. Accessed 24 Mar 2015
- 24. Benejam L, Alcaraz C, Benito J et al (2012) Fish catchability and comparison of four electrofishing crews in Mediterranean streams. Fish Res 123:9–15
- Penczak T (1985) Influence of site area on the estimation of the density of fish populations in a small river. Aquac Res 16:273–285
- 26. Meador MR, McIntyre JP, Pollock KH (2003) Assessing the efficacy of single-pass backpack electrofishing to characterize fish community structure. Trans Am Fish Soc 132:39–46
- Penczak T, Głowacki Ł (2008) Evaluation of electrofishing efficiency in a stream under natural and regulated conditions. Aquat Living Resour 21:329–337
- 28. Sályl P, Erős T, Takács P et al (2009) Assemblage level monitoring of stream fishes: the relative efficiency of single-pass vs. double-pass electrofishing. Fish Res 99:226–233
- 29. Vehanen T, Sutela T, Jounela P et al (2013) Assessing electric fishing sampling effort to estimate stream fish assemblage attributes. Fish Manag Ecol 20:10–20
- 30. Pritt JJ, Frimpong EA (2014) The effect of sampling intensity on patterns of rarity and community assessment metrics in stream fish samples. Ecol Indic 39:169–178
- 31. Specziár A, Takács P, Czeglédi I et al (2012) The role of the electrofishing equipment type and the operator in assessing fish assemblages in a non-wadeable lowland river. Fish Res 125:99–107
- 32. Lyons J (1992) The length of stream to sample with a towed electrofishing unit when fish species richness is estimated. N Am J Fish Manag 12:198–203
- 33. Hughes RM, Kaufmann PR, Herlihy AT et al (2002) Electrofishing distance needed to estimate fish species richness in raftable Oregon rivers. N Am J Fish Manag 22:1229–1240
- 34. Meador MR (2005) Single-pass versus two-pass boat electrofishing for characterizing river fish assemblages: species richness estimates and sampling distance. Trans Am Fish Soc 134:59–67
- Hughes RM, Herlihy AT (2007) Electrofishing distance needed to estimate consistent index of biotic integrity (IBI) scores in raftable Oregon rivers. Trans Am Fish Soc 136:135–141
- Maret TR, Ott DS, Herlihy AT (2007) Electrofishing effort required to estimate biotic condition in southern Idaho rivers. N Am J Fish Manag 27:1041–1052
- 37. Fisher JR, Paukert CP (2009) Effects of sampling effort, assemblage similarity, and habitat heterogeneity on estimates of species richness and relative abundance of stream fishes. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 66:277–290
- Palmer MW (1991) Estimating species richness: the second-order jackknife reconsidered. Ecology 72:1512–1513
- 39. Burnham KP, Anderson DR (2002) Model selection and multimodel inference: a practical information-theoretic approach. Springer, New York
- Barbour MT, Stribling JB, Gerritsen J, Karr JR (1996) Biological criteria: technical guidance for streams and small rivers–revised edition. EPA 822-B-96-001. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC
- 41. Karr JR, Fausch KD, Angermeier PL et al (1986) Assessing biological integrity in running waters. A method and its rationale. Illinois Natural History Survey, Champaign, Special Publication, 5
- 42. Ball J (1982) Stream classification guidelines for Wisconsin. Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources Technical Bulletin. Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, Madison, Wisconsin

- 43. OHIO EPA (1987) Biological criteria for the protection of aquatic life: volumes I-III. Ohio EPA, Division of Water Quality Monitoring and Assessment, Surface Water Section, Columbus, Ohio
- 44. Resh VH, Norris RH, Barbour MT (1995) Design and implementation of rapid assessment approaches for water resource monitoring using benthic macroinvertebrates. Aust J Ecol 20:108–121
- Hannaford MJ, Barbour MT, Resh VH (1997) Training reduces observer variability in visualbased assessments of stream habitat. J N Am Benthol Soc 16:853–860
- 46. Barbour MT, Gerritsen J, Snyder BD et al (1999) Rapid bioassessment protocols for use in streams and wadeable rivers: periphyton, benthic macroinvertebrates and fish, 2nd edn. EPA 841-B-99-002. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington, DC
- 47. Murphy CA, Casals F, Solà C et al (2013) Efficacy of population size structure as a bioassessment tool in freshwaters. Ecol Indic 34:571–579
- Oberdorff T, Pont D, Hugueny B et al (2001) A probabilistic model characterizing riverine fish communities of French rivers: a framework for environmental assessment. Freshw Biol 46:399–415
- Roset N, Grenouillet G, Goffaux D et al (2007) A review of existing fish assemblage indicators and methodologies. Fish Manag Ecol 14:393–405
- 50. Logez M, Pont D (2013) Global warming and potential shift in reference conditions: the case of functional fish-based metrics. Hydrobiologia 704:417–436
- 51. Karr JR, Chu EW (1998) Restoring life in running waters: better biological monitoring. Island Press, Washington, DC
- 52. Oberdorff T, Pont D, Hugueny B et al (2002) Development and validation of a fish-based index for the assessment of "river health" in France. Freshw Biol 47:1720–1734
- 53. Pont D, Hugueny B, Beier B et al (2006) Assessing river biotic condition at a continental scale: a European approach using functional metrics and fish assemblages. J Appl Ecol 43:70–80
- 54. Pont D, Hugueny B, Rogers C (2007) Development of a fish-based index for the assessment of river health in Europe: the European Fish Index. Fish Manag Ecol 14:427–439
- 55. Logez M, Pont D (2011) Development of metrics based on fish body size and species traits to assess European coldwater streams. Ecol Indic 11:1204–1215
- 56. Hoeinghaus DJ, Winemiller KO, Birnbaum JS (2007) Local and regional determinants of stream fish assemblage structure: inferences based on taxonomic vs. functional groups. J Biogeogr 34:324–338
- Lamouroux N, Poff NL, Angermeier PL (2002) Intercontinental convergence of stream fish community traits along geomorphic and hydraulic gradients. Ecology 83:1792–1807
- Goldstein RM, Meador MR (2004) Comparisons of fish species traits from small streams to large rivers. Trans Am Fish Soc 133:971–983
- 59. Statzner B, Dolédec S, Hugueny B (2004) Biological trait composition of European stream invertebrate communities: assessing the effects of various trait filter types. Ecography 27:470–488
- 60. Bonada N, Doledec S, Statzner B (2007) Taxonomic and biological trait differences of stream macroinvertebrate communities between Mediterranean and temperate regions: implications for future climatic scenarios. Glob Chang Biol 13:1658–1671
- 61. Logez M, Pont D, Ferreira MT (2010) Do Iberian and European fish faunas exhibit convergent functional structure along environmental gradients? J N Am Benthol Soc 29:1310–1323
- 62. Wright JF (1995) Development and use of a system for predicting the macroinvertebrate fauna in flowing waters. Aust J Ecol 20:181–197
- Hawkins CP, Olson JR, Hill RA (2010) The reference condition: predicting benchmarks for ecological and water-quality assessments. J N Am Benthol Soc 29:312–358
- 64. Osenberg CW, Schmitt RJ, Holbrook SJ et al (1994) Detection of environmental impacts: natural variability, effect Size, and power analysis. Ecol Appl 4:16–30
- 65. García-Charton JA, Pérez-Ruzafa Á (2001) Spatial pattern and the habitat structure of a Mediterranean rocky reef fish local assemblage. Mar Biol 138:917–934

- 66. Karr JR (1981) Assessment of biotic integrity using fish communities. Fisheries 6:21-27
- 67. ACA (Agència Catalana de l'Aigua) (2005) Caracterització de masses d'aigua i anàlisi del risc d'incompliment dels objectius de la directiva marc de l'aigua (2000/60/CE) a Catalunya (conques intra i intercomunitàries) en compliment als articles 5, 6 i 7 de la directiva, http:// aca-web.gencat.cat/aca/appmanager/aca/aca?nfpb=true& pageLabel=P1206154461208200586461. Accessed 30 May 2013
- 68. Pont D, Hugueny B, Roset N, Rogers C (2004) Development, evaluation & implementation of a standardised fish-based assessment method for the ecological status of European rivers - a contribution to the Water Framework Directive (FAME). Final report, WP6-8, 59 s
- 69. Degerman E, Beier U, Breine J et al (2007) Classification and assessment of degradation in European running waters. Fish Manag Ecol 14:417–426
- 70. Grenouillet G, Roset N, Goffaux D et al (2007) Fish assemblages in European Western Highlands and Western Plains: a type-specific approach to assess ecological quality of running waters. Fish Manag Ecol 14:509–517
- 71. EFI+ Consortium (2009) Manual for the application of the new European Fish Index EFI+. A fish-based method to assess the ecological status of European running waters in support of the Water Framework Directive. June 2009. BOKU, Vienna, 45 pp. http://efi-plus.boku.ac.at
- 72. Trautwein C, Schinegger R, Schmutz S (2013) Divergent reaction of fish metrics to human pressures in fish assemblage types in Europe. Hydrobiologia 718:207–220
- 73. Munné A, Prat N (2004) Defining river types in a Mediterranean area. A methodology for the implementation of the EU Water Framework Directive. Environ Manag 34(5):711–729
- 74. Munné A, Prat N (2011) Effects of Mediterranean climate annual variability on stream biological quality assessment using macroinvertebrate communities. Ecol Indic 11:651–662
- Munné A. Prat N (1998) Delimitación de regiones ecológicas en la cuenca del Ebro. Asisténcia técnica 1998-PH-08-I. Confederación Hidrográfica del Ebro. Zaragoza. 153 pp (in Spanish)
- 76. MMA (Ministerio de Medio Ambiente) (2005) Caracterización de los tipos de ríos y lagos. Versión 4.0. Ministerio de Medio Ambiente, Madrid. 251 p
- MARM (Ministerio de Medio Ambiente, y Medio Rural y Marino) (2008) Orden ARM/2656/ 2008, de 10 de septiembre, por la que se aprueba la instrucción de planificación hidrológica. BOE 229:38472–38582
- Benejam L, Angermeier PL, Munné A, García-Berthou E (2010) Assessing effects of water abstraction on fish assemblages in Mediterranean streams. Freshw Biol 55:628–642
- Segurado P, Caiola N, Pont D, Oliveira JM, Delaigue O, Ferreira MT (2014) Comparability of fish-based ecological quality assessments for geographically distinct Iberian regions. Sci Total Environ 476:785–794

## **Biological Indicators to Assess the Ecological Status of River-Dominated Estuaries: The Case of Benthic Indicators in the Ebro River Estuary**

Carles Ibáñez, Nuno Caiola, Rosa Trobajo, Alfonso Nebra, and Laia Rovira

Abstract River-dominated estuaries (also known as salt-wedge or highly stratified estuaries) are transitional water bodies occurring in micro-tidal coasts such as the Mediterranean. Their hydrological and ecological particularities make difficult the assessment of the ecological status using either the procedures for rivers or estuaries. For instance, river-dominated estuaries become rivers when the discharge is higher than its annual average (riverine conditions), whereas they become highly stratified when discharge is lower than its annual average (estuarine conditions). Moreover, the transition between riverine and estuarine conditions is abrupt and irregular across space and time, converting these transitional water bodies in naturally stressed ecosystems. To add more complexity, the human intervention in river basins (i.e. damming and intensive water use) has tended to reduce and homogenise river discharge, making more frequent and regular the presence of a salt wedge in the estuary, softening their natural stressful dynamics. As a result, it is difficult to discern natural from anthropogenic stressors, because the increase in environmental stability leads to higher complexity in biological communities and thus some bioindicators may show scores indicating better ecological status under impacted conditions than under natural conditions, which is an expression of a phenomenon known as 'estuarine quality paradox'. To sort out this situation and achieve a proper assessment of the ecological status of river-dominated estuaries, a specific approach is required, both in terms of the bioindicators to be used and the methodology to make them work in the correct way.

In this chapter a synthesis of preliminary work carried out to develop assessment methods (according to the Water Framework Directive) in the Ebro River estuary is presented, and the strategy to further develop the best methods to carry out the ecological status assessment is discussed. The Ebro River estuary is a typical salt-

149

C. Ibáñez (🖂), N. Caiola, R. Trobajo, A. Nebra, and L. Rovira

IRTA, Aquatic Ecosystems Program, 43540 Sant Carles de la Ràpita, Catalonia, Spain e-mail: carles.ibanez@irta.cat

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring:* The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River

*Basin District (Part I)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 42: 149–170, DOI 10.1007/698\_2015\_398, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 16 July 2015

wedge estuary which is representative of this type of water bodies in the Mediterranean, and its hydrology and ecology have been intensively investigated in the past. Results show that existing bioassessment methods for transitional waters are not appropriate for the assessment of the ecological status of river-dominated estuaries, though in some cases the adaptation of some methods can be a useful way to start with the assessment as long as limitations are known.

Keywords Diatoms, Ecological indicators, Macroinvertebrates, Salt-wedge estuary

#### Contents

1	Introduction	150
2	Benthic Bioindicators to Assess the Ecological Status of Water Bodies	152
3	Study Area and Methods	152
	3.1 Benthic Samples	154
	3.2 Biotic Indices and Metrics Evaluation	154
4	Results and Discussion	156
	4.1 Application of Benthic Diatom Indices	156
	4.2 Application of Benthic Macroinvertebrate Indices	159
	4.3 Anthropogenic Pressures Affecting the Ebro Estuary	164
	4.4 WFD: Water Quality vs. Ecological Status and the Complexity in Assessing	
	the Latter in TWs	164
5	Conclusions	165
Re	ferences	166

#### **1** Introduction

The European Union reacted to the severe ecological decline of aquatic ecosystems by passing the Water Framework Directive (WFD) in 2000 [1]. The WFD provides a basis for the conservation, protection and improvement the ecological integrity of all water bodies, including groundwater, inland surface water and coastal and transitional waters. According to the WFD, the estuaries are classified as transitional waters, defining them as bodies of surface water in the vicinity of river mouths which are partly saline in character as a result of their proximity to coastal waters but which are substantially influenced by freshwater flows. The WFD aims to assess the ecological status of all European water bodies using hydromorphological, physicochemical and biological indicators (i.e. phytoplankton, macroalgae, phytobenthos, macroinvertebrates and fish) [2, 3]. Ecological quality assessment of a water body must be based on the status of different biological quality elements (e.g. benthic invertebrate fauna or aquatic flora) and endorsed by hydromorphological and physicochemical quality elements. The status of these elements is determined by the deviation they exhibit from the type-specific

reference conditions, at undisturbed or nearly undisturbed situations (WFD, 2000/ 60/EC, Annex V).

Estuaries are dynamic ecosystems showing a high spatial and temporal physicochemical and biological variability, and they can also present several pollution gradients due to the high number of human activities influencing them [4, 5]. Moreover, in transitional waters natural stressors interact with anthropogenic stressors, making it very difficult to discern between them in terms of impacts on the biological communities, because the increase in environmental stability leads to higher complexity in biological communities and thus some bioindicators may show scores indicating better ecological status under impacted conditions than under natural conditions, which is an expression of a phenomenon known as 'estuarine quality paradox' [6, 7]. The rapid population growth during the last century has increased the pressures over estuarine systems, threatening their ecological integrity, economic value and even affecting public health [6-9]. The main anthropogenic pressures affecting estuaries are industrial waste water, urban sewage effluents, agriculture and farmland runoff, fish farming and harbours [10]. These activities cause an excess of nutrients, increase the organic matter loads and even promote the accumulation of dangerous pollutants in the sediment such as heavy metals, toxic compounds and hydrocarbon substances [11, 12]. High nutrient loads produce direct ecological impacts over biological communities [13], associated mostly with eutrophication processes [14]. These facts disturb composition, trophic structure and biomass of the biological communities [15, 16].

In Mediterranean aquatic ecosystems, the impacts produced by these pressures are magnified by the strong seasonal and inter-annual hydrological variability [17, 18]. Moreover, human responses to this hydrological fluctuation involve flow regulation measures, such as reservoirs, that frequently disrupt aquatic ecosystems, producing accentuated environmental changes [19]. In highly stratified estuaries, like the study case, obtaining a coherent response of biotic indices to abiotic stressors is even more difficult because both natural and anthropogenic hydrological variations (spatial and temporal) produce rapid and abrupt changes in biological communities [20]. Therefore, establishing reference conditions for these systems (the basis for the development of biotic indices according to the WFD criteria) is a challenging task.

In this chapter a synthesis of preliminary work carried out to develop assessment methods (according to the Water Framework Directive) in the Ebro River estuary (southern Catalonia) is presented (see [20, 21] for more information), and the strategy to further develop the best methods to carry out the ecological status assessment is discussed. The Ebro River estuary is a typical salt-wedge estuary which is representative of this type of water bodies in the Mediterranean, and its hydrology and ecology have been intensively investigated.

## 2 Benthic Bioindicators to Assess the Ecological Status of Water Bodies

The most widespread benthic bioindicators used both in the European Union and elsewhere to assess the ecological status of water bodies are benthic diatoms and macroinvertebrates. Due to its reduced mobility and short generation times, phytobenthos has shown a rapid response to environmental changes and can integrate environmental conditions better than other bioindicators [22], being commonly used in the assessment of the ecological status and monitoring of anthropogenic impacts. Diatoms are the main component of phytobenthos and are one of the most important groups of algae used for ecological assessment [23-26]. Their ubiquity, their direct and sensitive response to physicochemical changes and their preservation in sediments for a long time make them good water quality indicators for both present and past environmental changes [22]. In Europe there are about 20 diatom-based metrics that were initially developed to assess nutrient and/or organic pollution in rivers, and, later, some of them have been adapted to fulfil the WFD requirements of assessing the ecological status of these ecosystems [27]. However, little information is available about the use of benthic diatoms as bioindicators in estuaries and other transitional systems, with only very few studies carried out in Europe [28, 29] and in the USA [30]. The study of Della Bella et al. [28] is the only one dealing with the controversies of water quality assessment in these complex water bodies. And certainly there is no diatom index specific for transitional or marine waters.

Benthic invertebrates also play important roles in the ecology of aquatic ecosystems and respond to anthropogenic stress [9, 15, 31–33]. During the last decade, some biotic indices based on soft-bottom benthic invertebrate communities such as the AMBI [34], BENTIX [32] and the multivariate method M-AMBI [35, 36] have proved to be very useful tools in assessing the ES of coastal and TWs, especially regarding nutrient and organic enrichment. However, the estuarine systems where these indices were developed correspond to 'well-mixed' type, which are systems with different ecological dynamics comparing with 'highly stratified' estuaries like the Ebro estuary.

#### **3** Study Area and Methods

The Ebro estuary (Fig. 1) is a salt-wedge estuary located in southern Catalonia, at the NE of the Iberian Peninsula ( $40^{\circ}43'10''N$ ,  $0^{\circ}40'30''E$ ); it covers an approximate area of 10 km<sup>2</sup> and is 40 km long with a mean width of 237 m and a mean depth of 6.8 m. It is a micro-tidal estuary with a tidal range around 20 cm, favouring the vertical stratification of the water column and the existence of a salt wedge, with a maximum intrusion in the Ebro River of 32 km. The hydrology and dynamics of the salt wedge is controlled mainly by the river flow, as other salt-wedge estuaries



Fig. 1 Map of the Ebro River basin and its delta showing the studied estuary with the position of the nine sampling stations. *UE* upper estuary stations, *LE* lower estuary stations, *SW* null point position

[37]. When the Ebro River flow is above 400 m<sup>3</sup>/s, the wedge is absent; between 300 and 400 m<sup>3</sup>/s, it occupies the last 5 km of the estuary, whereas with discharges below 300 m<sup>3</sup>/s, it advances up to 18 km from the river mouth (this is the most frequent situation); when the flow is less than 100 m<sup>3</sup>/s, the wedge reaches its maximum extent.

The lower Ebro River flow has been largely regulated since 1960s with two big reservoirs (Mequinenza and Riba-Roja) situated 100 km upstream the river mouth, and it has decreased by 40% due to intensive water uses in the Ebro basin, with irrigation accounting for 90% of water consumed [38]. The main human impacts at basin level are the hydrological alteration resulting from strong flow regulation and water abstraction, and the high nutrient levels in river water due to the input of agricultural and urban sewage effluents [39–41]. Nevertheless, during the last 15 years, an improvement of urban sewage treatment together with the restriction in the use of phosphate-based compounds has dimmed the eutrophication process [42–44].

#### 3.1 Benthic Samples

For benthic diatoms, eight sampling sites distributed every 3-6 km within the estuary were sampled every 3 months from October 2007 to December 2008 (see [21, 45] for details). Benthic diatom samples were collected from both natural and artificial substrata (fired clay bricks). An area of 4 cm<sup>2</sup> was scrapped off the artificial substrata, and three fragments from natural substrata were included in each replicate. Two replicates from both artificial and natural substrata were processed. Benthic diatom samples were oxidised with H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> 30% v/v a few hours in order to remove the organic matter, and HCl<sup>-</sup> 37% v/v was added to eliminate carbonates; clean valves were permanently mounted with Naphrax<sup>®</sup>. Slides were examined using a LEICA DMI 3000B light microscope equipped with differential interference contrast under oil immersion objective at x100 magnification. A minimum of 400 valves were counted at both natural and artificial replicates, and identification of diatoms was done down to species level using specialised bibliography [46–48]. A total of nine sites were sampled for benthic macroinvertebrates (the same sampling stations sampled for benthic diatoms plus one extra site). Each station was sampled seasonally (summer and autumn 2007; winter and spring 2008) for benthic macroinvertebrates, sediment traits, dissolved oxygen, total and dissolved nutrients and hydromorphological characteristics (depth, flow velocity and water transparency, suspended sediment and chlorophyll a) (see [20] for details on sample and laboratory procedures). These abiotic parameters were also recorded for benthic diatoms surveys.

#### 3.2 Biotic Indices and Metrics Evaluation

A screening of existing benthic diatoms and macroinvertebrates biotic indices for the assessment of surface waters' ecological status was carried out. All the indices that could potentially be suitable to assess the ecological status of the Ebro estuary were computed (Table 1), and their response to anthropogenic disturbances was tested. Moreover, this analysis was performed for three groups of diatom indicator species identified for the three main ecological conditions recognised for the Ebro estuary [21, 45], i.e. riverine conditions, estuarine conditions and well-established salt-wedge conditions (Table 2). These diatom indicator species were identified through Indicator Species Analysis [68]; for further details, see [21]. In the case of macroinvertebrate multimetric indices, the individual metrics responses to human disturbance were also assessed.

The anthropogenic disturbance was expressed with three variables: a pollution index and two variables defining the hydrological alteration [67]. In the case of diatoms, the pollution index was expressed as a nutrient gradient that corresponds to the significant factor resulted from a principal component analysis performed with the water nutrients (P-PO<sub>4</sub><sup>-3</sup>, N-NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, N-NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>, N-NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>). For

Code	Index	Source
CEE	Descy and Coste Diatom Index	Descy and Coste [23]
DESCY	Descy Index	Descy [49]
DI-CH	Swiss Diatom Index	Buwal [50]
EPI-D	Diatom-Based Eutrophication/Pollution Index	Dell'Uomo [51]
GENRE	Generic Diatom Index	Rumeau and Coste [52]
IBD	Biological Diatom Index	Lenoir and Coste [53]
IDAP	Artois-Picardie Diatom Index	Prygiel et al. [54]
IDP	The Pampean Diatom Index	Gómez and Licursi [55]
IPS	Specific Pollution Sensitivity Index	Cemagref [56]
L&M	Leclerq and Maquet Index	Leclercq and Maquet [57]
LOBO	LOBO Index	Lobo et al. [58]
SHE	Schiefele and Schreiner Index	Schiefele and Schreiner [59]
SID	Austrian Saprobic Index	Rott et al. [60]
SLA	Sládecěk Index	Sládeček [61]
TDI	Trophic Diatom Index	Kelly [62]
TID	Austrian Trophic Index	Rott et al. [63]
WHAT	Watanabe Index	Watanabe et al. [64]
IBMWP	Iberian Biological Monitoring Working Party	Alba-Tercedor et al. [65]
M-AMBI	Multivariate Marine Biotic Index	Borja et al. [3], Muxika et al.
		[36]
BENTIX	BENTIX	Simboura and Zenetos (2002)
		[32]
BOPA	Benthic Opportunistic Polychaetes Amphipods	Dauvin and Ruellet [66]
	Index	

 Table 1
 List of the 17 diatom indices (developed for rivers) and 4 macroinvertebrate indices (developed for river or estuaries) that have evaluated in this study

Code: index abbreviation; source: publication from which the index was first described. See references in [21] and [67]

macroinvertebrates, the pollution index was expressed as an organic pollution index which is a synthetic value of the two first factors from a principal component analysis performed with the organic pollution-related variables (DO, nutrients, chlorophyll a, pheophytin and organic matter in sediment and in suspension). The hydrological alteration was expressed as the deviation of the salt-wedge dynamics from the expected natural condition in both probability and time of presence in each sampling occasion [67].

The criterion used to evaluate the performance of the different diatom and macroinvertebrate metrics in assessing the ecological status of the Ebro estuary was based on the existence of a significant correlation with the pressure variable (i.e. pollution or hydrological alteration) and in the expected response to increasing perturbation. The benthic diatoms and macroinvertebrates of the Ebro estuary are structured in two communities associated with the upper (UE) and lower estuary (LE) stretches and independent from the sampling season [20, 45] (in the latter, UE

	IV	S	F
Riverine conditions		·	
Cocconeis placentula var. trilineata	85	88	97
Cocconeis placentula var. euglypta	84	84	100
Amphora pediculus	80	80	100
Navicula antonii	80	84	95
Navicula cryptotenella	78	80	98
Amphora cf. vetula	78	89	88
Achnanthidium minutissimum	77	91	84
Navicula cf. cryptotenelloides	63	83	76
Nitzschia amphibia	60	79	76
Estuarine conditions	·		
Nitzschia inconspicua	83	90	92
Amphora polita	69	97	71
Navicula aff. mollis	69	82	84
Tabularia fasciculata	65	73	89
Navicula recens	61	65	95
Navicula gregaria	61	89	68
Nitzschia constricta	61	93	66
Navicula perminuta	60	95	63
Well-established salt-wedge conditions	· · ·		
Diploneis sp.	56	96	58
Amphora aff. luciae	34	99	34
Gomphonemopsis obscura	23	96	24
Cocconeis cf. neothumensis var. marina	18	100	18
Parlibellus cf. berkeleyi	18	100	18
Planothidium iberense	16	100	16

 Table 2
 Diatom indicator species list for each of the three main ecological conditions recognised for the Ebro estuary by Rovira et al. [21]

IV indicator value, S specificity, F fidelity

and LE mainly correspond to 'riverine' and 'estuarine' conditions, respectively). Therefore, the sensitivity of the biotic indices and metrics to human disturbance was analysed separately for the two stretches, and seasonality was not taken into account [21, 67].

### 4 Results and Discussion

## 4.1 Application of Benthic Diatom Indices

There are no specific indices for assessing ecological status of estuaries and other transitional waters using diatoms. Therefore, as a first step towards developing such

	Nutrient gradient	P_SaltWedge
IPS	0.581**	-0.396*
SLA		
DESCY	0.413*	
LMA		
GENRE		
CEE		
SHE		
WHAT	0.375*	-0.457*
IDAP	0.393*	
IBD		
DI-C		
EPI-D		
IDP	0.551**	
LOBO		
SID		
TID		
TDI	-0.516**	
$\sum$ RA of riverine indicator species	-0.386*	
$\sum$ RA of estuarine indicator species		
$\sum PA$ of well established salt wedge indicator species		

**Table 3** Significant Spearman coefficients for the upper estuary (UE) between the tested metrics and the nutrient gradient (PCA axis 1) and hydrological pressure (expressed as the deviation of the probability of the salt-wedge occurrence over a month from the estimated probability under natural flow condition for that month)

 $\sum$  RA of well-established salt-wedge indicator species

RA relative abundances

p < 0.05, p < 0.01

an index, we evaluated the application of 17 diatom-based indices developed for rivers (see [21]) to the Ebro estuary. The ecological status classification of the Ebro Estuary depended entirely on which index was applied. For any given sampling campaign, different indices showed very different status class assessments of the Ebro estuary (see Table 4 in [21]). In general, samples of estuarine conditions (most samples of LE) showed lower ecological status values than samples of riverine conditions (most samples of UP). For some indices, these differences resulted in an inferior ecological status class. However, and more importantly, all indices showed a strong and negative correlation with salinity, but none were strongly and negatively correlated with nutrients, except the TDI; this showed a strong correlation with nutrients, which (as expected for any such index of nutrient status) was negative (Tables 3, 4 and 6 in [21]). In order to remove any possible effect of salinity on the relationship between indices and nutrient enrichment, Rovira et al. [21] analysed subsets of samples with more stable conductivity. They showed that the negative correlation between indices and conductivity was still very strong in the case of upstream superficial sites, and again only a very few indices showed negative responses to nutrients. Correlation between conductivity and indices in

	- ·		
	Nutrient gradient	P SaltWedge	Ndays SaltWedge
IPS	gruatent		-0.473**
SLA			
DESCY			-0.411*
LMA			-0.535**
GENRE			
CEE			-0.461**
SHE			
WHAT			-0.510**
IDAP			-0.429*
IBD			-0.441**
DI-C	0.510**		
EPI-D			-0.372*
IDP	0.446**		
LOBO			
SID			
TID			-0.511**
TDI			
$\sum$ RA of riverine indicator species			-0.553**
$\sum$ RA of estuarine indicator species			0.365*
$\sum$ RA of well-established salt-wedge indicator species	0.351*	0.435**	0.413*

**Table 4** Significant Spearman coefficients for the lower estuary (LE) between the tested metrics and the nutrient gradient (PCA axis 1) and hydrological pressure (expressed as the deviation of the salt-wedge presence – expressed as probability and duration – from the monthly average probability and duration in days during natural flow periods)

RA relative abundances

p < 0.05, p < 0.01

salt-wedge samples did not show a clear pattern, being positively or negatively correlated depending on the index considered. Negative correlations between diatom-based indices and nutrient concentrations increased when salt-wedge samples were considered alone.

Interestingly in the LE, Spearman coefficients showed a strong significant correlation between the variable 'hydrological pressure' and some diatom species indicators of the three main ecological conditions in the Ebro estuary (Table 4). Therefore, for the LE, the following three metrics,  $\Sigma$  relative abundances (RA) of riverine indicators species,  $\Sigma$  RA of estuarine indicators species and  $\Sigma$  RA of well-established salt-wedge indicator species (for the list of indicator species, see Table 2), could help monitor the hydrological alteration of the Ebro estuary. Thus, in the LE, high abundances of estuarine and salt-wedge indicator species would indicate a hydrological alteration due to flow reduction at times when riverine conditions (i.e. the absence of a salt wedge) would be expected (e.g. in spring due to strong rainfall and meltwater). On the other hand, at times of the year

when a salt wedge would be expected to be present, hydrological alteration in the estuary could be revealed by high abundances of riverine indicator species.

#### 4.2 Application of Benthic Macroinvertebrate Indices

Spearman correlations between the analysed indices plus single metrics and anthropogenic pressures for the UE and LE are shown in Tables 5 and 6, respectively.

IBMWP: all the families found in UE stations computed for IBMWP calculation. Concerning UE stations, 12.4% were classified as 'Good', 18.8% as 'Moderate', 31.3% as 'Poor' and 37.5% as 'Bad'. There wasn't any station achieving 'High' ES. The worst ES ratings corresponded to stations UE3 and UE4 which ranged between 'Bad' and 'Poor' (Fig. 2); UE2 ranged between 'Moderate' and 'Good' achieving this category in summer and spring. Station UE1 ratings ranged from 'Bad' to 'Moderate'. However, Spearman correlation coefficients reported no significant correlations between IBMWP (and its individual metrics) and the analysed variables concerning hydrological pressure and organic pollution pressure (Tables 5 and 6).

M-AMBI: the percentage of non-scoring taxa in LE stations was very low (0.14%  $\pm$  0.30). Results showed that 25.00% of LE stations were classified as 'High', 45.00% as 'Good', 15.00% as 'Moderate' and 15.00% as 'Poor'; there were no 'Bad' ES ratings (Fig. 2). Spearman correlation reported some significant correlations (in the LE) between some metrics of M-AMBI and the analysed hydrological pressures, but not for the organic pollution pressures (Tables 5 and 6).

BENTIX: similarly to M-AMBI, BENTIX index showed similar percentages of non-scoring taxa  $0.18\% \pm 0.30$ . Within LE stretch, the 25.00% of stations were classified as 'High', 5.00% as 'Good', 55.00% as 'Moderate' and 15.00% as 'Poor'; there were no 'Bad' ES ratings. Contrary to M-AMBI, best ES ratings corresponded to LE5 which ranged between 'Moderate' and 'High' (Fig. 2). Spearman correlation coefficients reported significant correlations (in the LE) between some metrics of BENTIX and the analysed hydrological pressures, but not for the organic pollution pressures (Tables 5 and 6).

BOPA: according to this index, the benthic estuarine condition ranged between 'High' and 'Poor' ES categories; there were no 'Bad' ES rating. A 45.00% of LE stations were classified as 'High', 25.00% as 'Good', 20.00% as 'Moderate' and 10.00% as 'Poor'. Spearman correlation coefficients reported significant correlations (in the LE) between some metrics of BOPA and the analysed hydrological pressures, but not for the organic pollution pressures (Tables 5 and 6).

Fig. 2 Ecological status classification of UE and LE stations recorded at each sampling occasion after applying the four different macroinvertebrate BIs: IBMWP, M-AMBI, BENTIX and BOPA. See Fig. 1 for sampling stations' codification



**Table 5** Spearman correlations between macroinvertebrate metrics and anthropogenic pressures for the upper Ebro estuary (UE). Correlations having the expected response to pressures are indicated with \* if p<0.05 or \*\* if p<0.01. Metrics highlighted in grey are the ones potentially useful to develop biotic indicators

	Hydrological a	lteration (P)	Organic pol	lution
Metrics code	Metric	Transformed metric	Metric	Transformed metric
S	-0.3814	-0.4183	0.0921	0.1319
Ν	-0.2656	-0.4298	0.3921	0.4356
Density	-0.2656	-0.4305	0.3921	0.4357
d	-0.3019	-0.336	-0.0262	0.0093
J	0.2685	0.2242	-0.5628	-0.5844
Н	-0.0812	-0.1103	-0.4499	-0.5046
1-l'	0.0418	0.0208	-0.555	-0.5759
DF_%	-0.3117	-0.4836	0.1862	0.2321
G_%	-0.3223	-0.3007	0.391	0.4018
O_%	0.7622**	0.6281**	-0.2119	-0.1865
Pa_%	-0.3232	-0.364	-0.3363	-0.2972
Pr_%	-0.3466	-0.3789	0.0827	0.203
SF_%	0.4388	0.3259	-0.2886	-0.2852
BENTIX <sup>1</sup>	0.1748	0.1041	0.4074	0.3301
Bentix_1_%	0.2269	0.2477	0.463	0.4568
Bentix_2_%	0.4279	0.3584	-0.5178	-0.6029
Bentix_3_%	-0.3885	-0.4844	-0.0436	-0.0609
BOPA <sub>2</sub>	-	-	-	-
BOPA_Amphipod	0.3795	0.5052	0.3823	0.2784
BOPA_Polych	-	-	-	-
AMBI <sup>3</sup>	-0.6134	-0.6295	0	-0.0157
M_AMBI	0.27	0.2757	-0.2531	-0.2455
AMBI_1_%	0.096	0.064	0.1629	0.1556
AMBI_2_%	-0.142	-0.1604	-0.1315	-0.0275
AMBI_3_%	0.6356**	0.5708*	-0.0082	-0.0312
AMBI_4_%	-0.2981	-0.3995	0.1232	0.0914
AMBI_5_%	-0.5928	-0.6416	-0.0143	-0.0389
IBMWP	-0.3354	-0.3874	0.0089	0.1128
EPT_Taxa	-0.3234	-0.3858	-0.0757	-0.1869
EPT_Taxa_%	0.1259	0.0267	-0.445	-0.4955
EPT_Taxa_%_AT	-0.0955	-0.2291	-0.3302	-0.3777
EPT/OL	-0.4028	-0.4844	-0.029	-0.1296
EPT/OL_%	-0.1842	-0.2751	-0.2312	-0.2621
EPT/Diptera	-0.3482	-0.412	-0.1152	-0.1073
EP_Taxa	-0.3549	-0.3835	-0.2969	-0.3207
EP_%	0.2139	0.1306	-0.4184	-0.5003
EP/Tot_%	0.2139	0.1306	-0.4184	-0.5003
OD_Taxa_%	-0.2267	-0.4129	0.2128	0.2614
EPTCBO_Taxa	-0.3991	-0.471	-0.1225	-0.2785
Families	-0.4583	-0.5247*	0.0088	0.0386
Genera	-0.4342	-0.487	0.014	0.0258

indicators						
	Hydrological alter	ration (P)	Hydrological alter	ation (n° days)	Organic pollutio	u
Metrics code	Metric	Transformed metric	Metric	Transformed metric	Metric	Transformed metric
S	0.4094	0.4035	0.7392	0.7927	0.0356	0.0432
Z	0.13	0.1881	0.2438	0.2882	-0.2629	-0.217
Density	0.13	0.1882	0.2438	0.2882	-0.2629	-0.2168
q	0.4526	0.4292	0.8382	0.8597	0.1259	0.1162
ſ	0.3226	0.3271	0.3901	0.393	0.3343	0.3329
H	0.4649	0.4381	0.6531	0.629	0.3508	0.3152
1-1'	0.3924	0.3817	0.5064	0.4999	0.3468	0.3321
DF_%	0.2861	0.3177	-0.1463	-0.1032	0.2773	0.2948
G_%	-0.1461	-0.0551	-0.1089	-0.0057	-0.3393	-0.3001
0_%	-0.0907	-0.0738	-0.344	-0.3325	0.1952	0.2034
Pa_%	0.23	0.3528	0.5295*	$0.656^{**}$	-0.0729	0.0017
Pr_%	0.4379	0.4024	0.6287	0.6745	0.335	0.2395
SF_%	$-0.6311^{**}$	$-0.6134^{*}$	-0.2826	-0.2819	$-0.5391^{*}$	-0.5353*
BENTIX <sup>1</sup>	-0.3348	-0.3289	$-0.6498^{**}$	$-0.618^{**}$	-0.0632	-0.058
Bentix_1_%	-0.3325	-0.2924	$-0.6495^{**}$	-0.5526*	-0.0631	-0.0352
Bentix_2_%	-0.0514	0.0384	0.459	$0.5722^{*}$	-0.1561	-0.0965
Bentix_3_%	0.5492*	$0.5954^{*}$	0.1682	0.2582	0.3453	0.3624
$BOPA_2$	0.4415	0.4446	0.473	0.4821	0.1851	0.1929
BOPA_Amphipod	-0.3258	-0.2695	$-0.6466^{**}$	-0.5955*	-0.0488	0.0164
BOPA_Polych	0.4332	0.4652	0.4425	$0.5176^{*}$	0.1726	0.2283
AMB1 <sup>3</sup>	0.3331	0.3302	0.2735	0.2705	0.0397	0.0223
M_AMBI	0.4631	0.4619	0.7806	0.7883	0.2139	0.2032
AMBI_1_%	0.1124	0.1334	0.0048	0.0398	0.1136	0.1497

**Table 6** Spearman correlations between macroinvertebrate metrics and anthropogenic pressures for the lower Ebro estuary (LE). Correlations having the expected response to pressures are indicated with \* if p<0.05 or \*\* if p<0.01. Metrics highlighted in grey are the ones potentially useful to develop biotic

AMBI_2_%	0.1369	0.1967	0.5784	0.6673	0.2314	0.2183
AMBI_3_%	-0.3558	-0.3428	-0.4309	-0.3962	-0.194	-0.1454
AMBI_4_%	0.3219	0.3753	0.4622	$0.5604^{*}$	0.1367	0.1953
AMBI_5_%	0.4574	$0.5884^{*}$	-0.0832	0.017	0.1461	0.299
IBMWP	0.4126	0.4144	0.0506	0.0178	0.1512	0.2565
EPT_Taxa	0.1391	0.1391	-0.1554	-0.1554	-0.2153	-0.2153
EPT_Taxa_%	0.3588	0.3263	-0.073	-0.0692	-0.154	-0.1806
EPT_Taxa_%_AT	0.1741	0.15	-0.1878	-0.1682	-0.2018	-0.212
EPT/OL	I	1	I	1	I	1
EPT/OL_%	I	I	I	1	I	I
EPT/Diptera	0.2757	0.2515	-0.0643	-0.0822	-0.2008	-0.205
EP_Taxa	0.1391	0.1391	-0.1554	-0.1554	-0.2153	-0.2153
EP_%	0.3588	0.3046	-0.073	-0.0878	-0.154	-0.186
EP/Tot_%	0.3588	0.3046	-0.073	-0.0878	-0.154	-0.186
OD_Taxa_%	0.111	0.2135	-0.1294	-0.0364	0.1592	0.2057
EPTCBO_Taxa	0.2523	0.2523	0.0339	0.0339	-0.0389	-0.0389
Families	0.541	0.5818	0.3601	0.3387	0.3005	0.346
Genera	0.4755	0.5318	0.3031	0.2968	0.2712	0.3227

#### 4.3 Anthropogenic Pressures Affecting the Ebro Estuary

Results showed that, at present, the main anthropogenic pressure in the Ebro estuary is associated with the hydrological alteration of the lower Ebro River (i.e. increased salt-wedge presence and river flow stability) and that some biotic indices or some of their individual metrics respond to the anthropogenic pressures, especially to the hydrological ones for the lower estuary (showing a higher frequency of salt wedge). Both salt-wedge presence and periods of low and stable flows are natural processes occurring in a stratified estuary with scarce and seasonal rainfall periods. However, increased irrigation and reservoir construction in early 1960s caused a decrease of 40% of the lower Ebro River flow [39, 69, 70], and therefore flow is lower and more stable now than before intensive water use. Flow regulation increased the presence of the salt wedge during most part of the year and reduced changes in its position [37, 69], causing a potential impact on biological communities, not only at a spatial scale, because the salt wedge is found further upstream than before reservoir construction, but also at a temporal scale, because the salt wedge is sometimes now present during meltwater and rainfall periods.

Regarding nutrient concentrations, the lower Ebro River and its estuary showed severe eutrophication due to phosphorus enrichment during the 1980s and 1990s. This situation changed since 1995–1996, when phosphorus concentration suddenly decreased from values of 0.2–0.3 mg/L P-PO<sub>3</sub><sup>-4</sup> to values of 0.05 mg/L P-PO<sub>3</sub><sup>-4</sup> of nowadays [20, 21, 42, 43]. This decrease in phosphorus could be explained by the construction in mid-1990s of waste water treatment facilities in the main cities of the middle Ebro basin together with the banning of detergents with phosphates; these may have reduced eutrophic conditions and therefore decreased phytoplankton concentrations [42, 43, 71]. However, the same trend has not been observed for nitrate concentration, likely due to its origin from non-point sources from agriculture, which are much more difficult to control [71]. Nowadays, nutrient concentrations in the lower Ebro River and more specifically in its estuary (i.e. the last 40 km) are relatively low and show low seasonal variability when compared to other large Mediterranean rivers [72-74], as well as low spatial variability. Therefore, it seems that at present, nutrient enrichment may not constitute the main anthropogenic pressure in the Ebro estuary. Moreover, the analysed biotic indices and their individual metrics do not respond significantly to the organic pollution pressure.

## 4.4 WFD: Water Quality vs. Ecological Status and the Complexity in Assessing the Latter in TWs

Most of the existing diatom and macroinvertebrate indices were originally designed to assess nutrient and organic pollution in water bodies in response to the requirements of the Urban Wastewater Treatment Directive [75] which was developed after eutrophication was recognised as a water pollution problem in most European
rivers [76]. However, although the WFD in 2000 introduced the evaluation of the 'ecological status' as a holistic approach that considers not only the water quality but also the structure and function of the ecosystem in response to anthropogenic pressures, no indices have been developed specifically for this purpose. Since the ecological status includes the response of the ecosystem to several types of pollution and other impacts, an extra level of caution has to be taken when applying nutrient-based indices to ecosystems that are affected by other types of contamination (e.g. heavy metals, halogenated hydrocarbons, etc.) or other anthropogenic pressures such as hydrological alteration which is, nowadays, a pressure that affects many rivers and their associated estuaries [77–79]. In the Ebro estuary, ecological status values resulting from the application of existing diatom and macroinvertebrate indices were strongly influenced by the salinity gradient, and only the trophic diatom indices (TDI and TID) showed the expected response to nutrients and included a high percentage of indicator species of that estuary. Macroinvertebrate metrics were more sensitive to the hydrological pressure than to the organic pollution pressure.

Existing diatom and macroinvertebrate indices assume that an increase of stresstolerant species will reflect significant nutrient-related disturbance as a consequence of human activities, rather than being caused by the natural environmental fluctuations that are characteristic of many transitional waters. Although our results agree with the expected dominance of eutraphentic and  $\alpha$ - or  $\beta$ -mesosaprobous diatom species in transitional waters [80, 81], their distributional patterns can also indicate a high tolerance to other environmental disturbances regardless of nutrient and/or organic matter levels [82]. Moreover, high abundances of the so-called stress-tolerant species do not always have to imply a decrease in ecological status, as stated by the 'estuarine quality paradox' [7, 83]. In the Ebro estuary, results suggest that the high abundance of these species, and the consequent low ecological status resulting from the indices' application, is mostly related to the fluctuating conditions caused by salt-wedge dynamics, which do not necessarily constitute altered conditions.

#### 5 Conclusions

Nowadays, the main anthropogenic pressure in the Ebro estuary is the alteration of the hydrological regime mainly caused since the 1960s by reservoir functioning and increased agricultural activities, which result in stable low flows and increased saltwedge presence. During the last two decades, there has been a trend of decreasing eutrophication and pollution but an increase in hydrological alteration, which poses additional difficulties in developing bioindicators for the assessment of riverdominated estuaries.

Our results show that although benthic diatoms and macroinvertebrates have potential as bioindicators of altered hydrological conditions in the Ebro estuary, the direct application of the existing indices to assess ecological status of the Ebro estuary and other salt-wedge estuaries cannot be recommended. This is mainly explained by the fact that most of the indices were originally developed to assess water quality of the North and Central Europe rivers or coastal marine waters, but none were designed to assess the ecological status of river-dominated estuaries, and therefore none of the tested indices consider the main ecological conditions characteristic of these ecosystems. Neither do they take into account other anthropogenic pressures besides eutrophication, such as flow regulation and other pollution sources. In addition, in salt-wedge estuaries, it is difficult to discern natural from anthropogenic stressors, because the increase in environmental stability leads to higher complexity in biological communities and thus some bioindicators may show scores indicating better ecological status under impacted conditions than under natural conditions, which is an expression of a phenomenon known as 'estuarine quality paradox'.

This study provides the basis for overcoming the difficulties of properly assessing the ecological status of river-dominated estuaries that are undergoing hydrological alteration, but more research is needed to develop specific bioindicators, especially for the case of organic pollution. Some promising results were obtained regarding the response of some metrics to hydrological alteration, but a more detailed analysis is needed to make sure that the response of the metrics is fully due to the hydrological alteration gradient or there are other factors involved.

Acknowledgements This study was supported by the Government of Catalonia (Catalan Water Agency). The authors would like to thank to Lluís Jornet, David Mateu, Sílvia Rodríguez, Mireia San Lorenzo Rosa Valmaña, Esther Clavero and Cristina Buendía for field and laboratory support.

## References

- European Parliament (2000) Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the council establishing a framework for the Community action in the field of water policy. Off J Eur Union 327:1–73
- Allan IJ, Vrana B, Greenwood R, Mills GA, Roig B, Gonzalez C (2006) A "toolbox" for biological and chemical monitoring requirements for the European Union's Water Framework Directive. Talanta 69:302–322
- Borja A, Franco J, Valencia V, Bald J, Muxika I, Belzunce MJ, Solaun O (2004) Implementation of the European Water Framework Directive from the Basque country (northern Spain): a methodological approach. Mar Pollut Bull 48:209–218
- 4. Cloern JE, Powell TM, Huzzey LM (1989) Spatial and temporal variability in South San-Francisco Bay (USA). 2. Temporal changes in salinity, suspended sediments, and phytoplankton biomass and productivity over tidal time scales. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 28:599–613
- 5. Rovira L, Trobajo R, Ibáñez C (2009) Periphytic diatom community in a Mediterranean salt wedge estuary: the Ebro estuary (NE Iberian Peninsula). Acta Bot Croat 68:285–300
- Dauvin JC (2007) Paradox of estuarine quality: benthic indicators and indices, consensus or debate for the future. Mar Pollut Bull 55:271–281

- Elliott M, Quintino V (2007) The estuarine quality paradox, environmental homeostasis and the difficulty of detecting anthropogenic stress in naturally stressed areas. Mar Pollut Bull 54: 640–645
- Schlacher TA, Wooldridge TH (1996) Ecological responses to reductions in freshwater supply and quality in South Africa's estuaries: lessons for management and conservation. J Coast Conserv 2:115–130
- Dauer DM, Ranasinghe JA, Weisberg SB (2000) Relationships between benthic community condition, water quality, sediment quality, nutrient loads, and land use patterns in Chesapeake Bay. Estuaries 23:80–96
- Zaldívar JM, Cardoso AC, Viaroli P, Newton A, de Wit R, Ibañez C, Reizopoulou S, Somma F, Razinkovas A, Basset A, Holmer M, Murray N (2008) Eutrophication in transitional waters: an overview. Trans Water Monogr 1:1–78
- Navarro-Ortega A, Tauler R, Lacorte S, Barceló D (2010) Occurrence and transport of PAHs, pesticides and alkylphenols in sediment samples along the Ebro River Basin. J Hydrol 383: 5–17
- 12. Nedwell DB, Jickells TD, Trimmer M, Sanders R (1999) Nutrients in estuaries. Adv Ecol Res 29:43–92
- 13. Karlson K, Rosenberg R, Bonsdorff E (2002) Temporal and spatial large-scale effects of eutrophication and oxygen deficiency on benthic fauna in Scandinavian and Baltic waters—a review. Oceanogr Mar Biol Annu Rev 40:427–489
- 14. Bock MT, Miller BS, Bowman AW (1999) Assessment of eutrophication in the firth of clyde: analysis of coastal water data from 1982 to 1996. Mar Pollut Bull 38:222–231
- 15. Pearson TH, Rosemberg R (1978) Macrobenthic succession in relation to organic enrichment and pollution of the marine environment. Oceanogr Mar Biol Annu Rev 16:229–311
- 16. Diaz RJ (2001) Overview of hypoxia around the world. J Environ Qual 30:275-281
- Caiola N, Vargas MJ, Sostoa A (2001) Feeding ecology of the endangered Valencia toothcarp, Valencia hispanica (Actinopterygii: Valenciidae). Hydrobiologia 448:97–105
- Ferreira T, Caiola N, Casals F, Oliveira JM, Sostoa A (2007) Assessing perturbation of river fish communities in the Iberian Ecoregion. Fish Manag Ecol 14:519–530
- Caiola N, Vargas MJ, Sostoa A (2001) Life history pattern of the endangered Valencia toothcarp, Valencia hispanica (Actinopterygii: Valenciidae) and its implications for conservation. Arch Hydrobiol 150:473–489
- Nebra A, Caiola N, Ibáñez C (2011) Community structure of benthic macroinvertebrates inhabiting a highly stratified Mediterranean estuary. Sci Mar 75:577–584
- Rovira L, Trobajo R, Ibáñez C (2012) The use of diatom assemblages as ecological indicators in highly stratified estuaries and evaluation of existing diatom indices. Mar Pollut Bull 64(3): 500–511
- 22. Smol JP, Stoermer EF (2010) The diatoms: applications for the environmental and earth sciences, 2nd edn. University Press, Cambridge
- Descy JP, Coste M (1991) A test of methods for assessing water quality based on diatoms. Verh Int Ver Limnol 24:2112–2116
- Kelly MG, Penny CJ, Whitton BA (1995) Comparative performance of benthic diatom indexes used to assess river water-quality. Hydrobiologia 302:179–188
- King L, Clarke G, Bennion H, Kelly M, Yallop M (2006) Recommendations for sampling littoral diatoms in lakes for ecological status assessments. J Appl Phycol 18:15–25
- 26. Warwick RM, Platt HM, Clarke KR, Agard J, Gobin J (1990) Analysis of macrobenthic and meiobenthic community structure in relation to pollution and disturbance in Hamilton Harbor, Bermuda. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 138:119–142
- 27. Kelly MG, Bennett C, Coste M, Delgado C, Delmas F, Denys L, Ector L, Fauville C, Ferreol M, Golub M, Jarlman A, Kahlert M, Lucey J, Ni Chathain B, Pardo I, Pfister P, Picinska-Faltynowicz J, Rosebery J, Schranz C, Schaumburg J, Van Dam H, Vilbaste S (2009) A comparison of national approaches to setting ecological status boundaries in phytobenthos

assessment for the European Water Framework Directive: results of an intercalibration exercise. Hydrobiologia 621:169–182

- Della Bella V, Puccinelli C, Marcheggiani S, Mancini L (2007) Benthic diatom communities and their relationship to water chemistry in wetlands of central Italy. Ann Limnol Int J Limnol 43:89–99
- 29. Zgrundo A, Bogaczewicz-Adamczak B (2004) Applicability of diatom indices for monitoring water quality in coastal streams in the Gulf of Gdańsk region, northern Poland. Oceanol Hydrobiol Stud 33:31–46
- Bauer DE, Gómez N, Hualde PR (2007) Biofilms coating Schoenoplectus californicus as indicators of water quality in the Río de la Plata Estuary (Argentina). Environ Monit Assess 133:309–320
- Dauer DM (1993) Biological criteria, environmental-health and estuarine macrobenthic community structure. Mar Pollut Bull 26:249–257
- 32. Simboura N, Zenetos A (2002) Benthic indicators to use in ecological quality classification of Mediterranean soft bottom marine ecosystems, including a new biotic index. Mediterr Mar Sci 3:77–111
- Bustos-Baez S, Frid C (2003) Using indicator species to assess the state of macrobenthic communities. Hydrobiologia 496:299–309
- 34. Borja A, Franco J, Perez V (2000) A marine biotic index to establish the ecological quality of soft-bottom benthos within European estuarine and coastal environments. Mar Pollut Bull 40: 1100–1114
- 35. Borja A, Franco J, Muxika I (2004) The biotic indices and the Water Framework Directive: the required consensus in the new benthic monitoring tools. Mar Pollut Bull 48:405–408
- 36. Muxika I, Borja A, Bald J (2007) Using historical data, expert judgement and multivariate analysis in assessing reference conditions and benthic ecological status, according to the European Water Framework Directive. Mar Pollut Bull 55:16–29
- Ibáñez C, Pont D, Prat N (1997) Characterization of the Ebre and Rhone estuaries: a basis for defining and classifying salt wedge estuaries. Limnol Oceanogr 42:89–101
- Ibáñez C, Prat N (2003) The environmental impact of the Spanish National Hydrological Plan on the lower Ebro river and delta. Int J Water Resour Dev 19:485–500
- Sierra JP, Sánchez-Arcilla A, Figueras PA, González del Río J, Rassmussen EK, Mösso C (2004) Effects of discharge reductions on salt wedge dynamics of the Ebro river. River Res Appl 20:61–77
- 40. Terrado M, Barcelo D, Tauler R (2006) Identification and distribution of contamination sources in the Ebro river basin by chemometrics modelling coupled to geographical information systems. Talanta 70:691–704
- 41. Falcó S, Niencheski LF, Rodilla M, Romero I, González del Río J, Sierra JP, Mösso C (2010) Nutrient flux and budget in the Ebro estuary. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 87:92–102
- 42. Ibáñez C, Prat N, Duran C, Pardos M, Munné A, Andreu R, Caiola N, Cid N, Hampel H, Sánchez R, Trobajo R (2008) Changes in dissolved nutrients in the lower Ebro river: causes and consequences. Limnetica 27:131–142
- 43. Ibáñez C, Alcaraz C, Caiola N, Rovira A, Trobajo R, Alonso M, Duran C, Jimenez PJ, Munné A, Prat N (2012) Regime shift from phytoplankton to macrophyte dominance in a large river: top-down versus bottom-up effects. Sci Total Environ 416:314–322
- 44. Ibáñez C, Caiola N, Rovira A, Real M (2012) Monitoring the effects of floods on submerged macrophytes in a large river. Sci Total Environ 440:132–139
- 45. Rovira L, Trobajo R, Leira M, Ibáñez C (2012) The effect of hydrological dynamics on benthic diatom community in a stratified estuary: the case of the Ebro estuary (Catalonia, Spain). Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 101:1–14
- 46. Krammer K, Lange-Bertalot H (1997) Bacillariophyceae. 1. Teil: Naviculaceae, vol 2/1, Süsswasserflora von Mitteleuropa. Gustav Fischer, Stuttgart
- 47. Krammer K, Lange-Bertalot H (1997) Bacillariophyceae. 2. Teil: Bacillariaceae, Epithemiaceae, Surirellaceae, vol 2/2, Süsswasserflora von Mitteleuropa. Gustav Fischer, Stuttgart

- 48. Witkowski A, Lange-Bertalot H, Metzeltin D (2000) Diatom flora of marine coasts I, vol 7, Iconographia Diatomologica . A.R.G. Gantner Verlag K.G., Rugell
- Descy JP (1979) A new approach to water quality estimation using diatoms. Nova Hedwig Beih 64:305–323
- 50. Buwal (2002) Bundesamt Für Umwelt, Wald Und Landschaft: Methoden zur Untersuchung und Beurteilung der Fließgewässer Kieselalgen Stufe F (flächendeckend) Entwurf Stand January, Bern
- 51. Dell'Uomo A (1996) Assessment of water quality of an Apennine river as a pilot study for diatom-based monitoring of Italian watercourses. In: Whitton BA, Rott E (eds) Use of algae for monitoring rivers II. Institut für Botanik, Universität Innsbruck
- 52. Rumeau A, Coste M (1988) Introduction into the systematic of freshwater diatoms for a useful generic diatomic index. Bull Fr Peche Piscic 309:1–69
- 53. Lenoir C, Coste M (1996) Development of a practical diatom index of overall water quality applicable to the French National Water Board network. In: Whitton BA, Rott E (eds) Use of Algae for monitoring rivers II. Institut für Botanik, Universität Innsbruck
- 54. Prygiel J, Lévêque L, Iserentant R (1996) A new practical diatom index for the assessment of water quality in monitoring networks. Revue des Sciences de l'Eau 9:97–113
- 55. Gómez N, Licursi M (2001) The Pampean diatom index (IDP) for assessment of rivers and streams in Argentina. Aquat Ecol 35:173–181
- 56. Cemagref (1982) Etude des méthodes biologiques d'appréciation quantitative de la qualité des eaux, Rapport Q.E. Lyon Agence de l'Eau RhôneMéditerranée-Corse, Lyon
- 57. Leclercq L, Maquet B (1987) New diatom and chemical indexes of water-quality comparison with different existing indexes. Cah Biol Mar 28:303–310
- 58. Lobo EA, Callegaro VLM, Bender P (2002) Utilização de algas diatomáceas epilíticas como indicadoras da qualidade da água em rios e arroios da Região Hidrográfica do Guaíba, RS, Brasil. EDUNISC, Santa Cruz do Sul
- 59. Schiefele S, Schreiner C (1991) Use of diatoms for monitoring nutrient enrichment, acidification and impact of salt rivers in Germany and Austria. In: Whitton BA, Rott E, Friedrich G (eds) Use of algae for monitoring rivers. Universität Innsbruck, Innsbruck
- 60. Rott E, Hofmann G, Pall K, Pfister P, Pipp E (1997) Indikationslisten für Aufwuchsalgen. Teil 1: Saprobielle Indikation, Wien
- 61. Sládeček V (1986) Diatoms as indicators of organic pollution. Acta Hydrochim Hydrobiol 14:555–566
- 62. Kelly MG (1998) Use of the trophic diatom index to monitor eutrophication in rivers. Water Res 32:236–242
- 63. Rott E, Binder N, Van Dam H, Ortler K, Pall K, Pfister P, Pipp E (1999) Indikationslisten für Aufwuchsalgen. Teil 2: Trophieindikation und autökologische Anmerkungen. Bundesministerium für Land- und Forstwirtschaft, Wien
- 64. Watanabe T, Asai K, Houki A (1986) Numerial estimation to organic pollution of flowing water by using the epilithic diatom assemblage index (DAIPO). Sci Total Environ 55:209–218
- 65. Alba-Tercedor J, Jáimez-Cuéllar P, Álvarez M, Avilés J, Bonada N, Casas J, Mellado A, Ortega M, Pardo I, Prat N, Rieradevall M, Robles S, Elisa Sáinz-Cantero C, Sánchez-Ortega A, Suárez ML, Toro M, Vidal-Abarca MR, Vivas S, Zamora-Muñoz C (2002) Caracterización del estado ecológico de ríos mediterráneosibéricos mediante el índice IBMWP (antes BMWP'). Limnetica 21:175–185
- 66. Dauvin JC, Ruellet T (2007) Polychaete/amphipod ratio revisited. Mar Pollut Bull 55:215-224
- 67. Nebra A, Caiola N, Muñoz-Camarillo G, Rodríguez-Climent S, Ibáñez C (2014) Towards a suitable ecological status assessment of highly stratified Mediterranean estuaries: a comparison of benthic invertebrate fauna indices. Ecol Indic 46:177–187
- 68. Dufrêne M, Legendre P (1997) Species assemblages and indicator species: the need for a flexible asymmetrical approach. Ecol Monogr 67:345–366
- 69. Ibáñez C, Prat N, Canicio A (1996) Changes in the hydrology and sediment transport produced by large dams on the lower Ebro river and its estuary. Regul Rivers Res Manage 12:51–62

- 70. Sabater S, Artigas J, Durán C, Pardos M, Romaní AM, Tornés E, Ylla I (2008) Longitudinal development of chlorophyll and phytoplankton assemblages in a regulated large river (the Ebro river). Sci Total Environ 404:196–206
- Torrecilla NJ, Galve JP, Zaera LG, Retarnar JF, Álvarez ANA (2005) Nutrient sources and dynamics in a mediterranean fluvial regime (Ebro river, NE Spain) and their implications for water management. J Hydrol 304:166–182
- Blanco S, Ector L, Huck V, Monnier O, Cauchie HM, Hoffmann L, Bécares E (2008) Diatom assemblages and water quality assessment in the Duero Basin (NW Spain). Belg J Bot 141: 39–50
- 73. Leira M, Sabater S (2005) Diatom assemblages distribution in catalan rivers, NE Spain, in relation to chemical and physiographical factors. Water Res 39:73–82
- 74. Tornés E, Cambra J, Gomà J, Leira M, Ortiz R, Sabater S (2007) Indicator taxa of benthic diatom communities: a case study in Mediterranean streams. Ann Limnol Int J Limnol 43:1–11
- European Community (1991) Council directive of 21 May 1991 concerning urban waste water treatment (91/271/EEC). Off J Eur Commun Ser L 135:40–52
- 76. Kelly MG (2011) The Emperor's new clothes? A comment on Besse-Lotoskaya et al. (2011). Ecol Indic 11:1492–1494
- 77. Grantham TE, Figuero R, Prat N (2013) Water management in mediterranean river basins: a comparison of management frameworks, physical impacts and ecological processes. Hydrobiologia 719:451–482
- Dewson ZS, James ABW, Death RG (2007) A review of the consequences of decreased flow instream habitat and macroinvertebrates. J N Am Benthol Soc 26:401–415
- 79. Dudgeon D, Arthington AH, Gessner MO, Kawabata ZI, Knowler DJ, Leveque C, Naiman RJ, Prieur-Richard HA, Soto D, Stiassny MLJ, Sullivan CA (2006) Freshwater biodiversity: importance, threats, status and conservation challenges. Biol Rev 81(2):163–182
- Trobajo R, Quintana XD, Sabater S (2004) Factors affecting the periphytic diatom community in Mediterranean coastal wetlands (Emporda wetlands, NE Spain). Arch Hydrobiol 160: 375–399
- Witkowski A, Cedro B, Kierzek A, Baranowski D (2009) Diatoms as a proxy in reconstructing the Holocene environmental changes in the south-western Baltic Sea: the lower Rega River Valley sedimentary record. Hydrobiologia 631:155–172
- 82. Trobajo R, Sullivan MJ (2010) Applied diatom studies in estuaries and shallow coastal environments. In: Smol JP, Stoermer EF (eds) The diatoms: applications for the environmental and earth sciences, 2nd edn. University Press, Cambridge, UK
- 83. Dauvin JC, Ruellet T (2009) The estuarine quality paradox: is it possible to define an ecological quality status for specific modified and naturally stressed estuarine ecosystems? Mar Pollut Bull 59:38–47

## New Tools to Analyse the Ecological Status of Mediterranean Wetlands and Shallow Lakes

Xavier D. Quintana, Miguel Cañedo-Argüelles, Alfonso Nebra, Stéphanie Gascón, Maria Rieradevall, Nuno Caiola, Jordi Sala, Carles Ibàñez, Núria Sánchez-Millaruelo, and Dani Boix

**Abstract** The efforts done in Catalonia (Spain) to assess the ecological status of Mediterranean wetlands and shallow lakes are described. The term wetland includes all shallow lentic waterbodies, temporary or permanent, where light reaches the bottom allowing the development of primary producers at the maximum water depth. Two water quality indexes and one habitat condition rapid assessment were developed. The first quality index ( $QAELS_{2010}^e$ ) is based on the sensitivity of microcrustaceans (cladocerans, copepods and ostracods) and the richness of crustaceans and insects found in these habitats; the second one (EQAT) uses the composition of Chironomidae pupal exuviae. Rapid assessment of habitat condition (*ECELS* index) considers wetland hydromorphological aspects, the presence of human pressures in the surroundings and the conservation status of the wetland vegetation. Some data of the current ecological status of Mediterranean wetlands in Catalonia are also provided.

**Keywords** Chironomidae, Crustaceans, *ECELS*, *EQAT*, Habitat condition, Insects, *QAELS*, Shallow lakes, Transitional waters, Wetlands - WFD

X.D. Quintana ( $\boxtimes$ ), S. Gascón, J. Sala, and D. Boix GRECO, Institute of Aquatic Ecology, University of Girona, Girona, Spain e-mail: xavier.quintana@udg.edu

A. Nebra, N. Caiola, and C. Ibàñez IRTA Aquatic Ecosystems, Sant Carles de la Ràpita, Catalonia, Spain

M. Rieradevall and N. Sánchez-Millaruelo Department of Ecology and IRBio, Research group F.E.M. (Freshwater Ecology and Management), Institut de Recerca de Biodiversitat), University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring:* 171 *The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 42: 171–200, DOI 10.1007/698\_2015\_391,
© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 7 November 2015

M. Cañedo-Argüelles Department of Environmental Sciences and Food Industries, University of Vic, Barcelona, Spain

#### Contents

1	Intro	duction	172
2	Турс	blogies and Reference Conditions	173
3	Wate	er Quality Assessment Using Crustaceans and Insects: The <i>QAELS</i> <sup>e</sup> <sub>2010</sub> Index	175
	3.1	Background	175
	3.2	Sampling Procedure	175
	3.3	Building <i>QAELS</i> <sup>e</sup> <sub>2010</sub> Index	176
	3.4	Required Taxonomic Resolution	180
	3.5	Water Quality Thresholds	181
4	The	Use of Chironomidae as a Bioindicator: The EQAT Index	183
	4.1	Background	183
	4.2	How to Use EQAT?	185
	4.3	How Was EQAT Designed?	188
	4.4	Establishing the Quality Class Boundaries	189
	4.5	Applicability	189
5	Asse	ssing Habitat Condition: The ECELS Index	190
	5.1	Background	190
	5.2	Applicability	191
6	Eval	uating Ecological Status in Mediterranean Wetlands of Catalonia	192
Re	feren	ces	194

## 1 Introduction

Since the implementation of the Water Framework Directive in 2000 (WFD, Directive 2000/60/EC), several efforts have been done in the description of parameters related to the ecological status of shallow lakes and wetlands and the design of efficient tools based on biological elements for its assessment (e.g. [1–7]). During this process, some difficulties arose in the development of criteria and methodological standards on good environmental status of shallow waters. Sediment proximity makes nutrient concentrations often more dependent on water – sediment equilibria than on nutrient inputs [8], making difficult to distinguish between anthropogenic eutrophication and natural eutrophication [9]. In Mediterranean wetlands, water level fluctuations and the lack of water inputs during most of the year cause an endorheic process of nutrient accumulation [10, 11], accentuated in temporary habitats during desiccation. Moreover, in Mediterranean transitional waters (i.e. estuaries, lagoons and coastal wetlands), the low tidal influence favours water confinement, making nutrient contents and nutrient balances more dependent on internal loading than on external water inputs [12–14].

Following the guidelines of the WFD, several indices have been developed using aquatic invertebrate fauna as indicators to assess the ecological status of Mediterranean shallow lentic ecosystems. Some of them use the sensitivity of species composition (e.g. [15]) or are based on higher taxonomic levels (e.g. [16–19]). Other approaches use alternatives to invertebrate species composition, such as body size [20, 21] or percentages of some functional groups [22]. Within aquatic invertebrates, several properties make crustaceans and insects suitable for their

use in the ecological status assessment of wetlands and shallow lakes [23]: they appear in all lentic environments in fresh and transitional waters and are easy to capture; their assemblages vary with differences in trophic state; they respond rapidly to disturbance; and the relationships between their assemblages and both phytoplankton and macrophytes are well documented [24–30].

In this chapter, we summarise the efforts done in Catalonia (Spain) to assess the ecological status of Mediterranean wetlands and shallow lakes. We describe two water quality indexes: the first one  $(QAELS_{2010}^e)$  is an improvement of a water quality index already published [23], based on the sensitivity of microcrustaceans (cladocerans, copepods and ostracods) and the richness of crustaceans and insects; the second one (EQAT) is a proposal based on the composition and sensitivity of Chironomidae assemblages through the use of pupal exuviae described in Cañedo-Argüelles et al. [31]. We also include a rapid assessment method to determine the habitat condition of wetlands, developed by Sala et al. [32].

## 2 Typologies and Reference Conditions

The spatial approach is the underlying methodological principle of the WFD for the development of biotic indices to assess the ecological status of surface waters. The concept is that waterbodies can be classified into units with homogenous characteristics, thus belonging to a similar functional type with comparable biological communities. The principle behind this approach is that the less the functional and biotic heterogeneity within identified types, the higher the accuracy of the employed biological indicators. The WFD offers two options to classify waterbodies of surface waters, both of them use only abiotic descriptors to define typologies. The resulting classification of surface waterbodies is based on the assumption that an abiotic typology is adequate to stratify biological communities. However, there are few examples of efforts to validate this assumption in wetlands [23, 33]. Moreover, several proposals exist for Mediterranean lentic and shallow waters using abiotic variables, chlorophyll-*a* abundance or vegetation composition (e.g. [34–37]).

For the identification of types in Catalan wetlands, we follow Boix et al. [23]. This classification splits wetlands according to salinity and water permanence, and its effectivity to identify different invertebrate communities has been validated [38]. Salinity discriminates between meso-hyperhaline waters (conductivity > 5 mS  $\cdot$  cm<sup>-1</sup>) and fresh oligohaline waters (conductivity < 5 mS  $\cdot$  cm<sup>-1</sup>). Meso-hyperhaline wetlands are different if salinity comes from marine origin (thalassohaline wetlands) or from endorheic concentration of salts in arid or semiarid regions (athalassohaline wetlands). Regarding fresh oligohaline wetlands, permanent and temporary waterbodies contain different invertebrate fauna. Thus, four wetland types were discriminated: 1-thalassohaline (TA), 2-athalassohaline, 3-freshwater permanent (PF) and

4-freshwater temporary (TF). Athalassohaline wetlands are very scarce in Catalonia and are not considered further.

For each waterbody type, the basic functional unit, reference conditions are formulated and the deviation from these conditions provides the measure of the ecological status. The reference conditions can be defined in different ways [39]. If reference conditions are not available (the most common situation in the case of wetlands), one option is to use best available least-disturbed conditions resulting in unequal thresholds for less and more impacted biological assemblage types. However, the WFD requires standardised reference conditions showing no, or only minor, anthropogenic alterations. Another way of defining reference conditions is the availability of historical data when anthropogenic impacts were nonexistent or very low. In both cases, present and historical data to define reference conditions and information on pressures is necessary to distinguish between reference and impacted sites and for calibrating or scoring of metrics. This information should be expressed by different variables that should quantify the environmental quality of the surface waterbodies taking into account different types of pressures and impacts (water pollution, hydromorphological quality, etc.). It is, thus, easy to understand that classifying waterbodies and defining reference conditions should be two independent procedures; otherwise, the response of biological indicators to pressures and impacts will not be accurate. Therefore, pressure or impact variables should not be used to define typologies (i.e. the waterbodies' typology should be done with undisturbed waterbodies' datasets and using exclusively variables that cannot be modified by anthropogenic activities). Only then, proper reference conditions can be formulated for each waterbody type.

Wetlands have been lost and disturbed more rapidly than other ecosystems, and much of the global wetland area that remains is degraded (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment [40, 41]). Worldwide, an estimated half of the total wetland area has been lost due to anthropogenic activities [41]. Moreover, the historical information on wetlands is very scarce and often nonexistent, especially in Mediterranean areas. Thus, developing a wetland typology is a challenging task. One of the most reasonable ways to cope with these difficulties is to use expert judgement to define and evaluate the relevant abiotic variables, which, as previously said, should not be the same used to evaluate anthropogenic impacts and pressures. This approach supposes a deep knowledge of the ecological functioning of the wetlands to be assessed. Other more objective approaches analyse the influence of wetland environmental variables on the spatiotemporal patterns of their fauna [37, 38, 42, 43].

## **3** Water Quality Assessment Using Crustaceans and Insects: The *QAELS*<sup>e</sup><sub>2010</sub> Index

## 3.1 Background

Boix et al. [23] developed the *QAELS* water quality index for wetlands and shallow lakes carried out in Catalonia, based on microcrustacean sensitivity complemented with richness of crustaceans and insects. Later some improvements were done in the quality coefficients of the different species and in the definition of the quality category thresholds. Here we describe the resulting  $QAELS_{2010}^e$  index.

#### 3.2 Sampling Procedure

For the construction of the water quality  $QAELS_{2010}^e$  index, we used data of 200 Mediterranean wetlands located throughout Catalonia (Fig. 1). This includes wetlands, shallow lakes, lagoons, ponds and pools, that is, all lentic waterbodies, temporary or permanent, that are shallow enough that light reaches the bottom allowing the presence of macrophytes or other primary producers at the maximum water depth [33, 44]. From here on, we will use the term "wetlands" to refer these shallow water ecosystems. Wetlands were sampled once (132 waterbodies) in late spring or twice a year (68 waterbodies) in late winter and late spring. All wetlands sampled were below 800 m a.s.l. to ensure they were under Mediterranean climatic conditions. Therefore, those located in mountain and alpine climatic areas, above



Fig. 1 Location of the studied wetlands (*triangles*, thalassohaline wetlands; *white squares*, permanent freshwater wetlands; *black points*, temporary freshwater wetlands)

800 m a.s.l., were not considered. Wetlands were previously classified by types following Boix et al. [23]. Thus 76 waterbodies were thalassohaline, 79 were freshwater permanent and 45 were freshwater temporary. Temperature, conductivity, percentage of oxygen saturation and pH were measured in situ. Chlorophyll-*a* was extracted using 80% methanol, after filtering water samples (Whatman GF/C filters), and measured following Talling and Driver [45]. Analyses of dissolved inorganic nutrients (ammonium, nitrite, nitrate and phosphate) were carried out from filtered samples and total nutrients (total nitrogen and total phosphorus) from unfiltered samples, following Grasshoff et al. [46].

Invertebrate sampling was performed as described in Boix et al. and ACA [23, 47], using a 20 cm diameter dip-net (mesh size 250  $\mu$ m). At each wetland, three sweeps of dip-net "pushes" per visit were carried out along transects. Each sweep consisted of 20 dip-net "pushes" in rapid sequence, to cover all the different habitats in the littoral zone of the wetland. Only the organisms from the first sweep were used to estimate the relative abundances of microcrustaceans, whereas all sweeps were used to calculate the taxon richness. Samples were preserved in 10% formalin. All crustaceans and insects were identified to species level, or to the lowest taxonomic level possible, except for dipterans, which were always identified to family level.

## 3.3 Building QAELS<sup>e</sup><sub>2010</sub> Index

The  $QAELS_{2010}^{e}$  index consists of two components: the first one is obtained from the composition of microcrustaceans and the sensitivity of their different species to water quality ( $ACCO_{2010}$  value); the second one is related to crustacean and insect richness (RIC value). Microcrustaceans and macroinvertebrates strongly differ in abundance, and a correct estimation of the abundance of both faunal groups may be highly time-consuming. Thus the  $ACCO_{2010}$  value only considers microcrustacean taxa, because a rapid estimation of abundance is preferred in bio-assessment indices. However, when estimating richness, it is better to include as many faunal groups as possible [23], since a large number of taxa offer a spectrum of responses to environmental stresses [48]. That's why the *RIC* value includes crustacean and insect richness.

Microcrustacean sensitivities to build the  $ACCO_{2010}$  value were obtained by means of a partial canonical correspondence analysis (PCCA). A different PCCA analysis was carried out for each wetland type. In the microcrustacean matrix, the relative abundance of each species was square-root transformed and rare species were downweighted in order to reduce their influence in the analysis. The water quality variables matrix used in PCCA was composed by a unique variable, the *TRIX* index, described by Vollenweider et al. [49]:



**Fig. 2** Results of the PCCA analysis using the *TRIX* index (*blue arrow*) as variable indicative of water quality in permanent freshwater wetlands. Other variables related to water quality are not considered in the analysis, but included in the plot (*grey arrows*) as supplementary variables (*Chla* chlorophyll-*a*, *aD.O2* absolute deviation of 100% of oxygen saturation (see text), *DIN* dissolved inorganic nitrogen, *NT* total nitrogen, *PO4* soluble reactive phosphate, *PT* total phosphorus). *Circles* and *crosses* represent samples and species position, respectively. Similar plots were built for other wetland types (thalassohaline and temporary freshwater wetlands)

$$TRIX = \frac{\left[\log_{10}(\text{Chla} \cdot \text{aD.O2} \cdot \text{DIN} \cdot \text{Pt}) + 1.5\right]}{1.2},\tag{1}$$

where Chla, DIN and Pt are the chlorophyll-*a*, the dissolved inorganic nitrogen and the total phosphorus concentrations (mg  $\cdot$  L<sup>-1</sup>) and aD.O2 is the absolute deviation of the percentage of oxygen saturation (i.e. the absolute value of 100% O<sub>2</sub> saturation). This index has been widely used in water quality assessment, especially in transitional waters [50–52]. Variability caused by variables not necessarily related to water quality, such as temperature or conductivity, was removed from the PCCA analysis by entering them as covariables.

The first PCCA axis was strongly related to *TRIX* index in each of the three different wetland types. Other environmental variables related to water quality were included as supplementary variables, such as chlorophyll-*a*, total and dissolved nitrogen and phosphorus, related to the same first PCCA axis (Fig. 2). Thus, we used the microcrustacean species scores in this first PCCA axis as a measure of species sensitivity. Only species with occurrences >1% were considered indicator species. Microcrustacean indicator species were sorted by their scores in the first PCCA axis. Scores were distributed in ten categories, and a value between 1 and 10 was assigned to each indicator species. This rescaled score is the "quality coefficient" used for the computation of the *ACCO*<sub>2010</sub> value. Extreme and anomalous scores for the interval (values >1.5 times the interquartile range) were not taken into account for the creation of the ten categories. Quality coefficients for a given species differ among wetland

types, and some taxa may be indicator in some types and not in others. The final  $ACCO_{2010}$  value is obtained by means of the following equation:

$$ACCO = \sum_{i=1}^{j} k_i \cdot n_i; \quad n_i = \frac{N_i}{N_{\text{tot}}}, \qquad (2)$$

where

i = each taxon with a weight in the analysis >1% (indicator species) j = number of taxa with a weight in the analysis >1%  $n_i =$  relative abundance of the species i  $k_i =$  quality coefficient of the species i  $N_i =$  abundance of the species i $N_{tot} =$  sum of the abundance of the species with a weight in the analysis >1%

To determine species quality coefficients and their robustness, for each microcrustacean species, we did 100 additional iterations of the same PCCA analyses (one per each wetland type) but randomly deleting 5% of the samples used. Quality coefficients  $k_i$  were then obtained by the weighted average of the quality coefficients of these 100 PCCA analyses, rescaled to a 0–10 value and rounded to the nearest integer. Figure 3 shows the results of the variability in coefficients in those species that show a narrow range of quality coefficients variability (see *Megacyclops viridis* or *Cypria ophtalmica* in Fig. 3) and a lower robustness in those species with wider quality coefficient variability (see *Simocephalus exspinosus* or *Eucyclops serrulatus* in Fig. 3).

The *RIC* value is used as a non-biased estimation of crustacean (micro- and macrocrustaceans) and insect richness (presence–absence data). *RIC* is calculated as the sum of the number of crustacean genera, the number of families of immature stages of insects (nymphs, pupae and larvae) and the number of genera of adult Coleoptera and Heteroptera. The resulting  $QAELS_{2010}$  index is the combination of  $ACCO_{2010}$  and *RIC* values, which differ depending on wetland types:

Thalassohaline wetlands :  $QAELS_{2010} = (1 + ACCO_{2010}),$  (3)

Permanent freshwater wetlands : 
$$QAELS_{2010}$$
  
=  $(1 + ACCO_{2010}) + \log_{10}(RIC + 1),$  (4)

Temporary freshwater wetlands : 
$$QAELS_{2010}$$
  
=  $(1 + ACCO_{2010}) + \log_{10}(RIC + 1).$  (5)

*RIC* is not used for  $QAELS_{2010}$  computation in thalassohaline wetlands because *RIC* inclusion reduces correlation between  $QAELS_{2010}$  and the variables related to water quality (Table 1). In thalassohaline ecosystems freshwater inputs also imply nutrient inputs and can be considered as disturbances that affect community structure



**Fig. 3** Variation of quality coefficients ( $k_i$  in Eq. 1) in permanent freshwater wetlands after 100 iterations of the PCCA analysis, where randomly 5% of samples used was deleted. *Columns* represent the standardised value of  $k_i$ , from 1 (*left column*) to 10 (*right column*). *Column height* indicates the number of PCCAs where the species achieved a determinate  $k_i$  score. Species codes: CLADOCERANS—ALRE, *Coronatella rectangula*; BOLO, *Bosmina longirostris*; CELA, *Ceriodaphnia laticaudata*; CEQU, *C. quadrangula*; CERE, *C. reticulata*; CHSP, *Chydorus sphaericus*; DAMA, *Daphnia magna*; DAPU, *D. pulicaria*; MOMI, *Moina micrura*; OXTE, *Oxyurella tenuicaudis*; PLAD, *Pleuroxus aduncus*; PLDE, *P. denticulatus*; PLLA, *P. laevis*; SCRA, *Scapholeberis rammneri*; SIEX, *Simocephalus exspinosus*; SIVE, *S. vetulus*. COPE-PODS—ACRO, *Acanthocyclops* gr. *robustus-vernalis*; CAAQ, *Calanipeda aquaedulcis*; CYSP, *Cyclops* sp.; ECPH, *Ectocyclops phaleratus*; EUSE, *Eucyclops serrulatus*; MAAL, *Macrocyclops albidus*; MEVI, *Megacyclops viridis*; TRPR, *Tropocyclops prasinus*. OSTRACODS—CYOP, *Cypria ophtalmica*; CYVI, *Cypridopsis vidua*; EUVI, *Eucypris virens*; HECH, *Herpetocypris chevreuxi*; HESA, *Heterocypris salina* 

[53–55]. Freshwater inputs usually increase the number of species in those thalassohaline waters [43, 56]. Thus, an increase in species richness in these ecosystems may indicate a higher degree of disturbance related to higher nutrient concentrations coming with freshwater inputs.

Because maximum values of  $QAELS_{2010}$  index differ in the different wetland types, each  $QAELS_{2010}$  index was standardised with the division by the maximum  $QAELS_{2010}$  value reached for a specific wetland type:

Thalassohaline wetlands : 
$$QAELS_{2010}^e = \frac{QAELS_{2010}}{10.97}$$
, (6)

**Table 1** Spearman correlation coefficients between variables related to trophic state and theACCO or the ACCO + RIC indexes in permanent freshwater (PF), temporary freshwater (TF) andthalassohaline (TA) wetlands

-							
		TN	TP	SRP	DIN	Chla	TRIX
PF	ACCO	n.s.	-0.27***	-0.20*	n.s.	-0.32***	-0.38***
	ACCO	n.s.	-0.35***	-0.31***	n.s.	-0.34***	-0.36***
	+RIC						
TF	ACCO	-0.42**	-0.27*	-0.26*	-0.42**	-0.28*	-0.57***
	ACCO	-0.40*	n.s.	-0.32*	-0.39*	-0.34*	-0.57***
	+RIC						
ТА	ACCO	-0.48***	n.s.	-0.43***	n.s.	-0.22*	-0.42***
	ACCO	-0.49***	n.s.	-0.41***	n.s.	-0.24*	-0.43***
	+RIC						

Note that the addition of the *RIC* value does not increase the correlation in TA wetlands. All trophic variables, except the *TRIX* index, were log transformed

TN total nitrogen, TP total phosphorus, SRP soluble reactive phosphate, DIN dissolved inorganic nitrogen, Chla chlorophyll-a

\*p < 0.05; \*\*p < 0.01; \*\*\*p < 0.001; *n.s.* not significant (p > 0.05)

Permanent freshwater wetlands : 
$$QAELS_{2010}^e = \frac{QAELS_{2010}}{12.44}$$
, (7)

Temporary freshwater wetlands : 
$$QAELS_{2010}^e = \frac{QAELS_{2010}}{11.08}$$
, (8)

where the divisor number corresponds to the maximum  $QAELS_{2010}$  value obtained in each wetland type.

## 3.4 Required Taxonomic Resolution

Boix et al. [23], in their previous version of the *QAELS* index (*QAELS*<sub>2004</sub>), showed that low levels of resolution in microcrustacean taxa determination were not acceptable, since correlations between the index obtained at species level and the index computed using taxonomic determination at main group or at family level gave low correlations (even not significant in some cases). When using the resolution at genus level, correlation values oscillated between 0.667 and 0.986, depending on wetland types. According to this, we correlated the  $ACCO_{2010}$  values using taxonomic resolutions at species and genus level (Fig. 4) and found a high correlation for thalassohaline and permanent freshwater wetlands, but a low one for temporary freshwater wetlands. Thus, results suggest that a resolution at genus level is suitable for thalassohaline and permanent freshwater wetlands, but for temporary freshwater wetlands, the highest level of resolution is needed. Thus, in order to simplify the computation of  $ACCO_{2010}$  index, we propose a taxonomic resolution at genera level for thalassohaline and permanent freshwater waterbodies, but at



Fig. 4 Correlations between the ACCO indexes estimated with different taxonomic resolutions

species level for temporary freshwaters. Quality coefficients ( $k_i$ ) obtained for each microcrustacean taxa are listed in Tables 2 and 3.

#### 3.5 Water Quality Thresholds

To define the  $QAELS_{2010}^{e}$  boundaries that separate the five categories proposed by the WFD (high, good, moderate, poor or bad), we follow the recommendations of the REFCOND document [57]. Five different Wallin et al. [57] proposals were tested, listed in Table 4. To select which of the five methods was the most suitable, we performed Spearman correlations between the water quality classes and variables dealing with trophic state (nutrients, chlorophyll-*a*, *TRIX* value). Results obtained in the five different proposals gave significant relationships between the water quality classes and the trophic-related variables. We chose proposal 5, which gave the highest correlation values (Fig. 5). The resulting category boundaries for each wetland type are listed in Table 5.

	ТА	PF
CLADOCERA		l
Alona	-	8
Bosmina	-	5
Ceriodaphnia	_	4
Chydorus	5	3
Coronatella	-	8
Daphnia	1	2
Moina	_	1
Oxyurella	_	8
Pleuroxus	3	5
Scapholeberis	-	8
Simocephalus	4	7
COPEPODA		· · ·
Acanthocyclops	4	4
Calanipeda	6	6
Canuella	4	_
Cletocamptus	4	-
Cyclops	7	8
Diacyclops	7	-
Ectocyclops	-	7
Eucyclops	3	4
Eurytemora	7	_
Halicyclops	5	_
Harpacticus	7	-
Macrocyclops	-	8
Megacyclops	-	10
Mesochra	10	-
Nitokra	7	-
Paracyclops	-	1
Pseudonychocamptus	5	-
Tisbe	3	-
Tropocyclops	9	6
OSTRACODA		
Cypria	-	3
Cyprideis	5	-
Cypridopsis	7	8
Eucypris	6	8
Herpetocypris	-	4
Heterocypris	4	1
Loxoconcha	5	-
Sarscypridopsis	1	-
Xestoleberis	6	-

(-) Genera with no indicator value in this wetland type

TA thalassohaline wetlands, PF permanent freshwater wetlands

**Table 2** Quality coefficients $(k_i \text{ in Eq. 1})$  of each indicatorgenus for the computation ofthe  $ACCO_{2010}$  value in eachwetland type

Table 3         Quality coefficients	CLADOCERA				
$(k_i \text{ in Eq. } 1)$ of each indicator	Coronatella rectangula	3			
the $ACCO_{2010}$ value in	Ceriodaphnia quadrangula				
temporary freshwater	Ceriodaphnia reticulata	3			
wetlands, where a	Chydorus sphaericus	6			
taxonomical resolution to	Daphnia curvirostris	10			
species level is required	Daphnia magna	3			
	Daphnia obtusa	1			
	Daphnia pulicaria	7			
	Moina brachiata	5			
	Simocephalus exspinosus	6			
	Simocephalus vetulus	7			
	COPEPODA	· · · ·			
	Acanthocyclops gr. robustus-vernalis	5			
	Canthocamptus staphylinus	9			
	Cyclops sp.	5			
	Diacyclops bicuspidatus	8			
	Diacyclops bisetosus	4			
	Diaptomus cyaneus	10			
	Megacyclops viridis	5			
	Metacyclops minutus	7			
	Mixodiaptomus incrassatus	7			
	Mixodiaptomus kupelwieseri	6			
	Neolovenula alluaudi	4			
	OSTRACODA				
	Cyclocypris ovum	4			
	Cypridopsis vidua	8			
	Eucypris virens	5			
	Herpetocypris chevreuxi	7			
	Heterocypris barbara	4			
	Heterocypris incongruens				
	Plesiocypridopsis newtoni	4			

# 4 The Use of Chironomidae as a Bioindicator: The *EQAT* Index

## 4.1 Background

Within the aquatic insects' assemblages found in the Mediterranean lagoons and wetlands of Spain, Chironomidae tend to be the most abundant and rich in species [58–61]. Chironomidae larvae are present in all habitats and have a great variety of biological traits; for example, *Chironomus* burrows in the sediment collecting organic matter that is being accumulated as fine sediment, while *Psectrocladius* tends to live attached to the helophytes and the submerged vegetation, feeding on

Proposal 1	All the locations of a given type were considered together
	High: $QAELS^{e}_{2010} > P90$
	Good: P75 $< QAELS_{2010}^{e} < P90$
	Moderate: $P50 < QAELS_{2010}^e < P75$
	Poor: P25 $< QAELS_{2010}^e < P50$
	Bad: $QAELS_{2010}^e < P25$
Proposal 2	Only locations under reference conditions (ref) were considered, from which
	the standard deviation (SD) is calculated
	High: $QAELS_{2010}^e > P90ref$
	Good: P90ref $-$ SD $< QAELS_{2010}^e <$ P90ref
	Moderate: P90ref $-2 \cdot SD < QAELS_{2010}^e < P90ref - SD$
	Poor: P90ref $-3 \cdot SD < QAELS^{e}_{2010} < P90ref - 2 \cdot SD$
	Bad: $QAELS_{2010}^e < P90ref - 3 \cdot SD$
Proposal 3	Only locations under reference conditions (ref) were considered, from which
	the standard deviation (SD) is calculated
	High: $QAELS_{2010}^e > P90ref$
	Good: P90ref $-$ SD $< QAELS_{2010}^e <$ P90ref
	Moderate to bad categories, obtained by dividing the remaining values of the
	index in equal parts
Proposal 4	Only locations under reference conditions (ref) were considered, from which the standard deviation (SD) is calculated
	High: $QAELS_{2010}^e > P90ref$
	Good: P90ref $-$ SD $< QAELS_{2010}^e <$ P90ref
	Percentiles of no reference locations (no_ref) were used for the remaining categories.
	Moderate: P50no.re f $< QAELS_{2010}^e < P90ref - SD$
	Poor: P25no_ref $< QAELS_{2010}^e < P50no_ref$
	Bad: $QAELS_{2010}^e < P25no_ref$
Proposal 5	Only locations under reference conditions (ref) were considered for the high
	category. Percentiles of no reference locations (no_ref) were used for the
	remaining categories
	High: $QAELS_{2010}^{e} > P90ref$
	Good: P75no_ref $< QAELS_{2010}^e < P90ref$
	Moderate: P50no_ref $< QAELS_{2010}^e < P75no_ref$
	Poor: P25no_ref $< QAELS_{2010}^e < P50no_ref$
	Bad: $QAELS_{2010}^{e} < P25no_{ref}$

 Table 4
 Proposals for category boundaries tested

P percentiles, SD standard deviation

fresh algae [62]. Moreover, they are present over wide environmental ranges (including salinity), with some species being very sensitive to pollution, whereas others can survive in anoxic and polluted environments. Therefore, they have been successfully used as indicators of water quality in rivers [63–65] and lakes [66–68].



**Fig. 5** *Boxplots* showing the variability of the different environmental variables related to trophic state for each  $QAELS_{2010}^e$  quality class (1, high; 2, good; 3, moderate; 4, poor; 5, bad).  $QAELS_{2010}^e$  quality classes were obtained as described in Table 4 proposal 5. The overall Spearman correlation coefficient is also included (\*\*, p < 0.01; \*\*\*, p < 0.001). Codes of environmental variables as in Fig. 2

The *EQAT* biomonitoring tool is based on Chironomidae and has the advantage that it is cost-effective (cheap, involving low time consumption in the field and the laboratory and easy to use) and that it integrates all the habitats within the ecosystem. The tool can be easily used by trained technicians to assess water quality status on a regular basis and to help identify those waterbodies being at risk of failing to meet their environmental objectives according to the WFD.

## 4.2 How to Use EQAT?

The Chironomidae (Diptera) are holometabolous insects with four life stages (egg, larva, pupa and adult). Larvae grow in the water associated to the different available habitats. Eventually the late fourth instar larvae develop wing pads, moult to pupae and then swim to the water surface where adults cast their pupal skin (exuviae) and emerge to mate [69]. Since all the chironomid larvae inhabiting a given waterbody

Table 5 Boundaries of the diffe	rent $QAELS^{e}_{2010}$ quality classes in permanent fre	eshwater (PF), temporary freshwater (TF) and the	halassohaline (TA) wetlands
Quality class	PF	TF	TA
High	$QAELS^{\epsilon}_{2010} \ge 0.86$	$OAELS^{\epsilon}_{2010} \ge 0.89$	$QAELS^e_{2010} \ge 0.72$
Good	$0.58 \leq {\it QAELS}^e_{2010} < 0.86$	$0.68 \leq QAELS^e_{2010} < 0.89$	$0.62 \leq QAELS^{e}_{2010} < 0.72$
Moderate	$0.51 \leq \mathcal{Q}AELS^e_{2010} < 0.58$	$0.56 \leq QAELS^e_{2010} < 0.68$	$0.55 \leq QAELS^{e}_{2010} < 0.62$
Poor	$0.39 \leq \mathcal{Q}AELS_{2010}^{e} < 0.51$	$0.45 \leq \mathit{QAELS}^e_{2010} < 0.56$	$0.46 \leq QAELS^{e}_{2010} < 0.55$
Bad	$QAELS^{e}_{2010} < 0.39$	$QAELS^{e}_{2010} < 0.45$	$QAELS^{e}_{2010} < 0.46$

an
E
Ă
$\widehat{}$
2
C
Je
E.
Ja
Į0
SS
lla
ha
E
B
a
£
F
ē
/a1
Ň
ts:
ΕĘ
2
F,
ЗГС
ď
E
te
ć
H
Ð
Ы
ate
Š.
ų,
ē
fI
Б
e
aı
Ę
ē
d
Щ.
S
S
as
5
Þ
Ξ
ua
Б
10
2°e
S
~
ET)
AE
QAE
nt QAE.
rent QAE
Ferent QAE
ifferent QAE
different QAE
ne different QAE
the different QAE
of the different QAE
s of the different QAE
ies of the different QAE
aries of the different QAE
ndaries of the different QAE
undaries of the different QAE
3oundaries of the different QAE
Boundaries of the different <i>QAE</i> .
<b>5</b> Boundaries of the different $QAE$
le 5 Boundaries of the different QAE
ble 5 Boundaries of the different QAE



**Fig. 6** Methodological scheme for the collection and processing of Chironomidae exuviae needed to apply the *EQAT* index. The first step is the collection of samples (ideally performed three times a year, coinciding with the periods of maximum emergence of Chironomidae), and *green arrows* indicate each next methodological step

will eventually undergo this metamorphosis, pupal exuviae collection has a great potential for characterising the whole chironomid community. Collection of samples is easy and fast. First the areas of accumulation of organic matter (characterised sometimes by the presence of white foam) must be identified, and then chironomid exuviae can be collected there by sweeping a 250 µm mesh size hand net along the shore. Ideally the samples should be collected on three different occasions (May, June and October), which are likely to comprise the maximum emergence periods of chironomids in Mediterranean lagoons [70]. The three samples can be merged and considered as one. Once collected, the samples must be preserved in ethanol  $70^{\circ}$  and taken to the laboratory. In the laboratory the samples must be sieved through a 250 µm mesh and placed in a Petri dish. Chironomid pupal exuviae must be removed from debris and identified to family level using binocular magnifying lens. Then they must be dehydrated using ethanol  $96^{\circ}$ , mounted permanently in Euparal on a microscope slide and identified to genus [71] using a high-magnification  $(400 \times)$  microscope (Fig. 6). We use genus level instead of species level identification because it is considerably less time-consuming and the genus-level index is equally robust for detecting changes in the environment [31].

Each genus has a score according to its sensitivity to pollution. When assessing the status of a given wetland, the index value is a simple function of the relative abundance of each chironomid genus and its indicator score:

$$EQAT = \sum_{i=1}^{s} n_i \cdot k_i, \qquad (9)$$

where S is the number of genera,  $n_i$  the relative abundance of the genus *i* and  $k_i$  its quality coefficient.

#### 4.3 How Was EQAT Designed?

Chironomidae exuviae were collected in 37 permanent shallow waterbodies associated to several wetland areas in Catalonia, especially in the coastal area. Then genus scores were derived from the indicator species analysis (INDVAL), proposed by Dufrêne and Legendre [72]. The INVDAL analysis can be considered as a statistically robust alternative to the expert judgement, since it is based on the taxa abundance and frequency in a given group of sites (e.g. polluted versus non-polluted sites). The aim of the analysis was to obtain a score that reflected the indicator potential of each genus along the pollution gradient. For this purpose a 5-step procedure was followed:

- 1. To obtain the species scores based on their tolerance to pollution, the *TRIX* index (Eq. 1) was used as a pressure indicator gradient. All the sites were classified in one of the five trophic categories proposed by Vollenwieder [49]: high, good, moderate, poor or bad.
- 2. The INDVAL analysis assigned each genus to a most probable group of sites (high, good, moderate, poor or bad) according to the relative abundance and frequency of the genus in each of the groups. The indicator (IV) and the *p* values (resulting from INDVAL) indicate how strongly the genus is linked to each group (the higher the IV value and the lower the *p*-value, the stronger is the link between the species and the group).
- 3. A scaled indicator value (SIV) was obtained for each genus taking into account its IV and its *p* values and the IV and *p* values of the rest of the genera assigned to the same group of sites.
- 4. Once a score (SIV) was obtained for each genus, it was rescaled from 0 to 1. First the importance of each group was weighted by dividing the number of genera assigned to it by the INDVAL analysis by the total number of genera. Then the boundaries between the five groups of sites (each of them enclosing a variable number of associated indicator genera) were settled according to the weight of each group.
- 5. The *EQAT* can be finally calculated as a function of the relative abundance of each genus and its indicator score.



**Fig. 7** Establishment of the quality class boundaries for the *EQAT* index, following Ruse [68]. On the *X*-axis the Ecological Quality Ratio (EQR), on the *Y*-axis the percentage of sensitive and tolerant genera. *Vertical lines* mark the boundaries between the quality classes: high, good, moderate, poor and bad

## 4.4 Establishing the Quality Class Boundaries

The final goal of the index was to assign each site to an ecological status category (high, good, moderate, poor and bad). In order to do this, the boundaries between the five categories had to be established. The class boundaries were derived from a plot of the relative frequency (%) of sensitive (genus score > 80th percentile of all the genus scores) and tolerant (genus score <20th percentile of all the genus scores) genera versus the Ecological Quality Ratio (EQR) (Fig. 7), as proposed by Ruse [68]. Since no truly reference sites could be found, the EQR was calculated taking as reference sites those that registered a maximum value of the *EQAT* index. The class boundaries were set as follows: high/good = the EQR corresponding to the relative frequency of the crossover point plus the SD; good/moderate = the EQR corresponding to the relative frequency of sensitive genera; poor/bad = no sensitive genera occurred and all the observed scores were well below reference (expert criteria).

### 4.5 Applicability

*EQAT* is a promising tool for monitoring the status of Mediterranean wetlands, as requested by the WFD. The index can be confidently applied in Mediterranean coastal lagoons and wetlands, but it would probably need to be adjusted in order to be used in another systems and/or geographical regions. The tool is particularly well suited for wetlands and small confined lagoons with a wide range of salinities

and natural or artificial freshwater inputs, which are very common along the Mediterranean coast. These ecosystems are of great value (e.g. as a resting place for migratory birds), and at the same time, they are subjected to strong human pressures [31]. As being the last stop between the river and the sea, they receive large wastewater discharges [73] that can have great impacts on the biological communities [56]. Moreover human development tends to concentrate on the coast (e.g. Barcelona), causing problems like the hydrological alteration of the lagoons and habitat fragmentation. Therefore, the status of these coastal lagoons and wetlands needs to be continuously monitored to detect any anthropogenic impacts. In this regard, cost-effective (cheap, easy and fast) tools like *EQAT* can be very useful, since they allow the assessment of water quality of big geographic areas by nonexpert personnel within a short time period.

## 5 Assessing Habitat Condition: The ECELS Index

#### 5.1 Background

 $QAELS^{e}_{2010}$  and EQAT indexes reveal water quality in wetlands by means of the relationship between taxonomic composition and water nutrient charges. However, there are other aspects of wetland ecological status that are not necessarily related to water quality. This is the case of the habitat condition, which includes wetland hydromorphological aspects, human pressures or vegetation conservation status. Thus, artificial ponds built for irrigation purposes, with a very poor natural value, may have high water quality (e.g. if they are filled with pumped groundwater). On the other hand, valuable natural waterbodies may be stressed by agricultural or livestock pollution, resulting in poor water quality. Moreover, some wetlands with high water quality may be degraded in their littoral morphology or have been subjected to a strong human pressure, such as surrounding urbanisation or other human impacts. To address this question, we proposed an in situ rapid assessment method to define wetland habitat condition adapted for Mediterranean wetlands, following the rationale of other rapid assessments developed for wetlands [74] and lotic environments, such as RCE [75] or OBR [76]. This is the ECELS index, fully described in Sala et al. [32] and ACA [47].

#### 5.1.1 ECELS Components

As described in Sala et al. [32], *ECELS* index is based on 5 components: littoral morphology, human activity, water aspect, emergent vegetation and hydrophytic vegetation. These components consider the attributes that a well-preserved wetland should have, according to a revision of widely used attributes in conservation

assessments [74, 77–82], together with additional criteria that were derived from an exhaustive survey conducted by the authors.

The basin littoral morphology component (score 0-20) evaluates the slope of the wetland littoral, assuming that smooth slopes facilitate expansion of water during flooding events and allow the existence of different habitats that may increase the overall biodiversity. Anthropogenic alteration usually limits potential expansion of flooded areas with the alteration of littoral morphology and the presence of structures or activities, such as levees or burials. The human activity component (score (0-20) considers the human uses around and inside the wetland basin and in its neighbouring catchments. This includes agriculture and livestock activities, hydraulic equipment affecting water volume and turnover, transport and building facilities in the surroundings or presence of allochthonous or domestic fauna. Other aspects of human presence, such as frequency or presence of rubbish, and even those with a positive effect, such as protection and management, are considered as well. The water aspect component (score 0-10) does not try to evaluate its water quality. It only takes into account some water characteristics, such as transparency and odour, which can reflect intense anthropogenic influence. The emergent vegetation component (score 0-30) assesses the abundance and zonation of the vegetation belt, using a rough, semi-quantitative abundance approach. Species dominance, the presence of exotic plants and the presence or absence of trees around the wetland are also considered. Finally, the hydrophytic vegetation component (score 0-20) analyses the submerged and floating macrophytes using a very similar rough abundance approach. Thus, the maximum score for a wetland is 100.

By means of the analyses of these five components, *ECELS* index tries to highlight how far is the wetland from the structure, composition and zonation of a reference wetland [83–85]. A wetland with an *ECELS* score of 100 would be this with absence of human uses or structures, a gradual slope of its littoral that favours water expansion during flooding and the existence of a well-developed littoral community, a complete belt of emergent vegetation and a dense recover of submerged macrophytes. On the other hand, a wetland with an *ECELS* score of 0 might be a bad-operating aeration tank of a waste water treatment plant, with a constant surface of the flooded area, man-made control of water turnover, high turbidity, strong odour and absence of emergent and submerged vegetation. The *ECELS* scores obtained are categorised following the guidelines of the WFD as follows: high  $\geq$ 90; good 70–89; moderate 50–69; poor 30–49; bad <30.

### 5.2 Applicability

*ECELS* index has been used elsewhere for wetland characterisation and for habitat conservation assessment [47, 86, 87]. The components of *ECELS* index are independent among themselves, each one informing about a complementary aspect. This structure makes it easy to identify the degradation problems of a particular wetland, which is useful for management purposes in order to determine the

specific problems in conservation status or to identify which aspects of a managed wetland can be enhanced to reach a higher habitat condition.

Further its use in ecological status characterisation, one of the main advantages of the *ECELS* index, is that it gives a numerical value for an attribute that usually is categorical, as is the case of habitat condition. This facilitates the use of habitat condition in further numerical analyses dealing with wetland ecological functioning. In this sense, *ECELS* index has been included in environmental data matrix in the analysis of the effects of anthropogenic pressures on diatoms and macroinvertebrate species composition [88], on wetland species biodiversity patterns [89] and on dispersal ability patterns of passive dispersers in aquatic invertebrate assemblages [90].

## 6 Evaluating Ecological Status in Mediterranean Wetlands of Catalonia

The evaluation of the ecological status in a wetland can be obtained by means of a double entry table, combining a water quality index and a habitat condition index. Table 6 summarises the ecological status evaluation using  $QAELS^{e}_{2010}$  and ECELS indexes.

According to estimation of ecological status in Table 6, the percentage of sampled wetlands in Catalonia that achieved the standards of high or good ecological status required by the WFD was low in permanent freshwater (14%) and thalassohaline (18.4%) wetlands (Table 7). This percentage is higher in temporary freshwater wetlands (30.8%). In the case of permanent freshwater wetlands, we did not find any wetland with high ecological status, while no temporary freshwater wetlands fall into the bad class. Having a look to the  $QAELS_{2010}^e$  and ECELS percentages, we can assume that high ecological status in thalassohaline and temporary freshwater wetlands was mainly not achieved due to a low water quality (lower  $QAELS_{2010}^e$  values), a low habitat condition being the main cause of the impairment to achieve good ecological status in permanent freshwater wetlands. These differences may be the consequence of the different human pressures that these ecosystems have suffered. Historically, humans have reduced the extension of

		$QAELS^{e}_{2010}$ quality classes				
		Ι	П	III	IV	V
ECELS quality classes	Ι	High	Good	Good	Moderate	Poor
	II	Good	Good	Moderate	Moderate	Poor
III		Good	Moderate	Moderate	Poor	Bad
	IV	Moderate	Moderate	Poor	Poor	Bad
	V	Poor	Poor	Bad	Bad	Bad

**Table 6** Estimation of the ecological status of a wetland by means of the combination of the  $QAELS_{2010}^{e}$  (water quality) and the *ECELS* (habitat condition) indexes

New Tools to Analyse the Ecological Status of Mediterranean Wetlands and...

**Table 7** Percentage of wetlands for each wetland type falling in each quality class (I, high; II, good; III, moderate; IV, poor; V, bad) of water quality ( $QAELS^{e}_{2010}$  index), habitat condition (*ECELS* index) and the resulting ecological status in a selection of 105 wetlands located throughout Catalonia

	N	Ι	II	III	IV	V		
QAELS <sup>e</sup> <sub>2010</sub>								
Thalassohaline wetlands	49	8.2	16.3	34.7	34.7	6.1		
Permanent freshwater wetlands	43	4.7	34.9	20.9	23.3	16.3		
Temporary freshwater wetlands	13	7.7	15.4	46.2	30.8	0.0		
ECELS								
Thalassohaline wetlands	49	16.3	32.7	22.4	24.5	4.1		
Permanent freshwater wetlands	43	2.3	16.3	37.2	32.6	11.6		
Temporary freshwater wetlands	13	30.8	23.1	46.2	0.0	0.0		
Ecological status								
Thalassohaline wetlands	49	4.1	14.3	49.0	26.5	6.1		
Permanent freshwater wetlands	43	0.0	14.0	37.2	32.6	16.3		
Temporary freshwater wetlands	13	7.7	23.1	46.2	23.1	0.0		

permanent freshwater wetlands, using them for runoff and irrigation purposes and limiting their overflowing capacity. This affects water quality, but especially habitat condition. On the other hand, the historical fight of humans against temporary freshwater wetlands mainly consists on the burying of these temporary habitats and their substitution by farmlands. Thus, most of them disappear [91–93], but the remaining temporary freshwater wetlands still conserve high ecological standards.

Regarding *ECELS* results in Catalan wetlands, the decomposition of the *ECELS* index in five components allows to distinguish which part of habitat condition is more affected by human pressure (Fig. 8). Scores of the *ECELS* components 2 (human activity) and 5 (hydrophytic vegetation) are those that decrease faster with decreasing habitat condition, while components 3 (water characteristics) and 4 (emergent vegetation) remain unaltered even under intermediate habitat condition. Moreover, when comparing the results by waterbody type, it can be seen that permanent freshwater and thalassohaline wetlands show a gradual pattern of degradation that similarly affects *ECELS* components in both waterbody types. However, the pattern observed from temporary freshwater wetlands was different, and so TF the change from high to good habitat condition in those last wetlands is mainly due to the impoverishment of the hydrophytic vegetation.

 $QAELS_{2010}^{e}$ , EQAT and ECELS indexes are promising tools to evaluate the ecological status in Mediterranean wetlands and can help to provide criteria in the management of these endangered aquatic ecosystems. To recover their ecological functioning and to integrate them within responsible and sustainable human uses in their reception, basins must be a priority in order to ensure the welfare of future generations.



Fig. 8 Values of the *ECELS* components in Catalan wetlands sorted by wetland type (*TA* thalassohaline wetlands, *PF* permanent freshwater wetlands, *TF* temporary freshwater wetlands) and by *ECELS* quality categories (*I*, high; *II*, good; *III*, moderate; *IV*, poor; *V*, bad). Each *pentagon* angle represents a component of the *ECELS* index (*I*, littoral morphology; 2, human activity; 3, water characteristics; 4, emergent vegetation; 5, hydrophytic vegetation). The width of the grey area is proportional to the average value of the score of each component. *N* number of wetlands

Acknowledgements This work was supported by the Catalan Water Agency, and we are especially grateful to Carolina Solà and Antoni Munné for their help during the project

### References

 Moss B, Stephen D, Alvarez C, Becares E, Van de Bund W, Collings SE, Van Donk E, De Eyto E, Feldmann T, Fernandez-Alaez C, Fernandez-Alaez M, Franken RJM, Garcia-Criado F, Gross EM, Gyllstrom M, Hansson LA, Irvine K, Jarvalt A, Jensen JP, Jeppesen E, Kairesalo T, Kornijow R, Krause T, Kunnap H, Laas A, Lille E, Lorens B, Luup H, Miracle MR, Noges P, Noges T, Nykanen M, Ott I, Peczula W, Peeters E, Phillips G, Romo S, Russell V, Salujoe J, Scheffer M, Siewertsen K, Smal H, Tesch C, Timm H, Tuvikene L, Tonno I, Virro T, Vicente E, Wilson D (2003) The determination of ecological status in shallow lakes – a tested system (ECOFRAME) for implementation of the European Water Framework Directive. Aquat Conserv 13(6):507–549. doi:10.1002/aqc.592

- Sondergaard M, Jeppesen E, Jensen JP, Amsinck SL (2005) Water framework directive: ecological classification of Danish lakes. J Appl Ecol 42(4):616–629. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2664.2005.01040.x
- Hering D, Borja A, Carstensen J, Carvalho L, Elliott M, Feld CK, Heiskanen AS, Johnson RK, Moe J, Pont D, Solheim AL, Van De Bund W (2010) The European Water Framework Directive at the age of 10: a critical review of the achievements with recommendations for the future. Sci Total Environ 408(19):4007–4019. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2010.05.031
- 4. Jeppesen E, Noges P, Davidson TA, Haberman J, Noges T, Blank K, Lauridsen TL, Sondergaard M, Sayer C, Laugaste R, Johansson LS, Bjerring R, Amsinck SL (2011) Zooplankton as indicators in lakes: a scientific-based plea for including zooplankton in the ecological quality assessment of lakes according to the European Water Framework Directive (WFD). Hydrobiologia 676(1):279–297. doi:10.1007/s10750-011-0831-0
- Birk S, Bonne W, Borja A, Brucet S, Courrat A, Poikane S, Solimini A, van de Bund W, Zampoukas N, Hering D (2012) Three hundred ways to assess Europe's surface waters: an almost complete overview of biological methods to implement the Water Framework Directive. Ecol Indic 18:31–41. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2011.10.009
- Brucet S, Poikane S, Lyche-Solheim A, Birk S (2013) Biological assessment of European lakes: ecological rationale and human impacts. Freshw Biol 58:1106–1115. doi:10.1111/fwb. 12111
- Poikane S, Portielje R, van den Berg M, Phillips G, Brucet S, Carvalho L, Mischke U, Ott I, Soszka H, Van Wichelen J (2014) Defining ecologically relevant water quality targets for lakes in Europe. J Appl Ecol 51(3):592–602. doi:10.1111/1365-2664.12228
- 8. Golterman HL (2004) The chemistry of phosphate and nitrogen compounds in sediments. Kluwer, Dordrecht
- 9. Reina M (2011) Metodología para la cuantificación del fósforo en el sedimento de los ecosistemas acuáticos del espacio natural de Doñana. Departamento de Biología Vegetal y Ecología, vol PhD Thesis. Universidad de Sevilla, Sevilla
- Alvarez-Cobelas M, Rojo C, Angeler D (2005) Mediterranean limnology: current status, gaps and future. J Limnol 64(1):13–29
- Beklioglu M, Romo S, Kagalou I, Quintana X, Bécares E (2007) State of the art in the functioning of shallow Mediterranean lakes: workshop conclusions. Hydrobiologia 584 (1):317–326. doi:10.1007/s10750-007-0577-x
- Quintana XD, Moreno-Amich R, Comin FA (1998) Nutrient and plankton dynamics in a Mediterranean salt marsh dominated by incidents of flooding. Part 1: differential confinement of nutrients. J Plankton Res 20(11):2089–2107
- Levin LA, Boesch DF, Covich A, Dahm C, Erseus C, Ewel KC, Kneib RT, Moldenke A, Palmer MA, Snelgrove P, Strayer D, Weslawski JM (2001) The function of marine critical transition zones and the importance of sediment biodiversity. Ecosystems 4(5):430–451. doi:10.1007/s10021-001-0021-4
- 14. Elliott M, Quintino V (2007) The estuarine quality paradox, environmental homeostasis and the difficulty of detecting anthropogenic stress in naturally stressed areas. Mar Pollut Bull 54 (6):640–645. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2007.02.003
- Muxika I, Borja A, Bald J (2007) Using historical data, expert judgement and multivariate analysis in assessing reference conditions and benthic ecological status, according to the European Water Framework Directive. Mar Pollut Bull 55(1–6):16–29. doi:10.1016/j. marpolbul.2006.05.025
- Dauvin JC, Ruellet T (2007) Polychaete/amphipod ratio revisited. Mar Pollut Bull 55 (1–6):215–224. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2006.08.045
- de-la-Ossa-Carretero JA, Simboura N, Del-Pilar-Ruso Y, Pancucci-Papadopoulou MA, Gimenez-Casalduero F, Sanchez-Lizaso JL (2012) A methodology for applying taxonomic sufficiency and benthic biotic indices in two Mediterranean areas. Ecol Indic 23:232–241. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2012.03.029

- Dimitriou PD, Apostolaki ET, Papageorgiou N, Reizopoulou S, Simboura N, Arvanitidis C, Karakassis I (2012) Meta-analysis of a large data set with Water Framework Directive indicators and calibration of a Benthic Quality Index at the family level. Ecol Indic 20:101–107. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2012.02.008
- Lucena-Moya P, Pardo I (2012) An invertebrate multimetric index to classify the ecological status of small coastal lagoons in the Mediterranean ecoregion (MIBIIN). Mar Freshw Res 63 (9):801–814. doi:10.1071/mf12104
- Reizopoulou S, Nicolaidou A (2007) Index of size distribution (ISD): a method of quality assessment for coastal lagoons. Hydrobiologia 577:141–149. doi:10.1007/s10750-006-0423-6
- 21. Basset A, Barbone E, Borja A, Brucet S, Pinna M, Quintana XD, Reizopoulou S, Rosati I, Simboura N (2012) A benthic macroinvertebrate size spectra index for implementing the Water Framework Directive in coastal lagoons in Mediterranean and Black Sea ecoregions. Ecol Indic 12(1):72–83. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2011.06.012
- 22. Garcia-Criado F, Becares E, Fernandez-Alaez C, Fernandez-Alaez M (2005) Plant-associated invertebrates and ecological quality in some Mediterranean shallow lakes: implications for the application of the EC Water Framework Directive. Aquat Conserv 15(1):31–50. doi:10.1002/ aqc.641
- 23. Boix D, Gascón S, Sala J, Martinoy M, Gifre J, Quintana XD (2005) A new index of water quality assessment in Mediterranean wetlands based on crustacean and insect assemblages: the case of Catalunya (NE Iberian peninsula). Aquat Conserv 15(6):635–651
- Quade HW (1969) Cladoceran faunas associated with aquatic macrophytes in some lakes in northwestern Minnesota. Ecology 50(2):170–179. doi:10.2307/1934843
- 25. McNaught DC (1975) A hypothesis to explain the succession from calanoids to cladocerans during eutrophication. Verhandlungen Internationale Vereinigung für theoretische und angewandte Limnologie 19:724–731
- Richman S, Dodson SI (1983) The effect of food quality on feeding and respiration by Daphnia and Diaptomus. Limnol Oceanogr 28(5):948–956
- Berzins B, Bertilsson J (1989) On limnic micro-crustaceans and trophic degree. Hydrobiologia 185(2):95–100. doi:10.1007/bf00010808
- Paterson M (1993) The distribution of microcrustacea in the littoral of a freshwater lake. Hydrobiologia 263(3):173–183. doi:10.1007/bf00006268
- 29. Stemberger RS, Lazorchek JM (1994) Zooplankton assemblage responses to disturbance gradients. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 51(11):2435–2447. doi:10.1139/f94-243
- 30. de Szalay FA, Resh VH (2000) Factors influencing macroinvertebrate colonization of seasonal wetlands: responses to emergent plant cover. Freshw Biol 45(3):295–308. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2427.2000.00623.x
- 31. Cañedo-Argüelles M, Boix D, Sanchez-Millaruelo N, Sala J, Caiola N, Nebra A, Rieradevall M (2012) A rapid bioassessment tool for the evaluation of the water quality of transitional waters. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 111:129–138. doi:10.1016/j.ecss.2012.07.001
- 32. Sala J, Gascón S, Boix D, Gesti J, Quintana XD (2004) Proposal of a rapid methodology to assess the conservation status of Mediterranean wetlands and its application in Catalunya (NE Iberian Peninsula). Arch Sci 57(2–3):141–151
- 33. Alonso M (1998) Las lagunas de la España peninsular. Limnetica 15:1-176
- Britton RH, Podlejski VD (1981) Inventory and classification of the wetlands of the Camargue (France). Aquat Bot 10(3):195–228. doi:10.1016/0304-3770(81)90024-3
- 35. Robledano F, Calvo JF, Esteve MA, Palazón JA, Ramírez L, Mas J (1987) Tipología, conservación y gestión de las zonas húmedas del sureste español. Limnetica 3(2):311–320
- 36. Trobajo R, Quintana XD, Moreno-Amich R (2002) Model of alternative predominance of phytoplankton-periphyton-macrophytes in lentic waters of Mediterranean coastal wetlands. Arch Hydrobiol 154(1):19–40
- 37. Lucena-Moya P, Pardo I, Alvarez M (2009) Development of a typology for transitional waters in the Mediterranean ecoregion: the case of the islands. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 82(1):61–72. doi:10.1016/j.ecss.2008.12.011

- 38. Boix D, Gascón S, Sala J, Badosa A, Brucet S, López-Flores R, Martinoy M, Gifre J, Quintana XD (2008) Patterns of composition and species richness of crustaceans and aquatic insects along environmental gradients in Mediterranean water bodies. Hydrobiologia 597:53–69
- 39. Hughes RM (1995) Defining acceptable biological status by comparing with reference conditions. In: Davies WS, Simon TP (eds) Biological assessment and criteria: tools for water resource planning and decision making. Lewis, Boca Raton, pp 31–47
- 40. MillenniumEcosystemAssessment (2005) Ecosystems and human wellbeing: wetlands and water synthesis. World Resources Institute, Washington, DC
- 41. Zedler JB, Kercher S (2005) Wetland resources: status, trends, ecosystem services, and restorability. In: Annual review of environment and resources, vol 30. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, pp 39–74. doi:10.1146/annurev.energy.30.050504.144248
- 42. Quintana XD, Comin FA, Moreno-Amich R (1998) Nutrient and plankton dynamics in a Mediterranean salt marsh dominated by incidents of flooding. Part 2: response of the zoo-plankton community to disturbances. J Plankton Res 20(11):2109–2127
- 43. Gascón S, Boix D, Sala J, Quintana XD (2005) Variability of benthic assemblages in relation to the hydrological pattern in Mediterranean salt marshes (Emporda wetlands, NE Iberian Peninsula). Arch Hydrobiol 163(2):163–181
- 44. Scheffer M (1998) Ecology of Shalow lakes, vol 22, Population and community biology series. Chapman & Hall, London
- 45. Talling JF, Driver D (1963) Some problems in the estimation of chlorophyll a in phytoplankton. In: Proceedings of a conference on primary productivity measurements, marine and freshwater, University of Hawaii, Honolulu, 1961. US Atomic Energy Commission, TID-7633, pp 142–146
- 46. Grasshoff K, Ehrhardt M, Kremling K (1983) Methods of seawater analysis, 2nd edn. Verlag Chemie, Weinheim
- 47. ACA (2006) ECOZO. Protocol d'avaluació de l'estat ecològic de les zones humides
- Rosenberg DM, Resh VH (2001) Freshwater biomonitoring and benthic macroinvertebrates. Kluwer, Boston
- 49. Vollenweider RA, Giovanardi F, Montanari G, Rinaldi A (1998) Characterization of the trophic conditions of marine coastal waters with special reference to the NW Adriatic Sea: proposal for a trophic scale, turbidity and generalized water quality index. Environmetrics 9 (3):329–357. doi:10.1002/(sici)1099-095x(199805/06)9:3<329::aid-env308>3.0.co;2-9
- 50. Coelho S, Gamito S, Perez-Ruzafa A (2007) Trophic state of Foz de Almargem coastal lagoon (Algarve, South Portugal) based on the water quality and the phytoplankton community. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 71(1–2):218–231. doi:10.1016/j.ecss.2006.07.017
- 51. Salas F, Teixeira H, Marcos C, Marques JC, Perez-Ruzafa A (2008) Applicability of the trophic index TRIX in two transitional ecosystems: the Mar Menor lagoon (Spain) and the Mondego estuary (Portugal). ICES J Mar Sci 65(8):1442–1448. doi:10.1093/icesjms/fsn123
- Cañedo-Argüelles M, Rieradevall M, Farres-Corell R, Newton A (2012) Annual characterisation of four Mediterranean coastal lagoons subjected to intense human activity. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 114:59–69. doi:10.1016/j.ecss.2011.07.017
- Stora G, Arnoux A (1983) Effects of large fresh-water diversions on benthos of a Mediterranean lagoon. Estuaries 6(2):115–125. doi:10.2307/1351702
- Frantzen N, Devisser J, Vannes EH (1994) Colonization and succession of macroinvertebrates in recently freshened lake Volkerak-Zoom (The Netherlands). Hydrobiologia 275:323–334
- 55. Gamito S (2006) Benthic ecology of semi-natural coastal lagoons, in the Ria Formosa (Southern Portugal), exposed to different water renewal regimes. Hydrobiologia 555:75–87. doi:10.1007/s10750-005-1107-3
- 56. Cañedo-Argüelles M, Rieradevall M (2010) Disturbance caused by freshwater releases of different magnitude on the aquatic macroinvertebrate communities of two coastal lagoons. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 88(2):190–198. doi:10.1016/j.ecss.2010.03.025
- 57. Wallin M, Wiederholm T, Johnson RK (2003) Guidance on establishing reference conditions and ecological status class boundaries for inland surface waters. Final draft, version 7.0. Common Implementation Strategy Working Group 2.3. European Union

- 58. Bayo M, Ortega M, Langton P, Casas JJ (2001) Evaluación ecológica de humedales y la directiva Marco Europea sobre el agua: sobre el valor indicador de las comunidades de dípteros quironómidos en los humedales litorales de la provincia de Almería., vol Actas del V Simposio Sobre El Agua En Andalucía
- Sahuquillo M, Miracle MR, Rieradevall M (2006) Macroinvertebrates associated with reed stems. In: Jones J (ed) International association of theoretical and applied limnology, vol 29, Pt
   International Association of Theoretical and Applied Limnology – Proceedings, pp 2245–2246
- 60. Sahuquillo M, Poquet JM, Rueda J, Miracle MR (2007) Macroinvertebrate communities in sediment and plants in coastal Mediterranean water bodies (Central Iberian Peninsula). Ann Limnol Int J Limnol 43(2):117–130. doi:10.1051/limn/2007018
- Cañedo-Argüelles M, Rieradevall M (2009) Quantification of environment-driven changes in epiphytic macroinvertebrate communities associated to Phragmites australis. J Limnol 68 (2):229–241. doi:10.3274/j109-68-2-07
- Pinder LCV (1995) The habitats of chironomid larvae. In: Armitage PD, Cranston PS, Pinder LCV (eds) Biology and ecology of non-biting midges. Chapman & Hall, London, pp 107–135
- 63. Warwick WF (1990) Morphological Deformities in chironomidae (Diptera) larvae from the Lac St. Louis and Laprairie Basins of the St. Lawrence rive. J Great Lakes Res 16(2):185–208
- 64. Wilson RS, Ruse L (2005) A guide to the identification of Genera of Chironomid Pupal Exuviae occurring in Britain and Ireland. Cumbria
- 65. Raunio J, Paasivirta L (2008) Emergence patterns of lotic Chironomidae (Diptera: Nematocera) in southern Finland and the use of their pupal exuviae in river biomonitoring. Fundam Appl Limnol 170(4):291–301. doi:10.1127/1863-9135/2008/0170-0291
- 66. Ruse L (2002) Chironomid pupal exuviae as indicators of lake status. Arch Hydrobiol 153 (3):367–390
- 67. Raunio J, Paasivirta L, Hamalainen H (2010) Assessing lake trophic status using springemerging chironomid pupal exuviae. Fundam Appl Limnol 176(1):61–73. doi:10.1127/1863-9135/2010/0176-0061
- 68. Ruse L (2010) Classification of nutrient impact on lakes using the chironomid pupal exuvial technique. Ecol Indic 10(3):594–601. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2009.10.002
- 69. Ferrington L, Blackwood MA, Wright C, Crisp N, Kavanaugh J, Schmidt FJ (1991) A protocol for using surface floating pupal exuviae of chironomidae for rapid bioassessment changing water quality. In: Peters NEW, Wallng DE (eds) Sediment and stream quality in a changing environment: trends and explanation, vol 203. IAHS, Oxfordshire, pp 181–190
- 70. Sànchez-Millaruelo N, Cañedo-Argüelles M, Rieradevall M (2009) Avaluació de la biodiversitat i l'estat ecològic de les llacunes i canals del Delta del Llobregat mitjançant l'ús de les exúvies de quironòmids com a bioindicadors. In: 5enes Jornades d'Estudi del Patrimoni del Baix Llobregat: Patrimoni en un entorn metropolità. Consell Comarcal del Baix Llobregat, pp 83–88
- 71. Langton PH, Visser H (2003) Chironomidae exuviae. a key to pupal exuviae of the West Palaearctic Region. ETI/ STOWA/RIZA, ISBN 90-75000-50-2
- Dufrene M, Legendre P (1997) Species assemblages and indicator species: the need for a flexible asymmetrical approach. Ecol Monogr 67(3):345–366. doi:10.2307/2963459
- 73. Lucena JR, Hurtado J, Comin FA (2002) Nutrients related to the hydrologic regime in the coastal lagoons of Viladecans (NE Spain). Hydrobiologia 475(1):413–422. doi:10.1023/a:1020303828715
- 74. Fennessy MS, Jacobs AD, Kentula ME (2004) Review of rapid methods for assessing wetland condition, U.S.
- 75. Petersen RC (1992) The RCE: a Riparian, Channel and Environmental Inventory for small streams in the agricultural landscape. Freshw Biol 27(2):295–306. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2427. 1992.tb00541.x
- 76. Munné A, Prat N, Sola C, Bonada N, Rieradevall M (2003) A simple field method for assessing the ecological quality of riparian habitat in rivers and streams: QBR index. Aquat Conserv 13 (2):147–163. doi:10.1002/aqc.529

- 77. Furniss P, Lane A (1992) Practical conservation: water and wetlands. Hodder & Stougton, London
- 78. Britton RH, Crivelli AJ (1993) Wetlands of southern Europe and North Africa: Mediterranean wetlands. In: Whigham DF, Dykjová D (eds) Wetlands of the world I: inventory, ecology and management. Kluwer, Dordrecht, pp 129–194
- Curcó A (1996) La vegetación del Delta del Ebro (III): las comunidades acuàticas de hidrófitos (Clases Lemnetea minoris y Potametea). Documents Phytosociologiques (N.S.) 16:273–291
- Bartoldus CC (1999) A comprehensive review of wetland assessment procedures: a guide for wetland practitioners, St. Michaels MD
- 81. Williams P, Biggs J, Whitfield M, Thorne A, Bryant S, Fox G, Nicolet P (1999) The pond book. A guide to the management and creation of ponds. Ponds Conservation Trust, Oxford
- 82. EU (2003) Horizontal guidance document on the role of wetlands in the water framework directive. European Union
- 83. Chapman VJ (1974) Salt marshes and salt deserts of the world. J. Crahmer, Lehre
- 84. Folch R (1986) La vegetació dels Països Catalans. Ketres editora, Barcelona
- 85. Grillas P, Gauthier P, Yaverkovski N, Perennou C (2004) Mediterranean temporary pools, vol 1. Issues relating to conservation, functioning and management. Le Sambuc
- Figueroa R, Suarez ML, Andreu A, Ruiz VH, Vidal-Abarca MR (2009) Wetlands ecological characterization of central chile semi-dry area. Gayana 73(1):76–94
- Ruhí A, San Sebastian O, Feo C, Franch M, Gascón S, Richter-Boix A, Boix D, Llorente G (2012) Man-made Mediterranean temporary ponds as a tool for amphibian conservation. Ann Limnol Int J Limnol 48(1):81–93. doi:10.1051/limn/2011059
- 88. Della Bella V, Mancini L (2009) Freshwater diatom and macroinvertebrate diversity of coastal permanent ponds along a gradient of human impact in a Mediterranean eco-region. Hydrobiologia 634(1):25–41. doi:10.1007/s10750-009-9890-x
- Gascón S, Boix D, Sala J (2009) Are different biodiversity metrics related to the same factors? A case study from Mediterranean wetlands. Biol Conserv 142(11):2602–2612. doi:10.1016/j. biocon.2009.06.008
- 90. Gascón S, Machado M, Sala J, da Fonseca LC, Cristo M, Boix D (2012) Spatial characteristics and species niche attributes modulate the response by aquatic passive dispersers to habitat degradation. Mar Freshw Res 63(3):232–245. doi:10.1071/mf11160
- 91. Brown KS (1998) Ecology vanishing pools taking species with them. Science 281(5377):626
- 92. Diaz-Paniagua C, Fernandez-Zamudio R, Florencio M, Garcia-Murillo P, Gomez-Rodriguez-C, Portheault A, Serrano L, Siljestrom P (2010) Temporary ponds from Donana National Park: a system of natural habitats for the preservation of aquatic flora and fauna. Limnetica 29 (1):41–58
- Rhazi L, Grillas P, Saber ER, Rhazi M, Brendonck L, Waterkeyn A (2012) Vegetation of Mediterranean temporary pools: a fading jewel? Hydrobiologia 689(1):23–36. doi:10.1007/ s10750-011-0679-3

# Assessing Ecological Integrity in Large Reservoirs According to the Water Framework Directive

Rafael Marcé, Joan Armengol, and Enrique Navarro

**Abstract** In this chapter we review the implementation of the Water Framework Directive in Catalan large reservoirs and the impact of the first Program of Measures on the ecological quality of these water bodies. In this case, the implementation faced a big challenge, resulting from combining a reduced number of water bodies located on highly heterogeneous geological setting and suffering from different and contrasting human impacts. This chapter introduces the proposed methodology, later assesses how it was implemented in a simplified assessment, and finally makes some suggestions for future improvements. In our opinion, a simplified protocol firstly used in Catalan reservoirs for the assessment of ecological potential is a sound, scientific-based methodology that delivers useful information for tailoring the Program of Measures to realistic and achievable objectives. As potential improvements we suggest: (1) the protocol to assess ecological potential should consider the one-out all-out rule for combining the biological and physicochemical quality elements; (2) definition of water body-specific Maximum Ecological Potential situations, using the Alternative Prague approach; (3) update the boundaries between levels of ecological potential inside each typology using the best knowledge available from reservoir limnology studies, particularly those published during the last decade; and (4) including the presence of invasive species in the assessment of biological quality.

R. Marcé (🖂)

J. Armengol

Department of Ecology, University of Barcelona, Diagonal 643, 08028 Barcelona, Spain

E. Navarro Pyrenean Institute of Ecology, Av. Montaña 1005, 50059 Zaragoza, Spain

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 42: 201–220, DOI 10.1007/698\_2015\_400, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 10 July 2015 201

Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), Emili Grahit 101, 17003 Girona, Spain e-mail: rmarce@icra.cat
**Keywords** *Alternative Prague* approach, Good ecological potential assessment (GEP), Heavily modified water bodies, Invasive species, Reservoirs, Water Framework Directive (WFD)

#### Contents

2       Reservoir Typology in Catalonia       204         3       Assessment of Ecological Potential: Original Proposal       206         4       Ecological Potential in the Original Sampling       209         5       From Proposal to Simplified Implementation: Ecological Potential Outcomes       211         6       Critical Evaluation of the Simplified Implementation       213         7       The Relevance of Reservoir Water Quality on the Program of Measures       215         8       Final Remarks       216         References       217	1	Reservoirs in the WFD	202
3       Assessment of Ecological Potential: Original Proposal       206         4       Ecological Potential in the Original Sampling       209         5       From Proposal to Simplified Implementation: Ecological Potential Outcomes       211         6       Critical Evaluation of the Simplified Implementation       213         7       The Relevance of Reservoir Water Quality on the Program of Measures       215         8       Final Remarks       216         References       217	2	Reservoir Typology in Catalonia	204
4       Ecological Potential in the Original Sampling       209         5       From Proposal to Simplified Implementation: Ecological Potential Outcomes       211         6       Critical Evaluation of the Simplified Implementation       213         7       The Relevance of Reservoir Water Quality on the Program of Measures       215         8       Final Remarks       216         References       217	3	Assessment of Ecological Potential: Original Proposal	206
5       From Proposal to Simplified Implementation: Ecological Potential Outcomes       211         6       Critical Evaluation of the Simplified Implementation       213         7       The Relevance of Reservoir Water Quality on the Program of Measures       215         8       Final Remarks       216         References       217	4	Ecological Potential in the Original Sampling	209
6       Critical Evaluation of the Simplified Implementation       213         7       The Relevance of Reservoir Water Quality on the Program of Measures       215         8       Final Remarks       216         References       217	5	From Proposal to Simplified Implementation: Ecological Potential Outcomes	211
7 The Relevance of Reservoir Water Quality on the Program of Measures       215         8 Final Remarks       216         References       217	6	Critical Evaluation of the Simplified Implementation	213
8 Final Remarks         216           References         217	7	The Relevance of Reservoir Water Quality on the Program of Measures	215
References	8	Final Remarks	216
	Re	ferences	217

## **1** Reservoirs in the WFD

The European Water Framework Directive (WFD) 2000/60/EC [1] was approved in December 2000 to protect and improve the quality of European waters. Reservoirs are characterized as *artificial* or *modified* water bodies in this Directive, and pointing to that they were created for economic activities after profound physical modification of the river network and thus have restoration targets different from those defined for the unmodified water bodies [2].

According to the WFD, member states may define surface water bodies as *heavily modified* (HMWB) in the process of drafting river basin management plans. This category was defined to include those water bodies that have been physically altered so that they are substantially changed in character. Alternatively, some water bodies may also be defined as *artificial water bodies* (AWB) if they have been created by human activity [3]. Within this context, physical alterations mean changes to the hydromorphological characteristics of a water body, and a water body that is substantially changed in character is one that has been subject to major long-term changes in its hydromorphology.

The environmental objective for HMWB and for AWB is good ecological potential (GEP), which has to be firstly achieved by 2015, or subsequently by 2021 or 2027. This is in contrast with the more meaningful "good ecological status" objective for the other water body typologies. Nevertheless, GEP is an ecological objective which may be difficult to achieve [4]. However, there is an intrinsic challenge in achieving GEP: establishing an appropriate Maximum Ecological Potential (MEP) for a particular HMWB or AWB. The MEP is considered as the reference conditions for HMWB and is intended to describe the best approximation to a natural aquatic ecosystem that could be achieved given the hydromorphological characteristics that cannot be changed without significant adverse effects on the

specified use or the wider environment. There is a controversy about the appropriate criteria to derive MEP, and although the working groups implementing the WFD have tried to give guidance on this, at present little has advanced in terms of understanding what does MEP mean, especially in an ecological context [4].

The Common Implementation Process (CIS) of the WFD has suggested two options to define MEP and GEP that rely on scenario modeling: one based on biological quality elements and the other based on identification of mitigation measures [5]. In the first approach, MEP relates to the values of biological quality elements after all mitigation measures have been implemented that do not have a significant adverse effect on the use of water stored in the HMWB. GEP is defined as only slight changes from those values at MEP. The second alternative, the so-called *Alternative Prague* approach, starts excluding those measures that, in combination, are predicted to deliver only slight ecological improvement. GEP is then defined as the biological values that are expected from implementing the remaining identified (and relevant) mitigation measures. It is argued that the *Prague* approach leads to comparable results as the approach based on biological quality elements, while in the same time, it leaves less room for errors due to predictive modeling [5].

However, there is little guidance based on scientific knowledge on what has to be done with the samples of biological elements. Hence, differences in interpretation, methods, and approaches are common across different European countries [6]. In the best scenario, MEP can be defined using the ecological properties of the closest natural comparable water type, i.e., a natural lake. An alternative is to use an AWB or HMWB of the same type. That would eventually allow for considering "others" than the impacts caused by the hydromorphological changes intrinsically linked to the transformation of a river into a reservoir. However, finding such reference situations in reservoirs is unfeasible in most situations. This particularity of reservoirs should be stressed: although they can be defined as HMWBs, being the river as the parent system, it is evident that using a river as a reference to build MEP would be no sense. However, it is not that obvious that the suggested procedure of using a closest lake to define MEP for a reservoir is equally unreasonable. From an ecological point of view, any comparison between lakes and reservoirs is compromised by the deep differences of ecological functioning between these systems [7].

The difficulties for finding appropriate reference conditions for reservoirs and the ambiguities related to MEP and GEP definition have resulted in undesired side effects during the implementation of the WFD in reservoirs. Most problems stem from the fact that *expert judgment*, in the WFD indicated as a last resort, is frequently the prime mechanism to establish MEP and GEP values. This can be also the result of a lack of sensibility versus the particular ecology of reservoirs and its strong alteration of the river dynamics [8]. As a result, the usefulness of the implementation of the WFD in reservoirs (i.e., the achievement of GEP) is compromised by either its strong dependence on subjective criteria or the use of unreliable metrics developed from natural lake research. In this chapter we review the implementation of the WFD in Catalan large reservoirs and the impact of this implementation on the first Program of Measures. Several other implementations have been published focusing on streams [9, 10] and coastal waters [11] and water management for agriculture [12]. There are numerous examples of protocols and applications for lakes and other surface waters [13–18]. Nevertheless, implementations published specifically for reservoirs are becoming more frequent [19–23]. In our case, we faced the challenge that only a reduced number of water bodies were available, and those bodies were located in a heterogeneous geological setting and suffered highly contrasting human impacts. The chapter introduces the proposed methodology, how this proposal was implemented in a first simplified version, and suggestions for future improvements.

## 2 Reservoir Typology in Catalonia

Eutrophication is the main water quality problem in reservoirs due to the larger inputs of nutrients and stronger water-level fluctuations than natural lakes [24, 25]. The MEP of a reservoir will depend to a great extent on the water quality of inflowing river, and in its turn the water quality will depend on the position along the river [26]. Consequently, we suggested an approach that classifies reservoirs into types depending on their position along the river network [27].

The implementation of the WFD for reservoirs in the Catalan River Basin District was based on a specific sampling campaign on 21 large reservoirs located in Catalonia (Fig. 1; Table 1). They were sampled quarterly from summer 2002 to spring 2003. In each reservoir, a sampling point was selected near the dam. Sampling included a wide range of physical, chemical, and biological measurements (temperature, conductivity, dissolved oxygen concentration, nutrient analysis, fish community, phytoplankton and zooplankton communities, etc.). See [27] for further details.

Reservoir typology was established using a collection of variables from system *B* of the WFD: altitude, distance to the sea, volume and the reservoir's catchment area, and geology (using chloride concentration as a convenient proxy). A principal component analysis (PCA) showed that most variables were interdependent. The first PCA axis summarized these correlations displaying a geographical gradient related to altitude and distance to the sea, from lowland reservoirs with high chloride concentration to higher-altitude reservoirs with low chloride. The second PCA axis distinguished two reservoirs of the Ebro River from the rest because of their large basin surface and chloride concentration. Santa Fe, the smallest reservoir, was situated on the opposite side; see [28].

After analyzing the variability along the selected descriptors, we established the boundaries between types by expert judgment, allowing classification of the reservoirs into six types using a dichotomic key (Fig. 2). Escales reservoir was the only member of Type I (large high-altitude reservoirs), whereas Santa Fe was the only one classified as Type II (small high-altitude reservoirs). Discrimination of the two



Fig. 1 Large reservoirs in Catalonia and main rivers. Source: Catalan Water Agency

high-altitude types from the others was accomplished defining a threshold placed at 815 m. Siurana, Foix, and Riudecanyes reservoirs composed Type III, containing small coastal reservoirs (Fig. 2). Type IV was composed by all reservoirs without extreme characteristics along the axes defined by descriptors (i.e., medium-altitude and lowland reservoirs located at least 25 km away from the coast). Chloride concentration over 40 ppm served as a discriminating characteristic between Type IV and the last two types. A threshold value for catchment area of 1,000 km<sup>2</sup> discriminated between Type V (Flix and Ribarroja reservoirs, located in the Ebro River) and Type VI (Sau and Susqueda reservoirs, in the Ter River). All in all, the final classification reflected both the diverse typology of the reservoirs and subjective criteria about the ecological functioning of the systems based on the extensive knowledge available from these systems by the research teams involved in the characterization.

	-	-			
	Dam	Surface		Ecological	Ecological potential:
	height	area	Capacity	potential: original	simplified
Reservoir	(m)	(ha)	(hm <sup>3</sup> )	method	implementation
Boadella	63	363.3	60.2	Moderate	Moderate
Camarasa	103	624	163	Good	Maximum
Canelles	150	1,569	678	Maximum	Maximum
Cavallers	70	47	16	Not assessed	Maximum
El Pasteral	33	34.6	2	Not assessed	Maximum
Escales	125	400	152	Maximum	Maximum
Flix	26	320	11	Maximum	Maximum
Foix	38	67.9	3.74	Poor	Bad
El Catllar	79	326.2	60.4	Not assessed	Poor
Guiamets	47	62	10	Not assessed	Moderate
La Baells	102.3	364.7	109.5	Good	Moderate
La Llosa del	122.3	300	79.4	Good	Maximum
Cavall					
Margalef	33.2	31.8	3	Not assessed	Good
Oliana	102	443	101	Moderate	Good
Rialp	99	430	402.8	Moderate	Good
Riba-roja	60	2,152	210	Maximum	Good
Riudecanyes	51	40.3	5.3	Good	Good
Sallente	89	31	6.5	Not assessed	Maximum
Sant Antoni	86	927	205	Good	Maximum
Sant Llorenç de Montgai	25	131	10	Good	Maximum
Sant Martí de Tous	34	14.9	1.3	Not assessed	Good
Sant Ponç	59.5	144.5	24.4	Good	Good
Santa Anna	101	768	237	Good	Maximum
Santa Fe	24	6.9	0.8	Maximum	Good
Sau	83	572.8	151.3	Good	Moderate
Siurana	63	85	12	Maximum	Maximum
Susqueda	135	466	233	Good	Good
Terradets	47	330	23	Moderate	Maximum
Vallforners	62	11.4	2.3	Not assessed	Good

 Table 1
 Basic morphological characteristics of Catalan reservoirs and ecological potential assessments using the original method proposed by [27] and the simplified implementation

## 3 Assessment of Ecological Potential: Original Proposal

To assess the ecological potential (EP), it is mandatory to establish five classes (maximum, good, moderate, poor, and bad) for all parameters considered in the assessment. The WFD provides extensive guidelines to assess the EP, but only general guidance for defining boundaries between classes [28]. In our case, we used several indexes to define the boundaries between ecological classes. Ten

	Altitude									
> 81	15 m		< 815	m						
Volume			Distance from	n the coast						
> 20 Hm	< 20 Hm	< 25 km.		> 25 km						
			Chloride concentration							
			< 40 ppm	> 40 ppm						
				Catchment area						
				> 10 <sup>3</sup> Km <sup>2</sup> < 10 <sup>3</sup> Km <sup>2</sup>						
Type I	Type II	Type III	Type I∨	Туре ∨	Type ∨I					

Fig. 2 Classification of reservoir typology in Catalonia

parameters were selected to calculate EP: total chlorophyll-*a* (mg m<sup>-3</sup>), *Cyanobacteria* chlorophyll-*a* (mg m<sup>-3</sup>), total and percent catch per unit effort (CPUE) of limnetic and littoral common carp *Cyprinus carpio* [29], percentage of fish with anomalies, Secchi disk depth (m), average percentage of hypolimnetic oxygen concentration, and total phosphorus concentration (mg m<sup>-3</sup>) in the water column (see Table 2). This set of parameters was expected to comprehensively reflect the physicochemical and biological features of the reservoirs and was used to assess the ecological state of the reservoirs. In the case of nutrients, parameters and boundaries between classes of the Trophic State Index (TSI) [30] and the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) [24] classifications were used. Fish metrics that link the trophic state of the waters with the abundance and species composition of the fish assemblages were also used [29]. The presence of *Cyanobacteria* was considered using the guidelines from the World Health Organization for recreational waters [31], while the Water Quality Index (WQI [32]) was implemented for oxygen conditions.

The lack of unpolluted or pristine reference systems has become one of the emerging problems during the implementation of the WFD [33, 34]. Since reservoirs are one of the most dramatic and irreversible impacts of humans on rivers, the definition of reference systems is not obvious. As a result, some of the boundaries between classes for the indexes mentioned above were modified using expert judgment. Regarding this situation, the choice of a reservoir presenting MEP as a reference for other reservoirs seems acceptable. However, those reference systems to define MEP were not available for two out of the six types defined in the reservoir typology; because with just 21 systems at play and a highly biased distribution toward impacted systems, we could not identify reference systems for Types V and

Types	Parameters	Maximum	Good	Moderate	Poor	Bad
I, II, III,	Chlorophyll- $a (mg m^{-3})$	0-1	1-2.5	2.5-8	8-25	>25
and IV	Cyanobacteria chloro-	0-0.5	0.5-1	1–5	5-20	>20
	phyll- $a (mg m^{-3})$					
	% anomalies in fish	<2%		2–5%	>5%	
	CPUE of littoral carp	< 0.005		0.005-0.009	>0.009	
	CPUE of limnetic carp	<0.261		0.261-0.522	>0.522	
	% of littoral carp	<32%		32-64%	>64%	
	% of limnetic carp	<27%		27–53%	>53%	
	Secchi disk depth (m)	>12	12-6	6–3	3-1.5	<1.5
	% hypolimnetic oxygen	100-80	80–60	60–40	40-20	20-0
	Total phosphorus $(mg m^{-3})$	0-4	4–10	10–35	35–100	>100
V	Chlorophyll- $a (\text{mg m}^{-3})$	0-2.5	2.5-10	10-15	15-25	>25
	Cyanobacteria chloro-	0-0.5	0.5-1	1–5	5-20	>20
	phyll-a (mg m <sup><math>-3</math></sup> )					
	% anomalies in fish	<2%		2-5%	>5%	
	CPUE of littoral carp	< 0.005		0.005-0.009	>0.009	
	CPUE of limnetic carp	< 0.261	<0.261		>0.522	
	% of littoral carp	<32%		32-64%	>64%	
	% of limnetic carp	<27%		27-53%	>53%	
	Secchi disk depth (m)	>8	8-4	4-2	2-1	<1
	% hypolimnetic oxygen	100-75	75–50	50-35	35-20	20-0
	Total phosphorus	0-15	15-25	25-35	35-70	>70
	$(\text{mg m}^{-3})^{-3}$					
VI	Chlorophyll- $a (mg m^{-3})$	0-5	5-15	15–25	25-50	>50
	<i>Cyanobacteria</i> chloro-	0-0.5	0.5–1	1–5	5-20	>20
	phyll-a (mg m <sup>-1</sup> )	-201		5.00	> 5.01	
	% anomalies in fish	<2%		5-2%	>5%	
	CPUE of littoral carp	<0.005		0.009-0.005	>0.009	
	CPUE of limnetic carp	<0.261		0.522-0.261	>0.522	
	% of littoral carp	<32%		64-32%	>64%	
	% of limnetic carp	<27%	1	53-27%	>53%	
	Secchi disk depth (m)	>6	6–3	3-2	2-1	<1
	% hypolimnetic oxygen	100-60	60–30	30-15	15-5	5-0
	Total phosphorus $(mg m^{-3})$	0–16	16–32	32–64	64–128	>128

 Table 2
 Variables used to assess the ecological potential in Catalan reservoirs and thresholds defining EP levels in the different typologies defined (see Fig. 2). Modified from [27]

VI. Therefore, we defined the boundaries between classes for these types by expert judgment, assigning the MEP to the values defined for the GEP. Table 2 illustrates the quality elements and ranges used to assess the ecological status according to the WFD. Note that when calculating the final EP class merging results from the

different elements (biological and physicochemical), we always used the most conservative result, i.e., the worst result in terms of final EP assessment was always considered as the outcome [27].

#### 4 Ecological Potential in the Original Sampling

We performed a first evaluation of the ecological potential during year 2003 (i.e., before the period used in the final version of the First Assessment for reporting the EC, 2007–2012). Escales Reservoir, the only Type I reservoir, showed MEP, in correspondence with its definition as a reference system (Table 1). In spite of its headwater position and relatively low chlorophyll values in the oligotrophic range  $(4-12 \text{ mg m}^{-3})$ , the amount of phosphorus released from hypolimnion and sediments (13 mg m<sup>-3</sup>) during the mixing period produced mesotrophic conditions during the entire year.

Santa Fe Reservoir, the only Type II reservoir, showed high values for both phosphorus (17–35 mg m<sup>-3</sup>) and chlorophyll-*a* (43–110 mg m<sup>-3</sup>) because of its dystrophic conditions. *Cyanobacteria* were present in high concentrations (7–11 mg m<sup>-3</sup> of chlorophyll-*a*), mainly consisting of *Microcystis* sp. and *Gomphosphaeria* sp. However, Santa Fe Reservoir is located in the headwaters of a near-pristine watershed, and those water quality characteristics are typical from dystrophic systems with high inputs from the surrounding deciduous forest. Therefore, Santa Fe was also assigned with a MEP (Table 1).

Type III reservoirs showed the worst EP of all groups, between bad and poor. Foix Reservoir showed the highest values of total phosphorus concentration (250–350 mg m<sup>-3</sup>) and simultaneous extreme values of chlorophyll-*a* (78–823 mg m<sup>-3</sup>) and high concentrations of *Cyanobacteria* [35]. The other two reservoirs showed moderate phosphorus concentration (4–50 mg m<sup>-3</sup>) but eutrophic conditions with high values of chlorophyll-*a* (17–80 mg m<sup>-3</sup>), resulting from their small size and critical changes in their water levels due to their use for irrigation purposes. All in all, Foix and Riudecanyes showed moderate and GEP, respectively. Siurana Reservoir was the reference system for this type, so it showed MEP (Table 1).

Type IV gathers 12 reservoirs placed on medium-sized rivers, most of them located on adjacent tributaries of the Ebro River. These reservoirs showed moderate and GEP. Most of these reservoirs showed mesotrophic conditions during the year, and only four reservoirs presented eutrophic conditions during part of the year. These four reservoirs showed a moderate EP and should have been the target for restoration measures: Rialb Reservoir, in its initial phases of first filling, and Boadella, Oliana, and Terradets reservoirs because of the poor quality of the inflowing water from tributaries.

Type V systems (Flix and Riba-roja reservoirs) are located at the lower reaches of the Ebro River. The presence of an upstream reservoir (Mequinenza Reservoir, not included in this study, with a volume of 1,533.8 hm<sup>3</sup> and a residence time of 72.5 days) significantly reduces the amount of nutrients. Both reservoirs presented



Fig. 3 Ecological potential calculated for the original set of reservoirs using (a) the original criteria suggested by [27] and (b) the results from a simplified assessment delivered in 2012, considering the same set of reservoirs

mesotrophic conditions during the entire year, with some episodic eutrophic conditions. Reference values were chosen to be in the range of values shown by both reservoirs, considering that their present ecological status is of good quality (i.e., we applied a rather subjective expert judgment). Thus, EP values were between GEP and MEP (Table 1).

Type VI reservoirs are associated with a relatively large river (Ter River). Its watershed suffers from intense human pressures, particularly agriculture and farming, which produce a large amount of diffuse inputs that reach the reservoirs and accumulate in the sediments. Despite the implementation of a sanitation plan that has greatly reduced the nutrient inputs, they are eutrophic or hypereutrophic ( $78 \pm 80$  and  $62 \pm 33$  mg m<sup>-3</sup> total phosphorus). Expert judgment was applied in choosing reference values, with the values of the parameters being quite close to those observed in the reservoirs.

Because of the toxicological relevance of cyanotoxins, chlorophyll-*a* from *Cyanobacteria* was analyzed (81 data from 21 reservoirs) to assess the risk of exceeding 1 µg L<sup>-1</sup>, the maximum value allowed for GEP. The probabilities of exceeding the limit values of 1 and 5 µg L<sup>-1</sup> were 19% and 4%, respectively. The six samples over the 5 µg L<sup>-1</sup> limit were from Santa Fe, Foix, and Riudecanyes reservoirs. During the summer, only Type III reservoirs showed values representing an ecological or human-health risk.

Overall, 28% of the reservoirs were identified as having MEP and 48% as having GEP. The rest of the reservoirs (24%) were below the GEP target (Fig. 3a; Table 1).

## 5 From Proposal to Simplified Implementation: Ecological Potential Outcomes

The Catalan Water Agency issued a protocol for the assessment of the EP in reservoirs of the Catalan River Basin District, following suggestions contained in [27] and summarized above. This first simplified implementation procedure contained several modifications to tailor it to available monitoring resources and also to test cheaper and quicker procedures. Outcomes from the original and this simplified proposal were compared here; however, it is worth mentioning that the current final implementation (year 2015) is a more complete methodology than the simplified version compared here.

First, the simplified protocol did not include total phosphorus concentration, Secchi disk depth, and parameters related to the fish community. Only total chlorophyll-*a* concentration, chlorophyll-*a* concentration from *Cyanobacteria*, and hypolimnetic dissolved oxygen concentration were considered in the simplified monitoring analysis for reservoirs in Catalonia. Note that the possibility of excluding quality elements from the EP calculation was already considered in early CIS guidance documents and therefore should not be considered as bad practice. Second, the simplified EP value was not equaled to the worst EP value from the different elements (the one-out all-out principle) but computed using the average. The potential impacts of those changes in the protocol on the final EP assessment are discussed later in this section.

The EP was assessed for 30 reservoirs in the simplified assessment, including additional reservoirs beyond the set used to develop the method (Table 1). The simplified assessment identified 46% of the reservoirs in MEP and 32% in GEP (Fig. 4c). This implies that 22% of the reservoirs in Catalonia do not fulfill the target quality requirements (i.e., GEP). Most of the reservoirs identified with moderate EP or less were relatively small reservoirs located near the coast. Remarkably, a large reservoir currently used as one of the main sources for water supply was also identified as having moderate EP (Sau Reservoir), as well as two large reservoirs (Boadella and La Baells reservoirs) used to deal with the seasonal variability of water available for water supply and irrigation in downstream locations (Table 1).

A closer look on the quality elements used to calculate EP gave interesting conclusions. Actually, the physicochemical quality of many samples was identified as bad, while the other half was classified as good (Fig. 4b). However, the biological quality was high in 75% of the reservoirs, and those with moderate or less quality were just 25% of them (Fig. 4a). It becomes clear that the overall EP assignments are more influenced by the biological quality elements than by the physicochemical elements in the simplified implementation.

Unfortunately, we cannot make judgments about non-measured variables, so we can only speculate about the potential impact of the discarded variables in the simplified implementation (Secchi disk depth, total phosphorus concentration, and fish community indexes) on the final EP assignments. However, we can easily check the effect of the criterion to aggregate the biological and physicochemical



**Fig. 4** Results from the simplified assessment for (**a**) the distribution of biological quality scores, (**b**) the physicochemical quality scores, and (**c**) the final ecological potential assignments resulting from the combination of the previous two elements. Additionally, we calculated (**d**) the ecological potential for the same dataset but applying the one-out all-out rule when combining the physicochemical and the biological quality scores

elements into a single EP class. We compared the EP assignments in the simplified assessment with EP classes computed using the one-out all-out rule when aggregating the biological and physicochemical quality (i.e., we picked the worst result as the final EP). The comparison between the EP assignments in the simplified assessment and using the one-out all-out rule could not be more contrasting (Fig. 4c, d; Table 1). While 46% of the reservoirs still comply with the GEP using the new rule, the rest of them (54%) were classified as having bad EP.

These results stress the fact that choosing the procedures to calculate EP is paramount for the implementation of the WFD in HMWBs and by extension in all water bodies. The suggested procedure by the CIS is to use one-out all-out rules to compute the EP and ecological status (ES), but this is particularly prone to misclassification when a large number of quality elements are included in the assessment. This is not our case, because the number of elements included in the assessment is rather low. Therefore, we have to focus on the ecological meaningfulness of the elements included in the analysis and the appropriate reference conditions established for the different types. The next section is a critical evaluation of the simplified implementation.

#### 6 Critical Evaluation of the Simplified Implementation

In our opinion, the weakest point of the simplified implementation is the fact that it does not consider the one-out all-out rule when combining the biological and physicochemical quality elements to assess the EP. This may imply an overly optimistic assessment (see Figs. 3 and 4). We acknowledge that assuming the one-out all-out rule may in its turn imply an overly pessimistic result, and this fact points to potential problems in the variables selected for the calculation of the biological and physicochemical quality.

The variables selected in the first proposal by [27] were intended to cover the main threats to water quality in HMWBs. Carlson's Trophic State Index (TSI [30]) and the OECD model [36] are the rationale behind the selection of most variables in the original proposal, since cultural eutrophication was considered the main threat. Actually, eutrophication is the most important environmental problem of dammed water [37–39]. A comparison of the results obtained using the Danish method to assign EP categories [18], which is also based on trophic characteristics, gave very similar results [27]. Therefore, the use of variables related to eutrophication seems a good procedure to assign EP categories.

However, both TSI and the OCDE models were first developed for natural lakes, not reservoirs. Indeed, there are problems applying the TSI in reservoirs [40], mainly related to the fact that turbidity in reservoirs can be related to mineral particles, and not to phytoplankton biomass, as assumed in the original study by [30]. Some authors [30, 41–43] also pointed out to the limitation of Secchi disk depth as a trophic state predictor in turbid water bodies like reservoirs. Therefore, the use of transparency (i.e., Secchi disk depth) to track EP in reservoirs should be applied with care. At this respect, the fact that the final implementation did not consider transparency to assess the EP should be considered opportune. In fact, chlorophyll-a levels are already a convenient proxy of eutrophication that largely outcompetes transparency. The removal of total phosphorus from the final implementation is not dramatic either: total phosphorus usually covariates with chlorophyll-a.

The implementation of the WFD requires the use of fish fauna as a biological quality element. Fish are one of the biological quality elements used to describe the ecological status because they are present in most water bodies, present several qualities to be used as indicators of water quality, occupy several trophic levels, and are considered essential in restoration and management measures. However, many WFD standards are based on the extensive knowledge of Central and Northern Europe aquatic ecosystems [44], but Mediterranean reservoirs have a significantly different functioning compared to natural lakes from Central Europe. In the case of fish fauna, studies on Spanish reservoirs have proved that these type of water bodies present basically introduced species [29], and the fish richness does not seem to be tightly related to EP. This is why Navarro et al. [27] used the percent abundance of cyprinids and variables related to morphological alterations in the suggested methodology. The feeding habit of grubbing through bottom sediments particularly

exposes common carp to pollutants accumulated on that compartment of reservoirs, being thus a good bioindicator for chemical pollution [45–47].

In our opinion, the exclusion of fish as a biological quality element to assess EP in reservoirs is not critical, because fish community indicators usually correlate with total phosphorus and other proxies of eutrophication. However, there are several invasive species actively spreading across Spanish reservoirs (e.g., catfish and *Alburnus*), with measurable and significant impacts on water quality [48]. However, the presence of invasive species is not playing a role in the present quality elements defining EP. This is a substantial limitation, because the presence of invasive species may be regarded as one of the fundamental impacts threatening the uses of water. This applies to fishes introduced during the last decades but not to species almost naturalized in the Iberian Peninsula, like *Cyprinus carpio*. Particularly, other invasive organisms like the zebra mussel should be also considered [49]. We suggest that at least a qualitative or semiquantitative monitoring to control modern invasive species should be included in future versions of the methodology to assess EP, especially for those potentially causing strong modifications on the habitats or food webs.

Another potential improvement to assess ecological potential for reservoirs is the use of "tailored" hypolimnetic oxygen thresholds to define the physicochemical quality element, considering other factors than those related with the human impacts. In fact, the simplified methodology considers different thresholds for different reservoir types. However, even considering this, the hypolimnetic oxygen level in reservoirs is highly dependent on climatologic factors that may dramatically vary from year to year [50, 51]. This implies that a reservoir may show contrasting results concerning this parameter irrespective of the pressures and impacts the system suffers. Also, there are reservoirs that may suffer hypolimnetic anoxia promoted by huge inputs of organic matter from the terrestrial ecosystems (e.g., from an extensive deciduous forest). In those cases, hypolimnetic anoxia is not a good proxy of bad EP, because it would be disconnected from human pressures.

All these points converge in a fundamental problem of the simplified methodology: the lack of site-specific MEP references. In our opinion, and similar to the case of rivers in this region, large classification units are not useful for local management because of the environmental heterogeneity typical of Mediterranean watersheds [10]. This is particularly relevant in reservoirs, because they are systems with relatively short water residence times which are strongly modulated by all processes occurring in the upstream watershed. Therefore, the so-called *Alternative Prague* approach, in which MEP values are derived after heuristic scenario assessment, seems the best alternative to improve the current implementation. This approach would require defining MEP values system by system, but it does not necessarily ask for complex dynamic simulation models, because robust empirical load-response models requiring minimal information are available for many parameters. For instance, oxygen levels can be predicted during scenario assessments using the empirical formulations in Marcé et al. [50], while formulations for chlorophyll-*a* in reservoirs are a classical topic resolved many years ago [52]. All these approaches are based on linear regression techniques, so they would be easy to apply and flexible enough to be practical and feasible for heuristic scenario assessment.

## 7 The Relevance of Reservoir Water Quality on the Program of Measures

A key component of the WFD is the development of river basin management plans which will be reviewed on a six-yearly basis and which set out the actions required within each river basin to achieve set environmental quality objectives. In the case of HMWBs, this is achieving at least GEP. This involves a so-called gap analysis where, for each water body, any discrepancy between its existing status and that required by the Directive is identified. A Program of Measures can then be identified and put in place to achieve the desired goals.

The first Program of Measures for the Catalan River Basin District was delivered on 2010 with the measures to achieve GEP for HMWBs by 2015. A total of 10 out of 30 reservoirs were identified as not compliant with the required objective (GEP) in 2009, and the objective of the Program of Measures is to reduce the number of noncompliant systems to 2 in 2015 (corresponding to El Catllar and Foix reservoirs).

As for the concrete measures present in the Program of Measures that concern reservoirs, most of them refer to management strategies to ensure appropriate environmental flows, downstream reservoirs, and sufficient sediment load to receiving rivers to maintain a correct morpho-sedimentary dynamics. However, the Program of Measures did not include many actions explicitly devoted to improve the ecological potential of those reservoirs which were not compliant with the GEP objective in 2009. The only highlighted measure unequivocally pointing to the ecological potential of a reservoir is the remediation program to remove contaminated sediments from Flix Reservoir. This is a huge remediation program with a budget from the Spanish Government amounting to ca. 155 million euro, and the main goal is to remove from the reservoir industrial-contaminated sediments with several priority substances.

Although we acknowledge that any measure taken to improve the upstream river water bodies will ultimately impact the reservoir as well, this should not be considered as a guaranteed outcome of the Program of Measures. Reservoirs have a strong tendency to keep eutrophication conditions despite remediation measures due to the lasting influence of sediments on water quality.

Another relevant aspect of the Program of Measures as far as it concerns reservoirs is the extensive space devoted to invasive species. Both, zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) and fish introductions are considered two of the main threats to the EP in reservoirs along the document, with particular protocols and prevention measures defined. This is reflected by the fact that the Control and

Surveillance Program of the Catalan Water Agency already considers early warning systems for the detection of new invasions by these species. However, this vividly contrasts with the fact that the presence of invasive species is not considered in the current assessment of EP in reservoirs and that all fish community elements have been removed from the biological quality element to assess EP.

#### 8 Final Remarks

The implementation of the WFD across Europe has been the magic bullet to put freshwater quality and ecosystem health at the forefront of policy priorities during the last decade. As an ambitious Directive, its implementation is an enormous scientific and policy challenge that has boosted, and will keep pushing, basic and applied research in Europe. This implies that the scientific-based protocols for the assessments and the overall strategy of the concrete policies steaming from DMA implementation have been modified and will continue changing during at least the next decade. Actually, the monitoring programs have already provided enough data to elucidate whether the EP and ES boundaries and water body types proposed in the protocols work in accordance with the spirit of the WFD.

In our opinion, the protocol for the assessment of EP in Catalan reservoirs is a sound, scientific-based methodology that delivers useful information for tailoring the Program of Measures to realistic objectives. However, it is evident that some improvements are still possible. We suggest the following modifications for future revisions of the protocol:

- The protocol to assess EP should consider the one-out all-out rule for combining the biological and physicochemical quality elements.
- Define water body-specific MEP situations, using the *Alternative Prague* approach.
- Update the boundaries between levels of EP inside each typology using the best knowledge available from reservoir limnology studies, particularly those published during the last decade.
- Include the presence of invasive species in the assessment of biological quality.
- The most recent studies disentangling the contribution of both the climatic change and the human-derived impacts on the water quality of reservoirs may allow for a more precise threshold establishment for certain EP metrics (e.g., oxygen levels).

We are confident that these changes would facilitate the definition of concrete actions in forthcoming Program of Measures, because the EP objectives would be tailored to already defined and realistic management options. And last but not the least, it would improve the EP of our water bodies, which is the final aim of the WFD. **Acknowledgments** We are indebted to all people involved in the first study on the application of the WFD in Catalan reservoirs: L. Caputo, J. Carol, L. Benejam, and E. García-Berthou. We also thank S. Poikane for valuable discussions on the convenience of including introduced fish metrics in the assessments. The original research was funded by the Catalan Water Agency (ACA), which also provided historical data for the reservoirs and current assessments. We also acknowledge the support provided by projects CARBONET (Spanish Ministry, CGL201130474C020) and SCARCE (Consolider-Ingenio 2010 CSD2009-00065).

#### References

- 1. European Commission (2000) Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and the Council of the 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for community action in the field of water policy. Off J Eur Communities L327:1–73
- Kallis G, Butler D (2001) The EU water framework directive: measures and implications. Water Policy 3:125–42
- European Environment Agency (2009) Guidance on surface water chemical monitoring under the Water Framework Directive. Common Implementation Strategy for the Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC) WFD guidance document, n. 19. Technical Report – 2009 – 025. European Commission, p 17
- European Environment Agency (2005) Common overall approach to the classification of ecological status and ecological potential. WFD guidance document, n. 13. European Commission, p 53
- Kampa E, Lasser C (2009) Heavily modified water bodies: information exchange on designation, assessment of ecological potential, objective setting and measures. Common implementation strategy workshop, Brussels
- Borja A, Elliott M (2007) What does 'good ecological potential' mean, within the European Water Framework Directive? Mar Pollut Bull 54:1559–64
- 7. Straškraba M (1998) Limnological differences between deep valley reservoirs and deep lakes. Int Rev Hydrobiol 83:1–12
- Sabater F, Armengol J, Sabater S (1989) Measuring discontinuities in the Ter River (Spain). Regul Rivers Res Manag 3:133–142
- 9. Oberdorff T, Pont D, Hugueny B, Porcher JP (2002) Development and validation of a fishbased index for the assessment of 'river health' in France. Freshw Biol 47:1720–1734
- Munné A, Prat N (2004) Defining river types in a Mediterranean area: a methodology for the implementation of the EU water framework directive. Environ Manage 34:711–729
- Panayotidis P, Montesanto B, Orfanidis S (2004) Use of low-budget monitoring of macroalgae to implement the European Water Framework Directive. J Appl Phycol 16:49–59
- Bazzani GM, Di Pasquale S, Gallerani V, Viaggi D (2004) Irrigated agriculture in Italy and water regulation under the European Union Water Framework Directive. Water Resour Res 40: W07S04
- Bernard D, Vallee K (2003) Identification and first characterisation of ground water bodies in the Artois-Picardie basin. Houille Blanche-Revue Internationale de l'Eau 2:90–95
- Moss B et al (2003) The determination of ecological status in shallow lakes a tested system (ECOFRAME) for implementation of the European Water Framework Directive. Aquat Conserv – Mar Freshwat Ecosyst 13:507–549
- 15. Schneider P, Neitzel PL, Schaffrath M, Schlumprecht H (2003) Physico-chemical assessment of the reference status in German surface waters: a contribution to the establishment of the EC Water Framework Directive 2000/60/EG in Germany. Acta Hydroch Hydrob 31:49–63

- White J, Irvine K (2003) The use of littoral mesohabitats and their macroinvertebrate assemblages in the ecological assessment of lakes. Aquat Conserv Mar Freshwat Ecosyst 13:331–351
- Diekmann M, Brämick U, Lemcke R, Mehner T (2005) Habitat-specific fishing revealed distinct indicator species in German lowland lake fish communities. J Appl Ecol 42:901–909
- Sondergaard M, Jeppesen E, Jensen JP, Amsinck SL (2005) Water Framework Directive: ecological classification of Danish lakes. J Appl Ecol 42:616–629
- Irz P, Odion M, Argillier C, Pont D (2006) Comparison between the fish communities of lakes, reservoirs and rivers: can natural systems help define the ecological potential of reservoirs? Aquat Sci 68:109–116
- Cabecinha E, Cortes R, Cabral JA, Ferreira T, Lourenço M, Pardal MÂ (2009) Multi-scale approach using phytoplankton as a first step towards the definition of the ecological status of reservoirs. Ecol Indic 9:240–255
- Gómez-Beas R, Moñino A, Polo MJ (2012) Development of a management tool for reservoirs in Mediterranean environments based on uncertainty analysis. Nat Hazards Earth Syst Sci 12:1789–1797
- 22. Launois L, Veslot J, Irz P, Argillier C (2011) Selecting fish-based metrics responding to human pressures in French natural lakes and reservoirs: towards the development of a fish-based index (FBI) for French lakes. Ecol Freshw Fish 20:120–132
- 23. Alaoui KS, Galoux D, Rosillon F (2013) Macrophytes: limitations of using them to assess reservoir status according to the Water Framework Directive. Int J Water Sci 3:1–11
- 24. Vollenweider RA, Kerekes J (1982) Eutrophication of waters. Monitoring, assessment and control. Paris, Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, Cooperative programme on monitoring of inland waters (Eutrophication control), Environment Directorate. OECD, Paris, p 154
- 25. Wetzel RG (2001) Limnology. Lake and river ecosystems. Academic, New York
- Vannote RL, Minshall GW, Cummins KW, Sedell JR, Cushing CE (1980) The river continuum concept. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 37:130–137
- 27. Navarro E, Caputo L, Marcé R, Carol J, Benejam L, García-Berthou E, Armengol J (2009) Ecological classification of a set of Mediterranean reservoirs applying the EU Water Framework Directive: a reasonable compromise between science and management. Lake Reserv Manag 25:364–376
- Wallin M, Wiederholm T, Johnson RK (2003) Guidance on establishing reference conditions and ecological status class boundaries for inland surface waters, Luxembourg, CIS working group 2.3 – REFCOND.
- Carol J, Benejam L, Alcaraz C, Vila-Gispert A, Zamora L, Navarro E, Armengol J, García-Berthou E (2006) The effects of limnological features on fish assemblages of 14 Spanish reservoirs. Ecol Freshw Fish 15:66–77
- 30. Carlson RE (1977) A trophic state index for lakes. Limnol Oceanogr 22:361-369
- World Health Organization (1993) Microbiological aspects. In: Guidelines for drinking-water quality. World Health Organization, Geneva
- 32. Brown RM, McClelland NI, Deininger RA, Tozer RG (1970) Water quality index do we dare? Water Sew Works 117:339–343
- Bennion H, Fluin J, Simpson GL (2004) Assessing eutrophication and reference conditions for Scottish freshwater lochs using subfossil diatoms. J Appl Ecol 41:124–138
- Nilsson C, Reidy CA, Dynesius M, Revenga C (2005) Fragmentation and flow regulation of the world's large river systems. Science 308:405–408
- Caputo L, Naselli-Flores L, Ordóñez J, Armengol J (2008) Phytoplankton distribution along trophic gradients within and among reservoirs in Catalonia (Spain). Freshw Biol 53:2543–2556
- 36. OECD (1982) Eutrophication of waters: monitoring assessment and control. Organization for Economic Cooperation and Control, Paris

- 37. Fraile H, Orive E, Pozo J (1995) Evaluación del estado trófico y comparación de modelos relativos al fósforo en los embalses de Cernadilla y Valparaiso (Rio Tera, Zamora). Limnética 11:29–37
- 38. de Ceballos BSO, König A, de Oliveira JF (1998) Dam reservoir eutrophication: a simplified technique for a fast diagnosis of environmental degradation. Water Res 32:3477–3483
- Carpenter SR, Ludwing D, Brock WA (1999) Management of eutrophication for lakes subject to potentially irreversible change. Ecol Appl 9:751–771
- Kimmel BL, Lind OT, Paulson LJ (1990) Reservoir primary production. In: Thornton KW, Kimmel BL, Payne FE (eds) Reservoir limnology: ecological perspectives. Wiley, New York
- 41. Edmonson WT (1980) Secchi disk and chlorophyll. Limnol Oceanogr 25:378-379
- 42. Lorenzen MW (1980) Use of chlorophyll-Secchi disk relationships. Limnol Oceanogr 25:371–372
- Megard RO, Settles JC, Boyer HA, Combs WS (1980) Light, Secchi disk, and trophic states. Limnol Oceanogr 25:373–377
- 44. García-Criado F, Bécares E, Fernández-Aláez C, Fernández-Aláez M (2004) Plant associated invertebrates and ecological quality in some Mediterranean shallow lakes: implications for the application of the EC Water Framework Directive. Aquat Conserv – Mar Freshwat Ecosyst 15:31–50
- 45. Canistro D, Melega S, Ranieri D, Sapone A, Gustavino B, Monfrinotti M, Rizzoni M, Paolini M (2012) Modulation of cytochrome P450 and induction of DNA damage in *Cyprinus carpio* exposed in situ to surface water treated with chlorine or alternative disinfectants in different seasons. Mutat Res 729:81–89
- 46. García-Nieto E, Juárez-Santacruz L, García-Gallegos E, Tlalmis-Zempoalteca J, Romo-Gómez C, Torres-Dosal A (2014) Genotoxicological response of the Common Carp (Cyprinus carpio) exposed to Spring water in Tlaxcala, México. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 93:393–398
- 47. Selvi M, Cavas T, Cağlan Karasu Benli A, Koçak Memmi B, Cinkiliç N, Dinçel AS, Vatan O, Yilmaz D, Sarikaya R, Zorlu T, Erkoç F (2013) Sublethal toxicity of esbiothrin relationship with total antioxidant status and in vivo genotoxicity assessment in fish (*Cyprinus carpio* L., 1758) using the micronucleus test and comet assay. Environ Toxicol 28:644–651
- 48. Ordóñez J, Armengol J, Moreno-Ostos E, Caputo L, García JC, Marcé R (2010) On non-Eltonian methods of hunting Cladocera, or impacts of the introduction of planktivorous fish on zooplankton composition and clear-water phase occurrence in a Mediterranean reservoir. Hydrobiologia 653:119–129
- 49. Navarro E, Bacardit M, Caputo L, Palau T, Armengol J (2006) Limnological characterization and flow patterns of a three-coupled reservoir system and their influence on Dreissena polymorpha populations and settlement during the stratification period. Lake Reserv Manag 22:293–302
- Marcé R, Moreno-Ostos E, López P, Armengol J (2008) The role of allochthonous inputs of dissolved organic carbon on the hypolimnetic oxygen content of reservoirs. Ecosystems 11:1035–1053
- Marcé R, Rodríguez-Arias MA, García JC, Armengol J (2010) El Niño southern oscillation and climate trends impact reservoir water quality. Glob Chang Biol 16:2857–2865
- 52. Ortiz JL, Peña R, Lee GF, Jones RA (1983) Aportación de nutrientes y eutrofización de embalses. CEDEX, Madrid (in Spanish)

## Hydromorphological Methodologies to Assess Ecological Status in Mediterranean Rivers: Applied Approach to the Catalan River Basin District

# Evelyn Garcia-Burgos, Mònica Bardina, Carolina Solà, Montserrat Real, Joana Capela, and Antoni Munné

Abstract Methodologies currently used to assess hydromorphological features in Mediterranean rivers are reviewed in this chapter. Most relevant methodologies developed across Europe in compliance with WFD (Water Framework Directive) are also analyzed, along with their adaptations to different spatial scales from European, national to regional scales. We also present those hydromorphological protocols that have been developed, used and tested in the Catalan River Basin District, within the framework of monitoring programmes under the requirements of the WFD. The Catalan Water Agency developed a comprehensive protocol to assess hydromorphological conditions in Catalan watersheds, named HIDRI, which assesses and combines hydrological alteration, river continuity and morphological conditions. HIDRI is a compiled protocol based on different metrics and includes large information at river catchment scale.

This chapter also introduces challenges and opportunities in using hydromorphological information for river management. Considerations for an extensive use of hydromorphology assessment in Mediterranean rivers are presented as well as those recommendations to be included in River Basin Management Plans and in the Programme of Measures to achieve good ecological status according to the WFD objectives.

M. Real

J. Capela

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 42: 221–248, DOI 10.1007/698\_2015\_439, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 7 October 2015

E. Garcia-Burgos (Z), M. Bardina, C. Solà, and A. Munné

Catalan Water Agency (ACA), Provença 204-208, 08036 Barcelona, Spain e-mail: evelyn.garcia@gencat.cat

United Research Services España SLU, Urgell 143, 08036 Barcelona, Spain

United Research Services Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited, 12 Regan Way, Beeston, Nottingham NG9 6RZ, UK

**Keywords** Catalan River basin district, Eco-hydromorphology, HIDRI protocol, Hydromorphological assessment, River basin management plan, Water framework directive

#### Contents

1	Introduction	222
2	Methods for the Assessment of Hydromorphological Quality According to the WFD	224
	2.1 Most Relevant HYMO Quality Assessment Methods Used in Europe	224
	2.2 HYMO Quality Assessment Methods Applied in Mediterranean Rivers	226
	2.3 HYMO Quality Assessment in Mediterranean Spanish Rivers	228
3	The HIDRI Protocol, a Comprehensive HYMO Method Applied in Catalan Rivers	231
	3.1 Hydrological Flow Regime	232
	3.2 River Continuity	235
	3.3 Morphological Conditions and Quality of Riparian Zone	237
	3.4 HYMO Quality Assessment	240
4	Hydromorphological Quality Data and Ecological Status Assessment	241
5	Final Remarks and Conclusions	242
Re	ferences	244

## Abbreviations

ACA	Catalan water agency (in Catalan: Agència Catalana de l'Aigua)
CEN	A guidance standard for assessing the hydromorphological features of
	rivers (2002). CEN-TC 230/WG 2/TG 5: N32.
CRBD	Catalan river basin district
EU	European Union
HIDRI	Hydromorphological quality index used in Catalonia (in Catalan:
	Protocol d'avaluació de la qualitat HIDromorfològica dels RIus)
HYMO	Hydromorphology
IHA	Index of hydrological alteration
IHF	River habitat index (in Spanish: Índice del Hábitat Fluvial)
QBR	Riparian forest quality index (in Catalan: Qualitat del Bosc de Ribera)
RBMP	River basin management plan
WB	Water body
WFD	Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC)

## **1** Introduction

The EU Water Framework Directive [1], hereafter WFD, reinforced the need for a more holistic view of river management by introducing the concept of ecological status assessment, mainly based on biological quality elements (i.e. macrophytes, phytobenthos, invertebrates, fish) which naturally inhabit those aquatic ecosystems. This directive also requires that the hydromorphological and physicochemical

conditions should allow the appropriate structure and functioning of such communities in order to achieve the good ecological status. Within the requirements of the WFD, the assessment of hydromorphology features (hereafter HYMO) includes the assessment of several related variables such as flow regime, sediment transport, river continuity, geomorphology and lateral channel mobility. HYMO embraces hydrology, geomorphology and ecology and has generated a new understanding of physical processes within river management and river restoration strategies [2]. Shortly after the adoption of the WFD, the European Commission launched a standard guidance (CEN) in order to homogenize methods on field data collection and subsequent data handling for the assessment of HYMO [3]. This guidance is particularly focused on the characterization of hydromorphological changes due to human pressures, and it represents one of the largest efforts to standardize the monitoring of physical characteristics of river habitats. It does not provide specific methods but establishes relevant key elements so as to characterize and evaluate HYMO quality. Concepts provided by this guidance have been developed after recent research works on habitat structure and biological communities [4]. HYMO status assessment has been identified to be a critical element for ecological status improvement of aquatic ecosystems in Europe; and therefore, suitable protocols for HYMO quality assessment are required to better analyse ecosystem alterations and to identify problems to be solved. Nevertheless, procedures to obtain accurate data from habitats and other hydromorphological parameters are complex and have not been properly implemented so far. Appropriate protocols for monitoring HYMO parameters and for data interpretation are still under development and discussion in many countries, and furthermore, in Mediterranean aquatic ecosystems, additional issues have to be addressed such as water scarcity and the presence of temporary and/or intermittent water bodies.

It is well known that physical heterogeneity favours biological communities and thus enhances biological diversity in rivers [4]. However, few studies have documented the relationship between habitat degradation and its impact on macroinvertebrate community [5] or the positive effects of restoration projects on aquatic biota. There is a need of further scientific studies, technical applications and consensus on the integration of physical habitat and biological descriptors. Some of the difficulties for this integration lie in the fact that different spatial scales are relevant to different biological communities; therefore, assessment procedures ideally should provide information on pressures that degrade habitat at each of these spatial scales [6]. Some other difficulties lie in the fact that multiple pressures influence freshwater communities and these might act synergistically [7]. Most common indices applied so far, when describing physical stream characteristics, do not include some relevant parameters such as hydraulic geometry or geomorphic processes along the stream corridor. For instance, flow resistance and water velocity, which are related to sediment transport and channel morphology, are often not considered; however, they have significant consequences on habitat availability for biological communities [8]. Hydrodynamics play an important role in regulating biological functions [9], and even simple hydraulic variables like the Froude or the Reynolds number may explain fish population structure in rivers [10].

A wide variety of methodologies have been proposed for the characterization of river habitat in order to assess ecological status according to the WFD. However, monitoring physical characteristics of river habitats lacks a mid- to long-term standardized methodology. A homogeneous procedure for measuring water quality which combines biological and chemical elements has been widely applied so far [11], contrasting with scarce well-established methodologies to comply with WFD requirements. This chapter mainly introduces the challenges in assessing HYMO conditions in Mediterranean rivers and its role in river management plans, as well as the state of the art of HYMO assessment in Spain, specially focused on Catalonia, and the HIDRI protocol that the Catalan Water Agency (ACA) launched in 2006 to assess the HYMO quality in Catalan rivers.

## 2 Methods for the Assessment of Hydromorphological Quality According to the WFD

## 2.1 Most Relevant HYMO Quality Assessment Methods Used in Europe

On one hand, most of the existing methods on HYMO assessment are designed to gather information at local scale (reach or sampling site) and require field surveys. Examples of these current methodologies are the River Habitat Index (IHF) [12] or the Riparian Forest Quality Index (QBR) [13]. On the other hand, geomorphological-oriented methods include physical features as well as longterm temporal scale processes and the need of data on large-scale variables. Examples of the latter are the River Styles Framework [14], the SYRAH (Système Relationnel d'Audit de l'Hydromorphologie des Cours d'Eau) [15] and the Index for Hydrogeomorphological assessment (IHG, named originally Indice Hidrogeomorfológico) [16], which are based on hydrogeomorphological dynamics and consider the functional quality of fluvial systems, the channel quality and the quality of river banks. Among those methodologies applied by EU state members (Table 1), there are some relevant methods that have been used before the development of CEN standards, and in fact, they are the basis of this guidance standard: the field survey method of the Landarbeitsgemeinshaft Wasser (LAWA-vor-Ort) from Germany [21], the River Habitat Survey from UK [20] and the Systeme d'Evaluation de la Qualité du Milieu Physique (SEQ-MP) from France [32]; all of them are examples of integrated protocols.

Table 1 summarizes the main HYMO methods and/or assessment criteria compiled by a project funded by the European Commission, named REFORM (REStoring rivers FOR effective catchment Management) whose objective is to improve the knowledge on HYMO methodologies for the implementation of the WFD (reform rivers restoration wiki).

 Table 1
 Inventory of most relevant and recent hydromorphological (HYMO) methods and/or assessment criteria applied in European countries following the requirements of the WFD [7]

Methodology	Country	Reference	Application
Guidelines for assessing the HYMO status of running waters	Austria	[17]	
HEM	Czech Republic	[18]	
DSHI	Denmark	[19]	
RHS; EFI	England, Wales	[20]	Commonly used since 2000. EFI has been recently developed by EA
CarHyCe; Syrah& Aurah- CE; ROE &ICE	France	[15]	CarHyCe is used as the official one and Syrah-ce, Aurah-ce and ROE & ICE to comply with WFD requirements
LAWA-FS; LAWA-OS	Germany	[21]	LAWA-FS is the most commonly used, but LAWA-OS was selected for the River Basin District Analysis 2004
RHAT	Rep. of Ireland	[22]	Developed to comply with WFD
MQI; IARI; CARAVAGGIO	Italy	[23, 24]	MQI, IARI and CARAVAGGIO for the overall HYMO assessment and CARAVAGGIO for reference sites
Method to assess HYMO changes	Latvia	-	Used in the definition of HYMO changes in river basin district projects
Handboek HYMO	The Netherlands	[25]	It has not been officially selected
MHR	Poland	[26]	Officially approved for the HYMO assessment of rivers
Adaptation of RHS	Portugal	[27]	In accordance with the WFD requirements and adopted by Portu- guese Water Authorities
Criteria and parameters for assessment of HYMO sig- nificant pressures	Romania	-	For the designation of HMWB
MImAS	Scotland	[28]	Proposal tool to support the assess- ment and monitoring of the ecologi- cal status of rivers
HAP-SR	Slovakia	[29]	Method proposed for the assessment of ecological status of rivers in the Slovak Republic
SIHM	Slovenia	[30]	National method for the implementa- tion of the WFD
IHF; QBR	Spain	[12, 13]	Both methods are widely used by Water Agencies for HYMO assess- ment under WFD requirements. They are used at a local scale

(continued)

Methodology	Country	Reference	Application
Assessment criteria for	Sweden	[31]	Criteria for the assessment of HYMO
HYMO quality elements;			quality elements to assess good and
Biotope Map			high ecological status. The Biotope
			Map is the most used field method to
			collect environmental variables

Table 1 (continued)

## 2.2 HYMO Quality Assessment Methods Applied in Mediterranean Rivers

Methods in Table 1 consider features and processes for the assessment of HYMO quality mainly considering permanent rivers. In contrast, many Mediterranean rivers suffer water scarcity and alterations in their natural flow regime, and in some cases, these pressures are worsened by the presence of large reservoirs used as water storage for irrigation and/or drinking. Seasonal or intermittent rivers in Mediterranean areas require adapted methodologies, since protocols developed up to now for HYMO assessment have been specifically designed for permanent water bodies.

Mediterranean rivers have a high temporal variability, with dry and wet periods, making it difficult to characterize these aquatic ecosystems. In Mediterranean areas, the hydrological regime is a key element that determines community composition [33, 34] and its response to the annual and seasonal hydrological variability [35]. Numerous studies have revealed the peculiarities of Mediterranean and temporary streams where temporal changes in the composition of the invertebrate community are related to flow regime variation [36]. Thus, reference conditions might change between dry and wet periods and after extreme hydrological events in the same river type, which complicates the HYMO quality assessment. Also, natural hydromorphological processes associated with intermittent Mediterranean streams can be modified by human pressures. In these cases, flow variability increases difficulties of identifying and assessing hydromorphological features such as bankfull characteristics, erosion and deposition shapes, substrate type, macrophyte growth, riparian community structure, among others [27]. Moreover, low-flow situations result in water quality degradation, as a confounding factor.

Some of HYMO standardized assessment protocols recently used by some Mediterranean countries have been developed from the abovementioned methodologies, with some adaptations as HCI or Caravaggio (Table 2). These methodologies assess physical habitats alone, without taking into account physical processes. In this sense, changes in physical habitat do not allow a sufficient understanding of the causes of pressure response. A comparison among these main Mediterranean HYMO assessment methodologies is presented in Table 3 [7], which is based on the analyses of the following items:

Methodology	Country	Application
1. HCI (Adaptation of RHS Portugal) [27]	Portugal	All water bodies
2. Caravaggio [23]	Italy	All water bodies
3. CarHyCe [15]	France	All water bodies
4. HIDRI protocol [37]	Spain (Catalonia)	All water bodies

 Table 2
 A selection of methods for the assessment of physical habitats in Mediterranean rivers

 Table 3 Comparison of main characteristics within selected methodologies [7]

				HIDRI
Item	HCI	Caravaggio	CarHyCe	protocol
Data collection				
Complemented tools (maps, remote sensing, habitat models, etc.)	No	No	No	Yes
Rapid field assessment	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Existing database	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Spatial scale				
Hierarchical scale	Survey unit	Survey unit	Survey unit	Reach
Longitudinal scale	Fixed length	Fixed length	Length vs. width	Variable length
Lateral scale	Channel, riparian zone, floodplain	Channel, riparian zone, floodplain	Channel and ripar- ian zone	Channel, riparian zone, floodplain
Temporal scale	•	•		
Present	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Historical	No	No	No	No
Selected features assessed:				
Longitudinal continuity	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Lateral continuity	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Bank erosion/stability	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Channel adjustments	Yes	No	No	No
Vertical continuity	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Habitat complexity	Yes	Yes	No	Yes

- 1. Data collection methodology and quality of data provided: rapid field assessment or a complex field survey and existing or new database
- 2. Spatial scale: hierarchical, longitudinal and lateral spatial scale
- 3. Temporal scale: present or historical scale
- 4. Type of assessment provided, among a range of qualitative or quantitative information about the condition of a set of river habitat characteristics: longitudinal, vertical and lateral continuity, bank erosion and stability, channel adjustment or others

## 2.3 HYMO Quality Assessment in Mediterranean Spanish Rivers

Nowadays, there are several indices in use throughout the Iberian Peninsula regarding the assessment of physical river habitats. Examples of these are the River Habitat Index (IHF, named originally *Indice de Hábitat Fluvial* in Spanish) that evaluates river bed habitat heterogeneity based on several physical variables [12], the Riparian Forest Evaluation Index (RFV) [38], the Riparian Forest Quality Index (QBR) [13] and the Riparian Quality Index (RQI) [39]; the last three assess the riparian forest quality and the river channel morphology. However, all these indices only evaluate one or few elements among those required by the WFD to analyse HYMO quality (hydrological regime, continuity and morphology). The QBR index consists of four blocks that take into account different eco-hydromorphological conditions: (i) block 1, total riparian cover; (ii) block 2, cover structure; (iii) block 3, cover quality; and (iv) block 4, river channel naturalness. Nevertheless, hydrological alterations and river continuity are not specifically considered in the QBR index, and additional measurements are required. The Spanish Water Authorities usually use the IHF index together with the OBR index to assess HYMO quality, whose reference values and objectives have been determined for each river type [40]. In Catalonia, a set of metrics were integrated into a more complex protocol, named HIDRI (in Catalan: Protocol d'avaluació de la qualitat hidromorfològica dels rius) [37] that assesses all WFD HYMO features (hydrological regime, river continuity and morphological conditions) by using QBR index and others. This protocol will be widely explained in next section of this chapter.

A study was undertaken from 2009 to 2011 [41] in order to compare the official methods used in Spain (IHF and QBR), with the River Habitat Survey (RHS), a method widely used in central and north European watersheds. Within this study, the Habitat Quality Assessment Index (HQA) and the Habitat Modification Score (HMS), both resulting from the RHS [20], were calculated and compared with the regionally widely implemented indices (IHF and QBR) in several river sampling sites located in the Spanish Mediterranean area. The four indices were assessed in a total of 190 sites across 19 Mediterranean river types (Fig. 1). Five reference sites and five sites with different degrees of disturbance were selected for each river type in order to analyse a wider range of hydromorphological conditions. Stream flow was also measured at each site using the Catalan Water Agency procedures provided by the HIDRI protocol [37]. Flow data allowed to identify survey hydrological conditions for every river reach and thus to help interpret results of HYMO indices as well as biological indices also applied in this study.

Results showed that the QBR index is less conditioned by flow conditions because it is based on the assessment of the riparian community, more resilient to flow changes. The IHF index assesses characteristics of different river bed habitats (frequency of rapids, water velocity and depth) as well as the cover of different types of aquatic vegetation; thus, the use of this index is recommended during periods of low flow. However, IHF values might be underestimated in extremely



Fig. 1 Location of sampling sites for HYMO assessment in Mediterranean Spanish basins [41]

low-flow conditions and overestimated in high-flow conditions [12]. The HMS scores artificial modification of the river channel morphology and thus elements not directly related to stream flow. The HQA scores natural features of the channel such as bars, diversity of channel substratum, flow types, in-channel vegetation and also the extent of bank-top trees and the extent of natural land use adjacent to the river. Therefore, in extreme low-flow situations, it is likely that, for instance, the number of alluvial bars and other natural features are overestimated, and other elements such as flow types and mesohabitats are underestimated. All four HYMO indices were compared, including QBR blocks 1 and 4 (QBR1, the riparian zone cover, and QBR4, the degree of channel modification), and correlated to a pressure gradient that was previously calculated taking into account all studied sites. This pressure gradient was mainly related to physicochemical alterations and urban and agricultural land use [42]. All of HYMO indices were significantly correlated (p < 0.0001) with this pressure gradient (Table 4), and all indices were negatively correlated with this pressure gradient, except for HMS, which correlated positively, since it reflects the degree of HYMO modifications.

Spearman correlation (Rs) and Pearson correlation (r) values ranged between 0.46 and 0.62 (absolute value). The QBR index had the highest linear correlation, also in absolute value, with the pressure gradient (r = -071) and the highest percentage of variance explained (51%) by the pressure gradient. All HYMO indices (HQA, HMS, IHF and QBR) were significantly correlated with each other (p < 0.001) (Table 5). It is worth noting that the HQA does not scores the

	IHF	*QBR4	*QBR1	QBR	HMS	HQA
r	-0,50	-0,49	-0,61	-0,71	0,46	-0,61
р	<i>p</i> < 0,0001					
rs	-0,48	-0,48	-0,62	-0,71	0,49	-0,59
р	<i>p</i> < 0,0001	p < 0,0001				
n	176	176	174	174	171	171
$R^2$	0,25	0,24	0,38	0,51	0,22	0,38

**Table 4** Correlation coefficients (r = Pearson; rs = Spearman) between hydromorphological indices and the human pressure gradient; p = level of significance; n = number of sites in each group; R2 of the trend line

<sup>a</sup>QBR blocks 1 and 4 were also included

**Table 5** Correlation values among all HYMO indices assessed. All correlations are significant (p < 0.001), and the higher correlations (>|0.5|) are given in bold. \*QBR blocks 1 and 4 were also included

	IHF	QBR4*	QBR1*	QBR	HMS	HQA
IHF						
QBR4	0,324					
QBR1	0,390	0,520				
QBR	0,469	0,701	0,826			
HMS	-0,317	-0,706	-0,578	-0,677		
HQA	0,422	0,424	0,416	0,592	-0,544	

percentage of cover in the channel (IHF) neither collects information on the vegetation cover in the riparian zone (QBR). A part from this, the only index that scores degradation elements in rivers (HMS) is inversely correlated with the other indices. This means that for higher values of HMS, low scores for IHF, QBR and HQA indices are obtained. The QBR index and blocks 1 and 4 from QBR index showed the highest correlated with the other indices (>0.5). QBR block 4 (channel modification) is more correlated with the HMS values (rs = -0.706; p < 0.001), than with QBR block 1 (riparian cover), or total QBR score. Both QBR block 4 and the HMS score the presence of artificial channel infrastructures and modifications of river banks.

The interpretation of the scores obtained in this study for the different HYMO indices should consider both stream flow conditions at the moment as well as the interannual variability. In this sense, the following issues should be taken into consideration:

- Habitat quality in Mediterranean rivers improves with increased flow conditions. More diversity in habitat types is observed [43], sediment inclusion decreases with higher flows [35], and more leaves and branches are dragged with flood events [12].
- The QBR at given sampling site is less influenced by seasonal variability as this index assesses riparian cover as well as shrub and perennial vegetation structure

[36]. However, in those types of Mediterranean rivers exposed to hydrological stress, a typical riparian forest is unlikely to progress [43].

## **3** The HIDRI Protocol, a Comprehensive HYMO Method Applied in Catalan Rivers

The Catalan Water Agency (ACA) developed a protocol to analyse the three HYMO quality elements listed in the WFD: hydrological flow regime, river continuity and morphological conditions, named HIDRI protocol [37]. This protocol combines all these quality elements and metrics in order to give a final value of hydromorphological quality, including the QBR index mentioned above. HIDRI protocol has been applied in all river water bodies (248 WB) of the Catalan River Basin District (Fig. 2) according to the monitoring programme planning. Each river water body has a minimum of one sampling site to evaluate HYMO conditions as well as biological and physicochemical parameters.

While the physicochemical and biological quality is evaluated at one site considered as representative of the water body, the HYMO quality assessment requires incorporating protocols that evaluate the whole WB by assessing the degree of HYMO deviation from reference conditions along WB. This protocol is based on field survey, but it has the potential to include large-scale information and can be implemented using much of the existing information in the River Basin District through its own monitoring and control networks. The HYMO assessment is applied, at least, once every 6 years. The inclusion of HYMO quality in the ecological status assessment of WB contributes to an integrated river management planning by taking into account river continuity, morphological conditions and flow regime alteration according to the WFD.

The assessment of river continuity refers to the longitudinal connectivity of rivers, in terms of water and sediment transport from the source to the mouth and in terms of mobility of biological communities, which can be affected by the presence of obstacles such as weirs and dams and by flow regime alteration. The existence of obstacles across the channel has important ecological consequences and is considered one of the main causes of the decline of many species of fish, especially those that migrate to complete their life cycle. Lateral connectivity should be also considered through the analysis of morphological conditions, and it refers to the connection of the river banks with adjacent ecosystems. This connectivity can be reduced by the fragmentation of riparian forest, by artificial land uses and by the presence of barriers or river channelling. Within the assessment of morphological conditions, in-stream characteristics are also evaluated (i.e. structure and substrate of the river bed) as well as the riparian zone; both of them determine the structure and processes of the biological communities of the river channel and the relation-ship with other dependent ecosystems.



Fig. 2 Location of the Catalan River Basin District

The HIDRI protocol summarizes all abovementioned characteristics and quality elements (Table 6), and it has been applied in the Catalan rivers over the last decade in order to obtain data which was used to develop a special report on the hydromorphological quality of rivers in the Catalan River Basin District [45].

#### 3.1 Hydrological Flow Regime

The hydrological flow regime alteration is calculated combining the water withdrawal degree analysis (WW), the environmental flow compliance (EFC) and the index of hydrological alteration (IHA) according to the HIDRI protocol.

Elements	Parameters	Metrics
Hydrological regime	Water withdrawal	Water withdrawal degree at water body level (theoretical evaluation)
	Environmental flow compliance	Relation between measured flow and environ- mental flow objective (real valuation from punctual measurement)
	Alteration of hydrological regime	Indicators of hydrologic alteration (IAHRIS) in reservoirs (Deviation from the natural regime)
River	Longitudinal continuity of the river channel	Obstacle density in water bodies
continuity		Permeability evaluation of barriers (river con- nectivity index-ICF) [44]
Morphological conditions	Structure and substrate of the bed. Lateral continuity	Degree of channelling
	Structure of the riparian zone	Naturalness of river banks based on land use analysis
		Riparian forest quality (QBR) [13]

 Table 6
 Parameters and metrics considered by the HIDRI protocol (used in Catalan rivers)

#### 3.1.1 Water Withdrawal Degree (WW)

This metric takes into account the number of water abstractions or registered water diversion sites, the usable water volume and the available water flow. It must be evaluated for each water withdrawal individually  $(WW_{ind})$  and later integrated for the WB evaluation  $(WW_{WB})$ . The theoretical flow downstream of a water withdrawal site is calculated using registered data (maximum legal flow withdrawal and environmental flow if established); ordinary flows from gauging stations or simulated natural flow regime is considered as well as the environmental flow regime target for each site.

The WW<sub>ind</sub> is calculated on monthly basis, by comparing the flow downstream the abstraction site  $(Q_d)$  with the highest value between the environmental flow (as a reference)  $(Q_{env})$  and the upstream flow  $(Q_{up})$ . This comparison follows this logic:

$$if Q_{up} > Q_{env} \rightarrow WW_{ind} = Q_d / Q_{up};$$
  
$$if Q_{up} \le Q_{env} \rightarrow WW_{ind} = Q_d / Q_{env} \text{ with a maximum value of } 1.$$

In those WB without identified water uses, quality will be estimated as very good, except in those cases in which flow regime alterations come from upstream reaches.

It is important to distinguish a non-consumptive water diversion from a consumptive water diversion (e.g. for irrigation). Consumptive water diversion affects the entire river from the abstraction site, while a non-consumptive diversion, as the derivation for hydroelectric use, affects the river stretch between the water abstraction site and water return site. Therefore, the river length affected by a diversion

Table 7Water withdrawalquality assessment accordingto the water withdrawaldegree (WW). Same intervalsare used for the compliance ofenvironmental flows (EFC)	Result of WW <sub>WB</sub>	WB quality
	WB without withdrawals	High
	WW > 0.9	Good
	0.6 < WW >0.9	Moderate
	0.3 < WW > 0.6	Poor
	WW < 0.3	Bad

must be considered when calculating the water withdrawal degree for a given WB as follows:

 $WW_{WB} = (WB \text{ length} - \Sigma ((1 - WW_{ind}) \times \text{river length affected by diversion})) / WB \text{ length.}$ 

Once values of  $WW_{WB}$  are calculated, a quality level is assigned to each water body according to the Table 7 criteria.

#### **3.1.2** Environmental Flow Compliance (EFC)

The environmental flow compliance is evaluated in those water bodies subject to water abstraction, transfer or diversion, by comparing real flow data (measured from gauging stations or estimated from water derivation sites) with an environmental flow as a target. The environmental flow compliance degree is calculated monthly for each withdrawal as follows (ind = individual or w = weighted):

 $EFC_{ind}$  = measured flow  $(Q_m)$ /environmental flow reference  $(Q_{env})$ 

The annual average is calculated from these monthly data, and for those cases, with data available from several years, the annual average is estimated from this longer period. If there is no real flow data information, the water withdrawal site remains unrated as well as its corresponding WB.

The length of the river segment affected by water diversions for hydroelectric uses is considered as in the previous section.

 $EFC_w = EFC_{ind} \times (river length affected by diversion / WB length)$ 

The final evaluation for each WB corresponds to the sum of all individual and/or weighted ECF. There are five levels of quality for the assessment of environmental flow compliance, with the same intervals as for the water withdrawal degree (Table 7).

#### 3.1.3 Index of Hydrological Alteration

The US Nature Conservancy developed a method known as Indicators of Hydrological Alteration (IHA) [46–48] for assessing the degree of hydrological alteration attributable to human pressures. The method is based on statistical analyses of 33 hydrological items representing five streamflow characteristics that play a major role in determining the nature of aquatic and riparian ecosystems. These indicators have been adapted in Spain through the "IAHRIS" method [49]. Both offer free software that allow calculating, with daily or monthly flow data, parameters to characterize the hydrological regime as well as indices to assess the degree of hydrological alteration and criteria for the assignment of heavily altered WB and to assess environmental flow scenarios.

This method (IHA) has been applied in Catalonia to those WB affected by reservoirs with high capacity of regulation, and the following considerations have been taken into account:

- In those WB that are subject to different types of hydrological regime alteration, only the most significant one has been characterized.
- The degree of hydrological regime alteration may vary depending on the time series used. Time span should be similar and as recent as possible for all WB, so that results might be comparable. The period of flow data required in IAHRIS is 15 years.
- The IHA is applied at specific sites, mainly in large reservoirs. Results might be extrapolated to downstream water bodies affected by this pressure unless there other significant changes in their hydrological conditions.

The quality level according to the hydrological regime for each WB is obtained from the combination of the three parameters mentioned above (Tables 8 and 9). The combination criteria are conservative, thus good quality is achieved when there is no significant water abstraction, transfer, diversion nor water flow regulation.

#### 3.2 River Continuity

The River Connectivity Index (ICF) [44] used by the HIDRI protocol is based on the assessment of barriers as well as crossing devices for aquatic biota, if present, with the potential fish fauna ability to surmount them. This index takes into account the swimming and/or jumping ability of all fish native species that are potentially present in the river reach; and it differentiates whether the infrastructure might be crossable for all species, only for some species or impassable. Results are classified into five categories of quality and are used to assess barriers in terms of fish mobility. When assessing the connectivity in water bodies, the density of infrastructures that represent an obstacle to fish is calculated as the number of impassable barriers per WB length (Table 10). This indicator reflects impacts to

	Environmental flow compliance (EFC)					
Water withdrawal	Not					
degree (WW)	assessed	High	Good	Moderate	Poor	Bad
High	High	High	Good	Good	Moderate	Moderate
Good	Good	Good	Good	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate
Moderate	Moderate	Good	Moderate	Moderate	Poor	Poor
Poor	Poor	Good	Moderate	Moderate	Poor	Bad
Bad	Bad	Good	Moderate	Poor	Bad	Bad
Not assessed	Not	Not	Not	Not	Poor	Bad
	assessed	assessed	assessed	assessed		

 Table 8
 Hydrological flow regime analysis (first step) combining water withdrawal degree (WW) and environmental flow compliance (EFC)

Table 9 Hydrological flow regime analysis (second step) combining quality class obtained in Table 8 and quality class from IHA

	Index of Hydrological Alteration (IHA)					
Combination between WW	Not					
and EFC	assessed	High	Good	Moderate	Poor	Bad
High	High	High	Good	Moderate	Moderate	Bad
Good	Good	Good	Good	Moderate	Poor	Bad
Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Poor	Bad
Poor	Moderate	Moderate	Poor	Poor	Poor	Bad
Bad	Bad	Bad	Bad	Bad	Bad	Bad
Not assessed	Not	Not	Not	Not	Poor	Bad
	assessed	assessed	assessed	assessed		

 Table 10
 River continuity assessment according to density of impassable fish barriers

Density of impassable fish barrier (barrier / km)	WB quality
<0.15	High
0.16 < Density > 0.40	Good
0.41 < Density > 0.60	Moderate
0.61 < Density > 0.99	Poor
>1.00	Bad

longitudinal connectivity as well as improvements when applying measures. In Catalonia, river continuity has been assessed taking into account transversal structures such as dams, weirs and gauging stations. Other elements such as bridges, sleepers and breakwaters have not been considered because of scarce information available and because their effects on river connectivity is potentially less significant.

## 3.3 Morphological Conditions and Quality of Riparian Zone

Morphological conditions and quality of riparian zone is calculated according to the HIDRI protocol combining the following elements: channelling stretch measurement (END), land use analysis on river banks and floodplain areas and the Riparian Quality Index (QBR).

#### 3.3.1 Channelling Stretch Measurement (END)

Channel alteration on rivers is evaluated by means of a ratio between channelling stretch measurement and the total evaluated WB length. Channelling is considered as any artificial structure on the river margins mainly for flood control. These structures include walls, jetties, specks or "levees," gabions and any other engineering or bioengineering elements used for this purpose. If channelling affects both river banks (left and right margins), its length is computed twice. Depending on the protection structure, different weighting coefficients are applied (speck and other elements = 0.2; jetty and gabion breakwater = 0.5; wall = 0.8; wall and bed concreting = 1). The calculation is performed according to the following formula:

END =  $\Sigma$  (channelling length  $\times$  coefficient) / WBlength

The quality level is assigned as follows: high, less than 0.1; good, from 0.1 to 0.2; moderate, from 0.2 to 0.3; poor, from 0.3 to 0.4; and bad, higher than 0.4.

#### 3.3.2 Land Use Analysis on River Banks and Floodplain Areas

The land use on the river banks and floodplain areas is estimated on a potential riparian buffer by means of geographic information systems (GIS) using habitat and land cover mapping. The riparian buffer width is estimated by applying a minimum width that depends on the cumulative basin area (CBA) of each WB: 10 m when  $CBA \le 20 \text{ km}^2$ ; 20 m when CBA is 21–100 km<sup>2</sup>; 30 m when CBA is 100–200 km<sup>2</sup>; 40 m when CBA is 200–1,000 km<sup>2</sup>; and expert judgment when CBA  $\geq$  1,000 km<sup>2</sup>. Afterward, this width is reviewed by photo-interpretation of present and past aerial photo-images as shown in Fig. 3. The oldest available aerial photo-image obtained in Catalonia is from 1956. This procedure ensures the inclusion of areas with fluvial physiognomy and with riparian vegetation structure and continuity, as well as with geomorphological patterns modelled by present and past water influence that helps the analysis. Additional information sources and criteria that contribute to the definition of the potential riparian buffer are also used in the Catalan rivers to assess the HYMO quality in floodplain and riparian areas: (i) information on geomorphology and mapped floodplains with return periods of 10 and 100 years, (ii) expert criteria in some water bodies and (iii) inclusion of relict patches and



Fig. 3 An example of photo-image obtained from 1956 with present riparian land uses shown above as coloured polygons used to assess the land use on river banks and floodplain areas in Catalan rivers

Table 11         Quality levels           according to floodplain         land use		Quality level			
	Land use (%)	High	Good	Less than good	
	Natural	$\geq 85$	60	<60	
	Agricultural	≤15	40 <sup>a</sup>	>40 <sup>a</sup>	
	Urban	0	5	>5	

<sup>a</sup>Agricultural + Urban

habitats of fluvial influence in lower reaches where floodplains have more potential width and accordingly the potential riparian buffer increases.

Land uses are grouped into three categories – natural, agricultural and artificial – and afterward, the quality of land use is classified according to three classes (high, good and less than good) in each WB depending on the percentage of the existing land use categories in the riparian zone, as shown in Table 11. Natural areas are defined as dense and open forests, wetland vegetation, meadows and grassland, rocky areas, forest eroded soils, alluvial beaches, scrub and inland waters and also those areas occupied by the river channel. Agricultural uses include all traditional agricultural uses, as well as eucalyptus, poplars and deciduous species plantations, and urban uses mean urbanized and industrial areas and roads.
#### 3.3.3 Riparian Quality Index (QBR)

The riparian zone quality is assessed through field works by applying the Riparian Quality Index (QBR) [13]. It establishes five quality levels (high, scored from 92 to 100; good, scored from 72 to 92; moderate, scored from 52 to 72; poor, scored from 27 to 52; and bad, scored <27). Since the QBR is applied on a relatively short river segment (100–200 m long), less than the total length of a WB, it is necessary to assess more than one sampling site in each WB to obtain a representative riparian quality result. By photo-interpretation or previous site visits, homogenous segments are selected in each WB based on riverbank and floodplain structure and land use physiognomy. Afterward, the QBR value of each site is extrapolated to its corresponding homogenous segment; therefore, the QBR value of an entire WB (QBR<sub>WB</sub>) is determined by one or more QBR values. The procedure is as follows:

- 1. Compilation of QBR values from the Monitoring Surveillance Programme or from other monitoring networks or studies
- 2. Designation of homogeneous reaches in each WB based on land use and riparian zone structure using GIS and expertise criteria
- 3. Assignment of a unique QBR value for each WB as an average of the different QBR site values weighted by segment length with respect to the total WB length, according to the following formula:

$$QBR_{WB} = \Sigma ( \times QBR_i (length_QBR_i)) / lenght_WB$$

where  $QBR_{WB} = integrated$  value for the whole WB;  $QBR_i = QBR$  score in a representative reach i; Length\_QBR\_i = reach length for each QBR\_i; and Length\_WB = total WB length.

If river banks and floodplain land uses are fairly homogeneous in a given WB, the QBR index will be assessed, at least, every 10 km. In the case that there are not enough QBR sampling sites, WB quality will be not assessed until information is gathered from more sampling sites.

The morphological conditions and the riparian quality are assessed first by combining results from land use assessment and the QBR index (Table 12), and the resulting quality is again combined with the channelling stretch measurement to obtain finally the morphological condition quality (Table 13).

	QBR index					
Land use	High	Good	Moderate	Poor	Bad	Not assessed
High	High	Good	Good	Moderate	Poor	Not assessed
Good	Good	Good	Moderate	Poor	Bad	Not assessed
Less than good	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Poor	Bad	Moderate

Table 12 Riparian quality assessment combining land use and QBR index quality classes

	Riparian quality				
Channelling stretch measurement	High	Good	Moderate	Poor	Bad
High	High	Good	Moderate	Moderate	Poor
Good	Good	Good	Moderate	Poor	Poor
Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Poor	Poor
Poor	Moderate	Moderate	Poor	Poor	Bad
Bad	Poor	Poor	Poor	Bad	Bad

 Table 13
 Morphological quality assessment combining riparian quality and channelling stretch measurement quality classes

### 3.4 HYMO Quality Assessment

The final HYMO quality assessment results from the combination of the three quality elements above mentioned according to the following criteria:

- Good: three elements with good or high quality
- Less than good (moderate or poor quality): one element with moderate or poor quality
- No assessment: any element without evaluation
- Bad: rest of situations

The results of HYMO quality assessment in the Catalan River Basin District (Table 14) highlight those problems that affect the ecological status due to physical habitat. On the other hand, HYMO quality assessment also improves the understanding of the results obtained from the mere analysis of the physicochemical and biological elements, as shown in Table 10. Regarding HYMO quality applied in Catalan rivers, only 14% of water bodies are considered with good or high quality. This is mainly due to the alteration of morphological conditions (54% of WB), reflecting problems derived from occupation of riverbanks or riverbank loss and significant alterations of river channel morphology (e.g. river channelling).

Changes in the hydrological regime because of water withdrawal, water diversion and flow regulation are the drivers of low quality in 17% of river WB. Although the percentage of WB with bad quality is low, the effects of this alteration on the ecological status are significant because stream flow directly affects biological communities. Therefore, low streamflow and flow regime alteration were identified as one of the major problems in the Catalan River Basin District to achieve good ecological status.

Finally, quality regarding river continuity is less than good in 13% of river WB because of the presence of more than 900 obstacles and barriers identified in Catalan rivers (considering dams, weirs and gauging stations) which heavily affect fish migration. Most of these barriers (over 800) are weirs (<15 m height), around 50 are large dams (>15 m height) and 97 are gauging stations. They are widely distributed throughout the Catalan River Basin District, but specially located in the

**Table 14**Hydromorphological quality assessment in rivers of the Catalan River Basin District.The number of river WB with a given quality is shown as well as the percentage of them within the total river WB

	High	Good	Moderate	Poor	Bad	Without data
Hydromorphological quality (HYMO)	34 (14	%)	96 (39%)		57 (23%)	61 (24%)

Llobregat basin (250 barriers), the Ter basin (165 barriers) and Besòs basin (151 barriers); these three basins contain around 66% of all Catalan River Basin District barriers. Results show the importance and usefulness of such HYMO diagnosis for the achievement of good ecological status.

# 4 Hydromorphological Quality Data and Ecological Status Assessment

HYMO analysis in rivers is a key issue to assess the complexity and heterogeneity of fluvial ecosystems [14], though physical habitat features are not as important as physicochemical parameters in assessing the ecological status of water bodies according to the WFD criteria. HYMO impacts and pressures are only considered important when they produce a deviation in biological communities, but not because of the effect they cause on physical habitats attributes per se. The effects of anthropogenic pressures on river hydrology, continuity and morphological conditions are poorly considered. It is worth to note that HYMO elements in the WFD are used in various steps: (i) to classify water bodies as natural, heavily modified or artificial; (ii) to identify reference sites and/or reference water bodies; (iii) to determine high ecological status; (iv) to identify human pressures; and (v) to design programmes of mitigation measures.

There is no scientific consensus for the establishment of reference hydromorphological conditions, though several authors have defined the geomorphic reference condition of a stream [50, 51]. Concepts such as guiding image and evolutionary trajectory [50] are largely accepted, while "pristine stream condition" is neither feasible nor worthwhile [51, 52]. Numerous debates in scientific literature show that the definition of reference conditions is not obvious and should be based on spatial aspects rather than on historical ones. In this respect, spatial aspects should comprise those set of river reaches considered to be as unmodified as possible by human pressures and not as static past conditions. The use of reference conditions based on statistical analyses of empirical data obtained from reference sites and pressure analyses might be not enough, and it requires an appropriate characterization of HYMO elements [53].

The HYMO alteration is considered to be the main factor that prevents the achievement of the environmental objectives of the WFD, but this does not apply

for all European rivers. Impacts and pressures differ from permanent river systems to Mediterranean rivers, and also the application of mitigation measures differ from northern and central European water bodies to Mediterranean ones. In the latter aquatic systems, water availability is a determining factor for river biota; therefore, those measures that guarantee environmental flows are much more relevant than in-stream habitat improvements (connectivity, habitat complexity or substrate availability measures) [7]. Nevertheless, diversity and composition of biotic communities in streams strongly depend on multiple-scale factors, being land use the most important variable at catchment scale [54]. Low-flow conditions derive rapidly into water quality degradation as a confounding factor, and this situation must be considered when implementing WFD strategies. Insufficient river connectivity is considered as one of the main causes for the decline of many fish species in the Iberian inland waters. Improvement of river connectivity is needed to restore the natural population of fish and other aquatic organisms by enabling seasonal movements or migrations of aquatic biota and for them to reach feeding and reproduction grounds. Measures, e.g. barrier removal, are necessary, especially in those river sections which are crucial for the migration of native fish species. Finally, the quality of the riparian areas is strongly related with some important water ecosystem services, and thus, its conservation and, if necessary, its improvement are also relevant. Therefore, restoring HYMO conditions is an essential tool to achieve and preserve good or high ecological status. Management needs to be flexible by adopting spatial and temporal scales that research reveals to be critical for HYMO processes [44]. For instance, in a recent review on eco-hydrological methods (REFORM project [7]), measures for the improvement of HYMO features represented less than 15% of all river basin measures, while conceptual ones accounted for 70% of all total measures. In this way, programmes of measures do not have a proportionate relationship between problems (HYMO quality assessment) and solutions (measures). There is a need for information on cost-benefit analysis as well as on objective achievement in order to establish action scenarios.

## 5 Final Remarks and Conclusions

There is a lack of scientific and technical consensus on which HYMO methods to use and which river features to monitor, since fundamental questions on hydromorphological, chemical and biological characteristics and their interactions remain unanswered [42]. A more integrated view is needed to unveil the complexity of river processes and also to answer ecological questions such as those arising from the EC Habitats Directive. Fundamental restrictions remain on the ability to measure eco-hydromorphological patterns and processes in both time and space. There is a need to understand cause-effect relationships in eco-hydromorphology. Examples of unveiled responses stand in "point" HYMO modifications such as weirs or dredging and also in "diffuse" or distal HYMO modifications such as land use or climate change [42]. Mediterranean rivers are more sensitive to HYMO modifications, and thus, there is an urgent need to understand key HYMO elements and their relationship with biological communities.

The assessment of hydromorphological quality along with other screening or diagnosis tools (e.g. human pressures and impact analysis report: IMPRESS) are essential for targeting and/or prioritizing measures included in River Basin Management Plans. In those water bodies with good hydromorphological conditions, which are usually located in headwaters and/or tributaries with scarce presence of human activity, efforts should focus on preserving the good quality and preventing deterioration. In those water bodies with moderate to bad hydromorphological quality, restoration or improvement management measures are needed to achieve a good quality status and, thus, comply with environmental objectives. Although abundant information on WB is provided by monitoring programmes and IMPRESS analyses, there are inherent difficulties in transposing this diagnosis information into measures in River Basin Management Plans.

Monitoring programmes should include improved HYMO indicators and metrics in order to obtain a better fit with reality. Also, they should improve the diagnosis and assessment of water bodies in which there is not enough available information. Surveillance monitoring programmes are potentially the most important resource in this respect, because of their extensive coverage in space and time. A better understanding of eco-hydromorphology would emerge from refining and optimizing those existing monitoring programmes, by means of scientific rigour, and subsequently, valid conclusions would arise for river monitoring and management [42].

Methodological improvements both in terms of data collection (increasing accuracy and precision by means of remote sensing, drones or other innovative technological tools) and data analysis (using spatial and temporal analysis statistics) would allow a better understanding of temporal and spatial variability of aquatic ecosystems and would also allow filling some major gaps in Mediterranean aquatic ecology. In this sense, it is worth to note that physical habitat assessment methods generally require very detailed site-specific data collection, and thus, their application to a large number of WB might be difficult.

Most of those methodologies presented in this review focus on structures rather than processes. Moreover, these approaches do not consider the floodplain whose key features comprise past states and many habitats that are crucial for the ecological health of the river. Furthermore, some of the abovementioned approaches include indices that are applied to different riverine zones, i.e. IHF (stream bed) or QBR (riparian zone), and these need to be integrated in protocols to better understand the river complexity [4]. A part from this, the design of monitoring networks is also crucial for the detection of pressures and impacts as well as for the subsequent decision making according to monitoring findings. Different sampling site distribution, e.g. sites evenly distributed all over the watershed vs. sites concentrated on a few tributaries, could derive in different monitoring findings, and hence, different conclusions on water body status would arise.

It is also important to define which methodology must be developed and applied at each spatial scale (micro-mesohabitat, reach or catchment scale) because methodologies can vary accordingly, from simple to complex protocols, and the subsequent cost and effectiveness might be decisive. Nevertheless, the cost of monitoring is much lower than the cost of inappropriate decisions. There is a need to reinforce the hydromorphological role on status definition, by means of calibrated methodologies that integrate all those diverse HYMO features existing throughout all European river sceneries.

**Acknowledgments** We really appreciate the help provided by all people involved in the Catalan Water Monitoring Program (from Catalan Water Agency). Special thanks to Gloria González who managed the Mediterranean river project [41], as well as Elvira Romans and other field technicians from URS company who work in this project. We also recognize the help provided by Carlos López and GIS technicians who assure databases and produce maps for this chapter. Finally, we are indebted to Fernando Gurrucharri and his team from the Spanish Ministry of Environment.

## References

- European Commission (2000) Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and the council of the 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for community action in the field of water policy. Off J Eur Communities L327:1–73
- Vaughan IP et al (2007) Integrating ecology with hydromorphology: a priority for river science and management. Aquat Conserv Mar Freshwat Ecosyst. doi:10.1002/aqc.895
- Boon PJ, Holmes NTH, Raven PJ (2010) Developing standard approaches for recording and assessing river hydromorphology: the role of the European committee for standardization (CEN). Aquat Conserv Mar Freshwat Ecosyst 20:S55–S56
- 4. Fernández D, Barquin J, Raven PJ (2011) A review of habitat assessment methods for rivers: indices vs. characterization protocols. Limnetica 30(2):217–234
- 5. Feld C, Hening D (2007) Community structure or function: effects of environmental stress on benthic macroinvertebrates at different spatial scales. Freshw Biol 52:1380–1399
- 6. Thoms NC (2006) Variability in riverine ecosystems. River Res Appl 22:115-121
- 7. Rinaldi M, Belletti B, Van den Bund W, Bertoldi W, Gurnell A, Buijse T, Mosselman E (2013) Review on eco-hydromorphological methods. REFORM project
- 8. Cortes RMV, Varandas S, Hugues SJ, Ferreira T (2008) Combining habitat and biological characterization: ecological validation of the RHS. Limnetica 27(1):39–56
- 9. Statzner B, Gore J, Resh V (1988) Hydraulic stream ecology: observed patterns and potential applications. J North Am Benthol Soc 7(4):307–360
- Malavoi JR, Souchon Y (2002) Description standardisée des principaux faciés d'écoulement observables en riviére: clé de détermination quantitative et mesures physiques. Bull Fr Peche Pisc. 365/367:357-372.
- 11. Feld CK (2004) Identification and measure of hydromorphological degradation in Central European lowland streams. Hydrobiologia 516(1):69–90
- 12. Pardo I, Álvarez M, Casas J, Moreno JL, Vivas S, Bonada N, Alba-Tercedor J, Jáimez-Cuéllar P, Moyà G, Prat N, Robles S, Suárez ML, Toro M, Vidal-Abarca MR (2002) El hábitat de los ríos mediterráneos. Diseño de un índice de diversidad de hábitat. Limnetica 21 (3-4):115–133
- Munné A, Prat N, Solà C, Bonada N, Rieradevall M (2003) A simple field method for assessing the ecological quality of riparian habitat in rivers and streams: QBR index. Aquat Conserv Mar Freshwat Ecosyst 13:147–167

- Brierley GJ, Fryirs K (2000) River styles, a geomorphic approach to catchment characterization: implications for river rehabilitation in Bega catchment, New South Wales, Australia. Environ Manag 25(6):661–679
- 15. Chandesris A, Mengin N, Malavoi J.R, Souchon Y, Pella H, Walson J (2008) Systeme relationnel d'audit de l'hydromorphologie des cours d'eau, principes et methodes. Rapport Cemagref-ONEMA, 64p.
- 16. Ollero A, Ibisate A, Gonzalo LE, Acin V, Ballarin D, Diaz E, Domenech S, Gimeno M, Granado D, Horacio J, Mora D, Sanchez M (2011) The IHG index for hydromorphological quality assessment of rivers and streams: updated version. Limnetica 30(2):255–261
- Mühlmann H (2010) Leitfaden zur zustandserhebung in fliessgewässern Hydromorphologie. Bundesministerium für Land- und Forstwirtschaft, Umwelt und Wasserwirtschaft (Wien). http://wisa.lebensministerium.at/article/articleview/81530/1/29401
- Langhammer J (2009) Applicability of hydromorphological monitoring data to locate flood risk reduction measures: Blanice River basin, Czech Republic. Environ Monit Assess 152 (1):379–392
- Pedersen ML, Baattrup-Pedersen A (2003) National monitoring programme 2003–2009. Assessment methods manual. National Environmental Research Institute of Denmark. Technical report no. 21
- 20. Raven PJ, Fox P, Everard M et al (1997) River habitat survey: a new system for classifying rivers according to their habitat quality. In: Boon PJ, Howell DL (eds) Freshwater quality: defining the indefinable? Stationery office, Edinburgh, pp 215–234
- 21. LAWA (2000) Gewässerstrukturgütebewertung in der Bundesrepublik Deutschlan. Verfahren für kleine und mittelgroße Fließgewässer, Schwerin, Länderarbeitsgemeinschaft Wasser. In: Kamp U, Binder W, Holzl K (eds) (2007) River habitat monitoring and assessment in Germany. Environ Monitoring Assess 127(1–3):209–226
- 22. Murphy M, Toland M (2012) River hydromorphology assessment technique (RHAT). Training guide. Northern Ireland Environment Agency (NIEA), Department of the Environment. Version 2012, 42 pp.
- Rinaldi M, Surian N, Comiti F, Bussettini M (2013) A method for the assessment and analysis of the hydromorphological condition of Italian streams: the morphological quality index (MQI). Geomorphology 180–181:96–108. doi:10.1016/j.geomorph.2012.09.009
- 24. Buffagni A, Erba S, Cazzola M, Kemp JL (2005) Il rilevamento idromorfologico e degli habitat fluviali nel contesto della Direttiva europea sulle acque (WFD): principi e schede di applicazione del metodo CARAVAGGIO. Notiziario dei Metodi Analitici IRSA 12:32–46
- 25. Van Dam O, Osté AJ, de Groot B, van Dorst MAM (2007) Handboek Hydromorfologie. Monitoring en afleiding hydromorfologische parameters Kaderrichtlijn Water. Directoraatgeneraal Rijkswat erstaat, Waterdienst/ Data- en ICT-Dienst, Lelystad/Delft. ISBN 9789036914512.
- 26. Ilnicki P, Gołdyn R, Soszka H, Górecki K, Grzybowski M, Krzemińska A, Lewandowski P, Skocki K, Sojka M, Marcinkiewicz M (2009) Opracowanie metodyk monitoringu i klasyfikacji hydromorfologicznych elementów jakości jednolitych części wód rzecznych i jeziornych, zgodnie z wymogami Ramowej Dyrektywy Wodnej. ETAP I II. Zadanie 1, 2 i 3. Kod CPV: 9071 1500–9. Nomenklatura wg CPV: 90711500–9. Poznań listopad 2009 roku GEPOL sp. z o.o., Poznań. In: Ilnicki P, Górecki K, Grzybowski M, Krzemińska A.
- 27. Ferreira J, Padua J, Hugues SJ, Cortes RM, Varandas S, Holmes N, Raven P (2011) Adapting and adopting river habitat survey: problems and solutions for fluvial hydromorphological assessment in Portugal. Limnetica 30(2):263–272
- 28. UK Technical Advisory Group UKTAG (2008) Final report WFD.
- Lehotský M, Grešková A (2007) Fluvial geomorphological approach to river assessment methodology and procedure. Geogr Cas 59(2):107–129
- 30. Tavzes B, Urbanic G (2009) New indices for assessment of hydromorphological alteration of rivers and their evaluation with benthic invertebrate communities; Alpine case study. Rev Hydrobiol 2:133–161

- 31. Hallde'n A, Liliegren Y, Lagerkvist G (2002) Biotopkartering Vattendrag. Metodik för kartering av biotoper i ochi anslutning till vattendrag. ISSN: 1101-9425. Meddelande nr 2002:55. (In Swedish). Jönköping: Länsstyrelsen i Jönköpings län, 86 pp. In: Molin J, Kagervall A et al (2010) Linking habitat characteristics with juvenile density to quantify *Salmo salar* and *Salmo trutta* smolt production in the river Savaran, Sweden. Fish Manag Ecol 17:446–453
- 32. Agences de l'Eau (2002) Système d'Evaluation de la Qualité Physique (hydromorphologique) des cours d'eau français. SEQ Physique (version v0'). Document de travail en cours de validation. Ministère de l'Ecologie et du Développement Durable, Republique Française
- Poff NL, Allan JD, Palmer MA, Hart DD, Richter BD, Arthington AH, Rogers KH, Meyer JL, Stanford JA (2003) River flows and water wars: emerging science for environmental decision making. Front Ecol Environ 1:298–306
- Bonada N, Rieradevall M, Prat N (2007) Macroinvertebrate community structure and biological traits related to flow permanence in a Mediterranean river network. Hydrobiologia 589 (1):91–106
- 35. Gasith A, Resh VH (1999) Streams in Mediterranean climate regions: abiotic influences and biotic responses to predictable seasonal events. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 30:51–81
- Munné A, Prat N (2011) Effects of Mediterranean climate annual variability on stream biological quality assessment using macroinvertebrate communities. Ecol Indic 11:651–662
- Catalan Water Agency (2006) Protocol d'avaluació de la qualitat hidromorfològica dels rius HIDRI. Available on web site. (In Spanish and Catalan). Accessed 22 Dec 2014.
- Magdaleno F, Martinez R, Roch V (2010) Índice RFV para la valoración del estado del bosque de ribera. Ingeniería civil 157:85–96
- González del Tánago M, Garcia de Jalon D (2011) Riparian quality index (RQI): a methodology for characterizing and assessing environmental conditions of riparian zones. Limnetica 20(2):235–254
- 40. Ministerio de Medio Ambiente y Medio Rural y Marino (2008) Orden ARM/2656/2008, de 10 de septiembre por la que se aprueba la instrucción de planificación hidrológica.
- 41. Ministerio de Medio Ambiente y Medio y Medio Rural y Marino (MARM) (2010) Definición y estandarización de protocolos de evaluación del estado ecológico en ríos mediterráneos (Expediente: 21.834-0021/0411). Informe final. Ministerio de Medio Ambiente y Medio y Medio Rural y Marino & Agencia Catalana del Agua. Consultor: United Research Services España. Barcelona, 433 pp.
- 42. Decamps H (1996) The renewal of floodplain forests along rivers: a landscape perspective. Verh Internat Verein Limnol 26:35–59
- 43. Suárez ML, Vidal-Abarca MR, Sánchez-Montoya MM, Alba-Tercedor J, Álvarez M, Avilés J, Bonada N, Casas J, Jáimez-Cuéllar P, Munné A, Pardo I, Prat N, Rieradevall M, Salinas MJ, Toro M, Vivas S (2002) Las riberas de los ríos mediterráneos y su calidad: El uso del índice QBR. Limnetica 21:135–148
- 44. Solà C, Ordeix M, Pou-Rovira Q et al (2011) Longitudinal connectivity in hydromorphological quality assessments of rivers. The ICF index: a river connectivity index and its application to Catalan rivers. Limnetica 30(2):273–292
- 45. Catalan Water Agency (2012) Qualitat hidromorfològica dels rius de les conques internes de Catalunya. Resultats del Programa de Seguiment i Control 2006–2012. Available in Catalan on web site. Accessed 22 dec 2014.
- 46. Richter BD, Baumgartner JV, Wigington R et al (1997) How much water does a river need? Freshw Biol 37:231–249. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2427.1997.00153.x
- 47. Richter BD, Baumgartner JV, Powell J et al (1996) A method for assessing hydrologic alteration within ecosystems. Conserv Biol 10(4):1163–1174
- Richter BD, Baumgartner JV, Braun DP et al (1997) A spatial assessment of hydrologic alteration within a river network. Regul Rivers Res Manag 14:329–340

- Martínez Santa-María C, Fernández Yuste JA (2010) IAHRIS 2.2. Indicators of hydrologic alteration in rivers. User's manual. Ministry of the Environment – Polytechnic University of Madrid – CEDEX, 66 p. http://www.ecogesfor.org/IAHRIS\_es.html.
- Palmer MA, Bernhardt ES, Allan JD, Lake PS, Alexander G, Brooks S, Carr J, Clayton S, Dahm CN, Shah JF, Galat DL, Loss SG (2005) Standard for ecologically successful river restoration. J Appl Ecol 42:208–217
- 51. Dufour S, Piegay H (2009) From the myth of a lost paradise to targeted river restoration: forget natural references and focus on human benefits. River Res Appl 25:568–581
- 52. Kondolf GM, Piegay H (2003) Tools in fluvial geomorphology. Wiley, Chichester
- Gonzalez del Tánago M, Garcia de Jalon D (2006) Attributes for assessing the environmental quality of riparian zones. Limnetica 25:389–402
- 54. Roni P, Hanson K, Beechie T (2008) Global review of the physical and biological effectiveness of stream habitat rehabilitation techniques. N Am J Fish Manag 28:856–890

# Reviewing Biological Indices and Biomarkers Suitability to Analyze Human Impacts. Emergent Tools to Analyze Biological Status in Rivers

#### Carlos Barata, Cinta Porte, and Benjamín Piña

Abstract The Catalan Water Agency has been testing and applying new methodologies and emergent tools over the last 20 years in order to enhance water quality monitoring in the Catalan River Basin District according to the EU Water Framework Directive (WFD) requirements. As a result the ecological quality of water bodies in Catalonia has been established and is currently monitored. Furthermore, bioremediation strategies are being implemented to improve the ecological quality of several water bodies. In relation to this the Catalan Water Agency is also devoted to assess and report to the EU that the applied remediation actions improved the quality of those water bodies. Most Mediterranean rivers suffer from water scarcity, and they are often located in densely populated areas. The combination of overpopulation with water scarcity translates into an overexploitation of water resources and consequently the deterioration of the ecological quality of rivers. Such deterioration in many places affects both the riparian habitat and water quality. Deterioration of water quality includes the reduction of water flow and the increase of pollution. Indeed in many occasions natural water flow is so low that effluents from wastewater treatment plants (WWTP) enter into the river with little dilution. Accordingly Mediterranean rivers are contaminated not only with persistent pollutants such as metals or persistent organic contaminants but also by pesticides, pharmaceuticals, personal care products, and other substances that, although they are not persistent, are continuously released into rivers from both diffuse sources and WWTP effluents. When this happens, the use of biomarkers and of laboratory or field toxicity assays offers the possibility to detect small changes in water quality, to identify detrimental stressors affecting aquatic biota, and to detect specific subtle

e-mail: cbmqam@cid.csic.es

C. Barata (🖂), C. Porte, and B. Piña

Department of Environmental Chemistry, Institute of Environmental Assessment and Water Research (IDAEA), Spanish Research Council (IDAEA, CSIC), Jordi Girona, 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 42: 249–268, DOI 10.1007/698\_2015\_365, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 26 September 2015

effects such as those caused by endocrine disrupters. This chapter is structured in three main subchapters that address the suitability of biomarkers, in situ bioassays, and omic responses to assess effects of pollutants in river biota from Catalonian rivers.

**Keywords** Besós, Biological indices, Biomarkers, Ebro, Ecological status, Field bioassays, LLobregat, Omic

#### Contents

1	Introduction	250
2	Biomonitoring Tools: An Overview	251
3	Biomarkers	253
	3.1 Biomarkers Developed in Autochthonous Benthic Macroinvertebrate Species	255
4	Field Bioassays	256
5	Omic Technologies	260
6	Conclusions	263
Ret	ferences	264

## 1 Introduction

Ecological assessment of water quality is fundamental to the management of surface waters and the protection of aquatic ecosystems. Biomonitoring of fresh waters are mostly based on measures of community structure, focussing on biological indexes estimated from riparian species. The Water Framework Directive (WFD) defines different Biological Quality Elements (BQEs) with regard of their composition and abundance. The declared BQEs are benthic algae (including macrophytes), phytoplankton, invertebrates, and fish. Zooplankton, a relevant component of the lacustrine food webs (see [1, 2]), is not considered. These BQE data can be matched with data relating to chemical pressures, the latter grouped into three types: those arising from general water chemistry problems (e.g., pH, oxygen), those arising from a lack or excess of nutrients (mainly N and P) and those arising from exposure to priority substances exceeding their Environmental Quality Standard (EQS) values, which are ultimately specified by the WFD, but by no means include all the potential hazardous compounds. In Tornés et al. [3], Fennessy et al. [4], Benejam et al. [5], and García-Berthou et al. [6], it is described with great detail past, present and future developments of BQEs for diatoms, macrophytes and fish. The information provided by the biological community can be summarized through several metrics, potentially useful as descriptors of multistress (see [2, 6–9]). These are specific metrics for biomass and others for community composition, which are widely used in management.

Nevertheless, BQEs are notoriously unspecific: they cannot respond to disturbances other than those they were developed to detect, making diagnosis of the actual impairment more difficult, and hence cannot be used for example for diagnostic purposes of specific pollutants. Identifying indicators of adverse change in ecological systems that can diagnose causal agents is a major challenge in environmental risk assessment [10]. Recently, the development of biological trait-based community indexes has allowed to diagnose effects of pesticides, salinity, and certain pollutants [11–14], but like the abovementioned BQEs, these indices can not respond to pressures other than those they were developed to detect, making diagnosis of the actual relevant pressures difficult. Furthermore, community-based indexes can only detect relatively strong effects that usually involve the eradication of one or several species from a particular site. Thus, they cannot diagnose low levels of ecological impairment caused by sublethal physiological effects.

Community-based indexes are also affected by both habitat and water quality disturbances, thus making more difficult to identify particular stressors: viz., pollutants impairing water quality vs. habitat degradation. In relation to this, there are several studies showing that implementation of BQEs with measured of biological effects occurring at sub-individual levels may allow risk assessors to diagnose the cause of impairment and in many cases to detect subtle incipient detrimental effects on biota. In this regard, the integrated use of chemical analyses with effects of pollutants at the molecular level, in cells, tissues and organisms is a sound procedure for detecting impact of anthropogenic contaminants in freshwater systems and to identify cause-effect relationships. Moreover, since in real field situations aquatic organisms are currently being exposed to multiple chemical contaminants involving different toxicity mechanisms, each one contributing to a final overall adverse effect, the use of a large set of responses may allow us to identify the potential hazardous contaminants in the field [14, 15]. This information, then, can be used by Water Authorities to take actions to prevent further deterioration of ecological status.

#### 2 Biomonitoring Tools: An Overview

The Catalan Water Agency has been testing and applying new methodologies and emergent tools over the last 20 years in order to enhance water quality monitoring in the Catalan River Basin District according to the EU Water Framework Directive (WFD) requirements. As a result, the ecological quality of water masses in Catalonia has been established and is currently monitored. Bioremediation strategies are also being implemented to improve the ecological quality of several water masses. Thus, the Catalan Water Agency is also devoted to assess and report to the EU that the applied remediation actions improved the quality of those water masses. In relation to this ACA has encourage and support the implementation of WFD biomonitoring methods with studies performed using biomarkers, lab and field toxicity assays. The advantages of such implementation are that they provide additional metrics and hence increase the likelihood to detect a biological change



Fig. 1 Overview of the main biomonitoring studies conducted in Catalan Rivers in the last 20 years (a). Study sites within Llobregat–Besós (b), Ebro (c, d, e), and Fluvià (f) river basins are identified as circles. Studies are separated by species or/and research objective. In Llobregat and Besós studies were conducted to assess estrogenic effects mainly in fish (blue) or to diagnose physiological toxic effects in invertebrates (purple). In the Ebro river studies include assessment for endocrine disruption and other physiological alterations in fish along the river (red), effects of pesticides used for rice production in bivalves and crustacea (pink), and effects of sediment wastes from Flix (green). The numbers refer to the following studies: 1. Escartín E, Porte C (1996) Environ Toxicol Chem 15:915-920; 2. Escartín E, Porte C (1997) Environ Toxicol Chem 16:2090–2095; 3. Porte C, Escartín E (1998) Comp Biochem Physiol 121C(1-3):333–338; 4. Morcillo et al. (1999) Environ Toxicol Chem 18:1203-1208; 5. Minier et al. (2000) Aquat Toxicol 50:167-176; 6. Solé et al. (2000) Environ Sci Technol 34:5076-5083; 7. Porte et al. (2001) Biomarkers 6:335-350; 8. Fernandes et al. (2002). Environ Res 90:169-178; 9. Solé et al. (2002) Aquat Toxicol 60:233-248; 10. Solé et al. (2003) Comp Biochem Physiol 136C (2):145-156; 11. Lavado et al. (2004) Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 196:247-257; 12. Barata et al. (2005) Aquat Toxicol 74:3-19; 13. Lavado et al. (2006) Environ Pollut 139:330-339; 14. Barata et al. (2007) Environ Toxicol Chem 26(2):370-379; 15. Damásio et al. (2007). Chemosphere 66:1206-1216; 16. Damásio et al. (2008) Aquat Toxicol 87:310-320; 17. Quirós et al. (2008) Environ Pollut 155:81-87; 18. Navarro et al. (2009) Aquat Toxicol 93:150-157; 19. Barata et al. (2010). Environ Pollut 158:704-710; 20. Damásio et al. (2010) Ecotoxicology 19:1084-1094; 21. Faria et al. (2010) Chemosphere 78:232-240; 22. Faria et al. (2010) Chemosphere 81:1218–1226; 23. Olivares et al. (2010) Sci Total Environ 408:5592–5599; 24. Puértolas et al. (2010) Environ Res 110:556-564; 25. Damásio et al. (2011) Chemosphere 85 (10):1548-1554; 26. Damásio et al. (2011) Water Res 45:3599-3613; 27. Ochoa et al. (2012) Sci Total Environ 437:209–218; 28. Navarro et al. Sci Total Environ 454–455: 482–489; 29. Navarro et al. (2013). Ecotoxicology 22:915–928; 30. Ochoa et al. (2013) Mar Pollut Bull 66:135–142; 31. Prat et al. (2013) Ecological Indicators 24:167–176; 32. Faria et al. (2014) Aquat Toxicol 152:82–95

associated to a particular stressor. They also offer the possibility to detect subtle changes not detected, for example by BQEs, and hence they can refine WFD monitoring tools. In the next three sections we describe case studies on Catalan Rivers that used Biomakers (Sect. 3), field bioassays (Sect. 4), and omic responses (Sect. 5) to characterize risks of pollutants in Ebro, Llobregat, Besós, and Fluvià river basins. A graph summary of these studies is depicted in Fig. 1.

### **3** Biomarkers

There are many definitions of biomarkers. Here we select the definition of van der Oost (2003) that states that they are indicators of biological or biochemical effects after a certain toxicant exposure, which makes them theoretically useful as indicators of both exposure and effects.

Animals have been faced with a continual input of potentially toxic compounds. Central to the defense against such an enormous and diverse number of contaminants there is an impressive array of enzymes and biotransformation pathways involved in their detoxification and removal, but also those involved in the generation of molecular species, sometimes more toxic than the parent compound. So the potential sources of toxic molecular species, derived either directly or indirectly from the presence of contaminants, are the parent compound itself, reactive metabolites and free radical derivatives of the compound and enhanced production of toxic reactive oxygen species (ROS) [16]. There is also a broad array of biomarkers that are biological targets or specific by products of particular contaminants. For example inhibition of acethylcholinesterase activity is the target of organophosphorous and carbamate pesticides or the induction of vitellogenin in liver or plasma in fish males is a by product of exposure to estrogenic compounds. This means that studies conducted with biomarkers often use a broad array of biomarkers. In this section we describe case studies aimed to assess general stress and specific endocrine disruption effects on fish in Llobregat (Anoia tributaire), Fluvià, and Ebro rivers. Other studies that aimed to implement WFD with new metrics based on biomarkers developed in autochthonous benthic macroinvertebrate species and those that used transplanted macroinvertebrates to characterize and identify detrimental contaminants causing environmental hazards are also presented.

In the early 2000, enhanced plasmatic levels of vitellogenin in males of carps living near wastewater treatment plants discharging into a Llobregat river tributary (the Anoia river) [17–19] was described for the first time in Catalonia. These observations were coupled with elevated residues of estrogenic compounds in water such as nonylphenol and with intersex gonads (simultaneous development of male and female gonads, which is considered a female feature) and testicular atrophy. Few years later, Lavado et al. [20] also reported estrogenic effects in feral carps (*Cyprinus carpio*) collected in spring 2001 from five sites along the lower course of Ebro River (Spain). Several findings (low gonadosomatic index (GSI), plasmatic vitellogenin (VTG), depressed levels of testosterone, and histological

alterations in gonads) detected in male carps downstream Zaragoza's sewage treatment plant (STP) strongly suggested that the concentration of sewage effluent in the area was a major causal factor leading to the detected estrogenic effects. Important alterations (viz. delayed maturation in females, indications of arrested spermatogenesis in males) were detected in carps from Flix, a heavily industrialized and polluted area. The previous studies provided the first evidence of the existence of significant alterations in the endocrine system of carps from the Llobregat and Ebro River basins. The combined use of biomarkers and chemical analyses has also been used to assess and identify pollutants causing detrimental effects. Fernandes et al. [21] sampled carps (*C carpio*) and red swamp crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*) from two low-stream Mediterranean rivers (Anoia and Cardener) receiving extensive urban and industrial wastewater discharges. Tissue residues of selected pollutants (organochlorinated compounds) and biliary levels of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) were determined in conjunction with different biochemical responses (cytochrome P450, phase II enzymes) with the aim of investigating whether resident organisms were responsive to changes in water quality. Biota inhabiting those rivers were highly exposed to complex mixtures of polychlorobiphenyls and dichlorodiphenyl-trichloroethanes (up to 19 ng/g w.w.) and PAHs (up to 6,097 ng/g of hydroxylated PAHs in bile), the highest residues being observed in carps from Cardener River. These high levels of pollution translated into high activities of phase I detoxification enzymes such as that of 7-ethoxyresorufin O-deethylase (EROD) that in carps from Cardener ranged between 350 and 550 pmol/min/mg protein, whereas in carps from Anoia ranged between 90 and 250 pmol/min/mg protein. The highest EROD activity recorded was downstream of the sewage treatment plants in both rivers. Lavado et al. [22] collected carp (C. carpio) and barbels (Barbus graellsii) from five sites along the Ebro River. The study was designed to assess levels of persistent organic pollutants and metals bioaccumulated by fish, and some biochemical responses (cytochrome P450 system, phase II activities, and metallothioneins) against those pollutants. The highest levels of PCBs and DDTs were detected in carp from industrialized areas, which also showed high levels of mercury and cadmium in the liver, high levels of nonylphenol in bile, and high levels of EROD activity and of metallothionein proteins. Carps from the Ebro Delta, an agricultural area, had depressed acetylcholinesterase in muscle tissue. Years later, a remediation project was launched to study and characterize the toxicity of industrial wastes containing high concentrations of mercury, cadmium, and organochlorine residues dumped by a chlorinealkali plant in a reservoir adjacent to the village of Flix (Catalonia, Spain), situated at the shore of the lower Ebro river. Effects of these contaminants to aquatic river biota were assessed in invertebrates [23, 24], fish [25, 26], and aquatic birds [27, 28]. Studies with invertebrates included zebra mussels, crayfish, Asiatic clams, and the native naiad species *Psilunio littoralis* [23, 24]. The results evidenced similar response patterns in bivalves and crayfish with increasing toxic stress levels from upper parts of the river towards the meander located immediately downstream from the most polluted site, close to the waste dumps. The aforementioned stress levels could be related with concentrations of mercury, cadmium, hexachlorobenzene, polychlorobiphenyls, and dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethanes that were 4- to 195-fold greater than local background levels. Using the common carp (*C. carpio*) the responses of EROD in liver, hepatosomatic index, condition factor, and the micronuclei index in peripheral blood showed maximal dioxin like effects in Ascó, few kilometers downstream the plant, where measured organochlorine residue levels in fish were the highest [26]. This combination of chemical, cellular, and physiological data allowed the precise assessment of the negative impact of the chlor-alkali plant on fish. Blood biomarkers of nestlings of the aquatic birds Purple Heron *Ardea purpurea* and the Little Egret *Egretta garzetta*, were also used to assess pollution effects of the industrial wastes of Flix on top predators that eat fish [27, 28]. Bird populations from Flix had the greatest levels of oxidative stress and of micronuclei in blood, which correlated with measured residues of mercury and of organochlorine compounds in feathers and eggs, respectively.

Characterization of the impacts of pesticides used in the rice fields of Ebro's Delta on biota living in the Delta or in its associated bays has been conducted for over 20 years. Pioneering studies were initiated by Cinta Porte in the common mussel and crayfish [17, 29–34], and years later were extended to *Daphnia magna*, Asiatic clams and oysters [35–38]. It is worth noting that bivalve species are quite resistant to the pesticides used in Ebro Delta probably since pesticides targets in these species (i.e., AChE) are quite insensitive to organophosphorous insecticides. The opposite happens with crustacean species that like arthropods are quite sensitive to anticholinergic pesticides like fenitrothion [38]. Nevertheless, in most studies detrimental effects were observed on the studied species. In crustaceans they were related to organophosphorous poisoning due to the inhibition of acetyl-cholinesterase, whereas in bivalves they were associated to major herbicides and fungicides usually related with increasing levels of oxidative stress.

Last but not least, in several studies biomarkers were used in combination with other metrics to solve specific environmental problems. Among them, we high-lighted a study performed with the autochthonous fish species *Barbus meridionalis* in Fluvia River to assess the impacts of an oil spill [39]. Fourfold increase of EROD activity together with increased levels of fluorescent hydrocarbon compounds (FACs) in bile of barbs collected at the spilled site indicated exposure of inhabiting fish to the oil. Biological indices, mainly the diatom community IPS, showed slight significant effects between control and impacted sites, indicating that more tolerant taxa were favored because of the oil spillage. These results support the need to include biochemical responses measured in local species in monitoring programs aimed to diagnose specific pollution effects in stressed river ecosystems.

## 3.1 Biomarkers Developed in Autochthonous Benthic Macroinvertebrate Species

Several studies were devoted to develop biomarkers in local macroinvertebrate benthic species that dominate communities moderately and heavily impacted [40–42]. We select the caddisfly larvae *Hydropsyche exocellata* that is widely

distributed along the Ebro, Llobregat, Besós, and other Mediterranean rivers due to its broad tolerance to salinity and pollutants, both major stressors that deteriorate water quality in Catalan Rivers. Biomarker responses in caddisfly larvae were used to detect sublethal effects and to get information on additional environmental factors that impaired benthic communities and could not be detected with BOEs. Up to ten different markers, belonging to distinct metabolic pathways, were developed and used to identify major contaminants affecting river biota in Llobregat and Besòs [40–42]. Results evidenced that salinity was one of the major stresses affecting macroinvertebrate assemblages, whereas antioxidant and metabolizing enzymes responded differently and were closely related to high and presumably toxic levels of measured organic pollutants. Those results indicated that the use of multiple -markers sensitive to water pollution may provide complementary information to diagnose environmental factors that are impairing macroinvertebrate communities. Indeed in other studies, we used the same experimental approach as above to assess undesired effects of remediation actions conducted by ACA on specific river basins. These included the use of reclaimed water to increase water flow and hence improve the ecological quality of rivers [37]. The discharge of the reclaimed water did not affect the composition and abundance of the dominant taxa, but the few intolerant species that were found upstream before the experiment disappeared downstream; consequently, most of the metrics indicating the level of biological impairment had slightly lower values after the introduction of the treated water, even though the ecological status was always poor. Nevertheless, significant and specific toxic effects on the collected *H. exocellata* larvae were observed using biomarkers. The effects included oxidative stress-related responses, such as decreased antioxidant enzyme activities and increased levels of lipid peroxidation. Therefore, indications of additional stress to the populations of the caddisfly *H. exocellata* were found using several biomarkers, which can indicate a potential further deterioration of the ecological status of the river. In polluted rivers, such as the Llobregat, structural indicators are unable to indicate further impairment and that biomarkers may be a useful tool to detect such changes. The combination of both kinds of indicators seems necessary for the establishment of the ecological status of a system, following the indications of the Water Framework Directive (WFD).

#### 4 Field Bioassays

The Water Framework Directive (WFD) defines different Biological Quality Elements (BQEs) with regard of their composition and abundance. These BQE data can be matched with data relating to chemical pressures, the latter grouped into three types: those arising from general water chemistry problems (e.g., pH, oxygen), those arising from a lack or excess of nutrients (mainly N and P), those arising from exposure to priority and other substances discharged in significant quantities in the water body and exceeding their Environmental Quality Standard (EQS) values, which are ultimately specified by the WFD. The WFD also indicates that for those substances exceeding EOS it is recommendable to perform further studies using established ecotoxicological test. Toxicity testing in the lab suffers from the exposure problem since the lab exposures are too simple and not reflect the field environment. To solve this problem many scientists have developed field assays for example by caging lab populations in different sites and assessing effects on sub-individual, individual and even on community responses. The use of field bioassays allows minimizing the exposure problem since individuals are deployed in the field. It also may minimize the confounding effect of genetic adaptation arising for example when populations having different genetic background and hence adapted differently to the local conditions where they live, are used to monitor effects in the field. Due to these advantages field bioassays have been used also to study biomarker responses across a given stress gradient. Examples of the formed utility were used in the "mussel watch" monitoring program designed to study and monitor bioaccumulated pollutants and their effects. Here we are going to describe studies conducted with transplanted populations of Daphnia, macroinvertebrates, and freshwater mussels to monitor effects of pollutants in Llobregat, Besós, and the lower part of Ebro rivers.

D. magna acute and chronic toxicity assays are probably the most used test in aquatic toxicology. In the early 2000, the Scottish team from Stirling University leaded by Donald J Baird developed a D. magna field assay aimed to assess sublethal effects of pollutants on grazing rates using post-exposure feeding rates [43, 44]. The assay consisted in deploying individuals in specially designed cages into the field for 1 day after which animals were removed and their post-exposure feeding rates measured assessing algae clearance rates in the lab using clean medium and algae [43]. The *D. magna* post-exposure feeding field assay was robust and unaffected by other factors than pollutants like water temperature, alkalinity, pH, water flow rate, or suspended solids [43]. The previous characteristics make this assay more reliable than a previous one developed years before by Loraine Maltby from Shefield University in the amphipod species Gammarus pulex [45]. The amphipod assay measured in situ grazing rates on leafs and need it match more time of exposure, which make the assay affected by water temperature and other physical chemical confounding factors. Nevertheless, now there are many field assays out there that measure individual responses of several species of algae, invertebrates, and vertebrates linked with fitness such as grazing rates, growth, mortality, and reproduction. The team of Isabel Muñóz from Barcelona University has developed one with the local aquatic snail species *Physella acuta* that it can measure effects of pollutants on fecundity [46]. This bioassay has been successfully applied in the Llobregat and Ebro Rivers to evaluate impacts of potential estrogenic compounds on aquatic snails. In our lab, we improved the D. magna field assay combining post-exposure feeding measures with several biomarkers and gene transcription responses. The improved assay was used for the first time in Ebro's Delta (North East Spain) [38]. The aim of this investigation was to evaluate toxicity effects of pesticides in aquatic invertebrates by using in situ bioassays with the local species of D. magna. Investigations were carried out during the main growing season of rice (from May to August). Measures of energy consumption (i.e., algal grazing) and of specific biochemical responses (biomarkers) were conducted in individuals transplanted in four stations that included a clean site upstream of the affected area and the three main channels that collect and drainage the water from the rice fields into the sea. Seventeen pesticides were analyzed in water by online solid phase extraction-liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/ MS). The results obtained indicated high levels of pesticides in water with peak values of 487 µg/L for bentazone, 8 µg/L for MCPA, 5 µg/L for propanil, 0.8 µg/L for molinate, and 0.7 µg/L for fenitrothion. Measured biological responses denoted severe effects on grazing rates and a strong inhibition of cholinesterases and carboxylesterases, which are specific biomarkers of organophosphorous and carbamate pesticides, and altered patterns of the antioxidant enzyme catalase and the phase II metabolizing enzyme glutathione-S-transferase. Correlation analysis with pesticide residue levels converted to toxic units relative to its acute 48 h median lethal concentration effects (LC50) of D. magna indicated significant and negative coefficients between the dominant pesticide residues and the observed biological response, thus denoting a clear cause-effect relationship. A second study aimed to assess the feasibility of using the post-exposure D. magna feeding assay in combination of BOE metrics to identify environmental factors affecting aquatic invertebrate communities [47]. Investigations were carried out in two heavily industrialized and urbanized river basins from the NE of Spain (Llobregat and Besós). Measures of energy consumption (i.e., algal grazing), and of specific biochemical responses (biomarkers) were conducted on individuals transplanted upstream and downstream from effluent discharges of sewage treatment plants. In both rivers there was a clear deterioration of the ecological water quality parameters and of benthic community BQEs towards downstream reaches. In all but one of the 19 locations studied, transplanted organisms were affected in at least one of the five measured responses. In three of them, significant effects were detected in most of the traits considered. Principal Component and Partial Least Square Projections to Latent Structures regression analyses indicated that the measured responses in D. magna in situ bioassays and those of macroinvertebrate assemblages were affected by distinct environmental factors. From up to 20 environmental variables considered, seven of them including habitat degradation, suspended solids, nitrogenous and conductivity related parameters affected macroinvertebrate assemblages. On the other hand, levels of organophosphorous compounds and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons were high enough to trigger the responses of D. magna in situ bioassays. These results emphasized the importance of combining biological indices with biomarkers and more generalized and ecologically relevant (grazing) in situ responses to identify ecological effects of effluent discharges from sewage treatment plants in surface waters. In two additional studies, the in situ D. magna post-exposure feeding assay in combination with other matrix were used to address specific problems of The Catalan Water Agency. Puertolas et al. [48] evaluated side-effects of glyphosate mediated control of giant reed (Arundo donax) on the structure and

function of a nearby Mediterranean river ecosystem. One of the main causes of river degradation is the presence of invasive alien species which pose a significant threat to the ecological integrity of river ecosystems. Alien species are often cited as the second most pressing threat (after direct habitat destruction) to global biodiversity. Giant reed (Arundo donax) is an invasive plant for riparian habitats and can be considered a primer riparian management problem. As river restoration has become a priority for water authorities and river managers in many countries, several methods for controlling this plant have been attempted and among them chemical control with nonspecific herbicides. Glyphosate is a broad-spectrum systemic herbicide that has been used to control a wide range of weeds; during the past four decades it has also been applied to control exotic or invasive species. Many commercial herbicides have been formulated using glyphosate (isopropyl amine salt) as active ingredient. On behalf of a river restoration project to control the giant reed, glyphosate was applied in the riparian vegetation across a restricted area in the mid section of the Llobregat river basin. The aim of this study was to evaluate the effect of the application of the herbicide Herbolex (Aragonesas Agro, S.A., Madrid, Spain), which has glyphosate as active ingredient, to control giant reed (Arundo donax) on the structure and function of a nearby river ecosystem. Specifically, we assessed glyphosate environmental fate in the surrounding water and its effects on transplanted D. magna, field-collected caddisfly (Hydropsyche exocellata), and benthic macroinvertebrate structure assemblages. Investigations were conducted in the industrialized and urbanized Mediterranean river Llobregat (NE Spain) before and after a terrestrial spray of glyphosate. Measured glyphosate levels in river water following herbicide application were quite high (20-60 µg/L) with peak values of 137 µg/L after 3 days. Closely linked with the measured poor habitat and water physicochemical conditions, macroinvertebrate communities were dominated by taxa tolerant to pollution and herbicide application did not affect the abundance or number of taxa in any location. Nevertheless, significant specific toxic effects on transplanted D. magna and field collected H. exocellata were observed. Effects included D. magna feeding inhibition and oxidative stress related responses, such as increased antioxidant enzyme activities related with the metabolism of glutathione, and increased levels of lipid peroxidation.

Caged organisms can also be used to study detrimental effects of particular pollutants in the field in certain species that are not very abundant. Caged organisms also minimize the problem of adaptation when interpreting phenotype responses [49]. In several studies we have used caged organisms to study the effects of mercury release by the chlor-alkali industry of Flix on invasive and autochthonous freshwater mussels [24], the effects of pesticides used in Delta del Ebro for rice production on bivalve populations and the impact of pharmaceuticals [35], metals, and other contaminants in local macroinvertebrate species along the Llobregat river [41]. The results of these studies have been already reported in Sect. 3.1.

#### 5 Omic Technologies

The analysis of changes in gene expression represents a potentially powerful tool to characterize immediate cell responses to stressors, constitutes an early warning of the effect of contaminants, and represents a useful complement to existing monitoring methods to study the effects of toxicants at the biochemical level [50–52]. Among the techniques for specific RNA quantification, quantitative real-time PCR, or qRT-PCR, has become one of the most sensitive tools in Molecular Biology, allowing detection of truly minimal amounts of RNA molecules by amplification of specific sequences. With appropriate extraction and analytical methodologies, as few as 10–100 RNA molecules can be detected and, with some limitations, quantified. The high reproducibility and sensitivity of qRT-PCR allow both the application to small individuals (small animals, for example) and the use of dispensable parts of the body (scales, blood, blubber), avoiding the killing of larger animals [53–55]. Being amenable to high-throughput screenings, qRT-PCR allows analyzing many individuals and, therefore, the study of ecological impacts at the population, rather than at the individual, level.

The only true limitation for the application of gene expression biomarkers in biological monitoring is the knowledge of appropriate DNA sequences: any gene can be analyzed in any species provided its sequence is known. This is particularly important in analyzing natural populations, whose dominant species are, more often than not, poorly described in terms of gene sequences [52]. Another major point is the choice of the tissue to be sampled. Liver is the preferred organ for fish species, although it requires dissection of the animal and, in some cases, it may not reflect the actual response of the species to some environmental injuries. For example, in a survey of the physiological responses of carps (C. carpio) from the Low Ebro River, we found that expression of kidney metallothionenins (MT-I and MT-II) reflected the levels of mercury present in the specimen, not only in kidney but also in liver and muscle, whereas expression of the same genes in the liver seemed unaffected by mercury poisoning (Fig. 2). In fact, our data suggest that CYP1A expression, the genetic counterpart of EROD activity, did reflect major physiological alterations linked to pollution (hepatosomatic index, condition factor), related in this particular case to organic pollutants, whereas mercury seemed relatively less toxic for the animals, but affecting specifically the metabolism of kidneys (Fig. 1a [56, 57]). This kind of analysis, in which effects on different tissues are compared and related to external stressors, is far more doable using qRT-PCR techniques than with standard biochemical methods.

Microarray analysis allows a simultaneous quantification of a large number of genes, helping to determine the phenotype of a given individual in a particular environment as well as the identification of altered metabolic paths, which may allow to identify potential detrimental stressors including pollutants [52, 58]. However, microarray analysis requires a substantial knowledge of the species genome and Molecular Biology, two aspects that are particularly lacking for aquatic organisms of ecological relevance [52, 59]. In spite of this general requirement,



**Rotated Component 1** 

**Fig. 2** PCA analysis of qRT-PCR results from different carp populations in the Ebro River. *Blue*, *green*, *brown*, and *magenta* symbols refer to samples from Riba-roja, Flix, Ascó, and Xerta sampling points, *circles* correspond to females and *squares* to males. The approximate distribution of each set of samples (score values) is limited by *ovals of the same color. Red crosses* indicate loadings for the different parameters included in the analysis: Mercury quantitation (Hg), Condition factor (CF), Hepatosomatic Index (HSI), and gene expression data from CYP1A and the metallothioneins MT1 and MT2. "L," "M," and "K" indicate data from liver, muscle, and kidney, respectively. Score values are represented scaled to fit the -1/1 interval

microarray analyses can provide very useful information about the physiology and the responses to pollution of poorly know species (at the genome level), provided a reliable and relatively large set of expressed RNA sequences are available. In an analysis of the zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*)2 populations established in the Ebro River, we designed a microarray with some 3,500 expressed sequence tags (ESTs) from different *Dreissena* species [60, 61]. Using RNA from zebra mussel samples from different points in the low Ebro River, we found a continuous gradation in the expression of at least two sets of (putative) genes. Genes related to proliferation, respiration, and cell signalling (function that we link to the normal physiology of the cells) were more expressed at the upstream sampling areas, with low pollution impact, whereas stress- and structural-related (including ribosomes) genes were expressed at the impacted, downstream populations (Clusters B and A in Fig. 3a, respectively [61]). Correlation analyses showed that expression of genes from Cluster B correlated with known markers of healthy status of zebra mussel,



Fig. 3 Overview of the transcriptomic analysis of the Ebro River zebra mussel populations. (a) Sampling sites. Ebro River sites: MEQ: Mequinenza reservoir; FA, Fayón, Riba-Roja Reservoir; RR, Riba-Roja town, Flix reservoir; FR, site at the opposite site of the chlor-alkali industry, Flix reservoir; FF, site besides the chlor-alkali industry, Flix reservoir; MEA, Flix meander, downstream the Flix reservoir. Site SJ corresponds to the Sitjar reservoir, at the Mijares River. (b) Hierarchical clustering of the microarray data. Only the 1,000 features showing the highest variability among samples are included. Clusters A and B are indicated by *orange* and *blue squares*, respectively. (c) Relative expression values of genes from clusters A and B for the different zebra mussel populations (color codes as in b). *Dots* represent average lipid content values in % of dry weight. (d) Correlation analysis (Spearman's Rho) for cluster A and B genes with different chemical and physiological parameters. *Asterisks* indicate significant correlations (p < 0.05), *orange and blue boxes* indicate those parameters directly correlated to cluster A and B, respectively. *Blue arrows* point to the major pollutants released by the Flix factory

like the condition index or lipid contents (Fig. 3c, d), confirming the relationship of these genes with the normal cell physiology. Conversely, and unlike the results from carps, mercury and organic pollutants seemed not to play any significant role on the physiological status, as their levels did not show any correlation with either cluster (Fig. 3d). Rather, expression of stress genes did correlate with the concentrations of several heavy metals, like Cd, Cu, Ni, Mn, and Zn. Therefore, our results indicate that zebra mussels are not particularly sensitive to the major organic pollutants released by the Flix factory, being the concentration of heavy metals the major stressors for these populations in the lower part of the Ebro River.

## 6 Conclusions

A great effort to enhance quality status in the Catalan River basins has been carried out through sewage plant construction and habitat restoration by the Catalan Water Agency and local institutions. This has been possible due to the high amount of information available on water quality and biological community composition and chemical and bioassessment studies mainly provided by research centers and water authorities, which have been analyzing the quality status and biota in the Catalan River basins since long time ago. This is true for the Llobregat river, where substantial work has been performed [62], and the Ebro river although for the latter river management actions depend on the Hydrographic Confederation of Ebro. The quality and abundance of such information has been a key element to fulfill the challenge of improving the ecological status of those rivers, and to establish a suitable monitoring program. Mediterranean rivers from Catalonia suffer a considerable ecological impact basically due to human pressures throughout their river basins. The most important anthropogenic impacts included salt mine activities, hydropower water diversion, and flow regime alteration by dams in headwaters and mid basins, together with urban and industrial sewage discharges. Some programs of measures have been progressively applied along time in order to mitigate such impacts, which include the build of sewage treatment plants to reduce urban and industrial discharge impacts, and also salt runoff control has been set out around mine activities. Quality status has progressively enhanced and some chemical parameters have been reduced downstream. Ammonia concentration and, in general, nutrient loads decreased during the last decade in mid and lower river basins. Such amelioration has allowed restoring some biological communities but not fish or native freshwater bivalves, aquatic birds, and mammals. Some anthropogenic pressures are still remaining. The high amount of weirs and hydropower water diversion along the rivers, together with flow regime regulation by dams, riparian degradation and eventual peak concentrations of nutrients and salts due to mining activities, result in a poor biological quality status in mid and lower basins, where fish communities show the highest community alteration, with a high number of nonnative species appearing. Moreover, the high industrial concentration and urban discharges in mid and lower river basins cause the detection of some priority substances and emergent pollutants (e.g., endocrine disruptors, heavy metals, pesticides, brominated flame retardants, drugs, pharmaceuticals), which all together increase the ecological threats. Biomonitoring studies carried out in some of the Catalan river basins provide insights that biomarkers and field bioassays may also inform us of the actual ecological status when used together with community indices. Although biomarkers play a great role in ecotoxicology and environmental risk assessment, they are sometimes difficult to interpret [63]. It is problematic to determine whether a single biomarker response is an indicator of impairment or is a part of the homeostatic response, indicating that an organism is successfully dealing with the exposure [63]. However, the use of large set of biomarkers representing several metabolic paths overcomes problems of interpretation and as shown in this

study allows characterizing true physiological effects of pollutants. The results presented herein also demonstrate the usefulness of biomarkers in detecting subtle changes of water quality in locations with deteriorated benthic communities. This is mainly due to the resilience of tolerant species assemblages to change and the great phenotypic plasticity of tolerance species such as *H. exocellata* to cope with stress. Indeed our results showed that *H. exocellata* is able to adjust quite rapidly its physiological mechanisms of defense to tolerate chemical inputs such as glyphosate, salinity, and water flow changes. On the other hand, the use of transplants of lab sensitive species such as those of *D. magna* may also allow standardizing field assays. Such field assays are experimentally robust and reliable.

In the future, in addition to community indices, biomarkers, although they are not incorporated in the WFD, should be considered as tools for implementation of the WFD. By 2020, EU member states will have to improve the quality of their surface waters and report those changes to the WFD. In this sense, the use of markers sensitive to water pollution may provide useful information on small changes in ecological quality especially in the threshold value between moderate and good.

Acknowledgements Biomonitoring studies have been funded by European, Spanish, and Catalan projects and FEDER funds along the last 20 years. Main projects involved are Biological Effects of Environmental Pollutants –BEEP EVK3-CT-2000-00025 (2001–2004), MCyT-REN2002-01709 (2002–2004); AQUATERRA Project no. 505428 (GOCE) (2004–2009); McyT CGL2004-03514 (2005–2007); MOVITROF (2006–2008); CEMUGA CGL2007- 64551/HID (2007–2011); 041/SGTB/2007/1.1 (2007–2009); CGL2008-01898 (2009–2011), 042/RN08/03.4 (2008–2010), CTM2011-30471-C02-01 (2012–2014).

## References

- Quintana XD, Cañedo-Argüelles M, Nebra A, Gascón S, Rieradevall M, Caiola N, Sala J, Ibàñez C, Sánchez-Millaruelo N, Boix D (2015) New tools to analyse the ecological status of Mediterranean wetlands and shallow lakes. Hdb Environ Chem. doi:10.1007/698\_2015\_391
- Marcé R, Armengol J, Navarro E (2015) Assessing ecological integrity in large reservoirs according to the Water Framework Directive. Hdb Environ Chem. doi:10.1007/698\_2015\_400
- 3. Tornés E, Sabater S (2015) The use of diatoms to assess the ecological status in Catalan Rivers: application of the WFD and lessons learned from the European intercalibration exercise. Hdb Environ Chem. doi:10.1007/698\_2015\_344
- 4. Fennessy S, Ibañez C, Munné A, Caiola N, Kirchner N, Sola C (2015) Biological indices based on macrophytes: an overview of methods used in Catalonia and the USA to determine the status of rivers and wetlands. Hdb Environ Chem. doi:10.1007/698\_2015\_347
- Benejam L, Ordeix M, Casals F, Caiola N, de Sostoa A, Solà C, Munné A (2015) Fish as ecological indicators in Mediterranean streams: the Catalan experience. Hdb Environ Chem. doi:10.1007/698\_2015\_345
- García-Berthou E, Bae M-J, Benejam L, Alcaraz C, Casals F, de Sostoa A, Solà C, Munné A (2015) Fish-based indices in Catalan rivers: intercalibration and comparison of approaches. Hdb Environ Chem. doi: 10.1007/698\_2015\_342

- Ibáñez C, Caiola N, Trobajo R, Nebra A, Rovira L (2015) Biological indicators to assess the ecological status of river-dominated estuaries: the case of benthic indicators in the Ebro River estuary. Hdb Environ Chem. doi: 10.1007/698\_2015\_398
- Munné A, Ginebreda A, Prat N (2015) Water status assessment in the Catalan River Basin District: experience gathered after fifteen years with the Water Framework Directive (WFD). Hdb Environ Chem. doi: 10.1007/698\_2015\_420
- Rodríguez-Labajos B, Solà C, Munné A (2015) A first biopollution index approach and its relationship on biological quality in Catalan rivers. Hdb Environ Chem. doi: 10.1007/698\_ 2015\_440
- 10. Baird DJ, Burton GA (2001) Ecological variability: separating natural from antropogeneic causes of ecosystem impairment. SETAC, Brussels
- 11. Bonada N, Prat N, Resh VH, Statzner B (2006) Developments in aquatic insect biomonitoring: a comparative analysis of recent approaches. Annu Rev Entomol 51:495–523
- Liess M, Von der Ohe C (2005) Analizing effects of pesticides on invertebrate communities in streams. Environ Toxicol Chem 24:954–965
- 13. Schäfer RB, Kefford BJ, Metzeling L, Liess M, Burgert S, Marchant R, Pettigrove V, Goonan P, Nugegoda D (2011) A trait database of stream invertebrates for the ecological risk assessment of single and combined effects of salinity and pesticides in South-East Australia. Sci Total Environ 409(11):2055–2063
- 14. Van der Oost R, Beyer J, Vermeulen NPE (2003) Fish bioaccumulation and biomarkers in environmental risk assessment: a review. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 13(2):57–149
- 15. Bocchetti R, Lamberti CV, Pisanelli B, Razzetti EM, Maggi C, Catalano B, Sesta G, Martuccio G, Gabellini M, Regoli F (2008) Seasonal variations of exposure biomarkers, oxidative stress responses and cell damage in the clams, *Tapes philippinarum*, and mussels, *Mytilus galloprovincialis*, from Adriatic sea. Mar Environ Res 66(1):24–26
- 16. Livingstone DR (2001) Contaminant-stimulated reactive oxygen species production and oxidative damage in aquatic organisms. Mar Pollut Bull 42(8):656–666
- Solé M, De Alda MJL, Castillo M, Porte C, Ladegaard-Pedersen K, Barceló D (2000) Estrogenicity determination in sewage treatment plants and surface waters from the Catalonian area (NE Spain). Environ Sci Tech 34(24):5076–5083
- Solé M, Barceló D, Porte C (2002) Seasonal variation of plasmatic and hepatic vitellogenin and EROD activity in carp, *Cyprinus carpio*, in relation to sewage treatment plants. Aquat Toxicol 60(3–4):233–248
- Solé M, Raldua D, Piferrer F, Barceló D, Porte C (2003) Feminization of wild carp, *Cyprinus carpio*, in a polluted environment: plasma steroid hormones, gonadal morphology and xenobiotic metabolizing system. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol 136(2):145–156
- Lavado R, Thibaut R, Raldúa D, Martín R, Porte C (2004) First evidence of endocrine disruption in feral carp from the Ebro river. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 196(2):247–257
- Fernandes D, Potrykus J, Morsiani C, Raldua D, Lavado R, Porte C (2002) The combined use of chemical and biochemical markers to assess water quality in two low-stream rivers (NE Spain). Environ Res 90(2):169–178
- 22. Lavado R, Ureña R, Martin-Skilton R, Torreblanca A, Del Ramo J, Raldúa D, Porte C (2006) The combined use of chemical and biochemical markers to assess water quality along the Ebro River. Environ Pollut 139(2):330–339
- 23. Faria M, Huertas D, Soto DX, Grimalt JO, Catalan J, Riva MC, Barata C (2010) Contaminant accumulation and multi-biomarker responses in field collected zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*) and crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*), to evaluate toxicological effects of industrial hazardous dumps in the Ebro river (NE Spain). Chemosphere 78(3):232–240
- 24. Faria M, López MA, Díez S, Barata C (2010) Are native naiads more tolerant to pollution than exotic freshwater bivalve species? An hypothesis tested using physiological responses of three species transplanted to mercury contaminated sites in the Ebro river (NE, Spain). Chemosphere 81(10):1218–1226

- 25. Navarro A, Quirós L, Casado M, Faria M, Carrasco L, Benejam L, Benito J, Díez S, Raldúa D, Barata C, Bayona JM, Piña B (2009) Physiological responses to mercury in feral carp populations inhabiting the low Ebro river (NE Spain), a historically contaminated site. Aquat Toxicol 93(2–3):150–157
- 26. Olivares A, Quirós L, Pelayo S, Navarro A, Bosch C, Grimalt JO, Fabregat MDC, Faria M, Benejam L, Benito J, Solé M, Barata C, Piña B (2010) Integrated biological and chemical analysis of organochlorine compound pollution and of its biological effects in a riverine system downstream the discharge point. Sci Total Environ 408(22):5592–5599
- 27. Quirós L, Ruiz X, Sanpera C, Jover L, Piña B (2008) Analysis of micronucleated erythrocytes in heron nestlings from reference and impacted sites in the Ebro basin (N.E. Spain). Environ Pollut 155(1):81–87
- Barata C, Fabregat MC, Cotín J, Huertas D, Solé M, Quirós L, Sanpera C, Jover L, Ruiz X, Grimalt JO, Piña B (2010) Blood biomarkers and contaminant levels in feathers and eggs to assess environmental hazards in heron nestlings from impacted sites in Ebro basin (NE Spain). Environ Pollut 158(3):704–710
- 29. Escartín E, Porte C (1996) Bioaccumulation, metabolism, and biochemical effects of the organophosphorus pesticide fenitrothion in *Procambarus clarkii*. Environ Toxicol Chem 15(6):915–920
- Escartín E, Porte C (1997) The use of cholinesterase and carboxylesterase activities from Mytilus galloprovincialis in pollution monitoring. Environ Toxicol Chem 16(10):2090–2095
- 31. Porte C, Escartín E (1998) Cytochrome P450 system in the hepatopancreas of the red swamp crayfish *Procambarus clarkii*: a field study. Comp Biochem Physiol C Pharmacol Toxicol Endocrinol 121(1–3):333–338
- 32. Morcillo Y, Albalat A, Porte C (1999) Mussels as sentinels of organotin pollution: bioaccumulation and effects on P450-mediated aromatase activity. Environ Toxicol Chem 18(6):1203–1208
- Minier C, Borghi V, Moore MN, Porte C (2000) Seasonal variation of MXR and stress proteins in the common mussel, *Mytilus galloprovincialis*. Aquat Toxicol 50(3):167–176
- 34. Porte C, Solé M, Borghi V, Martinez M, Chamorro J, Torreblanca A, Ortiz M, Orbea A, Soto M, Cajaraville MP (2001) Chemical, biochemical and cellular responses in the digestive gland of the mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis* from the Spanish Mediterranean coast. Biomarkers 6(5):335–350
- 35. Damásio J, Navarro-Ortega A, Tauler R, Lacorte S, Barceló D, Soares AMVM, López MA, Riva MC, Barata C (2010) Identifying major pesticides affecting bivalve species exposed to agricultural pollution using multi-biomarker and multivariate methods. Ecotoxicology 19(6): 1084–1094
- 36. Ochoa V, Riva C, Faria M, de Alda ML, Barceló D, Fernandez Tejedor M, Roque A, Barata C (2012) Are pesticide residues associated to rice production affecting oyster production in Delta del Ebro, NE Spain? Sci Total Environ 437:209–218
- 37. Prat N, Rieradevall M, Barata C, Munné A (2013) The combined use of metrics of biological quality and biomarkers to detect the effects of reclaimed water on macroinvertebrate assemblages in the lower part of a polluted Mediterranean river (Llobregat River, NE Spain). Ecol Indic 24:167–176
- 38. Barata C, Damasio J, López MA, Kuster M, De Alda ML, Barceló D, Riva MC, Raldúa D (2007) Combined use of biomarkers and in situ bioassays in *Daphnia magna* to monitor environmental hazards of pesticides in the field. Environ Toxicol Chem 26(2):370–379
- 39. Damásio JB, Barata C, Munné A, Ginebreda A, Guasch H, Sabater S, Caixach J, Porte C (2007) Comparing the response of biochemical indicators (biomarkers) and biological indices to diagnose the ecological impact of an oil spillage in a Mediterranean river (NE Catalunya, Spain). Chemosphere 66(7):1206–1216
- 40. Barata C, Lekumberri I, Vila-Escalé M, Prat N, Porte C (2005) Trace metal concentration, antioxidant enzyme activities and susceptibility to oxidative stress in the tricoptera larvae *Hydropsyche exocellata* from the Llobregat river basin (NE Spain). Aquat Toxicol 74(1):3–19

- 41. Damásio J, Barceló D, Brix R, Postigo C, Gros M, Petrovic M, Sabater S, Guasch H, de Alda ML, Barata C (2011) Are pharmaceuticals more harmful than other pollutants to aquatic invertebrate species: a hypothesis tested using multi-biomarker and multi-species responses in field collected and transplanted organisms. Chemosphere 85(10):1548–1554
- 42. Damásio J, Fernández-Sanjuan M, Sánchez-Avila J, Lacorte S, Prat N, Rieradevall M, Soares AMVM, Barata C (2011) Multi-biochemical responses of benthic macroinvertebrate species as a complementary tool to diagnose the cause of community impairment in polluted rivers. Water Res 45(12):3599–3613
- 43. Mc William RA, Baird DJ (2002) Postexposure feeding depression: a new toxicity endpoint for use in laboratory studies with *Daphnia magna*. Environ Toxicol Chem 21:1198–1205
- 44. Mc William RA, Baird DJ (2002) Application of postexposure feeding depression bioassays with *Daphnia magna* for assessment of toxic effluents in rivers. Environ Toxicol Chem 21: 1462–1468
- 45. Maltby L, Clayton SA, Wood RM, Mc Loughlin N (2002) Evaluation of the *Gammarus pulex* in situ feeding assay as a biomonitor of water quality: robustness, responsiveness, and relevance. Environ Toxicol Chem 21:361–368
- 46. De Castro-Català N, López-Doval J, Gorga M, Petrovic M, Muñoz I (2013) Is reproduction of the snail *Physella acuta* affected by endocrine disrupting compounds? An in situ bioassay in three Iberian basins. J Hazard Mater 263:248–255
- 47. Damásio J, Tauler R, Teixidó E, Rieradevall M, Prat N, Riva MC, Soares AMVM, Barata C (2008) Combined use of *Daphnia magna* in situ bioassays, biomarkers and biological indices to diagnose and identify environmental pressures on invertebrate communities in two Mediterranean urbanized and industrialized rivers (NE Spain). Aquat Toxicol 87(4):310–320
- 48. Puértolas L, Damásio J, Barata C, Soares AMVM, Prat N (2010) Evaluation of side-effects of glyphosate mediated control of giant reed (*Arundo donax*) on the structure and function of a nearby Mediterranean river ecosystem. Environ Res 110(6):556–564
- Medina MH, Correa JA, Barata C (2007) Micro-evolution due to pollution: possible consequences for ecosystem responses to toxic stress. Chemosphere 67(11):2105–2114. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.12.024
- Faria M, Carrasco L, Diez S, Riva MC, Bayona JM, Barata C (2009) Multi-biomarker responses in the freshwater mussel *Dreissena polymorpha* exposed to polychlorobiphenyls and metals. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol 149(3):281–288. doi:10.1016/j. cbpc.2008.07.012, S1532-0456(08)00145-2 [pii]
- 51. Faria M, Lopez MA, Fernandez-Sanjuan M, Lacorte S, Barata C (2010) Comparative toxicity of single and combined mixtures of selected pollutants among larval stages of the native freshwater mussels (*Unio elongatulus*) and the invasive zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*). Sci Total Environ 408(12):2452–2458. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2010.02.047, S0048-9697(10) 00217-2 [pii]
- Pina B, Barata C (2011) A genomic and ecotoxicological perspective of DNA array studies in aquatic environmental risk assessment. Aquat Toxicol 105:40–49. doi:10.1016/j.aquatox. 2011.06.006
- 53. Quiros L, Raldua D, Navarro A, Casado M, Barcelo D, Pina B (2007) A noninvasive test of exposition to toxicants: quantitative analysis of cytochrome P4501A expression in fish scales. Environ Toxicol Chem 26(10):2179–2186. doi:10.1897/07-027r.1
- 54. Okoth E, Gallardo C, Macharia JM, Omore A, Pelayo V, Bulimo DW, Arias M, Kitala P, Baboon K, Lekolol I, Mijele D, Bishop RP (2012) Comparison of African swine fever virus prevalence and risk in two contrasting pig-farming systems in South-west and Central Kenya. Prev Vet Med. doi:10.1016/j.prevetmed.2012.11.012, S0167-5877(12)00376-5 [pii]
- 55. Montie EW, Fair PA, Bossart GD, Mitchum GB, Houde M, Muir DCG, Letcher RJ, McFee WE, Starczak VR, Stegeman JJ, Hahn ME (2008) Cytochrome P4501A1 expression, polychlorinated biphenyls and hydroxylated metabolites, and adipocyte size of bottlenose dolphins from the Southeast United States. Aquat Toxicol 86(3):397–412. doi:10.1016/j. aquatox.2007.12.004

- 56. Olivares A, Quiros L, Pelayo S, Navarro A, Bosch C, Grimalt JO, del Carme Fabregat M, Faria M, Benejam L, Benito J, Sole M, Barata C, Pina B (2010) Integrated biological and chemical analysis of organochlorine compound pollution and of its biological effects in a riverine system downstream the discharge point. Sci Total Environ 408(22):5592–5599. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2010.08.009
- 57. Navarro A, Quiros L, Casado M, Faria M, Carrasco L, Benejam L, Benito J, Diez S, Raldua D, Barata C, Bayona JM, Pina B (2009) Physiological responses to mercury in feral carp populations inhabiting the low Ebro river (NE Spain), a historically contaminated site. Aquat Toxicol 93(2–3):150–157. doi:10.1016/j.aquatox.2009.04.009
- Piña B, Casado M, Quirós L (2007) Analysis of gene expression as a new tool in ecotoxicology and environmental monitoring. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 26(11):1145–1154. doi:10.1016/j. trac.2007.09.009
- Denslow ND, Garcia-Reyero N, Barber DS (2007) Fish 'n' chips: the use of microarrays for aquatic toxicology. Mol Biosyst 3(3):172–177. doi:10.1039/b612802p
- Navarro A, Campos B, Barata C, Pina B (2013) Transcriptomic seasonal variations in a natural population of zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*). Sci Total Environ 454:482–489. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.03.048
- 61. Navarro A, Sanchez-Fontenla J, Cordero D, Faria M, Pena JB, Saavedra C, Blazquez M, Ruiz O, Urena R, Torreblanca A, Barata C, Pina B (2013) Genetic and phenoptypic differentiation of zebra mussel populations colonizing Spanish river basins. Ecotoxicology 22(5): 915–928. doi:10.1007/s10646-013-1084-7
- 62. Sabater S, Ginebrerda A, Barceló D (2012) The Llobregat. The history of a polluted Mediterranean river, vol 21, The handbook of environmental chemistry. Springer, London
- Forbes VE, Palmqvist A, Bach L (2006) The use and misuse of biomarkers in ecotoxicology. Environ Toxicol Chem 25(1):272–280

# Analysis of EU Legislated Compounds for Assessing Chemical Status: Main Challenges and Inconsistencies

Josep Caixach and Arancha Bartolomé

**Abstract** The list of priority substances from the EU Water Framework Directive (WFD) (2000/60/EC) was recently revised (Directive 2013/39/EU). A total of 12 new priority substances were added, and some EQS values were also modified. For different reasons (toxicity, uses, and environmental fate), the proposed EQS values are extremely low, and it is the need to reach excessively low quantification limits. This chapter considers challenges and limitations of analytical methodologies and, according to literature and the *state of the art* of our laboratory, explains the difficulties for routine laboratories to achieve some EQS values.

Keywords Analytical methodologies, Chemical status, EQS, LOQs, Priority substances, WFD

#### Contents

270
271
272
272
275
278
279
280

J. Caixach (🖂) and A. Bartolomé

Laboratory of Mass Spectrometry, Organic Pollutants, Institute of Environmental Assessment and Water Research (IDAEA-CSIC), c/ Jordi Girona, 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain e-mail: josep.caixach@cid.csic.es

## Abbreviations

AA	Annual average
DEHP	Di(2-ethylhexyl)-phthalate
EQS	Environmental quality standard
GC-Q	Gas chromatography-quadrupole
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
HRGC	High-resolution gas chromatography
HRMS	High-resolution mass spectrometry
IDMS	Isotope dilution mass spectrometry
JRC	Joint Research Center
LOQ	Limit of quantification
MAC	Maximum allowable concentration
MS/MS	Tandem mass spectrometry
NP	Nonylphenol
OP	Octylphenol
PAH	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
PBDE	Polybrominated diphenyl ethers
PS	Priority substances
QA	Quality assurance
QC	Quality control
SCCPs	Short-chain chlorinated paraffins
US EPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
WFD	Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC)

## 1 Introduction

The Water Framework Directive (WFD) of the European Commission (2000/60/ EC) [1] describes the monitoring of priority substances in surface water of the European Union. The daughter directive 2008/105/EC [2] defined the environmental quality standards (EQS) for priority substances (PS) in water, with the aim to protect the aquatic environment. The PS has been defined as substances presenting a significant risk to or via aquatic environment at EU level. In order to assess risk, both hazard and exposure need to be considered. The list of PS was recently revised (Directive 2013/39/EU) [3], a total of12 new priority substances were added, and some EQS values were also modified. Values are defined as annual averages (AA-EQS) and maximum allowable concentrations (MAC-EQS). Moreover, some additional biota values were included.

For various reasons, such as toxicity, uses, and environmental fate, in some cases or substances, the proposed EQS values are extremely low. In that case, along with the QA/QC parameters of the analytic methods (2009/90/EC) [4], there is the need to reach "excessively" low quantification limits (LOQs). Additionally, remember that compliance monitoring for the PS in the WFD requires the achievement of a LOQ equal or below a value of 30% of the relevant EQS. The achieved method quantification limits are therefore 0.3xEQS.

The norm does not specify if there are AA or MAC or whether there is a family or individual substance. This is even more critical in coastal waters where the existing precautionary principle requires lower values of EQS. This issue has caused an interesting analytical discussion that involves the overcoming of some analytical challenges – state of art – and it results in some inconsistencies worth mentioning.

This chapter discusses what substances are feasible for routine methods (official control laboratories), which substances require more sophisticated analytical methods, and which ones – despite all the strategies of the sampling and instrumental – remain above the proposed EQS. Therefore, some questions arise in this situation: What should the government do? How to define the chemical status of the affected water bodies? Or why are EQS values proposed when the analytical community or the same technical committees of the EU know that these are difficult to achieve?

We are not going to discuss neither the benefits nor the intentions. We will focus on the analytical results or analytical methodologies that will give valid results or robustness to the analytical determinations required in achieving the EQS and allowing the intercomparison.

#### 2 Challenges and Limitations of Analytical Methodology

The application of WFD raises a number of analytical challenges that can be summarized as:

- Work to have the best available methods to obtain the lowest possible LOQs according to EQS.
- Apply the best laboratory practices for a reliable/consistent result (QA/QC).
- Validate methods and results participating in interlaboratory exercises aiming at monitoring data of sufficient quality to ensure harmonization or intercomparison.
- With the purpose of risk assessment for future identification of PS, in particular as regards emerging pollutants, the Directive has introduced what they call watch list [3]. The mechanism will ensure the targeted collection of monitoring data on the concentration of substances in the aquatic environment. The proposed list of substances to be monitored has been subject of numerous meetings and discussions within the Commission. These substances will be monitored in a limited number of representative stations across Europe to gain high-quality information to assess the potential risk posed of emerging pollutants and in consequence set reasonable EQS and help to make a validation of analytical methods used in monitoring and provide suitable analytical protocols with the

aim of shortening the necessary standardization process. The monitoring will be in water, sediments, or biota.

These issues come from some inconsistencies in the implementation of WFD that should be reconsidered:

- The mix of protocols and criteria (toxicological/use/monitoring) and various commissions originates unrealistic EQS and analytically intractable LOQs, resulting in lack of robustness of the method.
- Concerning the determination of LOQ, the Directive 2009/90/EC [4] does not specify from which EQS (AA or MAC) should be done.
- What is the LOQ for each compound in the case where EQS is defined for a sum of substances? Do you have to divide 30% of EQS between the numbers of congeners?
- Monitoring data from literature for the inclusion in the proposals, it is desirable that all are scrutinized according to the same criteria or the comparison with the performance and robustness/reliability of the analytical methods used.
- There is the need of improvements in the sampling and analytical methodological and instrumental capabilities to allow widespread adequate measurements.
- Despite sediment as an important compartment for its ability to bioaccumulate, and the existence of guidance to chemical monitoring [5], nowadays there is not EQS defined for this matrix yet. Members states had the order to set up commissions to work on deriving EQS for sediment [6]; there has not been consensus on this issue. According to Directive 2013/39/UE [3], member states could monitor PS on this matrix applying the relevant EQS. In any case, member states shall take measures aimed at ensuring that concentrations do not significantly increase.

# 3 Discussion

# 3.1 Limitations of Analytical Methods and Harmonization Exercises

Intercomparison exercises are the most practical and operative ones that give validity to the analytical methods applied. It is a good tool to highlight analytical problems and harmonize analytical methods. In this context, the European Commission, through the Joint Research Center (JRC), organized the Chemical Monitoring Activity Exercises (CMA on-site). The main objective was focused on assessing the limitations of analytical methods for some groups of PS. Three exercises were organized: the first one took place on the River Po in October 2006 (CMA on-site 1), the second one on River Danube at Budapest in September 2008 (CMA on-site 2), and the last one in October 2010 on River Meuse at Eijsden (the Netherlands) (CMA on-site 3). Different laboratories that participated were



Fig. 1 Method performance for PBDEs WFD monitoring. Number of laboratories ready (*green*) or not ready (*red*) for the sensitivity requirements of 30% EQS ( $1/6 \times 30\%$  of 0.5 ng/L sum of BDE congener numbers 28, 47, 99, 100, 153, and 154 equals LOQs of 0.025 ng/L for each single congener) as specified in the proposal for the Commission Directive on technical specifications for chemical analysis and monitoring of water status for WFD chemical monitoring [8]

chosen as representative of member states. The results and conclusions of the three exercises were published [7].

In our opinion, the results of CMA exercises 2 and 3 give an example of the difficulties of harmonizing analytical methods and comparing the results obtained by different laboratories in "conventional" families. The findings are conclusive in this respect.

Figures 1, 2, and 3 show some of the results of CMA on-site 2, in which samples from the River Danube located downstream Budapest city were analyzed with a joint exercise of sampling and a subsequent analysis with methodologies that each laboratory had readied.

The conclusions of the CMA on-site 2 studies are especially relevant [8]:

- Environmental concentrations of PAH, PBDE, and NP/OP can be analyzed in surface waters at concentrations taking into account the set European Environmental Quality Standards values and the proposed performance criteria.
- Among the included analytic groups, PBDE appear to be a major challenge monitoring at sub-ng/L level in water samples.
- Very much differing sampling and analytical methodologies are still in use within Member States.
- Not all among the participating laboratories were able to deliver results at the required concentration levels.
- No proficiency testing scheme or other external quality control possibility, taking into account the problematic of real environmental samples, is available at present for these analyses.



- In vicinity to the proposed EQS concentration levels, high data quality is of importance for compliance checking.
- Blank values in analytical procedures are of crucial importance, as analytical problems can lead also to an overestimation of pollutant content and consequently even noncompliance.
- The occurring variability of contaminants in surface waters is of utmost importance for the selection of the monitoring strategies and needs therefore to be studied.

The 5-year period (2006–2010) on CMA on-site exercises provides a picture of the development of harmonization level of selected monitoring methodologies in EU Member States.

The more relevant conclusions [7] add to the above would be:

- It was evident that not all participating laboratories were able to deliver results at the required concentration levels. Furthermore, we obtained in some cases very high data variability, which represents a problem in compliance checking.
- The reduction of the variability among laboratories should be the most important goal to be achieved for the harmonization of WFD monitoring around Europe.
- Investigating gaps in analytical performance can help to identify needs for further development strategies and methodologies. Examples of such issues are the analysis of whole water and the variability of concentrations in surface water.
- While the requirements can change with the legislative context (e.g., revision of the EQS Directive), there is a clear need to continue harmonization at different organizational levels.

# 3.2 Need of Most Advanced Instrumentation and Methodologies

According to Directive 2009/90/EC [4] concerning technical specifications for chemical analysis, the need of most advanced instrumentation is obvious. MS/MS (HRGC or HPLC) methods are regularly used today, we do not see why we should renounce to the most advanced methods based on criteria that is not a routine method, economic high cost, etc. Methods like HRGC-HRMS and HPLC-HRMS are common in many methodologies.

US EPA is innovative using best available analytical methodologies as IDMS and HRMS (methods 1613 [9], 1614 [10], or 1668 [11]) or IDMS and MS/MS (method 1664 [12]). However, currently, the methods MS/MS are coming with a good state of the art and sensibilities almost as good as of HRMS. Therefore, there is no serious argument for not allowing the use of it to reach the fulfillment of lower EQS. Furthermore, there are prescreening strategies available.

New advances have been introduced in the field of instrumentation, HRMS Orbitrap analyzer, and recently GC-Q Orbitrap. This instrumentation is going to allow an important advance toward getting better quantification limits. It is noteworthy that the HRMS gives robustness to analytical methods minimizing the effect of the matrix and also the potential inaccuracies in quantification in the analysis by liquid chromatography tandem to mass spectrometry. HRMS is a good approach for combining the qualitative and quantitative analysis together. Remember that misuse of MS/MS has led to many false-positives or questionable results that have remained described at the literature. In our opinion, many environmental data are questionable for this fact. We would like to highlight again the importance of intercomparison exercises.

Another point to keep in mind is that the use of this instrumentation is not easy or a routine in many cases. Hence, it is very important to have trained personnel.
Nevertheless, with the use of advanced instrumentation, to date, there are many analytical problems with some substances. The works of Vorkamp [13] and Loos [14] give us the exact extent of the limitations of the analytical methods regarding the compliance of the proposed EQS in Directive2013/39/EC [3]. It will be developed later.

Among others technical requirements, LOQ must be equal or below a value of 30% of the relevant EQS [4]. This is one of the goals of the analytical methods. The LOQs given are linked to a specific methodology and instrumentation and current approach of water volumes [14], and an adequate state of the art could improve it. However, LOQs are not constant values and can change over time. They are dependent on several parameters and hence have to be verified regularly [14].

The blanks of laboratory/method are one of these parameters. The values obtained show the "reality" of LOQs and may invalidate all the effort improving the sensitivity of instrumental methods. One of the PS that present many problems with blanks are PBDEs that are widespread in the laboratory environment. As an example, Table 1 shows levels of PBDEs obtained in pristine waters from a high mountain lake used as blanks of method to calculate LOQs. You have to realize that the concentration obtained for the sum of legislated PBDEs is in the same level of required LOQ for coastal waters (0.06 ng/L) under Directive 2008/105/EC [2]. In the case of PBDEs, the EQS has changed, but we want to highlight this problem that occurs with other PS as DEHP (LOQ required 0.39  $\mu$ g/L) or naphthalene (0.6  $\mu$ g/L).

In the improvement of the analytical methods, the use of isotope dilution mass spectrometry (IDMS) is a very good tool. IDMS consists in the use of isotopically labeled analogues as internal standards considering that the natural sample contains negligible amounts of them. The isotopic analogue is added to the sample at the very beginning of the analytical method; it enables exact compensation to be made for errors at all stages of the analysis [15]. IDMS gives accurate, robust, and reliable results [16, 17]. However, the use of IDMS has a number of advantages and disadvantages, which the user should consider [15]. Therefore, the method

Sample	Pristine groundwater (ng/L)	Surface water <sup>a</sup> (ng/L)	Deep water <sup>a</sup> (ng/L)
Compound			
BDE#28	0.002	0.002	0.002
BDE#47	0.011	0.023	0.018
BDE#99	0.008	0.014	0.012
BDE#100	0.003	0.005	0.003
BDE#153	n.d	n.d	n.d
BDE#154	n.d	n.d	n.d
BDE#183	n.d	n.d	n.d
BDE#197	n.d	n.d	n.d
BDE#209	n.d	0.037	n.d
ΣLegislated BDEs	0.024	0.044	0.035

 Table 1
 Levels of PBDEs in pristine waters used as blanks of laboratory. Source: Laboratory of Mass Spectrometry-Organic Pollutants

n.d: not detected

<sup>a</sup>Water from high mountain lake



**Fig. 4** Scheme of analytical methodology for the analysis of priority pollutants in water. *Source*: Laboratory of Mass Spectrometry-Organic Pollutants



Fig. 5 Example of use of IDMS for analyzing PBDEs. Profile of a marine sediment obtained by GC/HRMS (R = 10,000), with the congeners and its isotope labeled analogous. *Source*: Laboratory of Mass Spectrometry-Organic Pollutants

proposed could follow the scheme shown in Fig. 4, with the addition of labeled standards at the beginning of the method and at the end to check the efficiency of the extraction. Figure 5 shows an HRMS chromatogram obtained working with IDMS, where there are the signals for native and labeled congeners.

# 3.3 Analytical Difficulties for Existing and "New" Priority Substances

We would like to remark the specific analytical difficulties of some compounds, many of them already described in recent literature.

# 3.3.1 Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs)

Required LOQs for PBDEs according to EQS on 2008/105/EC [2] are with difficulty achieved in routine laboratory conditions [18], but the new directive [3] has included more acceptable EQS (140 ng/L and 14 ng/L, respectively, for inland and other surface waters). In addition, EQS for biota has been determined (0.0085  $\mu$ g/Kg).

With all substances that an EQS for biota is established, the Directive [3] recommends the monitoring in this matrix.

# 3.3.2 Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs)

The PAHs have focused on the B[a]Pyrene as a marker, with EQS0.17 ng/L (LOQ required 0.051 ng/L) and 5  $\mu$ g/kg in biota. The lowest LOQs for water analysis achieved with methods applied by EU Member States are not sufficient of compliance monitoring in waters [14]. Large-volume water sampling is proposed for increasing method sensitivity [18].

# 3.3.3 Endosulfan

Although endosulfan is a common analyzed pesticide, the LOQ required, particularly AA-EQS for coastal waters, is not easy to achieve with routine methods [18].

# 3.3.4 Short-Chain Chlorinated Paraffins (SCCPs)

The difficulties in the analysis of SCCP reside in the highly complex nature of commercial formulations; the numerous physical, chemical, and biological processes after use; and the lack of certified chemical standards [18]. There is a variety of approaches to analyze SCCPs in environmental samples [18]. A validated procedure for routine monitoring of SCCPs was needed in fulfilling the technical specifications [4]. The ISO/DIS 12010 describes a method using gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC-MS) and electron capture negative ionization (ECNI) [19]. The method was validated and allows an analysis of SCCP under routine conditions for laboratories [20].

#### 3.3.5 Perfluorinated Compounds (PFC)

In spite of the improvement of the quality in PFC analysis [18], the LOQ achieved with the ISO method 25101 is not sufficient for compliance monitoring in inland and coastal surface waters [14]. To reach LOQs is difficult partly due to blank problems that force to an accurate methodology [21]. However, the EQS for biota is considered more viable.

# 3.3.6 Cypermethrin

One of the most difficult "new" PS is cypermethrin, with an EQS of 80 pg/L (8 pg/L in coastal waters). Although extracting large-volume samples and a strong pre-concentration, sufficiently low LOQs could not be reached [13]. To reach LOQs in the low pg/L concentration range is extremely difficult, if not impossible with current methods [14].

# 3.3.7 Heptachlor/Heptachlor Epoxide

LOQs reported by literature are not sufficient for compliance monitoring (60 fg/L in inland surface waters and 3 fg/L in coastal waters) [14]. These PS can be analyzed in biota (LOQ, 2.01 pg/g) and very difficult to reach even with high-resolution mass spectrometry (HRMS).

Other substances that present problems to reach LOQs required are:

- Aclonifen: 36 ng/L (3.6 ng/L coastal waters)
- *Bifenox*: 3.6 ng/L (0.36 ng/L coastal waters)
- Cybutryne: 0.75 ng/L
- *Quinoxyfen*: 45 ng/L (4.5 ng/L coastal waters)
- Terbutryn: 19.5 ng/L (1.95 ng/L coastal waters)
- Dichlorvos: 0.18 ng/L (18 pg/L coastal waters)
- *Dicofol*: 0.39 ng/L (9.6 pg/L coastal waters)

# 4 Summary

The implementation of WFD in its entirety is not, in our opinion, an easy work. The requirements in terms of EQS and LOQs require the use of most advanced instrumentation, not available in many cases to all laboratories. It is a necessary exercise, as organized by JRC, to harmonize methods and results that bring to establish adequate and realistic EQS and let intercomparison of results between member states.

The watch list mechanism is a good approach to collect high-quality information of emerging pollutants and in consequence set reasonable EQS for which could be included in future revisions of the Directive. Even today, there are many substances which LOQ is difficult if not impossible to reach. Some strategies have been proposed to achieve lower LOQs, for example, extracting higher volumes of water; however, these methodologies are not very useful for WFD compliance monitoring; they are very work intensive and very costly [14]. Although the LOQs obtained by each laboratory depend on their *state of the art* and its instrumentation, they give us a plausible approximation of the outstanding challenges as well as the inconsistencies in the Directive's proposals.

### References

- 1. Directive 2000/60/EC of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for a Community action in the field of water policy. Off J Eur Comm L327
- Directive 2008/105/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 2008 on environmental quality standards in the field of water policy, amending and subsequently repealing Council Directives 82/176/EEC, 83/513/EEC, 84/156/EEC, 84/491/EEC, 86/280/ EEC and amending Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council. Off J Eur Comm L348/84
- Directive 2013/39/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 August 2013 amending Directives 2000/60/EC and 2008/105/EC as regards priority substances in the field of water policy Off J Eur Comm L226/1
- 4. Commission Directive 2009/90/EC of 31 July 2009 laying down, pursuant to Directive 2000/ 60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council, technical specifications for chemical analysis and monitoring of water status. Off J Eur Comm L201/36
- 5. EC (2010) Guidance document no. 25 on chemical monitoring of sediment and biota under the Water Framework Directive. Common implementation strategy for the Water Framework Directive technical report-2010-041
- 6. EC (2011) Guidance document no. 27 on technical guidance for deriving environmental quality standards. Common implementation strategy for the Water Framework Directive technical report-2011-055
- 7. Hanke G et al (2012) Chemical-monitoring on-site exercises to harmonize analytical methods for priority substances in the European Union. Trends Anal Chem 36:25–35
- Hanke G et al. (2009) Comparison of monitoring approaches for selected priority pollutants in surface water CMA on-site 2. JRC scientific and technical reports, EUR 24081 EN-2009.
- 9. U.S. EPA (1994) Method 1613: tetra-through octa-chlorinated dioxins and furans by isotope dilution HRGC/HRMS.
- U.S. EPA (2007) Method 1614: brominated diphenyl ethers in water, soil, sediment and tissue by HRGC/HRMS. EPA-821-R-07-005
- U.S. EPA (1999) Method 1668, revision A: chlorinated biphenyl congeners in water, soil, sediment and tissue by HRGC/HRMS. EPA-821-R-00-002
- U.S. EPA (2007) Method 1694: pharmaceuticals and personal care products in water, soil, sediments and biosolids by HPLC/MS/MS.EPA-821-R-08-002
- Vorkamp K et al (2014) New priority substances of the European Water Framework Directive: biocides, pesticides and brominated flame retardants in the aquatic environment of Denmark. Sci Total Environ 470–471:459–468
- 14. Loos R (2012) Analytical methods relevant to the European Commission's 2012 proposal on priority substances under the Water Framework Directive. JRC scientific and policy reports

- 15. Sargent M, Harrington C, Harte R (eds) (2002) Guidelines for achieving high accuracy in isotope dilution mass spectrometry (IDMS). The Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge
- 16. Planas C et al (2006) Analysis of pesticides and metabolites in Spanish surface waters by isotope dilution gas chromatography/mass spectrometry with previous automated solid-phase extraction. Estimation of the uncertainty of the analytical results. J Chromatogr A 1131: 242–252
- 17. Planas C et al (2006) Analysis of alkyl and 2-6-ringed polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by isotope dilution gas chromatography/ mass spectrometry. Quality assurance and determination in Spanish river sediments. J Chromatogr A 1113:220–230
- Lepom P et al (2009) Needs for reliable analytical methods for monitoring chemical pollutants in surface water under the European Water Framework Directive. J Chromatogr A 1216: 302–315
- Geiβ S et al (2010) Determination of the sum of short chain polychlorinated n-alkanes with a chlorine content of between 49 and 67% in water by GC-ECNI-MS and quantification by multiple linear regression. Clean 38(1):57–76
- 20. Geiβ S et al (2012) Validation interlaboratory trial for ISO 12010: water quality-determination of short-chain polychlorinated alkanes (SCCP) in water. Accred Qual Assur 17(1):15–25
- 21. Flores C et al (2013) Occurrence of perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) and perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) in N.E Spanish surface waters and their removal in a drinking water treatment plant that combines conventional and advanced treatments in parallel lines. Sci Total Environ 461–462:618–626

# Pollutants of Emerging Concern in Rivers of Catalonia: Occurrence, Fate, and Risk

Antoni Ginebreda, Sandra Pérez, Daniel Rivas, Maja Kuzmanovic, and Damià Barceló

**Abstract** The present chapter provides a review of the occurrence, fate, and risk associated to different families or emerging and priority organic micropollutants in the rivers of Catalonia. Compounds belonging to diverse groups such as industrial compounds, perfluoroalkyl substances, pesticides, halogenated flame retardants, pharmaceuticals and hormones, personal care products, and illegal drugs, as well as their transformation products, are examined. Both emission levels from sewage systems and those found at the receiving water bodies are compared. Potential fate and transformation of the parent compounds is taken into consideration. Finally their environmental risk in terms of the associated ecotoxicity with respect to three trophic levels (*Daphnia*, algae, and fish) as recommended by the WFD is assessed. This prioritization exercise allows identifying those micropollutants that are more relevant in Catalonian Rivers.

**Keywords** Ecotoxicity, Emerging contaminants, Prioritization, Risk assessment, Transformation products, Water Framework Directive

D. Barceló

A. Ginebreda (🖂), S. Pérez, D. Rivas, and M. Kuzmanovic

Department of Environmental Chemistry, Institute of Environmental Assessment and Water Research (IDAEA-CSIC), Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain e-mail: agmqam@cid.csic.es

Department of Environmental Chemistry, Institute of Environmental Assessment and Water Research (IDAEA-CSIC), Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), Scientific and Technological Park of the University of Girona, Emili Grahit 101, 17003 Girona, Spain

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 42: 283–320, DOI 10.1007/698\_2015\_348, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 9 July 2015

#### Contents

1	Introduction	284
2	Occurrence of Emerging Pollutants	286
3	Fate and Transformation of Emerging Pollutants in Rivers	295
	3.1 Fate of Emerging Pollutants	295
	3.2 Natural Attenuation	296
4	Risk-Based Prioritization of Organic Microcontaminants	298
	4.1 Definition of Chemical Risk: The Toxic Unit Approach	298
	4.2 Multichemical Risk Assessment	299
	4.3 Prioritization of Compounds of Environmental Concern	300
5	Concluding Remarks	314
Re	ferences	314

# 1 Introduction

Chemical pollution is widely recognized as one of the major threats to aquatic systems [1]. It is a direct consequence of the massive use of chemicals by our technological society (Fig. 1). Thus, for instance, in the European Union, there are more than 100,000 registered chemicals listed by EINECS (the European Inventory of Existing Commercial Chemical Substances) that may be considered of common industrial and/or domestic use (Fig. 1). Up to 30,000 of those compounds may be considered of concern and are subjected to the new REACH legislation [2]. Depending on their physical-chemical properties, amounts produced, and mode of use, many of these compounds may enter the natural waters through sewage water discharge, surface runoff from agricultural fields, atmosphere deposition, accidental spills, etc. On the other hand, many of these compounds are not properly eliminated by conventional wastewater treatment plants and are being continuously released as a part of the effluent. Contrastingly, up to now only a small fraction (i.e., 45 compounds) of those potential pollutants is covered by the so-called WFD list of "priority pollutants" (Directive 2013/39/UE) [3] for which Environmental Quality Standards (EQS) are fixed. Even though the list of priority pollutants is subjected to periodic update, the imbalance between the numbers of regulated and potential pollutants seems still disproportionate. On the other hand, the WFD states the obligation to identify pollutants of regional or local importance and provide EQS, monitoring schemes and management measures for them. This means that Member States need to decide which of the candidate substances for further investigation are and which of them are selected (prioritized) to be declared as river basin-specific pollutants [4, 5].

As a whole one can conclude that chemicals that are being routinely monitored on a regular basis by the responsible water authorities cover only a small fraction of all the chemicals present in the environment [6]. Many unregulated, emerging contaminants that are identified in the aquatic environment may have a significant impact on the aquatic ecosystems and require special attention [7]. Albeit, they are



Fig. 1 Water phase concentration ranges of different emerging contaminant classes in the Llobregat River basin (IOCs, industrial organic compounds; PhACs, pharmaceuticals and hormones; PFCs, perfluoroalkyl compounds; PCPs, personal care products). For each family, whiskers correspond to quartiles 100 and 25 and upper and bottom boxes bounds to quartiles 75 and 50, respectively

usually present in very low concentrations (i.e., from pg/L to µg/L) because the improvement of analytical techniques, number, and frequency of detections of emerging contaminants is continuously growing [8]. It is worth noting that emerging environmental contaminants are not necessarily new chemicals. Actually they may be substances that have been present in the environment for a long time but whose potentially adverse effects on human health and the environment are only recently being recognized [4]. A further feature characterizing these compounds is related to the fact that owing to their high consumption and continuous introduction thereof into the environment, they need not be necessarily persistent to cause adverse effects [9].

As a consequence, the occurrence of emerging contaminants in the aquatic environment has been the object of many studies carried out in the context of research projects or as part of investigative monitoring by the responsible water authorities. In the next sections, we provide an overview of those performed in the Catalan River District [10, 11]. It is worth noting that among all the rivers located in the Catalan district, the Llobregat River deserved special attention, thus concentrating a major part of the studies about emerging contaminants carried out in the district [11]. Two reasons explain this choice: first of all, it can be considered a case study representative of Mediterranean rivers in terms of hydrologic behavior and climate conditions and, second, because it is located close to the Barcelona area where most of the population and industry of the region is settled, thus playing a key role in the local water cycle both as supply source and effluent receiving body.

# 2 Occurrence of Emerging Pollutants

There are several groups or families of emerging pollutants which result from either industrial, household, or agriculture use. They include halogenated flame retardants, water disinfection by-products, gasoline additives, hormones and other endocrine disruption products, pharmaceuticals, personal care products, perfluoroalkyl substances, illegal drugs, polar pesticides, organometallics, siloxanes, surfactants, plasticizers, antioxidants, corrosion inhibitors, and a variety of industrial compounds as well as other new materials recently identified as pollutants of concern such as nanomaterials or microplastics [12].

Table 1 provides some selected references concerning the different studies that have been carried out in the Catalan River District. They encompass those referred to the receiving water bodies (rivers) as well as those addressed to characterize the emissions from WWTPs. As mentioned, the majority of them were carried out in the Llobregat basin, followed by the Ebro and in much less extent in others (Ter, Besós, etc.). In general most of the studies reported are focused on the specific families of pollutants, being the comparison among the various ones not straightforward.

The most comprehensive and recent survey of emerging contaminants available in the Catalan River District was carried out in the Llobregat River in the context of the national-funded research project SCARCE-CONSOLIDER [59]. In the course of this project, the occurrence (concentration levels) of 199 organic micropollutants belonging to different groups of priority and emerging contaminants were measured in the main river and tributaries along two campaigns (2010 and 2011) [13]. They included pesticides (39), pharmaceuticals and hormones (89), perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) (21), industrial compounds (14), drugs of abuse (19), and personal care products (17). 158 out of the 199 compounds analyzed showed nonzero levels. As regards the various substance classes concerned, industrial compounds  $(10^3 - 10^4 \text{ ng L}^{-1})$  were the dominant group both in terms of whole class and on a singlecompound basis (Fig. 1).

Pharmaceuticals  $(10^1-10^3 \text{ ng } \text{L}^{-1})$  were the second one, while personal care products, pesticides, perfluoroalkyl substances, and illegal drugs showed concentrations approximately one order of magnitude less (Fig. 1). Maximum and mean concentrations measured in the water phase for the individual micropollutants monitored are reported in Table 2.

Industrial compounds are dominated by triazoles (benzotriazole and tolyltriazole) employed in industry as anticorrosion agents (concentrations in the range of 500 to 5,000 ng L<sup>-1</sup>), followed by bisphenol A (90–650 ng L<sup>-1</sup>), some trialkyl phosphates used as flame retardants, and the group of alkylphenols (nonylphenol and octylphenol) and some related ethoxylated derivatives, all of them resulting from the biodegradation of the corresponding polyethoxylated compounds used as tensioactives, both in industry and household (range 10– 1,000 ng L<sup>-1</sup>). Nonylphenol monocarboxylate (NP1EC) is the dominating compound in that class (ca. 200–1,000 ng L<sup>-1</sup>). It is worth mentioning that both

 Table 1
 Selected references related to studies about emerging and priority contaminants performed in the Catalan River District

Compound Class	Environment	River Basin	References
Various	River	Ebro	[13]
		Llobregat	[14]
		Ter	[15, 16]
	WWTP	Ebro	[13]
		Ter	[15]
		Other rivers	[17, 18]
Halogenated flame retardants	River	Ebro	[19–22]
		Llobregat	[19–21, 23]
	WWTP	Ebro	[19]
		Other rivers	[17]
Endocrine disruptors	River	Ebro	[13, 24, 25]
		Llobregat	[13, 24–26]
		Ter	[15]
	WWTP	Llobregat	[26–28]
		Other rivers	[16]
		Ter	[15]
Illicit drugs	River	Ebro	[13, 29, 30]
		Llobregat	[13, 27, 28]
	WWTP	Ebro	[29, 30]
		Llobregat	[27, 28, 31, 32]
Perfluoroalkyl substances	River	Ebro	[13, 24]
		Llobregat	[13, 24, 33, 34]
	WWTP	Llobregat	[33, 34]
Personal care products	River	Ebro	[13]
		Llobregat	[13, 35, 36]
	WWTP	Other rivers	[17, 35, 36]
Pesticides	River	Ebro	[13, 37–42]
		Llobregat	[13, 27, 28, 43–46]
	WWTP	Llobregat	[27, 28]
		Other rivers	[17, 47]
Pharmaceuticals	River	Ebro	[13, 24, 48–51]
		Llobregat	[13, 24, 26, 45, 52–54]
	WWTP	Ebro	[49–51]
		Llobregat	[26–28]
		Other rivers	[17, 18, 55, 56]
Nanomaterials (fullerenes)	River	Llobregat	[57]
	WWTP	Llobregat	[57]
Siloxanes	River	Llobregat	[58]
	WWTP	Llobregat	[58]

Table 2Mean and maximum water concentrations of emerging contaminants classified per<br/>classes found in the Llobregat River basin in 2010–2011 (project SCARCE-CONSOLIDER [13,<br/>59])

	Concentration	$(ng L^{-1})^a$
Compound	Mean	Max
Industrial organic compounds		
Octylphenol (OP)	7.04	84.73
Octylphenol diethoxylate (OP2EO)	7.35	32.84
Octylphenol monocarboxylate(OP1EC)	0.04	1.25
Octylphenol monoethoxylate (OP1EO)	bld	bld
Nonylphenol (NP)	15.58	116.34
Nonylphenol monoethoxylate (NP1EO)	bld	bld
Nonylphenol diethoxylate (NP2EO)	41.50	287.67
Nonylphenol monocarboxylate (NP1EC)	212.18	989.53
Tolyltriazole (TT)	537.91	7,017.67
Tris(2-chloroethyl) phosphate (TCEP)	31.44	232.40
Tris(butoxyethyl) phosphate (TBEP)	81.45	315.08
Tris(chloroisopropyl) phosphate (TCCP)	218.93	1,117.27
1H-Benzotriazole (BT)	317.40	1,622.99
Bisphenol A (BPA)	89.21	649.35
Pesticides	·	
3-Hydroxycarbofuran	bld	bld
Acetochlor	bld	bld
Alachlor	bld	bld
Atrazine	0.59	6.44
Azinphos-ethyl	0.47	3.43
Azinphos-methyl	0.55	8.69
Buprofezin	0.24	4.38
Carbofuran	1.28	6.75
Chlorfenvinphos	0.24	3.48
Chlorpyrifos	4.63	13.65
Deisopropylatrazine	bld	bld
Desethylatrazine	bld	bld
Diazinon	5.72	35.77
Dichlofenthion	bld	bld
Dimethoate	3.11	71.91
Diuron	14.67	159.53
Ethion	0.46	7.10
Fenitrothion	1.69	47.39
Fenoxon	bld	bld
Fenoxon sulfone	0.17	1.76
Fenoxon sulfoxide	bld	bld
Hexythiazox	0.93	24.00
Imazalil	1.59	6.33
Imidacloprid	9.04	66.53

	Concentration (ng L	, <sup>-1</sup> ) <sup>a</sup>
Compound	Mean	Max
Isoproturon	1.53	9.60
Malathion	0.79	9.13
Methiocarb	0.21	3.23
Metolachlor	1.00	12.96
Molinate	bld	bld
Omethoate	bld	bld
Parathion-ethyl	bld	bld
Parathion-methyl	bld	bld
Prochloraz	0.35	9.87
Propanil	bld	bld
Propazine	0.90	8.77
Pyriproxyfen	0.06	1.72
Simazine	3.66	45.77
Terbutryn	2.20	23.37
Tolclofos-methyl	bld	bld
Pharmaceuticals and hormones		
Phenazone	1.14	9.53
Propyphenazone	1.96	24.40
Oxycodone	0.83	4.35
Codeine	3.95	44.07
Hydrocodone	0.31	3.56
Acetaminophen	23.02	142.89
Ibuprofen	45.29	179.31
Indomethacin	6.70	63.72
Diclofenac	28.80	280.00
Ketoprofen	33.55	153.09
Naproxen	20.41	90.53
Piroxicam	0.63	4.32
Meloxicam	0.06	1.58
Tenoxicam	bld	bld
Erythromycin	0.88	12.66
Azithromycin	2.36	12.20
Clarithromycin	1.76	28.33
Tetracycline	0.61	17.01
Sulfamethoxazole	2.75	41.91
Trimethoprim	11.85	150.43
Metronidazole	0.92	10.07
Metronidazole-OH	1.63	6.20
Ofloxacin	4.82	43.55
Ciprofloxacin	1.61	20.00
Cephalexin	2.45	5.08

#### Table 2 (continued)

Compound         Mean         Max           Bezafibrate         3.48         24.55           Gemfibrozil         71.54         302.67           Pravastatin         1.44         7.82           Fluvastatin         0.37         3.90           Atorvastatin         2.53         5.75           Loratadine         0.78         4.29           Desloratadine         4.45         10.27           Rantidine         1.64         18.44		Concentration (ng L <sup>-1</sup> ) <sup>a</sup>	
Bezafibrate       3.48       24.55         Gemfibrozil       71.54       302.67         Pravastatin       1.44       7.82         Fluvastatin       0.37       3.90         Atorvastatin       2.53       5.75         Loratadine       0.78       4.29         Desloratadine       4.45       10.27         Ranitidine       1.64       18.44	Compound	Mean	Max
Gemfibrozil       71.54       302.67         Pravastatin       1.44       7.82         Fluvastatin       0.37       3.90         Atorvastatin       2.53       5.75         Loratadine       0.78       4.29         Desloratadine       4.45       10.27         Ranitidine       1.64       18.44	Bezafibrate	3.48	24.55
Pravastatin         1.44         7.82           Fluvastatin         0.37         3.90           Atorvastatin         2.53         5.75           Loratadine         0.78         4.29           Desloratadine         4.45         10.27           Ranitidine         1.64         18.44	Gemfibrozil	71.54	302.67
Fluvastatin         0.37         3.90           Atorvastatin         2.53         5.75           Loratadine         0.78         4.29           Desloratadine         4.45         10.27           Ranitidine         1.64         18.44	Pravastatin	1.44	7.82
Atorvastatin         2.53         5.75           Loratadine         0.78         4.29           Desloratadine         4.45         10.27           Ranitidine         1.64         18.44	Fluvastatin	0.37	3.90
Loratadine         0.78         4.29           Desloratadine         4.45         10.27           Ranitidine         1.64         18.44	Atorvastatin	2.53	5.75
Desloratadine4.4510.27Ranitidine1.6418.44Ranitidine1.6418.44	Loratadine	0.78	4.29
Ranitidine 1.64 18.44	Desloratadine	4.45	10.27
	Ranitidine	1.64	18.44
Famotidine 0.00 bld	Famotidine	0.00	bld
Cimetidine 1.25 19.42	Cimetidine	1.25	19.42
Atenolol 19.54 331.58	Atenolol	19.54	331.58
Sotalol 10.32 223.81	Sotalol	10.32	223.81
Metoprolol 16.58 295.56	Metoprolol	16.58	295.56
Propanolol 2.36 12.41	Propanolol	2.36	12.41
Nadolol 2.91 4.82	Nadolol	2.91	4.82
Enalapril 1.04 10.22	Enalapril	1.04	10.22
Enalaprilat 19.66 91.20	Enalaprilat	19.66	91.20
Diltiazem 4.19 31.80	Diltiazem	4.19	31.80
Irbesartan 15.50 141.10	Irbesartan	15.50	141.10
Losartan 17.85 126.88	Losartan	17.85	126.88
Valsartan 62.99 698.90	Valsartan	62.99	698.90
Torasemide 1.47 9.43	Torasemide	1.47	9.43
Fluoxetine 2.15 9.46	Fluoxetine	2.15	9.46
Norfluoxetine 2.55 4.42	Norfluoxetine	2.55	4.42
Paroxetine 5.52 12.46	Paroxetine	5.52	12.46
Diazepam 2.30 35.51	Diazepam	2.30	35.51
Lorazepam 18.44 187.87	Lorazepam	18.44	187.87
Alprazolam 0.72 4.98	Alprazolam	0.72	4.98
Carbamazepine 7.41 64.04	Carbamazepine	7.41	64.04
Sertraline 10.95 144.87	Sertraline	10.95	144.87
Citalopram 3.22 31.83	Citalopram	3.22	31.83
Venlafaxine 12.55 127.62	Venlafaxine	12.55	127.62
Olanzapine 8.02 20.19	Olanzapine	8.02	20.19
Trazodone 3.36 34.27	Trazodone	3.36	34.27
Albendazole 1.72 5.11	Albendazole	1.72	5.11
Thiabendazole2.3512.92	Thiabendazole	2.35	12.92
Levamisole 4.90 37.85	Levamisole	4.90	37.85
Dimetridazole 3.14 18.39	Dimetridazole	3.14	18.39
Ronidazole bld bld	Ronidazole	bld	bld
Xylazine 0.17 1.10	Xylazine	0.17	1.10
Carazolol 2.67 6.43	Carazolol	2.67	6.43

#### Table 2 (continued)

290

	Concentration (ng L	$(1^{-1})^{a}$
Compound	Mean	Max
Azaperone	0.26	7.18
Azaperol	0.08	2.19
Dexamethasone	0.76	4.85
Hydrochlorothiazide	128.28	793.33
Furosemide	34.20	296.47
Glibenclamide	0.33	4.61
Warfarin	0.51	1.20
Acridone	4.04	42.73
Tamsulosin	0.23	0.67
Salbutamol	1.40	16.82
Amlodipine	1.80	23.52
Clopidogrel	2.86	17.98
Iopromide	67.58	1,370.37
Diethylstilbestrol (DES)	bld	bld
Estradiol (E2)	0.62	2.17
Estradiol 17-glucuronide (E2-17G)	bld	bld
Estriol (E3)	0.20	5.69
Estriol 16-glucuronide (E3-16G)	bld	bld
Estriol 3-sulfate (E3-3S)	0.46	12.78
Estrone (E1)	0.92	6.21
Estrone 3-glucuronide (E1-3G)	0.14	4.03
Estrone 3-sulfate (E1-3S)	bld	bld
Ethinyl estradiol (EE2)	bld	bld
Caffeine	208.99	1,220.90
Perfluorinated compounds		
L-PFOS	117.70	2,708.71
L-PFHxS	3.71	33.18
PFBA	10.15	111.17
PFPeA	0.51	5.26
PFHxA	1.27	25.15
PFHpA	3.16	30.93
PFOA	11.10	146.40
PFNA	2.00	52.36
i,p-PFNA	0.02	0.19
PFDA	2.34	54.31
PFUdA	0.32	3.65
PFDoA	0.56	7.92
PFTrDA	0.91	9.75
PFTeDA	0.77	7.59
PFHxDA	0.16	4.25
PFODA	bld	bld

#### Table 2 (continued)

	Concentration (ng L	, <sup>-1</sup> ) <sup>a</sup>
Compound	Mean	Max
L-PFBS	2.82	25.69
L-PFHpS	bld	bld
L-pPFNS	1.23	12.00
L-PFDS	0.06	0.82
PFOSA	bld	bld
Personal care products		
2,2'-Dihydroxy-4-methoxybenzophenone (DHMB)	bld	bld
4,4'-Dihydroxybenzophenone (4DHB)	5.97	153.00
4-Hydroxybenzophenone (4HB)	0.06	1.70
4-Methylbenzylidene camphor (4MBC)	1.16	9.30
Benzophenone-1 (BP1)	1.69	15.40
Benzophenone-2 (BP2)	bld	bld
Benzophenone-3 (BP3)	3.49	44.10
Ethyl 4-aminobenzoate (Et-PABA)	bld	bld
Ethylhexyl dimethyl PABA (OD-PABA)	0.18	2.10
Ethylhexyl methoxycinnamate (EHMC)	3.39	41.00
Octocrylene (OC)	2.18	27.00
Triclocarban	bld	bld
Triclosan	1.04	13.63
Propylparaben	3.58	20.21
Benzylparaben	0.99	6.69
Ethylparaben	4.10	40.69
Methylparaben	5.38	50.94
Illicit drugs	·	
(-)-9-THC	bld	bld
(±)-11-hydroxy-THC	bld	bld
(±)-11-nor-9-carboxy-9-THC	bld	bld
(±)-Amphetamine	bld	bld
(±)-EDDP perchlorate	8.63	49.50
(±)-MDMA	8.76	56.80
(±)-Methadone hydrochloride	3.51	20.00
(±)-Methamphetamine	0.09	0.38
1S,2R (+)-Ephedrine	12.80	88.60
2-oxo-3-hydroxy LSD	bld	bld
6-Acetylmorphine	bld	bld
Benzoylecgonine	11.06	44.00
Cannabidiol	bld	bld
Cannabinol	bld	bld
Cocaethylene	bld	bld
Cocaine	3.62	23.80
Heroin	bld	bld

Table 2 (continued)

	Concentration $(ng L^{-1})^a$	
Compound	Mean	Max
LSD	bld	bld
Morphine	0.49	3.02

Table 2 (continued)	Table	e 2	(contin	ued)
---------------------	-------	-----	---------	------

bld below limit of detection

nonylphenol and octylphenol are included in the WFD priority list (*Directive 2013/ 39/UE*) due to their proved endocrine disrupting activity.

Perfluoroalkyl substances are largely used by industry and are present in consumer products as well. Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and perfluorooctane carboxylic acid (PFOA) are of much concern. Remarkably PFOS has been recently included in the list of priority compounds of the WFD (*Directive 2013/39/UE*). Among the perfluoroalkyl compounds monitored, these were too the most relevant, showing maximum concentration levels of up to 2,700 ng L<sup>-1</sup> and 150 ng L<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, for PFOS and PFOA.

Occurrence of pharmaceuticals is closely related to the population distribution. Thus, 81 pharmaceuticals and hormones out of the 89 analyzed belonging to different therapeutical classes have been positively detected in the Llobregat River basin, being their corresponding mean concentrations up to 100 ng L<sup>-1</sup> depending on the compounds. Those showing higher levels were the diuretic hydrochlorothiazide and the anti-inflammatories ibuprofen, diclofenac, and ketoprofen, followed by the antilipidemic agent gemfibrozil and the antihypertension agent valsartan. Other anti-inflammatories such as acetaminophen, naproxen, and codeine; the antilipidemic bezafibrate; the beta-blockers atenolol, sotalol, metoprolol, and nadolol or the ACE inhibitor enalaprilat; the antibiotics ofloxacin and trimethoprim; or psychiatric drugs carbamazepine and lorazepam follow next. In general, they are consistent with their respective consumption. Estrogenic hormones such as estradiol (E2), estriol (E3), and its sulfate conjugate and estrone are found at concentration levels in the range of 1–10 ng L<sup>-1</sup>.

Despite that pesticides are not the most relevant group in terms of concentration (average ranges per single compound of  $1-10 \text{ ng L}^{-1}$  with peaks up to 100 ng L<sup>-1</sup> for few of them) (Table 1), from the environmental point of view, they are certainly the group causing more risk to the aquatic ecosystems due to their inherent toxic properties (see next Section "Risk Assessment and Prioritization"). Actually 25 out of the 39 pesticide compounds (insecticides and herbicides) analyzed were positively identified in the Llobregat basin, being the most relevant the herbicides diuron, terbutryn, and simazine (included in the WFD priority list) and the insecticides diazinon, dimethoate, fenitrothion, and malathion.

Personal care products monitored included UV filters (11), disinfectants (2), and antioxidants (parabens) (4). Top compounds are methyl- and propylparabens, triclosan (disinfectant), and UV filters benzophenone-3, 4,4-'-dihydroxybenzophenone (4DHB), and ethylhexyl methoxycinnamate (EHMC), all of them showing maximum concentrations in the range of ca. 10–100 ng L<sup>-1</sup>.



Fig. 2 Distribution of emerging contaminant classes along the Llobregat basin (circle sizes are proportional to overall concentrations)

Drugs of abuse analyzed included 19 substances (parent compounds and metabolites) corresponding to several subfamilies such as cannabinoids, lysergic acid derivatives, cocainics, amphetaminics, and opioids. Among the compounds detected, the most relevant compounds were amphetaminics EDDP, MDMA (ecstasy) and ephedrine (used also as pharmaceutical), methadone, cocaine, and its metabolite benzoylecgonine.

Finally it is worth mentioning the case of caffeine, which strictly speaking is not included in none of the abovementioned families. It is originated by population consumption of coffee, tea and soft drinks and discharged into river from WWTP where it is only partially eliminated. Caffeine is thus a convenient tracer of urban pollution. Even though it is not expected to cause acute effects in the aquatic ecosystem, it is frequently detected at variable concentrations (mean of 200 ng  $L^{-1}$ and maximum of 1200 ng  $L^{-1}$ ).

As regards the spatial distribution of pollution along the basin (Fig. 2), as expected it tends to increase downstream, particularly in the surroundings of the Barcelona where most of the industry and population of the basin is concentrated (up to 4,000,000 inhabitants, of which approximately 1,500,000 discharge their treated wastewater in the basin). Nevertheless, there are some other "hot spots" located in other sites, notably the Anoia tributary nearby the town of Igualada where industrial activity is relevant as well.

# **3** Fate and Transformation of Emerging Pollutants in Rivers

# 3.1 Fate of Emerging Pollutants

Emerging pollutants can reach the surface waters via different routes and are then transported, distributed, and transformed (Fig. 3). The physicochemical properties of the pollutants, such as water solubility, vapor pressure, and polarity determine their behavior in rivers. The major sources of environmentally relevant contaminants of emerging concern are primarily WWTP effluents which receive inputs from households and industry and secondarily terrestrial runoffs (roofs, pavement roads, agricultural land) and also the direct application (in case of pesticides) as well as atmospheric deposition. A special group of emerging pollutants are human and veterinary pharmaceuticals which after consumption may enter in the WWTPs already transformed [60]. To some extent pharmaceuticals and their human metabolites pass through the WWTP and consequently can enter rivers or surface waters. In addition, pharmaceuticals can reach surface waters by runoff from fields amended with digested sewage sludge or manure from farms. Another group of emerging pollutants which enter to surface waters from WWTPs are personal care products like fragrances which are discharged through shower waste. One of the groups with most proved potential adverse effects on the environment is alkylphenol ethoxylates (APEO) and nonylphenol (NP) because nonylphenol ethoxylates (NPEO) degrade to NP which presents endocrine disruption properties. They are nonionic surfactants that have been used extensively in cleaning products and industrial processes. More than 90% of APEO produced worldwide are NPEO. Nonylphenol and NPEO are commonly present in WWTPs due to their extensive domestic and industrial use, and as a result, APEO and nonylphenol are found in surface water, suspended particulate material, and sediments [61]. Pesticides are extensively used worldwide both in rural and urban applications, and they enter into



Fig. 3 Fate and transformation of organic micropollutants in the aquatic environment

surface waters after their application. Perfluorinated compounds (PFCs) are another relevant group of pollutants of emerging concern [62, 63]. This class includes perfluorooctane sulfonate and perfluorooctanoic acid in addition to a large number of other structurally related compounds. Because perfluorocarbons and perfluoro-sulfonic acids are very stable, they sooner or later turn up in the environment, especially in surface waters.

# 3.2 Natural Attenuation

Once the pollutants of emerging concern reach rivers, their concentrations may decrease by both natural and artificial processes (Fig. 3); the latter includes the reuse of surface water recharging aquifers for drinking water purposes. Natural processes can be classified as biological or physicochemical. Physical processes include physical dispersion and dilution which do not chemically alter the pollutant structure, but their concentrations may be mitigated one order of magnitude below the concentrations detected in the WWTP effluent [64]. These dilution processes occur mainly in areas with large rivers, which upon receiving wastewater contaminated with drug residues may dilute their concentration. In contrast, in a recent study comparing the concentration of pharmaceuticals in the treated WWTP effluent and the receiving surface waters of Ebro River, they were almost the same (concentrations of drugs were in the range of hundreds of ng  $L^{-1}$ ) indicating almost no dilution of the WWTP effluent [65]. Volatilization is another important factor in the removal of organic compounds from a river process which depends on the physicochemical properties of the substance, mostly its vapor pressure. The pollutants end up into the air from resuspension process of particles found in the sediments/soils or sludge or directly from volatilization from water. Recent study shows the presence of drugs of abuse in particulate matter originating from resuspension into the air of these substances when they are used in the powder form [66]. The concentrations of cocaine ranged from 204 to 480 pg/m<sup>3</sup>, tetrahydrocannabinol from 27 to 44 pg/m<sup>3</sup>, amphetamine from 1.4 to 2.3 pg/m<sup>3</sup>, and heroine from 9 to 143 pg/m<sup>3</sup> [66]. In addition, particulate matter from the sediment can transport pollutants of emerging concern along the river (Fig. 3). Recently, in a scientific paper, 31 drugs were detected in the Ebro River particulate from different classes of compounds, i.e., anti-inflammatories and analgesics followed the B-antagonists and antibiotics which were the most detected classes of compounds [65]. For example, in this study, maximum concentrations of paracetamol in particulate matter were 657 ng  $L^{-1}$  (the concentration was calculated in the particulate matter percolating 1 L of water), 442 ng  $L^{-1}$  of ibuprofen, and 95 ng  $L^{-1}$  of the antibiotic clarithromycin. In contrast, sediments presented lower concentrations of the target drugs, as in the case of acetaminophen which showed peak concentrations of 222 ng  $L^{-1}$  or ibuprofen (maximum concentration of 20.9 ng  $L^{-1}$ ) or clarithromycin of 3.75 ng  $L^{-1}$  [65]. In this study the distribution of the drugs between the aqueous phase and the particulate matter was also calculated, showing that 30% of the 43 detected drugs were at measurable levels in the particulate phase. In this case, basic compounds ( $pK_a > 7$ ) such as famotidine, timolol, and nadolol had a higher tendency to bind to the particulate phase [65].

Regarding the degradation of emerging pollutants in rivers, the two most important processes are photolysis and biodegradation. Photolysis is the breakdown of a substance by the effect of light. This *abiotic transformation process* can be direct photochemical degradation and/or by a wide array of indirect photochemical pathways, including reaction with singlet oxygen  $({}^{1}O_{2})$ , hydroxyl radical ( ${}^{\bullet}OH$ ), peroxy radicals (OOR), photo-excited organic matter, and other reactive species [67]. To evaluate these processes in a river, usually laboratory studies are performed in a first stage, and then in the next step studies are conducted directly in the natural environment. For instance, this approach was used in the evaluation of the photolysis of antiviral oseltamivir and its human metabolite, oseltamivir ester, in water samples from the Ebro River [68]. To this end, first a photodegradation study of the two compounds in different aqueous matrices was carried out at lab scale and then was evaluated, and the photolysis of the two target compounds was assessed at natural scale. To this end, surface water samples were spiked individually with the prodrug oseltamivir ester and oseltamivir carboxylate and then photodegraded in a sunlight simulator (Suntest) allowing to identify several transformation products (TPs). Therefore, several surface water samples from the Ebro River were taken and analyzed for oseltamivir, its human metabolite, and their TPs. Of the TPs identified in the lab, two were detected in these samples providing evidence for photolysis and thus underpinning the importance of natural attenuation processes in rivers [9]. In another study on the photolysis of six iodinated X-ray contrast media in the Llobregat River, fewer TPs were detected in the natural river water than in the sunlight simulator (11%). In the photolysis experiments, 108 TPs were detected. Then real samples were taken in the Llobregat River, and only 11 priority TPs were detected in the river water samples [69]. Photolytic reactions are often complex pathways leading to multiple reaction products, TPs. These TPs can be more toxic than the parent compound [70] or retain the pharmacological properties (i.e., antibiotic activity) as demonstrated for some dehydrated products of tetracyclines [71] and photodegradation products of the fluoroquinolone antibiotic ofloxacin [72].

Another important process for the natural attenuation of pollutants of emerging concern in rivers are catabolic biodegradation processes involving microorganisms, algae, yeast, and fungi which may partially or completely decompose organic compounds. Like in the phototransformation processes, the biodegradation TPs can be more toxic than the parent compound as in the case of NPEO; their degradation yields nonylphenol which is persistent in the aquatic environment and toxic to aquatic organisms [73].

To date, no studies of the biodegradation of emerging pollutants in the Spanish rivers have been published; however, reports are available from other countries like the USA [74]. In this study, declining levels of the chiral drug atenolol along a river were observed. As this went along with a change in the enantiomeric fraction, biodegradation was postulated, while photodegradation was ruled out. Many

organic compounds are biodegraded by organisms that utilize them as energy source. Another important biodegradation process is cometabolism in which an organic compound is modified but not utilized for growth [75]. Whereas some compounds can evade photochemical reactions because they are not exposed to sunlight (e.g., when they are adsorbed onto particles or in the subsurface), microbial transformation processes constitute the dominant attenuation mechanism of emerging compounds. Plants and animals have some capabilities of detoxifying or excreting contaminants after uptake; however, accumulation in adipose tissue or the lack of appropriate enzyme systems necessary for biotransformation can hamper elimination of the contaminants. For instance, although PFCs are characterized by their high stability in the environment, they are subject to metabolism/degradation that leads to the formation of different metabolites [76, 77].

### 4 Risk-Based Prioritization of Organic Microcontaminants

Risk is broadly defined as the combination (i.e., product) of a probability of occurrence of some event by its associated hazard effects:

Risk = Occurrence  $\times$  Adverse Effects.

Correspondingly, the risk assessment process may be defined as the set of procedures aiming to identify hazards and to quantify the associated risk (in our case, related to chemicals) concerning human health and/or ecosystems impairment. In the case of the environmental risk posed by chemicals, "adverse effects" are related to the intrinsic harmful properties of each compound [5], typically persistence, bioaccumulation, and toxicity, being the latter the most relevant. On the other hand, "occurrence" is associated to its environmental exposure, usually expressed in terms of environmental concentration, which in turn can be either measured (MEC) or predicted (PEC) through modeling. Different risk assessment approaches have been developed in order to identify and rank compounds of environmental concern for both regulatory and monitoring purposes.

#### 4.1 Definition of Chemical Risk: The Toxic Unit Approach

To assess the environmental risk of detected compounds from an ecotoxicological perspective, the toxic unit (TU) approach [78] is commonly used. TU is defined as the ratio of the compound's measured concentration ( $C_i$ ) with respect to a certain toxicity reference value (Eq. 1):

Pollutants of Emerging Concern in Rivers of Catalonia: Occurrence, Fate, and...

$$TU_{i \text{ (algae, Daphnia s p., fish)}} = \frac{C_i}{C_i(\text{re f})},$$
(1)

where  $TU_i$  is the toxic unit of a compound *i* corresponding to a measured concentration  $C_i$  (typically in ng L<sup>-1</sup>) in the water phase and  $C_i$ (ref) is an ecotoxicity reference concentration. Typically EC50 or LC50 (effect or lethal concentration for 50% of individuals) for standard test organisms is used for acute risk, whereas PNEC (predicted no-effect concentration) is preferred for chronic risk estimation. In the later case, TU are commonly referred in the literature as "hazard quotients" (HQ). Correspondingly  $TU \ge 1$  (or  $HQ \ge 1$ ) would indicate a situation of potential risk of either acute or chronic ecotoxicity, respectively. In order to be representative from the ecological point of view, TU for different trophic levels should be calculated. Following the recommendations of the WFD algae, *Daphnia* sp. and fish are usually used.

# 4.2 Multichemical Risk Assessment

In real-world scenarios, contaminants rarely occur alone. Instead, they usually appear as mixtures of many compounds being their combined effects difficult to predict (i.e., synergies or antagonistic effects may take place). Therefore, toxicological effects caused by mixtures must be taken into consideration in RA studies. Mixture toxicity is a complex question and is a topic of active research. Interested readers are referred to recently published reviews [79, 80]. Specifically, in aquatic ecotoxicology, two different conceptual models, respectively, known as concentration addition (CA) [81] and *independent action* (IA) [82], are considered to describe general relationships between the effects of single substances and their corresponding mixtures, for similarly and dissimilarly acting chemicals, respectively [83]. The concentration addition model is founded on the assumption that mixture components each possess a similar pharmacological mode of action and thus is most applicable for toxic substances that have the same molecular target site .The alternative model of independent action or response addition assumes that mixture components possess dissimilar modes of action, interacting with different target sites, leading to a common toxicological endpoint via distinct chains or reactions within an organism.

The mixture effects for both CA and IA modes of action are respectively given below [80]:

Concentration addition (CA):

$$EC50_{Mix} = \sum_{i} \frac{c_i}{EC50_i},$$
(2)

where  $c_i$  is the concentration of component *i*, EC50<sub>*i*</sub> is the toxicity of compound *i* expressed as EC50, and EC50<sub>Mix</sub> indicates the toxicity of the whole mixture expressed as EC50. EC50<sub>Mix</sub> is often referred as "toxic unit summation" (TUS) and the individual terms "toxic units" (TU) [78], Eq. (1) thus becoming:

$$TUS = \sum_{i} TU_{i}.$$
 (3)

Independent action (IA):

$$E(c_{\text{Mix}}) = 1 - \prod_{i=1}^{n} [1 - E(c_i)], \qquad (4)$$

where  $E(c_{\text{Mix}})$  indicates the effect of a mixture of *n*-compounds,  $c_i$  is the concentration of the *i*th compound, and  $E(c_i)$  is the effect of that concentration if the compound is applied singly.

Whereas both models have been proved acceptable if the corresponding mechanistic assumptions are fulfilled, since exact modes of action are often unknown for many compounds, both CA and IA must be regarded as two special extreme cases [84, 85] defining a frame where real values are contained. In practice, both models have been more or less successfully applied, being the results obtained with both of them not very different, with CA tending to overestimate and IA to underestimate toxicity in controlled experiments [86, 87]. For both simplicity of calculation and precautionary reasons, CA is usually the recommended method in a first-tier approach [80].

Table 3 summarizes a number of studies carried out in the different basins of the Catalan district.

### 4.3 Prioritization of Compounds of Environmental Concern

In some of the articles reported in Table 3, there are indications about what are the most relevant compounds in each specific case. However, in order to provide a more general approach for prioritization purposes, a "*ranking index*" (RI) was developed [13] which is a slight modification of that developed by von der Ohe et al. [88]. It is applicable to every compound on a certain area of study (here a river basin) and considers both the toxic units (TU) of the compound and its distribution in the area studied. To this end, six log TU ranges or classes were arbitrarily defined, which cover the typical occurrence values found in environmental samples. Rank frequencies  $f_x$  expressed as the fraction of sites (as a percentage) in the river basin where log TU of the compound belongs to the specific rank class x are determined in the Eq. (5):

Pollutants			
considered	Area/data source	Scope/remarks	References
Classical and prior- ity contaminants	Llobregat River basin Data from the Catalan Water Agency col- lected for regulatory purposes	Risk assessment methodology: toxic units (TUS) based on <i>Daphnia</i> toxicity. TU values were compared with measured effects in transplanted <i>D. magna</i> individuals Compounds assessed: 7 types of contaminant assessed (copper, zinc, triazines, polycyclic aro- matic hydrocarbons, organo- chlorine compounds, alkylphenols, organophosphorus pesticides), only the last group was likely to affect aquatic arthropods having similar sensi- tivities as <i>D. magna</i>	Damasio et al. [90]
Classical and prior- ity contaminants	Catalonian river basins Data from the Catalan Water Agency col- lected for regulatory purposes (1997– 2004)	Risk assessment methodology: COMMPS (Combined Monitoring-based and Modeling-based Priority Setting Scheme) A locally adapted list of priority pollutants at a regional scale and a new site pollution risk index for the relative comparison of the chemical pollution status of the investigated sites in the region are proposed	Teixidó et al. [91]
Classical and prior- ity contaminants	Catalonian river basins Data from the Catalan Water Agency col- lected for regulatory purposes (2007– 2008) (WFD)	Risk assessment methodology: exposure assessment with spe- cies sensitivity distribution (SSD) and mixture toxicity rules (CA and IA) were used to com- pute the multi-substances potentially affected fraction (msPAF) The total dataset of chemical monitoring carried out in Cata- lonia (Llobregat is included) between 2007–2008 (232 sam- pling stations and 60 pollutants) has been analyzed using sequential advanced modeling techniques. Data on concentra- tions of contaminants in water were pretreated in order to cal- culate the bioavailable fraction,	Carafa et al. [92]

 Table 3
 Summary of the published risk assessment and prioritization studies carried out in the Catalan River basin district (adapted and updated from [89])

Pollutants			
considered	Area/data source	Scope/remarks	References
		depending on substance proper- ties and local environmental conditions. The resulting values were used to predict the poten- tial impact on aquatic biota of toxic substances in complex mixtures and to identify hot spots	
Classical and prior- ity contaminants	Llobregat River basin Data from the Catalan Water Agency col- lected for regulatory purposes (2001– 2004) (WFD)	Risk assessment methodology: integrated RA methodology for the classification of the ecologi- cal status (ES) based on the weight of evidence approach. It implements a fuzzy inference system that hierarchically aggregates a set of environmen- tal indicators grouped into five lines of evidence, namely, biol- ogy, chemistry, ecotoxicology, physicochemistry, and hydromorphology. The ES is expressed as the membership degree to one or two contiguous WFD status classes. The method is implemented within a free- ware GIS (Geographic Informa- tion System)-Based Decision Support System (DSS) devel- oped as part of the MODELKEY project	Gottardo et al. [93, 94]
Classical, priority, and emerging organic contaminants	Water monitoring data collected at European level (Elbe, Scheldt, Danube, and Llobregat Rivers) Data from water authorities collected for regulatory pur- poses (WFD)	Five hundred compounds are classified in categories according to the type of assess- ment required. This allows water managers to focus on dis- tinct actions according to the classification of a substance. To decide which compounds have the highest priority within each category, two indicators are proposed: (a) The <i>frequency of exceedance</i> (b) The <i>extent of exceedance</i> of the lowest predicted no-effect concentration (PNEC). For (a) maximum observed concen- trations at each sampling site (MEC site) are compared to the lowest PNEC, whereas for	Von der Ohe et al. [88]

Table 3 (continued)

Pollutants			
considered	Area/data source	Scope/remarks	References
		(b) the 95th percentile of all MEC <sub>site</sub> were compared to the lowest PNEC values	
Emerging contami- nants (pharmaceu- ticals, pesticides, alkylphenols, and heavy metals)	Water monitoring data collected in the Llobregat River mid- dle and low basin CEMAGUA, AQUATOXIGEN, MODELKEY, and KEYBIOEFFECTS research projects	Risk assessment methodology: HQ based on independent action mode for invertebrates RA are compared to responses to field collected and transplanted invertebrate species ( <i>Hydropsyche exocellata</i> , <i>Echinogammarus longisetosus</i> , and <i>Daphnia magna</i> ) using up to 10 different endpoints including enzyme activities related with detoxication mechanisms (i.e., glutathione S transferase, cata- lase, esterases), the oxidative stress damage marker (lipid peroxidation), and individual responses (mortality, postexposure feeding rates) Estimated hazard indexes of measured pollutants indicated that pesticides and metals accounted for most of the predicted toxicity (>95%) in the most contaminated site and that the predicted toxicity of phar- maceuticals was marginal (<5%)	Damasio et al. [95]
Pharmaceutical and compounds	Water monitoring data collected in the Llobregat River basin MODELKEY research project	Risk assessment methodology: HQ based on concentration addition mode for fish, <i>Daphnia</i> , and algae Survey was carried out along three campaigns in 7 sampling points, located in the main river and in one of its tributaries (Anoia River). In each sample, 29 commonly used pharmaceu- ticals, belonging to different therapeutic classes (analgesics and nonsteroidal anti- inflammatory (NSAIDs), lipid regulators, psychiatric drugs, antihistamines, antiulcer agents, antibiotics, and $\beta$ -blockers) have	Ginebreda et al. [96]

Table 3 (continued)

Pollutants			
considered	Area/data source	Scope/remarks	References
		been determined HQ shows inverse correlation with Shannon-Wiener biodiver- sity index, being <i>Daphnia</i> the best one For the fish-based bioassay, the major contribution is due to gemfibrozil, followed by ibu- profen and diclofenac. Other compounds with significative effect are propyphenazone and bezafibrate. For <i>Daphnia</i> , major contributions are attributable to erythromycin, ibuprofen, and clofibric acid and, to a less extent, to diclofenac, acetamin- ophen, and sulfamethoxazole. Algae appear to be mostly dependent of sulfamethoxazole, followed by ibuprofen and gemfibrozil	
Pesticides	Water monitoring data collected in the Llobregat River mid- dle and low basin VIECO research project	Risk assessment methodology: pesticide risk index for the sur- face water system (PRISW-1), based on the pesticide concen- trations and their overall toxicity (estimated as TUS) against algae, <i>Daphnia</i> , and fish. It investigates the occurrence of 16 selected pesticides belonging to the classes of triazines, phenylureas, 30 organophos- phates, chloroacetanilides, and thiocarbamates in surface waters from the Llobregat River and some tributaries (Anoia and Rubí) Application of the PRISW-1 index indicated that, although pesticides levels fulfilled the European Union Environmental Quality Standards (EQS) for surface waters, the existing pes- ticide contamination poses a low to high ecotoxicological risk for aquatic organisms	Köck- Schümeyer et al. [44]

Table 3 (continued)

Pollutants			
considered	Area/data source	Scope/remarks	References
		and malathion and the phenylurea diuron are the major contributors to the overall toxicity	
Emerging contami- nants (pharmaceu- ticals, illicit drugs, and estrogens)	Water monitoring data collected in the Llobregat River and low basin Data from the Catalan Water Agency (2008– 2009)	Risk assessment methodology: HQ based on concentration addition mode for fish, <i>Daphnia</i> , and algae A total of 103 emerging con- taminants belonging to the groups of pharmaceuticals (74), illicit drugs (17), and estrogens (12) were determined in river water samples during the water reuse campaign carried out in 2009 in the low Llobregat dur- ing a water reuse experiment Differences between river upstream and downstream to the discharge point were perceiv- able but not very significant, pharmaceuticals having higher contribution than illicit drugs. No relevant risks were identified	López-Serna et al. [27]
Classical and emerging contaminants	Sediment monitoring data collected at European level (Elbe, Scheldt, and Llobregat Rivers) MODELKEY research project	Risk assessment methodology: toxic units (TU) on the basis of acute toxicity to <i>Daphnia magna</i> and <i>Pimephales promelas</i> and multi-substance potentially affected fractions of species (msPAF) The toxicity of four polluted sediments and their corresponding reference sedi- ments were investigated using a battery of six sediment contact tests representing three different trophic levels. The tests included were chronic tests with the oligochaete <i>Lumbriculus</i> <i>variegatus</i> , the nematode <i>Caenorhabditis elegans</i> , and the mud snail <i>Potamopyrgus</i> <i>antipodarum</i> , a subchronic test with the midge <i>Chironomus</i> <i>riparius</i> , an early life-stage test with the zebra fish <i>Danio rerio</i> , and an acute test with the	Tuikka et al. [97]

Table 3 (continued)

Pollutants			
considered	Area/data source	Scope/remarks	References
		luminescent bacterium Vibrio fischeri The test battery could clearly detect toxicity of the polluted sediments. The msPAF and TU-based toxicity estimations confirmed the results of the biotests by predicting a higher toxic risk for the polluted sedi- ments compared to the corresponding reference sedi- ments but partly having a dif- ferent emphasis	
Pesticides	Ebro River Delta	Monitoring study combining ecotoxicity measurements in water using three different bio- assays and pesticide analysis in both water and shellfish has been carried out in this area in April–June 2008. Water and shellfish samples were collected at six selected sites, 2 located in the bays where seafood (mussels and oysters) are grown and 4 in the main draining channels discharging the output water from the rice fields into the bays Toxicity of the water samples has been evaluated using three standardized bioassays: 24–48 h immobilization of <i>Daphnia</i> <i>magna</i> , growth inhibition of <i>Pseudokirchneriella</i> <i>subcapitata</i> , and biolumines- cence inhibition of <i>Vibrio</i> <i>fischeri</i> . Analysis of pesticides in water included 6 triazines, 4 phenylureas, 4 organophos- phorus, 1 anilide, 2 chloroace- tanilides, 1 thiocarbamate, and 4acid herbicides Results have shown individual pesticides concentrations in water above 100 ng/L for about 50% of the compounds investi- gated and total pesticide levels above 5 lg/L in the draining channels. A reasonable	Köck- Schümeyer et al. [39]

Table 3 (continued)

Pollutants			
considered	Area/data source	Scope/remarks	References
		coherence has been observed between pesticide TUs (in water and shellfish), toxicity, and mortality episodes of shellfish for the different locations stud- ied. Based on this observations, the pesticides suspected to be the main contributors to the total ecotoxicity are malathion and to a lesser extent diazinon and molinate.	
Pesticides	Ebro River Delta	Pesticide levels in water, metal body burdens, and up to 12 dif- ferent biochemical markers were monitored in gills and digestive glands of oysters transplanted from May to June in 2008 and 2009. Biochemical responses evidenced clear dif- ferences in oysters from 2008 to 2009. Oysters transplanted in 2009 showed their antioxidant defenses unaffected from May to June and consequently increased levels of tissue dam- age measured as lipid peroxida- tion and DNA strand breaks and of mortality rates. Conversely oysters transplanted in 2008 increase their antioxidant defenses from May to June and had low levels of lipid peroxi- dation and DNA damage and low mortality rates. Some pesti- cides in water (bentazone and propanil) together with high temperatures and salinity levels were related with tissue damage in oyster transplanted in 2008, but the observed large differ- ences between years indicate that abiotic factors alone could not explain the high mortalities observed in 2009	Ochoa et al. [98]

# Table 3 (continued)

Pollutants			
considered	Area/data source	Scope/remarks	References
Pharmaceuticals	Water monitoring	Risk assessment methodology:	Ginebreda
and pesticides	data collected in the	TU based on concentration	et al.[99]
	Llobregat River basin	addition mode for fish, Daphnia,	
	MODELKEY	and algae	
	research project	Survey was carried out along	
		three campaigns in 7 sampling	
		points, located in the main river	
		and in one of its tributaries	
		(Anoia River). In each sample,	
		29 commonly used pharmaceu-	
		ticals, belonging to different	
		therapeutic classes (analgesics	
		and nonsteroidal anti-	
		inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs),	
		lipid regulators, psychiatric	
		drugs, antinistamines, antinicer	
		B blockers) and 22 posticides	
		(herbicides and insecticides)	
		have been determined	
		Aggregated toxic units based on	
		Daphnia and algae provided a	
		good indication of the pollution	
		pattern of the basin. Relative	
		contribution of pesticides and	
		pharmaceuticals to total toxic	
		load was variable and highly site	
		dependent, the latter group	
		tending to increase its contribu-	
		tion in urban areas. Toxic units	
		of the compounds identified in a	
		sample fit a lognormal probabil-	
		ity distribution. The parameters	
		characterizing this distribution	
		(mean and standard deviation)	
		provide information tentatively	
		interpreted as a measure of the	
		toxic load and mixture com-	
		presently. Correlations of these	
		functional biological description	
		related to benthic macroinver	
		tebrates (diversity biomass) and	
		biofilm metrics (diatom quality	
		chlorophyll- <i>a</i> content and pho-	
		tosynthetic capacity) are studied	
	1		

Table 3 (continued)

Pollutants			
considered	Area/data source	Scope/remarks	References
Emerging and pri- ority compounds	Area/data source Water monitoring data collected in four Iberian Mediterra- nean River basins (Llobregat, Ebro, Júcar, Guadalquivir) by water authorities SCARCE- CONSOLIDER research project	Chemical and biological data gathered by four Spanish basin management authorities were examined with the following aims to (i) determine the chemicals most likely responsi- ble for the environmental toxi- cological risk in the four Spanish basins and (ii) investigate the relationships between toxicological risk and biological status in these catch- ments. The toxicological risk of chemicals was evaluated using the toxic units (TU) concept. Analysis of the chemical data revealed high potential toxico- logical risk in the majority of sampling points. Metals were the main contributors to this risk. However, clear relation- ships between biological quality and chemical risk were found only in one river Data evaluation pointed to inadequacies in processing and monitoring (e.g., site coinci- dence for chemical and biologi- cal sampling)	López-Doval et al. [100]
Emerging and pri- ority compounds	Water monitoring data collected in four Iberian Mediterra- nean River basins (Llobregat, Ebro, Júcar, Guadalquivir) by water authorities SCARCE- CONSOLIDER research project	The hazard of chemical com- pounds is prioritized according to their persistence, bioaccumulation, and toxicity properties by using self- organizing maps (SOM). An Integrated Risk Index of Chem- ical Aquatic Pollution (IRICAP), useful to assess the risk associated to the exposure of chemical mixtures present in river waters of Llobregat, Ebro, Júcar, and Guadalquivir. A SOM-based hazard index (HI) was estimated for ca. 200 organic micropollutants. IRICAP was calculated as the product of the HI by the con- centration of each pollutant, and	Fàbrega et al. [101]

Table 3 (continued)

Dallutanta			
Pollutants	Araa/data sourca	Saona/ramarka	Deferences
		the results of all substances were aggregated According to the calculated HI, perfluoroalkyl substances, as well as specific illicit drugs and UV filters, were classified as most hazardous compounds. Xylazine had the highest contri- bution to the total IRICAP value in the different river basins, together with other pharmaceu- tical products such as loratadine and azaperol	
Emerging and pri- ority compounds	Water monitoring data collected in four Iberian Mediterra- nean River basins (Llobregat, Ebro, Júcar, Guadalquivir) SCARCE- CONSOLIDER research project	The aims of the study were (a) to perform an environmental risk assessment for 200 organic micropollutants (pesticides, alkylphenols, pharmaceuticals, hormones, personal care prod- ucts, perfluorinated compounds, and various industrial organic chemicals) monitored in four rivers of the Iberian Peninsula (Ebro, Llobregat, Júcar, and Guadalquivir Rivers) and (b) to prioritize them for each of the four river basins studied, taking into account their observed con- centration levels together with their ecotoxicological potential. For this purpose, a prioritization ranking index (RI) associated with each compound was devel- oped based on the measured concentrations of the chemical in each river and its ecotoxico- logical potential (EC50 values for algae, <i>Daphnia sp.</i> , and fish). Ten compounds were identified as most important for the studied rivers: pesticides chlorpyrifos, chlorfenvinphos, diazinon, dichlofenthion, prochloraz, ethion, carbofuran, and diuron and the industrial organic chemicals nonylphenol and octylphenol	Kuzmanovic et al. [13]

Table 3 (continued)

Pollutants of Emerging Concern in Rivers of Catalonia: Occurrence, Fate, and...

$$f_x = \frac{n_x}{N_{\text{total}}} \, (\%), \tag{5}$$

where  $n_x$  is the number of sites in the river basin falling in rank class x and  $N_{\text{total}}$  is the total number of sites per river. The sum of all the rank frequencies is equal to 100% as it covers all the sampling sites in the river basin. The compound's *ranking index* in the basin under study is defined by summing up the frequencies  $f_x$ multiplied by certain arbitrary weights  $w_x$  (Eq. 6):

Ranking Index = 
$$\sum_{x=1}^{6} f_x \times w_x$$
  
=  $(f_1 \times 1) + (f_2 \times 0.5) + (f_3 \times 0.25) + (f_4 \times 0.125)$   
+  $(f_5 \times 0.0625) + (f_6 \times 0.0).$  (6)

The ranking index is scaled from 0 to 100, where 100 means that compound's log transformed TU is higher than 0 in all sites in sampled river and 0 that compound's log TU is not exceeding the value of -4 in any site. Following this approach, ca. 200 compounds belonging to different classes (pharmaceuticals, personal care products, industrial compounds, pesticides, perfluoroalkyl substances, and illicit drugs) were ranked according to their RI with respect to three organism indicators, i.e., algae, daphnids, and fish. Toxicity values were obtained from the literature and lacking values estimated from ECOSAR. The result of this exercise for the Llobregat River is reported in Table 4 [13] and Fig. 4. The most sensitive species as regards chemical risk seems to be Daphnia sp. followed by algae and fish. Nevertheless, algae seem more vulnerable to different classes of compounds. Even though pesticides are not the most dominant class in concentration, they dominate in terms of risk. Of key relevance are chlorpyrifos, diuron, diazinon, carbofuran, and azinphos-ethyl (RI > 5), the former two being already included in Directive 2013/39/UE priority list. This is also the case of octylphenol, nonylphenol, and its transformation products (NP1EO, NP2EO, NP1EC) resulting from the degradation of polyethoxylated alkylphenols and also included as priority substances in the aforesaid directive. However, it is worth mentioning that all the classes considered are present in different extent in this basin-specific risk list.

UE) (adapted froi	m [13])	)	)	)	•		)	х ч			
Algae				Daphnia sp.				Fish			
2010	R1%	2011	RI%	2010	RI%	2011	RI%	2010	RI%	2011	RI%
Diuron	13	Caffeine	7	Chlorpyrifos	25	Chlorpyrifos	26	Chlorpyrifos	13	Chlorpyrifos	6
Caffeine	7	Sertraline	9	Diazinon	13	Diazinon	12	<b>NP1EC</b> <sup>a</sup>	2	NP1EC <sup>a</sup>	-
Triclosan	S	Diuron	5	Carbofuran	12	<b>NP1EC<sup>a</sup></b>	4	Nonylphenol	9		
Isoproturon	4	Terbutryn	б	Octylphenol	12	Octylphenol	4	NP2EO <sup>a</sup>	5		
Losartan	e	Triclosan	б	Azinphos-ethyl	6	Ethion	4	Malathion	4		
Nonylphenol	2	Simazine	5	Nonylphenol	9	NP1EC <sup>a</sup>	4	Gemfibrozil	4		
NP1EC <sup>a</sup>	2	Tolyltriazole	5	NP1EC <sup>a</sup>	9	Diuron	n	Bisphenol A	2		
Tolyltriazole	2	Benzotriazole		<b>NP2EO<sup>a</sup></b>	S	Nonylphenol	2	L-PFOS	2		
NP2EO <sup>a</sup>	-	NP1EC <sup>a</sup>	-	Malathion	4	Dimethoate	-	Sulfamethoxazole	-		
Terbutryn		Nonylphenol	-	Chlorfenvinphos	m	Chlorfenvinphos					
Erythromycin	-	Isoproturon	-	Methiocarb	7	Tolyltriazole	-				
Clarithromycin		Atrazine	-	Azinphos-methyl	7						
Bisphenol A	-			Fenitrothion							
Prochloraz				Sertraline							
Sertraline				Venlafaxine	-						
Losartan	-			þ							
Venlafaxine											
Valsartan											
L-PFOS											
Lorazepam											
<sup>a</sup> Degradation proc	ducts of	polyethoxylated	nonylpł	lenol							

**Table 4** Compounds with risk index (RI) equal or higher than 1 in the water phase respect algae, *Daphnia* sp., and fish in the Llobregat River in 2010 and 2011 (compounds with RI exceeding 10% are highlighted in bold letters; compounds underlined are designated as priority substances under Directive 2013/39/


Fig. 4 Risk assessment associated to organic micropollutants in the Llobregat River basin expressed in log TU for different trophic levels. (a) *Daphnia*, (b) fish, and (c) algae (adapted from [13])

# 5 Concluding Remarks

Emerging contaminants are ubiquitous in basin rivers subjected to anthropogenic influence as it is the case of the Catalan Basin District and particularly that of the Llobregat River where most of the population is concentrated (specially in the lower part close to the Barcelona area). Owing to this fact, it is not strange that most of the studies concerning emerging contaminants were focused on this river. These studies carried out by either the water authorities or as part of research projects have shown the occurrence of compounds belonging to the most relevant families of emerging contaminants (pharmaceuticals, personal care products, industrial compounds, perfluoroalkyls, halogenated flame retardants, illicit drugs, pesticides, etc.), being their origin associated to both point (specifically WWTPs) or diffuse sources. In addition to parent compounds, the presence of transformation products resulting from either biotic or abiotic processes must be taken also into consideration on a more general perspective. Finally, the occurrence of emerging contaminants can be expressed in terms of environmental (ecotoxicity) risk which in turn can be consistently compared with the ecosystem status.

As a whole, it may be concluded that Catalan Rivers provide an interesting and illustrative example on how anthropogenic pressures translate into chemical pollution characterized by many families of non-regulated compounds and how this pollution may constitute a threat to the aquatic ecosystem.

Acknowledgments This work was funded by the Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness project Consolider-Ingenio 2010 SCARCE CSD2009-00065 and by the Generalitat de Catalunya (Consolidated Research Groups "2014 SGR 418 – Water and Soil Quality Unit"). Maja Kuzmanovic acknowledges AGAUR fellowship from the Generalitat de Catalunya.

# References

- Vörösmarty CJ, McIntyre PB, Gessner MO, Dudgeon D, Prusevich A, Green P, Glidden S, Bunn SE, Sullivan CA, Liermann CR, Davies PM (2010) Global threats to human water security and river biodiversity. Nature 467:555–561
- European Commission (2006) Regulation 1907/2006. Registration, evaluation, authorisation and restriction of chemicals (REACH). Off J Eur Union L396:1–849
- European Union (2013) Directive 2013/39/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 August 2013 amending Directives 2000/60/EC and 2008/105/EC as regards priority substances in the field of water policy. Off J Eur Union L226:1–17
- 4. Piha H, Dulio V, Hanke G (2010) Workshop report: river basin-specific pollutants identification and monitoring. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, p 59
- Guillén D, Ginebreda A, Farré M, Darbra RM, Petrovic M, Gros M, Barceló D (2012) Prioritization of chemicals in the aquatic environment based on risk assessment: Analytical, modeling and regulatory perspective. Sci Total Environ 440:236–252
- Daughton CG, Ternes TA (1999) Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the environment: agents of subtle change? Environ Health Perspect 107:907–938

- 7. Schwarzenbach RP, Escher BI, Fenner K, Hofstetter TB, Johnson CA, von Gunten U, Wehrli B (2006) The challenge of micropollutants in aquatic systems. Science 313:1072–1077
- 8. Murray KE, Thomas SM, Bodour AA (2010) Prioritizing research for trace pollutants and emerging contaminants in the freshwater environment. Environ Pollut 158:3462–3471
- 9. Petrović M, Gonzalez S, Barceló D (2003) Analysis and removal of emerging contaminants in wastewater and drinking water. Trends Anal Chem 22(10):685–696
- 10. Guasch H, Ginebreda A, Geiszinger A (eds) (2012). Emerging and priority pollutants in rivers. The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, vol 19. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg
- 11. Sabater S, Ginebreda A, Barceló D (eds) (2012) The Llobregat: the story of a polluted Mediterranean River. The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, vol 21. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg
- Petrović M, Ginebreda A, Muñoz I, Barceló D (2013) The river drugstore: the threats of emerging pollutants to river conservation. In: Elosegui A, Sabater S (eds) River conservation challenges and opportunities. Fundación BBVA, Bilbao, pp 105–125
- Kuzmanović M, Ginebreda A, Petrović M, Barceló D (2015) Risk assessment based prioritization of 200 organic micropollutants in 4 Iberian rivers. Sci Total Environ 503–504:289–299
- López-Doval JC, Ginebreda A, Caquet T, Dahm CN, Petrovic M, Barceló D, Muñoz I (2013) Pollution in mediterranean-climate rivers. Hydrobiologia 719(1):427–450
- 15. Céspedes R, Lacorte S, Ginebreda A, Barceló D (2008) Occurrence and fate of alkylphenols and alkylphenol ethoxylates in sewage treatment plants and impact on receiving waters along the Ter River (Catalonia, NE Spain). Environ Pollut 153(2):384–392
- 16. Espadaler I, Caixach J, Om J, Ventura F, Cortina M, Paune F, Rivera J (1997) Identification of organic pollutants in Ter river and its system of reservoirs supplying water to Barcelona (Catalonia, Spain): A study by GC/MS and FAB/MS. Water Res 31(8):1996–2004
- 17. Matamoros V, Salvadó V (2012) Evaluation of the seasonal performance of a water reclamation pond-constructed wetland system for removing emerging contaminants. Chemosphere 86(2):111–117
- Matamoros V, Salvadó V (2013) Evaluation of a coagulation/flocculation-lamellar clarifier and filtration-UV-chlorination reactor for removing emerging contaminants at full-scale wastewater treatment plants in Spain. J Environ Manag 117:96–102
- Barón E, Santín G, Eljarrat E, Barceló D (2014) Occurrence of classic and emerging halogenated flame retardants in sediment and sludge from Ebro and Llobregat river basins (Spain). J Hazard Mater 265:288–295
- 20. Santín G, Barón E, Eljarrat E, Barceló D (2013) Emerging and historical halogenated flame retardants in fish samples from Iberian rivers. J Hazard Mater 263:116–121
- 21. Labandeira A, Eljarrat E, Barceló D (2007) Congener distribution of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in feral carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) from the Llobregat River, Spain. Environ Pollut 146(1):188–195
- 22. Eljarrat E, Raldúa D, Barceló D (2011) Origin, occurrence and behaviour of brominated flame retardants in the Ebro River Basin. In: Barceló D, Petrovic M (eds) "The Ebro River Basin", The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, vol 13. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 167–187
- 23. Eljarrat E, Barceló D (2012) Occurrence and behavior of brominated flame retardants in the Llobregat River Basin. In: Sabater S, Ginebreda A, Barceló D (eds) The Llobregat: the story of a polluted Mediterranean River. The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, vol 21. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 135–151
- 24. De Castro-Català N, Muñoz I, Armendáriz L, Campos B, Barceló D, López-Doval J, Pérez S, Petrovic M, Picó Y, Riera JL (2015) Invertebrate community responses to emerging water pollutants in Iberian river basins. Sci Total Environ 503–504:142–150
- Gorga M, Insa S, Petrovic M, Barceló D (2015) Occurrence and spatial distribution of EDCs and related compounds in waters and sediments of Iberian rivers. Sci Total Environ 503–504: 69–86

- 26. Petrovic M, Barceló D (2012) Inputs of pharmaceuticals and endocrine disrupting compounds in the Llobregat River Basin. In: Sabater S, Ginebreda A, Barceló D (eds) The Llobregat: The story of a polluted Mediterranean River. The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, vol 21. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 151–166
- 27. López-Serna R, Postigo C, Blanco J, Pérez S, Ginebreda A, de Alda ML, Petrović M, Munné A, Barceló D (2012) Assessing the effects of tertiary treated wastewater reuse on the presence emerging contaminants in a Mediterranean river (Llobregat, NE Spain). Environ Sci Pollut Res 19(4):1000–1012
- 28. Köck-Schulmeyer M, Ginebreda A, Postigo C, López-Serna R, Pérez S, Brix R, Llorca M, Alda MLD, Petrović M, Munné A, Tirapu L, Barceló D (2011) Wastewater reuse in Mediterranean semi-arid areas: the impact of discharges of tertiary treated sewage on the load of polar micro pollutants in the Llobregat River (NE Spain). Chemosphere 82(5): 670–678
- 29. Postigo C, López de Alda MJ, Barceló D (2010) Drugs of abuse and their metabolites in the Ebro River basin: occurrence in sewage and surface water, sewage treatment plants removal efficiency, and collective drug usage estimation. Environ Int 36(1):75–84
- 30. Postigo C, López de Alda MJ, Barceló D (2011) Illicit drugs along the Ebro River Basin: occurrence in surface and wastewater and derived consumption estimations. In: Barceló D, Petrovic M (eds) "The Ebro River Basin". The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, vol 13. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 189–208
- 31. Postigo C, Mastroiani N, López de Alda MJ, Barceló D (2012) Illicit drugs and metabolites in the Llobregat River Basin. In: Sabater S, Ginebreda A, Barceló D (eds) The Llobregat: the story of a polluted Mediterranean River. The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, vol. 21. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 239–262
- 32. Mastroianni N, Lopez de Alda M, Barcelo D (2014) Analysis of ethyl sulfate in raw wastewater for estimation of alcohol consumption and its correlation with drugs of abuse in the city of Barcelona. J Chromatogr A 1360:93–99
- 33. Campo J, Pérez F, Masiá A, Picó Y, Farré M, Barceló D (2015) Perfluoroalkyl substance contamination of the Llobregat River ecosystem (Mediterranean area, NE Spain). Sci Total Environ 503–504:48–57
- 34. Llorca M, Pérez F, Farré M, Picó Y, Barceló D (2012) Perfluorinated compounds' analysis, environmental fate and occurrence: the Llobregat River as case study. In: Sabater S, Ginebreda A, Barceló D (eds) The Llobregat: the story of a polluted Mediterranean River. The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, vol 21. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 193–238
- 35. Gago-Ferrero P, Mastroianni N, Díaz-Cruz S, Barceló D (2013) Fully Automated determination of nine ultraviolet filters and transformation products in natural waters and wastewaters by on-line solid phase extraction–liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1294:106–116
- Molins-Delgado D, Silvia Díaz-Cruz M, Barceló D (2014) Removal of polar UV stabilizers in biological wastewater treatments and ecotoxicological implications. Chemosphere. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.02.084
- Feo ML, Eljarrat E, Ginebreda A, Barceló D (2010) Presence of pyrethroid pesticides in water and sediments of Ebro River Delta. J Hydrol 393:156–162
- 38. Köck-Schümeyer M, López de Alda M, Martínez E, Farré M, Navarro A, Ginebreda A, Barceló D (2011) Pesticides at the Ebro River Delta: occurrence and toxicity in water and Biota. In: Barceló D, Petrovic M (eds) "The Ebro River Basin", The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, vol 13. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 259–274
- 39. Köck Schulmeyer M, Farré M, Gajda-Schrantz K, Ginebreda A, López de Alda M, Barceló D (2010) Integrated ecotoxicological and chemical approach for the assessment of pesticide pollution in the Ebro river delta (Spain). J Hydrol 383:73–82

- 40. Kuster M, de Alda MJL, Barata C et al (2008) Analysis of 17 polar to semi-polar pesticides in the Ebro river delta during the main growing season of rice by automated on-line solid-phase extraction-liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Talanta 75:390–401
- 41. Santos TCR, Rocha JC, Barcelo D (2000) Determination of rice herbicides, their transformation products and clofibric acid using on-line solid-phase extraction followed by liquid chromatography with diode array and atmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometric detection. J Chromatogr A 879:3–12
- 42. Navarro A, Tauler R, Lacorte S et al (2010) Occurrence and transport of pesticides and alkylphenols in water samples along the Ebro River Basin. J Hydrol 383:18–29
- 43. Masiá A, Campo J, Navarro-Ortega A, Barceló D, Picó Y (2015) Pesticide monitoring in the basin of Llobregat River (Catalonia, Spain) and comparison with historical data. Sci Total Environ 503–504:58–68
- 44. Köck-Schulmeyer M, Ginebreda A, González S, Cortina JL, López de Alda M, Barceló D (2011) Analysis of the occurrence and risk assessment of polar pesticides in the Llobregat River Basin (NE Spain). Chemosphere 82:670–678
- 45. Proia L, Osorio V, Soley S, Köck-Schulmeyer M, Pérez S, Barceló D, Romaní AM, Sabater S (2013) Effects of pesticides and pharmaceuticals on biofilms in a highly impacted river. Environ Pollut 178:220–228
- 46. Ricart M, Guasch H, Barceló D, Brix R, Conceição MH, Geiszinger A, Geiszinger A, López de Alda M, López-Doval JC, Muñoz I, Postigo C, Romaní AM, Villagrasa M, Sabater S (2010) Primary and complex stressors in polluted Mediterranean rivers: pesticide effects on biological communities. J Hydrol 383:52–61
- 47. Köck-Schulmeyer M, Villagrasa M, López de Alda M, Céspedes-Sánchez R, Ventura F, Barceló D (2013) Occurrence and behavior of pesticides in wastewater treatment plants and their environmental impact. Sci Total Environ 458–460:466–476
- 48. Silva BFD, Jelic A, López-Serna R, Mozeto AA, Petrovic M, Barceló D (2011) Occurrence and distribution of pharmaceuticals in surface water, suspended solids and sediments of the Ebro River Basin, Spain. Chemosphere 85(8):1331–1339
- 49. Gros M, Petrovic M, Barceló D (2007) Wastewater treatment plants as a pathway for aquatic contamination by pharmaceuticals in the Ebro River Basin (Northeast of Spain). Environ Toxicol Chem 26(8):1553–62
- 50. Gros M, Petrovic M, Ginebreda A, Barceló D (2010) Removal of pharmaceuticals during wastewater treatment and environmental risk assessment using hazard indexes. Environ Int 36:15–16
- 51. Gros M, Petrovic M, Ginebreda A, Barceló D (2011) Sources, occurrence and environmental risk assessment of pharmaceuticals in the Ebro River Basin. In: Barceló D, Petrovic M (eds) "The Ebro River Basin", The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, vol 13. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 209–238
- 52. Osorio V, Marcé R, Pérez S, Ginebreda A, Cortina JL, Barceló D (2012) Occurrence and modeling of pharmaceuticals on a sewage-impacted Mediterranean river and their dynamics under different hydrological conditions. Sci Total Environ 440:3–13
- 53. Osorio V, Pérez S, Ginebreda A, Barceló D (2012) Pharmaceuticals on a sewage impacted section of a Mediterranean River (Llobregat River, NE Spain) and their relationship with hydrological conditions. Environ Sci Pollut Res 19(4):1013–1025
- 54. Osorio V, Proia L, Ricart M, Pérez S, Ginebreda A, Cortina JL, Sabater S, Barceló D (2014) Hydrological variation modulates pharmaceutical levels and biofilm responses in a Mediterranean river. Sci Total Environ 472:1052–1061
- 55. Collado N, Rodriguez-Mozaz S, Gros M, Rubirola A, Barceló D, Comas J, Rodriguez-Roda I, Buttiglieri G (2014) Pharmaceuticals occurrence in a WWTP with significant industrial contribution and its input into the river system. Environ Pollut 185:202–212
- 56. Jelic A, Gros M, Ginebreda A, Cespedes-Sánchez R, Ventura F, Petrović M, Barceló D (2011) Occurrence, partition and removal of pharmaceuticals in sewage water and sludge during wastewater treatment. Water Res 45:1165–1176

- 57. Farré M, Pérez S, Gajda-Schrantz K, Osorio V, Kantiani L, Ginebreda A, Barceló D (2010) First determination of C60 and C50 fullerenes and N-methylfulleropyrrolidine C60 on the suspended material of wastewater effluents by liquid chromatography hybrid quadrupole linear ion trap tandem mass spectrometry. J Hydrol 383:44–51
- Sanchís J, Martínez E, Ginebreda A, Farré M, Barceló D (2013) Occurrence of linear and cyclic volatile methylsiloxanes in wastewater, surface water and sediments from Catalonia. Sci Total Environ 443:530–538
- 59. Navarro-Ortega A, Acuña V, Batalla RJ, Blasco J, Conde C, Elorza FJ, Elosegi A, Francés F, La-Roca F, Muñoz I, Petrovic M, Picó Y, Sabater S, Sanchez-Vila X, Schuhmacher M, Barceló D (2012) Assessing and forecasting the impacts of global change on Mediterranean rivers. The SCARCE Consolider project on Iberian Basins. Environ Sci Pollut Res 19: 918–933
- 60. Pérez S, Barceló D (2007) Application of advanced mass spectrometric techniques in the analysis and identification of human and microbial metabolites of pharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment. Trends Anal Chem 26:494–514
- Rudel RA, Camann DE, Spengler JD, Korn LR, Brody JG (2003) Environ Sci Technol 37: 4543
- 62. Strynar MJ, Lindstrom AB (2008) Environ Sci Technol 42:3751
- 63. Ju X, Jin Y, Sasaki K, Saito N (2008) Environl Sci Technol 42:3538
- 64. Petrovic M, Eljarrat E, Gros M, de la Cal A, Barceló D (2008) Emerging contaminants in the water-sediment system: case studies of pharmaceuticals and brominated flame retardants in the Ebro River Basin. In: Quievauviller P, Borchers U, Thompson KC, Chippenham TS (eds) The water framework directive: ecological and chemical status monitoring, Water quality measurement series. Wiley, Witshire, pp 287–298. ISBN 9780470716090
- 65. da Silva BF, Jelic A, López-Serna R, Mozeto AA, Petrovic M, Barceló D (2011) Occurrence and distribution of pharmaceuticals in surface water, suspended solids and sediments of the Ebro River basin, Spain. Chemosphere 85(8):1331–1339
- 66. Viana M, Postigo C, Querol X, Alastuey A, López de Alda MJ, Barceló D, Artíñano B, López-Mahia P, García Gacio D, Cots N (2011) Cocaine and other illicit drugs in airborne particulates in urban environments: a reflection of social conduct and population size. Environ Pollut 159:1241–1247
- 67. Lam MW, Tantuco K, Mabury SA (2003) Environ Sci Technol 37:899
- 68. Gonçalves C, Pérez S, Osorio V, Petrovic M, Alpendurada MF, Barceló D (2011) Photofate of Oseltamivir (Tamiflu) and oseltamivir carboxylate under natural and simulated solar irradiation: kinetics. Identification of the transformation products, and environmental occurrence. Environ Sci Technol 45(10):4307–431
- Zonja B, Delgado A, Pérez S, Barceló D (2015) LC-HRMS suspect screening for detectionbased prioritization of iodinated contrast media photodgradates in surface waters. Environ Sci Technol 49:3464–3472
- DellaGreca M, Fiorentino A, Iesce MR, Isidori M, Nardelli A, Previtera L, Temussi F (2003) Environ Toxicol Chem 22:534
- 71. Halling-Sorensen B, Sengelov G, Tjornelund J (2002) Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 42:263
- 72. Sunderland J, Tobin CM, White LO, MacGowan AP, Hedges AJ (1999) Drugs 58:171
- 73. Lee Ferguson P, Brownawell BJ (2003) Environ Toxicol Chem 22(6):1189–1199
- 74. Fono LJ, Kolodziej EP, Sedlak DL (2006) Attenuation of wastewater-derived contaminants in an effluent-dominated river. Environ Sci Technol 40:7257–7262
- 75. Nyholm N, Ingerslev F, Berg UT, Pedersen JP, Frimer-Larsen H (1996) Chemosphere 33:851
- 76. Parsons JR, Sáez M, Dolfing J, de Voogt P (2008) Rev Environ Contam Toxicol 196:53-71
- 77. Arnot JA, Mackay D (2008) Policies for chemical hazard and risk priority setting: can persistence, bioaccumulation, toxicity, and quantity information be combined? Environ Sci Technol 42(13):4648–4654
- Sprague JB (1970) Measurement of pollutant toxicity to fish, II-Utilizing and applying bioassay results. Water Res 4:3–32

- 79. Kortenkamp A, Backhaus T, Faust M (2009) State of the art report on mixture toxicity. Final report. Contract No. 070307/2007/485103/ETU/D.1. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/ chemicals/effects.htm. Accessed 11 Aug 2011
- 80. Backhaus T, Faust M (2012) Predictive environmental risk assessment of chemical mixtures: a conceptual framework. Environ Sci Technol 46:2564–2573
- Loewe S, Muischnek H (1926) Über Kombinationswirkungen. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol 114(5):313–326
- 82. Bliss C (1939) The toxicity of poisons applied jointly. Ann Appl Biol 26:585-615
- 83. Barata C, Baird DJ, Nogueira AJA, Soares AMV, Riva MC (2006) Toxicity of binary mixtures of metals and pyrethroid insecticides to Daphnia magna Straus. Implications for multi-substance risks assessment. Aquat Toxicol 78:1–14
- 84. Backhaus, T., et al., The BEAM-project: prediction and assessment of mixture toxicities in the aquatic environment. Continental Shelf Research. 23(17–19): p. 1757–1769.
- Vighi M et al (2003) Water quality objectives for mixtures of toxic chemicals: problems and perspectives. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 54(2):139–150
- 86. Junghans M et al (2006) Application and validation of approaches for the predictive hazard assessment of realistic pesticide mixtures. Aquat Toxicol 76(2):93–110
- 87. Altenburger R, Walter H, Grote M (2004) What contributes to the combined effect of a complex mixture? Environ Sci Technol 38(23):6353–6362
- 88. Von PC, der Ohe V, Dulio JS, De Deckere E, Kühne R, Ebert RU et al (2011) A new risk assessment approach for the prioritization of 500 classical and emerging organic microcontaminants as potential river basin specific pollutants under the European Water Framework Directive. Sci Total Environ 409:2064–2067
- 89. Ginebreda A, Barata C, Barceló D (2012) Risk assessment of pollutants in the Llobregat River Basin. In: Sabater S, Ginebreda A, Barceló D (eds) The Llobregat: the story of a polluted Mediterranean River. The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, vol 21. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg
- 90. Damasio J, Tauler R, Teixido E, Rieradevall M, Prat N, Riva MC, Soares A, Barata C (2008) Combined use of Daphnia magna in situ bioassays, biomarkers and biological indices to diagnose and identify environmental pressures on invertebrate communities in two Mediterranean urbanized and industrialized rivers (NE Spain). Aquat Toxicol 87:310–320
- Teixidó E, Terrado M, Ginebreda A, Tauler R (2010) Quality assessment of river waters using risk indexes for substances and sites, based on the COMMPS procedure. J Environ Monit 12:2120–2127
- 92. Carafa R, Faggiano L, Real M, Munné A, Ginebreda A, Guasch H, Flo M, Tirapu L (2011) Water toxicity assessment and spatial pollution patterns identification in a Mediterranean River Basin District. Tools for Water Management and risk analysis. Sci Total Environ doi:10.10116/j.scitotenv.2011.06.053
- 93. Gottardo S, Semenzin E, Giove S, Zabeo A, Critto A, de Zwart D, Ginebreda A, Marcomini A (2011) Integrated risk assessment for WFD ecological status classification applied to Llobregat river basin (Spain). Part I—Fuzzy approach to aggregate biological indicators. Sci Total Environ 409:4701–4712
- 94. Gottardo S, Semenzin E, Giove S, Zabeo A, Critto A, de Zwart D, Ginebreda A, Marcomini A (2011) Integrated risk assessment for WFD ecological status classification applied to Llobregat river basin (Spain). Part II evaluation process applied to five environmental lines of evidence. Sci Total Environ 409:4681–4692
- 95. Damásio J, Barceló D, Brix R, Postigo C, Gros M, Petrovic M, Sabater S, Guasch H, de Alda ML, Barata C (2011) Are pharmaceuticals more harmful than other pollutants to aquatic invertebrate species: a hypothesis tested using multi-biomarker and multi-species responses in field collected and transplanted organisms. Chemosphere 85:1548–1554
- 96. Ginebreda A, Muñoz I, de Alda ML, Brix R, Lopez-Doval J, Barcelo D (2010) Environmental risk assessment of pharmaceuticals in rivers: Relationships between hazard indexes and

aquatic macroinvertebrate diversity indexes in the Llobregat River (NE Spain). Environ Int 36:153-162

- 97. Tuikka AI, Schmitt C, Höss S, Bandow N, von der Ohe PC, de Zwart D, de Deckere E, Streck G, Mothes S, van Hattum B, Kocan A, Brix R, Brack W, Barceló A Sormunen DJ, Kukkonen JVK (2011) Toxicity assessment of sediments from three European river basins using a sediment contact test battery. Ecotoxicol Environ Safety 74:123–131
- 98. Ochoa V, Riva C, Faria M, López de Alda M, Barceló D, Fernandez Tejedor M, Barata C (2012) Are pesticide residues associated to rice production affecting oyster production in Delta del Ebro, NE Spain? Sci Total Environ 437:209–218
- 99. Ginebreda A, Kuzmanovic M, Guasch H, de Alda ML, López-Doval JC, Muñoz I, Ricart M, Romaní AMB, Sabater S, Barceló D (2014) Assessment of multi-chemical pollution in aquatic ecosystems using toxic units: Compound prioritization, mixture characterization and relationships with biological descriptors. Sci Total Environ 468–469:715–723
- 100. López-Doval JC, de Castro-Catalan N, Andres I, Blasco J, Ginebreda A, Muñoz I (2012) Analysis of monitoring programs in four Spanish basins and their suitability for ecotoxicological risk assessment. Sci Total Environ 440:194–203
- 101. Fàbrega F, Marquès M, Ginebreda A, Kuzmanovic M, Barceló D, Schuhmacher M, Domingo JL, Nadal M (2013) Integrated Risk Index of Chemical Aquatic Pollution (IRICAP): case studies in Iberian rivers. J Haz Mat 263:187–196

# Index

#### A

Acetylcholinesterase, 254, 255 Achnanthidium minutissimum, 67, 156 Achnanthidium pyrenaicum, 74 Acipenser sturio, 106, 107, 114, 133 Aclonifen, 279 Alien species, 37 Alkylphenol ethoxylates (APEO), 295 Alosa fallax, 106, 114, 133 Alternative Prague approach, 201 AMBL 152 Ammonium, 20 Amphetamine, 296 Amphipod assay, 257 Amphora pediculus, 74 Analytics, methods, 269 Anguilla anguilla, 40, 114, 118, 133 Annual averages environmental quality standards (AA-EQS), 270 Ardea purpurea, 255 Artificial water bodies (AWB), 202 Arundo donax (giant cane), 92, 93, 258, 259 Assessment, 94 Azolla filiculoides, 92

# B

Banyoles lake, 18 Barbatula quignardi, 113 Barbus graellsii/Luciobarbus graellsii, 45, 106, 117, 133, 254 Barbus haasi, 106, 110, 118, 133 Barbus meridionalis, 106, 110, 113, 117, 133, 255 Bentazone, 258 BENTIX, 152, 159 Benzoylecgonine, 294 Besós, 68, 249 Bifenox 279 Bioassessment, 1, 65, 74, 112, 150 Biocontamination, 37, 39 Biodegradation, 297 Bioindicators, benthic, 152 Biological indices, 37, 101, 249 Biological quality elements (BQEs), 3, 53, 67, 250 Biological quality indicator (BQI), 55 Biological quality indices, 13 Biomarkers, 249, 253 Biomonitoring tools, 251 Biopollution, 37, 40 Biopollution level index (BPL), 39, 47 Biotic integrity, 125 Boadella reservoir. 211 BOPA, 159 Bryophytes, sensitive, 91

#### С

Cadmium, 15, 254 Caffeine, 294 Calcareous Mediterranean mountain rivers, 76 Catalan basins, 3, 37 Catalan River Basin District (CRBD), 1, 4, 221, 232 Catalan rivers, 65 Catalan Water Agency (ACA), 1, 5, 231 Catalase, 258

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 42: 321–326, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-23895-1, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 Catalonia, 81, 125 Channelling stretch measurement, 237 Chelon labrosus, 117 Chemical Monitoring Activity Exercises (CMA on-site), 272 Chemical risk, 298 Chemical status, 1, 24, 269 Chironomidae, 171, 183 Chloride, 20, 204, 205 Cinclidotus fontinaloides, 91 Clarithromycin, 296 Coastal lagoons, 18 Coastal waters, 19 Cocconeis pediculus, 74 Coefficients of conservatism (C-values), 84 Common Implementation Strategy (CIS), 203 Concentration addition (CA), 25, 299 Cratoneuron filicinum, 91 Crustaceans, 171, 174 Cyanobacteria, 92, 207-211 Cyanotoxins, 210 Cybutryne, 279 Cyclotella meneghiniana, 67 Cymbella excisa, 72 Cypermethrin, 279 Cyprinus carpio, 45, 107, 108, 207, 214, 253-255, 260 Cytochrome P450, 254

# D

Daphnia, 255, 283 DDT, 254 Denticula tenuis, 72 Detergents, 164 Diatoma ehrenbergii, 74 Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethanes, 254 Dichlorvos, 279 Diclofenac, 293 Dicofol, 279 Di(2-ethylhexyl)-phthalate (DEHP), 276 DNA, omics, 260 Doñana National Park (SW Spain), 92 Dreissena polymorpha, 215, 261 Drugs of abuse, 25, 283, 286, 294, 311

# Е

Ebro, 4, 249 esturay, 152 ECELS, 171, 190 Eco-hydromorphology, 221 Ecological indicators, 126, 149 Ecological potential (EP), 206 Ecological quality ratio (EQR), 189 Ecological status (ES), 1, 22, 29, 101, 212, 241, 249 Ecosystem health, 125 Ecotoxicity, 25, 283, 299, 314 Egretta garzetta, 255 Electrofishing, 127 Emerging contaminants, 24, 283, 295 Encyonema silesiacum, 67 Encyonopsis microcephala, 72 Endosulfan, 17, 278 Environmental flow compliance (EFC), 234 Environmental quality standards (EQS), 7, 24, 269 Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, Trichoptera (EPT), 22 EOAT, 171, 173, 183, 190, 193 Escales reservoir, 204 Estrogenic compounds/effects, 252, 254, 293 Estuaries, 3, 149-156 highly stratified (salt-wedge), 149 quality paradox, 165 river-dominated, 149 7-Ethoxyresorufin O-deethylase (EROD), 254 Ethylhexyl methoxycinnamate (EHMC), 293 European Fish Index (EFI), 103 European Inventory of Existing Commercial Chemical Substances (EINECS), 284 Eutrophication, 70, 87, 108, 151, 153, 172, 204, 213 Expert judgment, 203 Expressed sequence tags (ESTs), 261

# F

Fenitrothion, 255, 258 Field bioassays, 249, 256 Fish, 3, 7, 11, 15, 25, 40, 67, 90, 101, 283, 299, 303-313 bioindicators, 102 biotic index, 125 indices, 132 migration, 113 passes, 113 Fish-based Assessment Method for the Ecological Status of European Rivers (FAME), 103 Flame retardants, 25, 263, 283, 286, 314 Flix reservoir, 205, 215 Floodplains, 84, 237 land use, 237

Floristic quality assessment index (FQAI), 81, 84 Fluorescent hydrocarbon compounds (FACs), 255 Foix reservoir, 205 Freshwater fish, 101

#### G

Gemfibrozil, 293 Genes, expression/analysis, 261 Geographical Intercalibration Groups (GIG), 74 Glutathione, 259 Glutathione-S-transferase, 258 Glyphosate, 258, 259, 264 Gobio lozanoi, 45, 106, 109, 118, 133 Gomphonema clavatum, 67 Gomphosphaeria sp., 210 Gonadosomatic index (GSI), 253 Good ecological potential (GEP), 202 Groundwater, 1, 20, 27, 150, 190, 276

## H

Habitat condition, 171 Habitat modification score (HMS), 228 Habitat Quality Assessment Index (HQA), 228 Harmonization, 271-275 Hazard quotient (HQ), 25 Heavily modified water bodies (HMWB), 201 Heavy metals, 10, 15, 17, 18, 92, 105, 151, 165, 254, 262, 263, 303 Heptachlor/heptachlor epoxide, 279 Herbolex, 259 Hexachlorobenzene, 254 HIDRI, 221, 228 Hormones, 283, 286, 289, 293 Human pressure, 101 Hydrodynamics, 223 Hydrology, 26 Hydromorphology (HYMO), 21, 221, 223, 240 assessment, 221 Hydropsyche exocellata, 259

#### I

Iberian Average Score Per Taxon (IASPT), 22
Iberian Biological Monitoring Working Program (IBMWP), 22, 91, 159
IBICAT, 53, 111
IBIMED, 143
Ibuprofen, 293
Independent action (IA), 25, 299 Index de Habitat Fluvial (river habitat index) (IHF), 91 Index for Hydrogeomorphological assessment (IHG), 224 Index of hydrological alteration (IHA), 232, 235 Index of river connectivity (ICF), 102, 116 Index of specific pollution sensitivity (IPS), 91 Indicator organisms/taxa, 37, 53, 70, 213, 311 analysis/IndVal, 90, 96, 188 Indicator values, 69 Indices, 65 Industrial compounds, 25, 283, 286, 311 Insects, 171, 174 Integrated biopollution risk index (IBPR), 39, 43 Intercalibration, 65 Intercalibration Common Metric (ICM), 65, 74 Invasive species, 201 Isotope dilution mass spectrometry (IDMS), 276

# K

Ketoprofen, 293

#### L

La Baells reservoir, 211 Lakes, 1, 6, 9, 12, 18, 65, 171, 184, 204, 213 shallow, 171 Land use analysis, 237 *Liza ramada*, 106, 117, 134 Llobregat, 68, 77, 109, 241, 249, 263, 285, 297, 311 Low quantification limits (LOQs), 269, 270 *Luciobarbus graellsii*, 45, 106, 117, 133, 254

#### М

M-AMBI, 152, 159 MAC-EQS, 270 Macroinvertebrate quality index (MEDOCC), 19 Macroinvertebrates, 3, 41, 57, 67, 90, 136, 149, 176, 192, 223, 253 Macrophytes, 3, 81, 94, 173, 191, 222, 250 Maximum ecological potential (MEP), 202 Mediterranean basins, 1, 26, 105, 109 Mediterranean Geographical Intercalibration Group (Med-GIG), 6 Mediterranean rivers of variable flow, 76 Mequinenza reservoir, 153 Mercury, 12, 15, 17, 254, 259, 262 Metallothioneins, 254, 260

323

Metrics, 12 Microarray analysis, 260 *Microcystis* sp., 210 Micropollutants, 283, 286, 295 risk assessment, 313 Molinate, 258 Monitoring networks, 1, 3, 7, 239 Monitoring programs, 1, 37, 40, 88, 90, 101, 216, 221, 231, 243, 257 *Mugil cephalus*, 106, 117, 134 Multichemical risk ssessment, 299 Multimetric indexes (MMIs), 81, 94, 96 *Myriophyllum spicatum*, 92

#### N

Naphthalene, 276 Natural attenuation, 296 Natural background levels (NBLs), 15 *Navicula cryptotenella*, 67, 156 *Navicula gregaria*, 74, 156 Nitrate, 6, 9–11, 20, 164, 176 *Nitzschia fonticola*, 67 *Nitzschia inconspicua*, 74, 156 Nonylphenol, 15, 253, 273, 286, 288, 293, 295, 297, 310–312 Nonylphenol ethoxylates (NPEO), 295 Nonylphenol monocarboxylate (NP1EC), 286, 288

#### 0

Octylphenol, 15, 273, 286, 288, 293, 311, 312 Omics, 249, 260 Organochlorine residues, 254 Oxygen, 207, 214, 250 dissolved, 72, 135, 154, 204, 211 singlet, 297

# Р

Paracetamol, 296
Partial canonical correspondence analysis (PCCA), 176
Passive induction transmitters (PIT tags), 115
Pearson correlation, 229 *Pellia endiviifolia*, 91
Perchloroethylene (PCE), 20
Perfluorinated compounds (PFCs), 279, 296
Perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS), 286
Perfluorooctane carboxylic acid (PFOA), 291, 293 Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS), 293 Peroxy radicals, 297 Personal care products, 286, 293 Pesticides, 7, 11, 25, 249-263, 286, 293 Petromizon marinus, 114 Phosphates, 69, 91-93, 153, 164, 286 Photolysis, 26, 297 Phoxinus bigerri, 106, 110, 113, 118, 133 Phoxinus phoxinus, 40 Phragmites, 87 Physella acuta 257 Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDE), 273, 276, 278 Polychlorobiphenyls, 254 Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), 254, 274, 278 Posidonia oceanica, 12 Potamogeton pectinatus (Stuckenia pectinata) 92 Precautionary principle, 25 Principal component analysis (PCA), 204 Prioritization, 24, 283, 300 Priority substances/pollutants, 269, 284, 286 Propanil, 258 Psilunio littoralis, 254

## Q

QAELS, 13, 171, 173, 193 Qualitat del Bosc de Ribera (riparian forest quality index, QBR), 81, 89 Quinoxyfen, 279

# R

Ranking index, 300, 311 Registration, evaluation, authorization and restriction of chemicals (REACH), 284 Reactive oxygen species (ROS), 253 Reference conditions, 70, 83, 173 Reservoir Fish Assemblage Index (RFAI), 108 Reservoirs, 1, 17, 153, 201, 216, 226, 235 typology, 204 Rhoicosphenia abbreviata, 67 Riba-Roja reservoir, 153, 205 Riparian forest evaluation index (RFV), 228 Riparian quality index (RQI/QBR), 89, 95, 224, 228, 239 Risk. 298 assessment, 283, 299 Riudecanyes reservoir, 205 River connectivity index (ICF), 235 River habitat index (IHF), 224, 228

Rivers, 15, 81, 125 basin management plan, 221 connectivity, 101 obstacles, 113 types, 70 variable flow, 76 Rott's trophic index, 75 *Rutilus rutilus*, 45, 46, 107, 110, 134

## S

Sacramento Soil Moisture Accounting (SAC-SMA) model, 114 Salmo trutta, 40, 45, 106, 108, 113, 134 Salt-wedge estuary, 149 Sampling, procedures/protocols, 5, 12, 174, 273 sites, 12, 68, 229 Santa Fe reservoir, 204 Sau reservoir, 205, 211 Scaled indicator value (SIV), 188 Secchi disk depth, 207 Sediments, 26, 113, 152, 209, 215, 295 marine, 19 quality, 90 Sensitivity, 69, 91, 94, 155, 171, 175, 188, 273 Sewage, 283 effluents, 151, 153, 254 sludge, 295 treatment plants, 258, 263 urban, 153 Zaragoza, 254 Shallow lakes, 171 Short-chain chlorinated paraffins (SCCPs), 278 Site-specific biological contamination index (SBC), 39, 41 Siurana reservoir, 205 Spearman correlation (Spearman's rho), 50, 52, 60, 72, 111, 157-162, 180, 185, 229, 262 Squalius laietanus, 106, 110, 112, 118, 134 State indicators, 50 Stressor indicators, 50 Stuckenia pectinata, 92 Sulphate, 20 Susqueda reservoir, 205 Systeme d'Evaluation de la Qualité du Milieu Physique (SEQ-MP), 224 Système Relationnel d'Audit de l'Hydromorphologie des Cours d'Eau (SYRAH), 224

#### Т

Tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS), 275 Taxonomic resolution, 180 Temporary ecosystems, 22 Ter River, 205, 210 Terbutryn, 279 Testosterone, 253 Threshold values (TVs), 15, 22, 205 Tordera River, 104 Toxic units (TU), 25, 258, 298-300 Transformation products (TPs), 283, 297 Transitional waters, 18, 171 Trichloroethylene (TCE), 20 TRIX index, 177, 181 Trophic diatom indices (TDI/TID), 165 Trophic state index (TSI), 207, 213 Typha, 87, 88

#### U

Urban sewage, 153 US Environmental Protection Agency (US-EPA), 88 US National Wetland Condition Assessment (US-NWCA), 88

#### v

Valsartan, 293 Vitellogenin (VTG), 253

#### W

Wastewater treatment plants (WWTP), 26, 249, 286, 295, 314
Water Framework Directive (WFD), 1, 101, 125, 201, 249 comparison, 81
Water quality, reservoirs, 215 thresholds, 181
Water quality index (WQI), 207
Water withdrawal degree analysis (WW), 233
Wetlands, 1, 12, 81, 171 thalassohaline, 173–194

#### Z

Zaragoza, sewage treatment plant (STP), 254